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VIRGINIA: 
IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE CITY OF RICHMOND 

VIRGINIA COLLEGE BUILDING 
AUTHORITY, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

STATUTORY DEFENDANTS 
PURSUANT TO VIRGINIA CODE §15.2-
2600 ET SEQ., TO WIT, TAXPAYERS, 
PROPERTY OWNERS AND CITIZENS 
OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF 
VIRGINIA. INCLUDING 
NONRESIDENTS OW!'.lJNG PROPERTY 
OR SUBJECT TO TAXATION THEREIN, 
AND ALL OTHER PERSONS 
INTERESTED IN OR AFFECTED IN 
ANYWAY BY THE ISSUANCE BY THE 
VIRGINIA COLLEGE BUILDING 
AUTHORITY OF REVENUE BONDS 
NOT TO EXCEED $55,000 .. 000, TO BE 
ISSUED IN ONE OR MORE SERIES 
FROM TIME TO TIME, TO FINANCE 
THE PLAN OF FINANCING OF REGENT 
UNIVERSITY, 

Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

LAW# 

MOTION FOR JUDGMENT 

-----

Plaintiff. the Virginia College Building Authority (the "VCBA"), pursuant to the Public 

Finance Act of 1991 (Va Code §15.2-2600 et seg.), hereby seeks a final order validating the 

following: 

1. Certain of the VCBA's conduit revenue bonds, to be issued in one or more series 

from time to time, in an amount not to exceed $55,000,000 (the "Conduit Bonds") based upon 

the credit of Regent University ("Regent" or "University") for the purpose of: 



a. enabling Regent, a non-profit institution for post-baccalaureate education 

located in Virginia Beach, Virginia. to provide certain educational structures and related facilities 

for higher education within the Commonwealth of Virginia consistent with the goals of the 

Virginia Educational Facilities Authority Act (Va. Code §23.30.39 et seq.) (the "VEFA Act"), 

including the following projects: (i) fmancing for a new campus in Northern Virginia, to house 

classrooms and supporting administrative space for several of the University's graduate colleges 

and schools, (ii) financing for new facilities located on the main campus in Virginia Beach, 

consisting of a new communications and arts complex and an events center, and (iii) refinancing 

of student housing on the main campus in Virginia Beach (previously financed with tax-exempt 

bonds issued and validated in 1984 through the City of Virginia Beach Development Authority) 

(collectively "the Projects"), 

b. paying the costs of issuing the Conduit Bonds, and 

c. funding certain reserve funds as may be necessary for the Conduit Bonds; 

and 

2. All proceedings heretofore taken in connection with the authorization and 

issuance of the Conduit Bonds for the University, including the actions taken by the VCBA. 

IN CONNECTION THEREWITH, the VCBA states as follows: 

1. The VCBA is a duly created public body corporate and political subdivision and 

agency and instrumentality of the Commonwealth of Virginia, and is organized pursuant to the 

Virginia College Building Authority Act of 1966 (Va Code §23-30.23 et seq.) (the "VCBA 

Act"). Under the VCBA Act, the VCBA is authorized to exercise all of the powers set forth in 

the VEFA Act (together with the VCBA Act the "Act"). 
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The VCBA, consistent with its statutory authority, has approved Regent's 

application for the Conduit Bonds and authorized their issuance, subject to validation and certain 

resolution conditions and actions prescribed by law at the time of issuance. Subject to these 

conditions. the Conduit Bonds will be issued at one time or from time to time to provide 

financing or refinancing for the Projects through a plan of fmancing (the "Plan of Financing"). 

The issuance of the Bonds will assist the University in the acquisition, construction, fmancing 

and refinancing of the Projects which are educational facilities and structures that are sorely 

needed for the higher educational goals of the Commonwealth of Virginia. 

3. The Conduit Bonds will not provide direct aid to Regent, and no taxpayer monies 

will be expended by their issuance or as a result thereof. 

4. The Conduit Bonds will not represent a debt of the Commonwealth and will not 

be repaid from any public monies. Rather, the Conduit Bonds will be limited, or special, 

obligations of the VCBA repayable solely from monies or other security provided by Regent for 

such purpose. The VCBA's role in the financing is solely as a conduit, issuing the Conduit Bonds 

for Regent based upon Regent's credit, thereby making it possible for the such bonds to be "tax-

exempt." The tax-exempt status of the Conduit Bonds will result from the fact that investors are 

not required to include in their gross income for federal (and for Virginia residents, state) income 

tax purposes, the interest income they receive on the Conduit Bonds. As required by the Act, the 

Conduit Bonds will not pledge the credit or the taxing power of the Commonwealth of Virginia 

or the VCBA. 

5. As required by the V CBA's conduit bond program, Regent will enter into an 

agreement with the VCBA under the terms of which Regent will pledge its general obligation for 

the Conduit Bonds and will agree to comply with such covenants and to pledge such collateral as 



may be necessary for credit purposes and are consistent with the Act and standing V CBA 

guidelines. Regent will pledge to the VCBA that it will make available funds which will be 

sufficient to pay debt service on and to fund any necessary reserve funds for the Conduit Bonds. 

Regent will also agree to provide an equity contribution to fund any use of bond-financed 

facilities that does not conform to the requirements of the Act. 

6. Regent is an institution for higher education, whose primary purpose is to provide 

graduate education and not to provide religious training or theological education, as required by 

the Act. 

7. Regent University is a non-profit private institution for higher education offering 

graduate level degrees only. Its main campus is located in Virginia Beach, Virginia. The 

University is organized into seven schools, plus a center for leadership studies. Regent offers 

more than 20 graduate degrees through eight major graduate programs, all of which are fully 

accredited. These programs include business, law, communications and arts, counseling and 

hwnan services, divinity, education, government, and leadership studies. Regent is accredited by 

the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools. In addition, Regent's law school is accredited 

by the American Bar Association. 

8. · In accordance with the comminnent referenced in Paragraph 5 above regarding an 

equity contribution, no proceeds of the Conduit Bonds will be used by the University to provide 

any facility used or to be used for sectarian instruction or as a place of religious worship, 

including any chapel and the like, or any facility used or to be used primarily in connection with 

any part of the program of a school or department of divinity for any religious denomination; in 

particular. the proceeds will not be used to provide facilities for the University's Divinity School. 
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9. On April 24, 1999, the Board of Trustees of Regent University ("the Board") 

passed a resolution which~ among other things: 

a. approved the issuance of the Conduit Bonds pursuant to the Plan of 

Financing and the Validation in connection therewith; 

b. ratified and confmned the decision of the University to issue the Conduit 

Bonds through the V CBA. and the conduct of the Validation by the V CBA; 

c. authorized the President, the Vice President for Operations and Finance 

and such members of the University's administration as either of them may appoint to execute 

and deliver any and all certificates, instruments and documents and take any and all such further 

actions as they may consider necessary or desirable in connection with the Plan of Financing and 

the issuance of the Conduit Bonds; 

d. ratified and confirmed as the act of the University any and all other actions 

of the officers of the University or members of the University's administration that are in 

conformity with the purpose or intent of the resolution. 

1 0. The V CBA has the power and authority under the Act to undertake the issuance 

of the Conduit Bonds. For the reasons stated in ~e Memorandwn of Law in Support of this 

Motion to be filed prior to July 19, 1999, the issuance of the Conduit Bonds is permissible under 

the Act, as well as federal and state constitutional law. 

11. As required by the Act, the V CBA duly published a notice of public hearing on 

June 8 and 15, 1999. 

12. On June 22, 1999, the VCBA, consistent with its statutory authority, adopted a 

resolution approving Regent's application for the Con~uit Bonds and authorizing their issuance, 

5 



subject to validation and certain resolution conditions and actions prescribed by law at the time 

of issuance. 

13. At the June 22, 1999 meeting, the VCBA adopted a resolution (the "VCBA 

Resolution") which, among other things: 

a. approved the University's application for the conduit bond program; 

b. subject to Validation, the conditions described in the resolution and 

approval of the final financing structure and legal document by the VCBA, authorized the 

issuance of the Conduit Bonds and the loan of the proceeds from the sale thereof to the 

University to assist in the Plan of Financing; 

c. required, pursuant to §23-30.41 of the Virginia Code, that no proceeds of 

the Conduit Bonds will be used by the University to provide: 

1. any facility used or to be used for sectarian instruction or as a place 

of religious worship, including any chapel and the like; or 

u. any facility used or to be used primarily in connection with any 

part of the program of a school or deparnnent of divinity for any religious denomination; in 

particular, the proceeds will not be used to provide facilities for the University's Divinity School; 

d. authorized and directed the Chainnan, Vice-Chairman or the Treasurer of 

the VCBA, any of whom may act, to execute and deliver the various documents and instruments 

(the "Documents") that will be prepared and tiled pursuant to certain proceedings before the 

Circuit Court of the City of Richmond, Virginia, and to take such other actions as are necessary 

or proper in connection with the Validation, and authorized the Secretary or Assistant Secretary 

of the VCBA to affix the seal of the VCBA to the Documents and attest the same by his or her 

signature; 
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e. approved. ratified and conf11111ed all actions of the officers and staff of the 

VCBA, Bond Counsel and VCBA Counsel that are in conformity with the purposes or intent of 

the V CBA Resolution and the Validation; 

f. agreed that the University may proceed with the Plan of Financing. enter 

into contracts for the Plan of Financing and take such other steps as it may deem appropriate in 

connection therewith; provided, however~ that nothing in the VCBA Resolution shall be deemed 

to authorize the University to obligate the VCBA without its consent in each instance to the 

payment of any moneys or the performance of any acts in connection with the Plan of Financing. 

The VCBA agrees that the University may be reimbursed from the proceeds of the Conduit 

Bonds, if and when issued, for all expenditures and costs so incurred by it, provided such 

expenditures and costs are properly reimbursable under the Act and applicable federal laws; and 

g. confirmed that all costs and expenses in connection with the Plan of 

Financing and the Validation, including without limitation the fees and expenses of Bond 

Counsel and VCBA Counsel, shall be paid by the University or~ to the extent pennitted by 

applicable law, from the proceeds of the Conduit Bonds, if and when issued, and, if for any 

reason the Conduit Bonds are not issued, it is understood that all such expenses shall be paid by 

the University and that the VCBA shall have no responsibility for them. 

WHEREFORE, in accordance with Va. Code §15.2-2600 et seg., the VCBA respectfully 

requests that this Court: 

1. Enter an Order in the fonn of the attachment, requiring the publication of this 

Motion for Judgment once a week for two consecutive weeks in the Richmond Times Dispatch, 

fixing a time and place for hearing the proceeding, and informing any party defendant of the 
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right to reply to the Motion for Judgment within ten days after the second publication of the 

Motion for Judgment~ which Order shall be published with this Motion for Judgment; 

2. Grant a prompt hearing and, with the least possible delay, enter a final order or 

decree detennining and declaring that: 

a the V CBA has all necessary power and authority to issue the Conduit 

Bonds on behalf of Regent to fmance the Plan of Financing; 

b. all proceedings heretofore taken by the VCBA and Regent in connection 

with the authorization or issuance of the Conduit Bonds~ including the adoptio~ of the 

resolutions referenced in this Motion by the VCBA and Regent are legal and valid; 

c. use of the proceeds of the Conduit Bonds to fmance the Projects, as 

described in the Memorandwn of Law in Support of the Motion for Judgment, is permissible 

under the Act, as well as United States and Virginia constitutional law; 

d. the Conduit Bonds will be valid, legal and binding limited obligations of 

the VCBA, subject to the satisfaction of the conditions contained in the VCBA Resolution and 

the taking of any other actions prescribed by law at the time of their issuance; and 

e. such additional matters as may be specifically requested by the parties or 

as the Court may deem appropriate shall be resolved. 

Dated: June 29, 1999 

Respectfully submitted, 

VIRGINIA COLLEGE BUILDING AUTHORITY 

ByW~.&,~ 
Counsel 
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William G. Broaddus (Va. Bar No. 05284) 
Lloyd M. Richardson (V a. Bar No. 29050) 
James A. Sonne (Va. Bar No. 41922) 
McGuire, Woods, Battle & Boothe LLP 
901 East Cary Street 
Richmond, Virginia 23219 
(804) 775-1000 

Sandra Jones McNinch (V a. Bar No. 19828) 
Mays & Valentine 
1111 East Main Street 
Richmond, Virginia 23219 
(804) 697-1200 

Counsel for the VCBA 
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VIRGINIA: 
IN THE CIRCUIT COL~T FOR THE CITY OF RICHMOND 

VIRGINIA COLLEGE BlJILDING 
AUTHORITY. 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

STATUTORY DEFENDANTS 
PURSUANT TO VIRGINIA CODE §15.2-
2600 ET SEQ., TO WIT, TAXPAYERS, 
PROPERTY OWNERS AND CITIZENS 
OFTHECOMMON~ALTHOF 
VIRGINIA. INCLUDING 
NONRESIDENTS OWNING PROPERTY 
OR SUBJECT TO TAXATION THEREIN, 
AND ALL OTHER PERSONS 
INTERESTED IN OR AFFECTED IN 
ANY WAY BY THE ISSUANCE BY THE 
VIRGINIA COLLEGE BUILDING 
AUTHORITY OF REVENUE BONDS 
NOT TO EXCEED $55,000,000~ TO BE 
ISSUED IN ONE OR MORE SERIES 
FROM TlrvtE TO TirvtE, TO FINANCE 
THE PLAN OF FINANCING OF REGENT 
UNIVERSITY, 

Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

ORDER 

LAW# ____ _ 

WHEREAS, the Virginia College Building Authority (the "VCBA"), pursuant to the 

Public Finance Act of 1991 (Va Code §15.2-2600 et sea.), seeks a final order validating: 

1. certain of the VCBA's revenue bonds, to be issued in one or more series from 

time to time, in an amount not to exceed $55,000,000 (the "Conduit Bonds") based upon the 

credit of Regent University ("Regent" or "University") for the pmpose of: 

a. enabling Regent, an institution for post-baccalaureate education located in 

Virginia Beach. Virginia. to finance cenain educational structures and related facilities pursuant 
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to the Virginia Educational Facilities Authority Act (Va Code §23.30.39 et seq.); 

b. paying the costs of issuing the Conduit Bonds~ and 

c. funding reserve funds as may be necessary for the Conduit Bonds; and 

2. all proceedings taken in connection with the authorization and issuance of the 

Conduit Bonds for Regent University, including the actions taken by the VCBA; 

WHEREAS, the VCBA has heretofore complied with all statutory obligations required to 

be completed prior to this Order by the Public Finance Act of 1991 (Va Code §15.2-2600 et 

ggJ, and has duly filed its Motion for Judgment; 

THEREFORE~ IT IS ORDERED THAT: 

1. A hearing will be held on the VCBA's Motion for Judgment on Friday, July 30. 

1999 at 2 p.m. in the Circuit Coun for the City of Richmond in Richmond, Virginia; and 

., This Order and the Motion for Judgment shall be published once a week for two 

consecutive weeks in the Richmond Times Dispatch, with the date of the second publication 

being no later than July 19, 1999. 

3. Any pany defendant desiring to reply to the Motion for Judgment shall do so 

within ten days after the second publication of the Order and the Motion for Judgment. 

Judge Randall G. Johnson 

Entered: I I 
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\~·'E ASK FOR THIS: 

William G. Broaddus (Va. BarNo. 05284) 
Lloyd M. Richardson (V a. Bar No. 29050) 
James A. Sonne (V a. Bar No. 41922) 
McGuire, Woods, Battle & Boothe LLP 
901 East Cary Street 
Richmond, Virginia 23219 
(804) 775-1000 

Sandra Jones McNinch (V a. Bar No. 19828) 
Mays & Valentine 
1111 East Main Street 
Richmond, Virginia 23219 
(804) 697-1200 

Counsel for the VCBA 
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VIRGINIA: 
IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE CITY OF RICHMOND 

VIRGINIA COLLEGE BUILDING ) 
AUTHORITY, ) 

) 
Plaintiff, ) 

) 
v. ) 

) 
STATUTORY DEFENDANTS PURSUANT TO ) 
VIRGINIA CODE § 15.2-2600 ET SEQ., TO WIT, ) 
TAXPAYERS, PROPERTY OWNERS AND CITIZENS ) 
OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ) 
INCLUDING NONRESIDENTS OWNING PROPERTY ) 
OR SUBJECT TO TAXATION THEREIN, AND ALL ) 
OTHER PERSONS INTERESTED IN OR AFFECTED ) 
IN ANYWAY BY THE ISSUANCE BY THE ) 
VIRGINIA COLLEGE BUILDING AUTHORITY OF ) 
REVENUE BONDS NOT TO EXCEED $55,000,000 ) 
TO BE ISSUED IN ONE OR MORE SERIES FROM ) 
TIME TO TIME, TO FINANCE THE PLAN OF ) 
FINANCING OF REGENT UNIVERSITY, INCLUDING ) 
BARRY LYNN AND OTHER VIRGINIA MEMBERS ) 
OF AMERICANS UNITED FOR SEPARATION OF ) 
CHURCH AND STATE, FRANK FEIBELMAN, MARY ) 
BAUER, AND BERNARD H. LEVIN ) 

) 
Defendants. ) 

FINALOKDER 

LAW #LF-1527 

This matter was heard on July 30, 1999. All procedural prerequisites having been met, 

the parties appeared before the Court and the matter was properly presented. Upon consideration 

of the evidence introduced at the hearing, and the written and oral arguments of the parties, the 

Court issued its ruling from the bench. 

Accordingly, it is ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that the Court fmds in 

favor of the Defendants and the Motion for Judgment filed by the Plaintiff is DENIED for the 

reasons stated from the bench which are incorporated herein by reference. Final Judgment on the 
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Motion for Judgment is hereby entered for the Defendants. The Court further finds that 

Defendants' Counterclaim should be and is dismissed for reasons stated from the bench. 

The Clerk is hereby directed to send attested copies to all counsel of record. 

Entered on this / ? ~ day of August, 1999. 

_,/ 
.... , .. ~ 
.. ~-~.:-::: .-..-.-:-~-=.. _ _.-

~- ::-- -;..:....;.---.;--- ---. . 
,c=::: ===-;: =-- -~ -.. __...--· ----::-

-~ ~·---

Judge Randall G. Johnson 
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WE ASK FOR THIS: 
/ 7/ 

.., ,..J!:'~- ., ~ •• -· ; ,..., .•. · -
.. -- ---..., . . 

Steve Bricker (Va. Bar No. 14564) 
Steve Bricker & Associates · 
700 East Main Street, Suite 1212 
Richmond, VA 23219 
(804) 649-2304 

Steven K. Green 
Ayesha N. Khan 
Americans United for Separation 
of Church & State 
518 C Street, N.E. 
Washington, D.C. 20002 
(202) 466-3234 

Counsel for Defendants Barry Lynn 
and Other Virginia Members of Americans 
United for Separation of Church and State 

Seen and objected to for the reasons stated in 

~ 
~~ .r'- ... .! .. ·. :' .. 

Richard W. Ferris (Va. Bar No. 31812) 
ACLU of Virginia Foundation 
6 N. 6th Street, Suite 400 
Richmond, VA 23219 
(804) 644-8080 

Rebecca Glenl.>erg 
~1ember of State of Hawaii Bar ~~o. 6987 
ACLU of Virginia Foundation 
6 N. 6th Street, Suite 400 
Richmond, VA 23219 
(804) 644-8080 

Counsel for Defendants Frank Feibelman, 
Mary Bauer, and Bernard H. Levin 

Plaintiffs pleadings, briefs and oral argument, as noted: 

William G. Broaddus (Va. Bar No. 05284) 
Lloyd M. Richardson (V a. Bar No. 29050) 
James A. Sonne (V a. Bar No. 41922) 
McGuire, Woods, Battle & Boothe LLP 
One James Center 
901 East Cary Street 
Richmond, Virginia 23219 

Counsel for the Plaintiff 
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE CITY OF RICHMOND 

JOHN MARSHALL COURTS BUILDING 

-------------------
VIRGINIA COLLEGE BUILDING AUTHORITY, 

Plaintiff, 

1 

vs. LAW #LF-1527 

STATUTORY DEFENDANTS PURSUANT TO : 
VIRGINIA CODE SEC. 15.2-2600 ET SEQ.,: 
TO WIT, TAX PAYERS, PROPERTY OWNERS 
AND CITIZENS OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF 
VIRGINIA, INCLUDING NONRESIDENTS 
OWNING PROPERTY OR SUBJECT TO 
TAXATION THEREIN, AND ALL OTHER 
PERSONS INTERESTED IN OR AFFECTED IN 
ANY WAY BY THE ISSUANCE BY THE 
VIRGINIA COLLEGE BUILDING AUTHORITY 
OF REVENUE BONDS NOT TO EXCEED 
$55,000,000 TO BE ISSUED IN ONE OR 
MORE SERIES FROM TIME TO TIME, TO 
FINANCE THE PLAN OF FINANCING OF 
REGENT UNIVERSITY, INCLUDING BARRY 
LYNN AND OTHER VIRGINIA MEMBERS OF 
AMERICANS UNITED FOR SEPARATION OF 
CHURCH AND STATE, FRANK FEIBELMAN, 
MARY BAUER, AND BERNARD H. LEVIN, 

Defendants. 

Complete transcript of testimony and other 

20 incidents in the above HEARING, when heard on July 

21 30, 1999, before the Honorable R.G. JOHNSON, Judge. 

22 

23 

24 

25 

CRANE-SNEAD & ASSOCIATES, INC. 
4914 Fitzhugh Avenue 

Richmond, Virginia 23230 
Tel. No. (804} 355-4335 
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w 
Q. 

2 
WILLIAM G. BROADDUS, ESQ. 

3 MCGUIRE, WOODS, BATTLE & BOOTHE, L.L.P. 
One James Center, 901 East Cary Street 

4 Richmond, Virginia 23219-4030 
Counsel for the Plaintiff 

5 

6 JAMES A. SONNE, ESQ. 
MCGUIRE, WOODS, BATTLE & BOOTHE, L.L.P. 

7 One James Center, 901 East Cary Street 
Richmond, Virginia 23219-4030 

8 Counsel for the Plaintiff 

9 
LLOYD M. RICHARDSON, ESQ. 

10 MCGUIRE, WOODS, BATTLE & BOOTHE, L.L.P. 
One James Center, 901 East Cary Street 

11 Richmond, Virginia 23219-4030 
Counsel for the Plaintiff 

12 

13 AYESHA KHAN, ESQ. 
AMERICANS UNITED FOR SEPARATION 

14 OF CHURCH AND STATE 
1816 Jefferson Place, N.W. 

15 Washington, D.C. 20036 
Counsel for Defendant Barry Lynn 

16 

17 REBECCA GLENBERG, ESQ. 
ACLU OF VIRGINIA FOUNDATION 

18 6 North 6th Street, Suite 400 
Richmond, Virginia 23219 

19 Counsel for the Defendants 

20 

RICHARD W. FERRIS, ESQ. 
21 ACLU OF VIRGINIA FOUNDATION 

6 North 6th Street, Suite 400 
n Richmond, Virginia 23219 

Counsel.for the Defendants 
23 

24 

25 

17 
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NOTE: Court is reconvened at 

2:15p.m.; all parties being present, the 

hearing is had as follows: 

THE COURT: We're here on the 

case of Virginia College Building 

Authority versus Statutory Defendants. I 

know that we've received one grounds for 

defense from Barry Lynn and other 

Virginia Members of Americans United. 

Has anybody else filed any 

pleadings in this case? 

MR. FERRIS: Yes, Your Honor. 

We filed a grounds for defense. 

THE COURT: When was that 

filed? 

MR. FERRIS: I don't have the 

stamped copy in front of me, but it was 

filed on -- we do have a stamped copy. 

THE COURT: If you have a copy 

of that, because I don't know that I have 

it. Although in the last -- wait a 

minute. Maybe I do. 

MR. FERRIS: I have a stamped 

copy for Your Honor. 
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THE COURT: Is this Mary Bauer 

and Frank Feibelman and others? 

MR. FERRIS: Yes, sir. 

THE COURT: Okay. I have that. 

I think they all came in on the same day. 

Other than those two grounds 

for defenses, is anybody aware of any 

others? 

Mr. Broaddus, are you aware of 

any other grounds for defense? 

MR. BROADDUS: No, sir, I'm 

· not, Judge. 

THE COURT: Okay. 

MR. BROADDUS: Judge, there has 

been a counterclaim asserted by several 

of the Interveners. While we have not 

yet filed, we are prepared to file a 

demurrer to that counterclaim. 

MS. KHAN: Your Honor, I'm 

Ayesha Khan on behalf of defendant Barry 

Lynn and the movers of Americans United 

for Separation of Church and State. We 

are also, as we speak, filing the 

counterclaim. It was faxed to --

THE COURT: What is the nature 
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of your counterclaim? It's your 

counterclaim? 

MS. KHAN: It's our 

counterclaim. 

THE COURT: What's the nature 

of the counterclaim? 

MS. KHAN: The nature of the 

counterclaim is a Section 1983 -- under 

42 U.S.C. Section 1983, a claim that the 

issuance of the bonds would violate the 

Federal Constitution. 

THE COURT: Well, are the 

issues in your counterclaim, would they 

be any different than the issues that I'm 

going to hear today? 

MS. KHAN: No, Your Honor. 

They're the same. 

THE COURT: They're just 

something that you just want to do? 

MS. KHAN: Yes, Your Honor. 

We'd like that issue before the Court as 

well. 

THE COURT: You want to give me 

more paper. Do you want to file a 

counterclaim, too? 
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MR. FERRIS: Yes, we would join 

in the counterclaim, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Any issues that are 

going to be different than the issues I'm 

going to hear today? 

MR. FERRIS: Not to my 

understanding, Judge. 

THE COURT: All right. What 

else do we need to do before we get to 

it? 

MS. KHAN: Would Your Honor 

like a copy of the counterclaim at this 

time? I have a law clerk going 

downstairs to file it. 

THE COURT: Well, why don't you 

-- I don't see that that's going to 

change any of the arguments or any of the 

issues that we have. I don't want to 

prevent you from filing something that 

you have a right to file, but if you want 

to file it, it goes to the clerk instead 

of coming here. 

MS. KHAN: Okay. 

THE COURT: I think I would 

rather hear what has been noticed for 
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today before I start taking on any other 

papers. 

Is there anything else we need 

to do before we get started? 

MR. FERRIS: I would like to 

make one motion, and that is to move for 

the admission, for the purposes of this 

case, of o~r new Legal Director, Rebecca 

Glenberg, pro hac vice. 

THE COURT: Okay. 

MR. FERRIS: Ms. Glenberg is a 

member of the Hawaii Bar. She has 

recently been retained to become the new 

Legal Director of the ACLU of Virginia. 

THE COURT: All right. 

MR. FERRIS: She sat for the 

Virginia Bar earlier this week, and we 

would just like to move for her admission 

for the purposes of this case. 

THE COURT: All right. Ms. 

Glenberg, is it? 

MS. GLENBERG: Yes, that's 

right, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Pleased to have you 

here. Any objection, Mr. Broaddus? 
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MR. BROADDUS: No, sir. None, 

whatsoever. 

THE COURT: All right. 

MS. KHAN: Also pending before 

the Court is a motion for my admission 

pro hac vice by Stephen Bricker, who is--

THE COURT: Where is Stephen 

Bricker? ~e just sent you down here by 

yourself? 

MS. KHAN: He was unable to 

come, which is why we submitted the 

motion in written form. But Mr. Ferris 

is also prepared to formally 

THE COURT: Any objection, Mr. 

Broaddus? 

MR. BROADDUS: No, sir. 

THE COURT: Very well. Welcome 

to you also. Glad to have you here. 

Now, where do we go from here? 

MS. KHAN: One other 

preliminary matter. We are also 

submitting, having filed as we speak, 

additional exhibits to be submitted to 

the Court, and I can provide the Court 

with those. 
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THE COURT: All right. 

Everybody has copies of that? 

MS. KHAN: Yes, those were sent 

to the plaintiffs yesterday. 

THE COURT: All right. You 

want me to take a look at this before we 

start the hearing? 

MS. KHAN: Yes. 

THE COURT: Anything else? 

MS. KHAN: No. 

THE COURT: Thank you very 

much. Mr. Broaddus? 

MR. BROADDUS: Judge, we're 

prepared to go forward. 

THE COURT: All right. How 

many witnesses do you think you're going 

to have? 

witnesses? 

MR. BROADDUS: Two, sir. 

THE COURT: Ms. Khan, how many 

MS. KHAN: One, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Ms. Glenberg? 

MS. GLENBERG: We'll have no 

additional witnesses, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: All right. Let me 
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ask everybody who's going to testify in 

this case to please stand and raise your 

right hand. I don't know who the 

witnesses are, but, counsel, would you 

make sure that your witnesses are 

standing and raising their right hands. 

NOTE: At this time, the 

witnesses are sworn upon their oaths that 

the testimony which they will give in 

this case shall be the truth, the whole 

truth, and nothing but the truth, so help 

them God. 

THE COURT: Is there a motion 

to exclude witnesses, or are all of the 

witnesses parties? 

MR. BROADDUS: They are not 

technically parties, Judge, but we have 

no motion to exclude. 

MS. KHAN: I would like to move 

to exclude witnesses, please. 

THE COURT: All right. Do you 

know whether any of the witnesses are 

parties? 
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MS. KHAN: No, Your. Honor, none 

of the witnesses are parties. 

THE COURT: All right. I will 

ask all of the witnesses to go out into 

the hall and remain there until you're 

called to testify. We'll try not to keep 

you out.there too long. 

NOTE: At this time, all 

potential witnesses exit the courtroom. 

MS. KHAN: Your Honor, there is 

one more preliminary matter. 

THE COURT: Yes, ma'am. 

MS. KHAN: Which has to do with 

the admission of exhibits. As you know, 

we have been under a very short time 

frame, and the plaintiff excuse me. 

keep referring to myself as the 

plaintiff, having represented plaintiffs 

I 

for most of my legal career. We have, as 

a consequence, been somewhat under the 

assumption that the Court was going to 

proceed under a summary judgment model, 

and I had called to speak with Your 
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heard that the clerk was on vacation. 

15 

And for that reason and because 

of time constraints, we have not, for 

example, subpoenaed the custodian of 

records for Regent University, and many 

of our documents are records kept by 

Regent Uni~ersity. I understand, from 

speaking with Mr. Broaddus this morning, 

that they are not.going to object to the 

authenticity of those exhibits so that we 

would not be required to lay the 

foundation that would be laid through a 

custodian of business records. 

THE COURT: Mr. Broaddus? 

MR. BROADDUS: Judge, we have 

no objection to the documents based on 

authenticity. We do reserve objections 

on any other basis, including relevance. 

THE COURT: All right. Is that 

okay, Ms. Khan? 

MS. KHAN: Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: All r_ight. 

Anything else? 

Mr. Broaddus, any opening 
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statement you'd like to make? 

MR. BROADDUS: Thank you, sir. 

Judge, I am Bill Broaddus. I'm here on 

behalf of the Virginia College Building 

Authority. With me is Jim Sonne, and 

Lloyd Richardson will be joining us in 

just a few moments. He's outside at the 

moment. 

Judge, we're here pursuant to 

the Public Finance Act to ask the Court 

to validate a proposed bond issue by the 

Authority, which would be issued for the 

benefit of Regent University. The 

Authority was created pursuant to Section 

11 of Article VIII of the Constitution of 

Virginia, which permitted the General 

Assembly to create an authority to assist 

institutions of higher education in the 

Commonwealth to borrow money for the 

construction of educational facilities. 

The institutions, according to 

the Constitution, must be those whose 

primary purpose is to provide collegiate 

or graduate education and not to provide 

religious training or theological 
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education. There are additional limits 

imposed by Sections 23-30.41 of the Code, 

which requires that a facility funded by 

bonds issued by the Authority shall not 

include a facility used or to be used for 

sectarian instruction or as a place of 

religious worship nor any facility which 

is used or to be used primarily in 

connection with any program of a School 

or Department of Divinity for any 

religious denomination. 

Under the act creating the 

Authority, it's clear that bonds issued 

by the Authority are to be paid for 

solely from revenue which would be raised 

by the borrower. The Authority itself 

does not in any way pledge its credit, 

and the credit of the Commonwealth is not 

pledged in any way. So there are no 

public monies, whatsoever, involved in 

this endeavor. The Authority, as we 

described in our memorandum, is simply a 

conduit by which an institution may 

borrow money from those who are willing 

to purchase bonds. 
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Because the Authority is a 

State agency, use of the conduit permits 

the person who buys the bonds to deduct 

the interest on his bonds from his taxes. 

To date, approximately 35 educational 

institutions have borrowed monies 

pursuant to the authorization of the 

Authority and its programs. 

The issue before the Court this 

afternoon is whether the use of this 

conduit by Regent University, in a 

similar fashion to the preceding 35 

issues, violates the Establishment Clause 

of the First Amendment of the 

Constitution of the United States or 

Section 16 of Article I in the 

Constitution of yirginia or Section 11 of 

Article VIII of the Constitution of 

Virginia. 

We submit that there is no 

violation, and we are prepared to proceed 

this afternoon with the testimony of 

George Selig and Steve Gulyas to describe 

certain aspects of Regent University and 

the use of the proposed bonds. We would 
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like to reserve the opportunity, if the 

Court would permit us, to make a closing 

argument with which we will bring law 

into the case rather than I think that 

would be premature at this time. 

THE COURT: Thank you very 

much, Mr. Broaddus. 

Ms. Khan. 

MS. KHAN: The defendants agree 

with the plaintiff as to what's before 

the Court. There is a dispute about what 

the precise issue is. The plaintiff is 

of the view that the Court does not need 

to reach the question of whether Regent 

is a pervasively sectarian institution, 

and I think that is wrong for several 

reasons, the most important of which is 

being from the United States Supreme 

Court and H~~~~ being from the Virginia 

Supreme Court. 

Both of those decisions were 

that it violates the Federal Constitution 

for bonds, virtually identical to those 
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at issue here, to be offered and made 

available to a pervasively sectarian 

institution. H~~~l, additionally, based 

its ruling on the Virginia Constitution. 

So we have rulings that guide this Court 

that serve as precedent that have not 

been overruled. 

The defendants have suggested 

that the principles that underlie those 

decisions have been undermined but they 

have not been overruled, and I think 

there is a lengthy debate to be had, in 

fact, as to whether those have been 

undermined. But this Court does not need 

to reach that question, because they 

remain good law, and the Court is bound 

to follow them. 

So then the question becomes 

whether Regent is a pervasively sectarian 

institution. And that is the issue, I 

th·ink, before the Court today. And to 

just briefly highlight to the Court what 

the factors are that enter into that 

assessment. They are, does the college 

mandate religious worship. And on that 
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score, I think the Court can take some 

guidance from three cases in the Supreme 

Court, HYn~-~~-M~N~i~, Ti~~Qn_y. 

R~ha~aa2n, and R2~m~~-Y~_HQ~xg_Q~_gy~~i~ 

in which the Supreme Court found 

institutions not to be pervasively 

sectarian. And in all of those 

THE COURT: Ms. Khan, as Mr. 

Broaddus said, you understand this is an 

opening statement and not a closing 

argument? 

MS. KHAN: Yes, Your Honor. I 

wanted to lay out for the Court what the 

factors were and give some guidelines. 

THE COURT: I understand. 

MS. KHAN: But to be brief in 

that regard, I think you will find that 

Regent is an organization that's very 

mission is to be pervasively sectarian. 

It does impose religious worship 

requirements. Religion is pervasive in 

its curriculum. Religious preferences 

shape its student admissions, and faculty 

must be Christian. And, lastly, the 
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its parent organization, the Christian 

Broadcasting Network. And for those 

reasons and in light of those factors, I 

think the evidence will show that they 

are, in fact, pervasively sectarian. 

THE COURT: Thank you very 

much. I appreciate your statements. 

Ms. Glenberg, are you going to 

make a statement? 

MS. GLENBERG: Your Honor, I 

concur with what Ms. Khan has said. The 

question of whether the bond issue raises 

the Establishment Cause problem at all is 

controlled by H~~~~ and by Hun~-~-

M~H~i~, which have not been overruled. 

The facts of this case will 

demonstrate that Regent University is, 

indeed, a pervasively sectarian 

institution and that granting the bond 

issue in this case would violate both the 

United States and the Virginia 

Constitution. 

THE COURT: Thank you very 

much. 
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Mr. Broaddus, your first 

2 witness? 

3 MR. BROADDUS: Yes, sir. 

4 George Selig. 

5 THE COURT: Mr. Selig. 

6 

7 
0 ...... 

~ 8 .... 

9 

10 

11 WILLIAM GEORGE SELIG, 

12 a witness called by the Plaintiff, first 

13 being duly sworn, was examined and testified as 

14 follows: 

15 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

16 BY MR. BROADDUS: 

17 Q Good afternoon, Mr. Selig. 

18 A Good afternoon. 
0 
< 
CJ 

19 Q Would state your full z you name, w 
a. 

20 sir. 
I') 

A My is William George ,:. 21 name 
c( 

IL 
22 Selig. Ill 

23 Q What is your position at Regent 

24 niversity? 

25 A I'm the Provost of the 
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university. 

2 Q And how long have you been 

3 employed there? 

4 A Since 1980. 

5 Q Prior to joining Regent, what 

6 positions did you hold in the arena of higher 

7 education? 

8 A I taught as a part-time 

9 professor at Smith College, American University. 

1o was full time at Westfield State College. Taught 

11 some courses at the University of Massachusetts, 

12 Amherst. 

13 Q Have you been Provost since 

14 1980? 

15 A No, I became Provost in 1989. 

16 Q And prior to becoming Provost, 

17 what were your responsibilities? 

18 A I was Dean at the School of 

19 Education from 1983 until I became Provost. 

20 Q As Provost, do you have an 

21 pportunity to participate in campus activities? 

22 A 

23 Q 

24 A 

25 ut I do. 

Yes. 

Do you interact with students? 

Yes, not as much as I'd like 

39 
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2 A 

3 Q 

4 A 

25 

And with faculty? 

Very much so. 

Do you attend faculty meetings? 

Not often, although I'm an ex 

5 officio member of each faculty. Unless invited or 

6 unless I have something that I'm trying to explain, 

1 generally, I don't go unless I'm invited. 

8 Q Briefly, if you would describe 

9 for the Court your job duties, your 

10 responsibilities as Provost. 

11 A Well, primarily; as Provost, 

12 I'm the one in charge of the academic operations of 

13 the institution, and the deans of the various 

14 schools report to me. 

15 Q Does that include student 

16 activities? 

17 A The Director of Student 

18 Services reports to me. He is the one primarily in 

19 charge; but on the secondary level, I'm the one who 

20 would be in charge of the student activities. 

21 Q Yes, sir. Now, Regent is 

22 located in what locales? 

23 A We're located in Virginia 

24 each, Virginia. 

25 Q And you also offer a program in 
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Alexandria? 

2 A Yes, we have a relatively new 

3 program. It's in its second year of operation in 

4 terms of -- well, actually, its third or fourth 

5 year, but we have several programs we're offering 

6 right now in Alexandria, particularly the School of 

1 Education, Counseling, Divinity, so forth. 

8 Q What level of programs does 

9 Regent offer, and if you could briefly describe the 

10 types of programs. 

11 A First of all, we are a graduate 

12 institution. We have no undergraduate programs, 

13 whatsoever. The average age of our student is 

14 around 31 years of age. We offer seven -- we have 

15 seven schools and one center. The seven schools 

16 are Business, Education, Counseling, Communication, 

11 ivinity, Law, Government. And then we have a 

18 Center for Leadership Studies. 

19 Q How many different degrees do 

20 ou offer? 

21 A Over 20, I would say. I'm 

22 oing to guess 23, but over 20 I can guarantee you. 

23 Q Sure. And how many faculty 

24 embers are employed by Regent? 

25 A Last year we had 103, and we've 
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added several more, so I would assume we're 

2 probably 107, 108. 

3 Q And the number of students is 

4 what? 

5 A Oh, 1850. Of course, that 

6 varies from semester to semester but it's 

1 approximately that. 

8 Q ~s Regent a nonprofit private 

9 institution? 

10 A Yes, it is. 

, Q What percentage of Regent 

12 students are from the Commonwealth of Virginia? 

13 A Originally from the 

14 Commonwealth of Virginia? 

15 Q Yes, sir. 

16 A Okay. Originally, I would say 

17 between 30 and 40 percent. But after a year or 

18 two, many become Virginia residents and that 

19 approaches 70 percent. And after graduation, those 

20 who graduate, I would say probably close to so 

21 

22 

ercent stay on in Virginia. 

Q So do I. 

They love the area. 

Is an undergraduate 

23 degree required for admission of a student to 

24 egent? 

25 A Yes. 

42 



c ,... 
~ -

0 
< c z w 
CL 

28 
Selig - Direct 

Q Has Regent been accredited by 

2 reviewing institutions? 

3 A Yes, we have accreditation from 

4 the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools. 

5 In fact, we just received our renewal notice of our 

6 last accreditation, which took place in November of 

1 last year, and we.have another 10-year 

8 accreditation we've been given. 

9 And we are also accredited by 

10 the American Bar Association and by the Association 

11 of Theological Schools. And those are our three 

12 primary accreditations. We're under consideration 

13 right now for the American Psychological 

14 Association. We're in candidacy status. 

15 Q Describe if you will, please, 

16 the Southern Association for Colleges and Schools. 

17 A Well, the Southern Association 

18 for Colleges and Schools is one of I think seven 

19 regional accrediting bodies that make up the United 

20 States. And they look to the various aspects of 

21 the institution -- the library resources, the 

22 aculty, the qualifications of the faculty, 

23 inancial, the academic freedom, student 

24 ctivities, student freedom -- all the various 

25 spects that make up an institution. They review 
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and make an assessment as to whether you're in 

2 compliance or not in compliance. 

29 

3 And they did that with us last 

4 November. And, in fact, their statement was -- the 

5 chairman -- was that he had served on 19 different 

6 committees and he had never been to an institution 

1 that had so few noncomplying issues and those were 

8 relatively minor. 

9 Q Is this the same organization 

10 that would review, for example, for accreditation 

11 purposes, University of Virginia, Virginia Tech? 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

A Exactly. 

Q Virginia State University? 

A Exactly the same. 

Q Okay. Describe, please, the 

university's Mission Statement and Statement of 

Faith. 

MR. BROADDUS: Judge, these are 

included as exhibits in at least the 

·Interveners' exhibits. 

THE COURT: All right. 

MR. BROADDUS: They're also 

attached, if you will. These are 

attachments, Judge, also to Exhibit E to 

the memorandum that we filed in support 
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of the Motion for Summary Judgment. 

That's an affidavit of George Selig and 

has attachments to it. 

30 

4 THE COURT: All right. I have 

5 that. 

6 MR. BROADDUS: Thank you, sir. 

7 BY MR. BROADDUS: . (Continuing) 

8 Q I'm going to show you, Mr. 

9 Selig, what's styled Selig Affidavit Exhibit 3, 

10 which is a statement of faith, and ask you if you 

11 can identify this. 

12 A Yes. This is the Statement of 

13 Faith that has been in existence, to my knowledge, 

14 from the inception of the university. 

15 Q And let me show you the Mission 

16 Statement 

17 MR. BROADDUS: Which is Exhibit 

18 4 to that affidavit, Judge. 

19 BY MR. BROADDUS: (Continuing) 

20 Q Ask you if you can identify 

21 this, please. 

22 A Yes. This is the Mission 

23 Statement that was adopted, I believe, in 1993. We 

24 ad a mission statement previous to that, but this 

25 is the updated one. 
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Q What is the function and role 

2 of the Mission Statement and the Statement of Faith 

3 in university life? 

4 A Well, it sets the stage, or, if 

5 you will, it sets the stage of our world view, that 

6 we exist to bring glory to God. And that's our 

1 preamble. But our mission, which is played out in 

8 very practical terms, is to provide an exemplary 

9 graduate education. In other words, the finest 

10 possible education we can provide from biblical 

11 perspective to people we hope will go on and make a 

12 difference in society. 

13 Q What do you understand it to 

14 mean to say from a biblical perspective? 

15 A Well, I would say you can 

16 probably look at that from two aspects, from a 

11 relational one as well as from an objective one. 

18 hat does scripture have to say about whatever 

19 topic we're talking about? Does it have anything 

20 to bear on a particular subject? And that would be 

21 long the lines to promote truth, justice, and 

22 ove. 

23 In other words, we see those as 

24 hree kind of abiding statements. So we look at it 

25 rom that perspective, which, then, obviously, 
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involves conduct, how do we behave, how do we 

2 relate to others, does scripture have anything to 

3 say in a real objective way about the particular 

4 topic you're talking about. 

5 Now, in some cases, like in 

s some of the technical courses, it has very little 

7 to say, if any, except from a relational way, in 

32 

8 terms of how you treat others and so on. And most 

9 cases it's probably not a whole lot. In other 

10 subjects like law, for instance, a lot of law has 

11 come from a biblical perspective, so there would be 

12 more to talk about in that area. 

13 In areas where it doesn't fit, 

14 we don't use it or we don't spend any time talking 

15 about it. In areas where it fits, we do. And so 

16 it's just a consistency in our world view as to how 

17 e behave toward others and what does scripture 

18 ave to say. We believe that God is the source of 

19 all truth, so we can talk about anything we choose 

20 to talk about. 

21 Q Are these principles of an 

22 thical or moral nature or character? 

23 A Oh, absolutely. That's the way 

24 e set things, in that kind of a perspective. 

25 Q And you gave as examples love, 
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truth , j us t ice? 

2 A Which is part of our Mission 

3 Statement, that we're teaching the principles of 

4 truth, justice, and love described in the 

5 scriptures. 

6 Q Does the university make an 

7 effort to indoctrinate or inculcate particular 

8 religious beliefs in its students? 

9 A No, we have people from a 

10 diverse -- we have a diverse student body. Some 

11 are of Christian faith, some are not. Some have no 

12 faith perspective at all. All of our faculty have 

13 a Christian faith perspective. It's not our job --

14 our primary job is education. Students understand 

15 when they come that we teach from this perspective, 

16 but our job is not proselytization nor do we 

17 attempt do that. 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

Q Does the university -- I think 

ou just answered this. But to be clear, does the 

niversity have as its primary mission the 

revision of religious training or theological 

ducat ion? 

A No, which, of course, with the 

24 xception of the School of Divinity, which is 

25 heological training. 
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Q That's one of seven schools? 

2 A Well, one of eight, if you 

3 count the Center for Leadership Studies. 

4 Q Well, I'd like for you to 

5 describe the atmosphere at Regent. Is it one in 

6 which religious indoctrination thoroughly dominates 

7 secular education? 

8 A No, religious indoctrination is 

9 not a term we've even used. We're not there to 

10 indoctrinate. We're not a church. 

11 Q I'd like to focus several 

12 questions on students, if I may. Does Regent 

13 require its students to belong to any particular 

14 religion or to profess any religious beliefs? 

15 A No. We have Muslims and Jews 

16 who are not of Christian faith. 

17 Q Would you describe, if you 

18 will, please, the admissions policy. 

19 MR. BROADDUS: And, Judge, I'd 

20 like to point the Court, if I may, to 

21 Exhibit 1, to the affidavit of Michael 

22 Ash. This is Exhibit F. 

23 THE COURT: All right. 

24 y MR. BROADDUS: (Continuing) 

25 Q Showing you, Mr. Selig, Exhibit 
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1, which is an attachment to Mr. Ash's affidavit 

2 styled Student Admission and Registration. Are you 

3 familiar with that document? 

4 A Yes. 

5 Q And does that require a --

6 well, what are the factors that are considered in 

1 admitting a student? 

8 A Well, primarily intellectual 

9 achievement, scholarship, and then there is grade 

10 point averages. Then there is submission of test 

11 scores. Some schools require test scores, some 

12 don't. And then a maturity in spiritual and/or 

13 character qualities. 

14 For instance, if a student was 

15 of the Christian faith, they might have a clergyman 

16 provide a recommendation. But if they weren't of 

11 the Christian faith or were of no faith at all, 

18 then they would have to find someone to provide a 

19 character statement in terms of who they were and 

20 ere their goals consistent with the mission of 

21 egent University. 

22 Q Is there any religious 

23 equirement associated with admission? 

24 A No. 

25 Q If an applicant has not made a, 
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quote, personal commitment to Jesus Christ~ 

2 unquote, would that negatively impact a candidate's 

3 admission standing? 

4 A No. 

5 Q To your knowledge, has any 

6 applicant ever been turned down for admission for 

1 any reason pertaining in any way to religion or 

8 lack of religious affiliation? 

9 A Not to my knowledge. 

10 Q Are students at Regent required 

11 to attend the university's chapel? 

12 A No, a chapel requirement is 

13 something we have as a requirement. 

14 Q Are they required to 

15 participate in any religious activities? 

16 A No. 

17 Q Now, there is a statement, I 

18 believe, that exhorts students and faculty with 

19 respect to chapel and Christian lifestyle? 

not 

20 A Right. We strongly encourage 

21 them to attend chapel, but we don't require it nor 

n is there any punitive response if somebody doesn't 

23 at tend chapel. 

24 Q Does Regent maintain a 

25 philosophy of academic freedom as it relates to 
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students? 

2 A Yes, it does. 

3 Q Would you describe that, 

4 please. 

5 A Basically, we believe God is 

6 the source of all truth. So, therefore, that 

7 leaves us an open.avenue to investigate or to 

8 discuss anything. And, you know, as one of our 

9 presidents once said, there is nothing here that's 

10 not discussable. So we can go down any avenue we 

11 choose to go down. 

12 We do -- we have a limitation 

13 in that we do not allow our faculty to use their 

14 classroom as a personal pulpit, if you will, to 

15 expound on their personal beliefs in terms of 

16 trying to get students to accept a certain kind of 

17 theology or something like that. That would be 

18 detrimental to the student academic freedom, and so 

19 students would be able to file a grievance of some 

20 sort, if that did occur. 

21 Q Well, would you describe the 

22 finding of the Southern Association of Colleges and 

23 Schools on the academic freedom for students. 

24 A Well, I can't give it to you 
25 xactly, but 
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MR. BROADDUS: This is 

2 attached, Judge, as Exhibit 1 to Mr. 

3 Selig's affidavit. 

4 

5 BY MR. BROADDUS: 

6 Q 

THE COURT: All right. 

(Continuing) 

I'm going to show you a 

7 document and ask if you can identify this. 

38 

8 A Yes. This was, at least, part 

9 of the document that was submitted as part of the 

10 reaffirmation visit that occurred in November of 

11 last year. And the committee found that, number 

12 one, the openness of the atmosphere was what they 

13 established as great. They were most complimentary 

14 about our academic freedom. They saw absolutely no 

15 violation and that we lived by the academic freedom 

16 statement and that our faculty had never felt that 

17 they were, in any way, inhibited. 

18 Q And while this makes reference 

19 to faculty, which we'll turn to in a few moments, 

w oes this also pertain to student --

21 A Yes, we have a student academic 

22 reedom statement as well, which relates to that. 

23 Q Okay. I'd like for you to, 

24 ery briefly, address Regent's campus lifestyle 

25 olicy, if you will, as it pertains to behavior. 
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A Well, our lifestyle policy is 

2 not so much dissimilar from any other institutions 

3 who maybe don't put it in the context of saying 

4 it's part of a Christian lifestyle. But we have a 

5 lifestyle that there's no alcohol on our campus, no 

6 drugs, that people treat each other with respect. 

7 Pretty much, I would say, the code of good behavior 

8 that we would expect that everyone would follow. 

9 Q Are these consistent with the 

10 principles that you alluded to earlier? 

11 A Truth, justice, and love? 

12 Q That would arrive from a 

13 biblical perspective? 

14 A I would say so. 

15 Q Now, let me turn, if I may, Mr. 

16 Selig, to faculty. Let's address a couple 

17 questions there. Are faculty required to attend 
18 chapel or church services? 

19 A No, they're strongly encouraged 

20 ut they're not required. 

21 Q Are faculty members -- would a 

22 faculty member be disciplined for not attending 

23 church or chapel? 

24 A No, huh-uh. We wouldn't have 

25 ny knowledge whether they attended church or not. 
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Q Do you attend chapel? 

2 A I try to. I'm frequently in 

3 attendance. 

4 Q When you're there, 

5 approximately what percent of the faculty do you 

6 see in attendance? 

7 A Probably 15 to 20 percent. 

8 Q Now, are faculty required to 

9 sign a Statement of Faith? 

10 A Yes, they are. 

11 Q And would you describe that for 

12 the Court. 

13 A Well, the Statement of Faith is 

14 the Statement of Faith that you saw, that you gave 

15 me previously, which is not very dissimilar from 

16 the Apostle's Creed. Yes, they're expected to sign 

17 it. We require our faculty members to acknowledge 

18 and to sign that and to live by that perspective. 

19 Q Is the university, nonetheless, 

20 able to maintain academic freedom for its faculty? 

21 A I believe so. I don't believe 

22 it's interfered in any way, shape, or form with 

23 their academic freedom. 

24 Q And that is verified by the 

25 ommittee's report of SACS? 
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A Yes, but it's also verified by 

2 the American Bar Association. They had seen no 

3 violations of our academic freedom statement. 

4 Q Now, you alluded to this 

5 earlier, Mr. Selig. But with respect to faculty 

6 members in the classroom, are they permitted to 

1 seek to proselytize students? 

8 A Absolutely not. 

9 Q Does Regent have a tenure 

10 system for its faculty? 

11 A Yes, it does. 

12 Q Does that system make 

13 reference, among other things, to criteria that 

14 relate to integrating faith and learning? 

15 A Right. 

16 Q And would you describe what 

17 that means to the Court. 

18 A Well, what we're attempting to 

19 do is because we are a Christian institution and 

20 creating this harmony of faith and learning, if you 

21 ill, is something we're at tempting to do, most of 

22 our faculty come from secular institutions that are 

23 outstanding in their discipline. They are not 

24 theologians, and we want them to look at things, be 

25 ble to look at their discipline from the 

56 



0 
< 
C) 
z w 
a. 

Selig - Direct 
42 

perspective of their faith, and so we encourage 

2 them to become more proficient in that and to read. 

3 And we provide reading 

4 materials. We even provide various kinds of 

5 opportunities, through workshops and so on, so that 

6 faculty can become more proficient in it. There's 

1 no one way, because we have faculty from many 

8 diverse denominations. Their take on scripture, 

9 oftentimes it varies. The only thing that we ask 

10 them really to hold tight to is the Statement of 

11 Faith. And so we have some vigorous debates about 

12 what scripture says about certain things ·that they 

13 would be talking about. 

14 Q Is this so that they're able or 

15 better able to develop an understanding of the 

16 principles that we've referred to, ethics and 

17 morals of love and justice and truth? 

18 A Yes. 

19 Q What is the primary criteria 

20 for hiring professors? 

21 A Their academic credentials. 

22 Q Now, I'd like for you very 

23 riefly to --
24 THE COURT: Excuse me. You 

25 need to leave? Once you come on this 
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side, you're here, unless there's some 

2 emergency. 

3 MS. KHAN: Your Honor, the 

4 

5 

problem is that it's occurring to me that 

I did not bring enough copies of the 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

second set of exhibits, because we had 

brought.one for the Court and--

THE COURT: Maybe that's an 

appropriate emergency. I just like to 

know. You can go ahead and leave if it's 

taking care of something for this, but 

not talking to witnesses in the hall. 

MS. KHAN: Thank you. 

THE COURT: All right. Go 

ahead. 

17 BY MR. BROADDUS: 

MR. BROADDUS: Thank you, sir. 

(Continuing) 

18 Q I'd like you, Mr. Selig, to 

19 riefly address the governors of Regent. How are 

20 the members of the Board of Trustees appointed? 

21 A The members of the Board of 

22 rustees are appointed by the Board of the 

23 hristian Broadcasting Network. 

24 Q And what is the role of the 

25 oard of Trustees? 
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A Basically, they're a 

2 policy-setting board for the university. 

3 Q Are they involved in the 

4 day-to-day activities? 

5 A No, not at all. 

6 Q Does the -- to your knowledge, 

1 does the Christian Broadcasting Network dictate to 

8 the Board of Trustees poli~ies to be followed? 

9 A No, they don't. 

10 Q From your observation, are the 

11 Board members free to follow those dictates that 

12 they think appropriate in setting policy? 

13 A Yes, sir. 

14 Q Now, I'd like to return, 

15 briefly, to the bonds. And I understand that you 

16 are not primarily responsible from the financial 

11 perspective. 

18 A True. 

19 Q What will be the purposes for 

20 which the bonds will be used? 

21 A To help build the Alexandria 

22 building, the School of Communication building, the 

23 events center. 

24 Q And?· 

25 A And to refinance the student 
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housing. 

2 Q Now, let's briefly touch on 

3 student housing. We'll take them in reverse order. 

4 What is student housing? Is it just that, 

5 dormitories? 

6 A Well, it's apartments, 

1 actually. I think there is 112 units, or maybe 

8 more now, that were built about 10 years ago or 8 

g years ago. And that's for the students and their 

10 families who are attending Regent University. 

, , Q And were they financed by a 

12 bond issued through an industrial development 

13 authority in the Commonwealth of Virginia, if you 

14 know? 

15 A I can't answer that exactly. 

16 think they had it approved, but I don't think they 

17 used it. 

I 

18 Q If you don't know, that's fine. 

19 The events center, would you describe that, please. 

20 A I'm not real conversant on all 

21 the anticipated rules of that, but it's primarily 

22 for workshops, for conferences, kind of the same 

23 thing that you would see, for instance, at the 

24 niversity of Virginia where they have a conference 

25 center. It's something that a lot of universities 
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now are starting conference centers to have 

2 continuing education activities, noted speakers, 

3 those kinds of things. 

4 Q And the communications and arts 

5 facility? 

6 A That's for the School of 

7 Communication, which has a heavy emphasis on 

a television, film. And we've outgrown all of our 

9 facilities. And so teaching of classes in 

10 communication, the theater facilities for plays, 

11 all the television studios, film opportunities, all 

12 those kinds of things, faculty offices. 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

MR. BROADDUS: Judge, I want to 

ask Mr. Selig several questions with 

respect to the Northern Virginia 

building. If I may put those in context 

by a brief statement that I think would 

help explain the purpose of these 

questions so that the Court will 

understand? 

THE COURT: All right. 

MR. BROADDUS: One of the 

programs that would be used -- that would 

be housed under the present proposal in 

the facility to be built at the 
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Alexandria campus is the School of 

Divinity. It's the proposal that Regent 

utilize a concept that's similar to what 

a bond counsel had used for a long time 

with respect to financing of permitted or 

nonpermitted uses in bond issue finance 

items. 

Under this concept, Regent 

would not fully fund the building from 

the bond proceeds. It would make an 

equity contribution, which would be in 

portion or in relation to that percentage 

of use of the building by the School of 

Divinity. And that is one issue which we 

think that the Court will want to 

consider as it addresses this particular 

issue. 

19 BY MR. BROADDUS: 

THE COURT: All right. 

(Continuing) 

20 Q Mr. Selig, would you describe 

21 the uses for which the Northern Virginia facility 

~ will be used or devoted. 

23 A Well, primarily, it's for our 

24 seven schools. The School of Law will not be in 

25 orthern Virginia, primarily because of the library 
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requirements, and we're not able to sustain two law 

2 libraries. The rest of the schools will be there. 

3 It's our plans to have all of them there. Four or 

4 five of them are already there. It will be 

5 primarily used for administrative office space, for 

6 classrooms, some lecture halls. So it will be like 

7 a mini campus. 

8 Q And the schools, leaving aside 

9 the School of Law, would be 

10 A 

11 Q 

12 communication? 

Will all be represented there. 

Okay. And they are arts and 

13 A Communication, business, 

14 counseling, education, Center for Leadership 

15 Studies, School of Government. I think I got them 

16 all. 

17 Q And the Divinity School? 

18 A The Divinity School will be up 

19 there, yes. 

20 Q Now, under the present 

21 proposal, would it have access to the use of the 

22 building?· 

23 A It is our hope that that's 

24 possible that they could use that, but it may not 

25 e possible, in which case, then they would lease 
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space out elsewhere. 

2 Q Now, if they are permitted to 

3 use the facility, describe the funding mechanism 

4 that would be used in conjunction with that. 

5 A Well, we wouldn't expect the 

s bond to cover them. What we would do is figure a 

7 percentage of space utilization, which then we 

8 would fund separately apart from the bond that is 

9 covered. So for instance, if they had 15 percent 

10 -- and that's arbitrary, I don't know what the 

11 percentage would be -- then we would pay for that 

12 15 percent. We wouldn't expect the bond to cover 

13 that. 

14 MR. BROADDUS: Judge, may I 

15 confer with counsel at this point? 

16 THE COURT: Yes, you may. 

49 

17 MR. BROADDUS: Judge, I believe 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

as I went through, I neglected to ask for 

the admission of the exhibits that I 

referred to. We would ask that they be 

admitted. 

THE COURT: Any objection to 

any of the exhibits? 

MS. KHAN: No objection, Your 

Honor. 
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MS. GLENBERG: No objection. 

THE COURT: All right. 

NOTE: The above-referred-to 

documents located in the Memorandum of 

so 

Law in Support of Motion for Judgment at 

Tab E and Tab F were marked and filed as 

Plaintiff's Exhibits Nos. E and F, 

respectively. 

MR. BROADDUS: Mr. Selig, if 

you would be good enough to answer any 

questions of opposing counsel. 

Thank you, Judge. 

THE COURT: Ms. Khan. 

MS. KHAN: Beg your indulgence, 

Your Honor. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

21 BY MS . KHAN: 

22 Q Good afternoon, Mr. Selig. 

23 A Good afternoon. 

24 MR. BROADDUS: Judge, I 

25 apologize. Mr. Sonne has very helpfully 
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pointed out one question I neglected to 

ask. 

THE COURT: Go ahead. 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

51 

7 BY MR. BROADDUS: (Continuing) 

8 Q ~r. Selig, do you know how many 

9 bond issues the Virginia College Building Authority 

10 has participated in prior to the one that is 

11 present before the Court? 

12 A My understanding that it's 35. 

13 Q Are there any criteria 

14 pertaining to an institution's participation in 

15 that program based on religion? 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

MS. KHAN: Your Honor, I would 

object to this line of questioning and 

would move to strike the earlier answer 

unless Mr. Broaddus can establish for the 

Court that Mr. Selig has a basis on which 

to know the answers to these questions. 

THE COURT: All right. Mr. 

Broaddus? 

MR. BROADDUS: Well, Judge, if 

he knows how many there have been, he 
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doesn't have to actually have counted the 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

number. 

THE COURT: Ask him if he knows 

and how he knows. 

BY MR. BROADDUS: 

Q 

information? 

A 

MR. BROADDUS: All right. 

(Continuing) 

Mr. Selig, how do you know the 

That's information that I 

10 received in light of this whole preparation. I 

11 happened to just read it. 

12 THE COURT: All right. 

13 Objection is overruled. Go ahead. You 

14 can cross-examine him on it, Ms. Khan, 

15 but I'm going to allow him to give the 

16 answer. 

17 BY MR. BROADDUS: (Continuing) 

18 Q And are the application for 

19 financing and the appendices to the application for 

20 financing 

21 MR. BROADDUS: If I may 

22 approach, Judge. These are Exhibits C 

23 and D to the memorandum which we've 

24 previously --

25 THE COURT: All right. 
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BY MR. BROADDUS: (Continuing) 

2 Q 

3 you previously 

Are these the applications that 

that Regent filled out, the form 

4 of the applications? 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

A Yes. 

MR. BROADDUS: Thank you. 

Judge, we would move the admission of 

those as well. 

THE COURT: Exhibits C and D. 

Any objection? 

MS. KHAN: No objection. 

THE COURT: They will both be 

admitted. 

NOTE: The above-referred-to 

documents located in the Memorandum of 

Law in Support of Motion for Judgment at 

Tab C and Tab D were marked and filed as 

Plaintiff's Exhibits Nos. c and D, 

respectively. 

THE COURT: Any other 

questions, Mr. Broaddus? 

MR. BROADDUS: No, sir. 

THE COURT: Mr. Sonne, any 

68 



~ 
r!J z 
w a. 

Selig - Cross 
54 

other questions? 

2 MR. SONNE: No, Your Honor. 

3 THE COURT: All right. Ms. 

4 Khan. 

5 MS. KHAN: Thank you, Your 

6 Honor. 

. 7 

8 

9 CROSS-EXAMINATION 

10 BY MS. KHAN: 

11 Q Mr. Selig, you said in your 

12 affidavit, and I will quote here, that Regent does 

13 not require its faculty to adhere to the beliefs of 

14 a specific denomination or belong to a specific 

15 church; is that right? 

16 A Yes. 

17 Q It is your testimony today, 

18 though, that Regent does require faculty to be 

19 Christian; is that right? 

20 A Yes. 

21 Q I'm showing you what is Exhibit 

22 17 to the document that was provided to the Court 

23 today that's entitled Exhibits 16 to 26. 

24 THE COURT: All right. 

25 
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BY MS. KHAN: (Continuing) 

2 Q I'll hand you that. Is that 

3 the faculty application form that Regent University 

4 uses? 

5 A I believe so. You know, I know 

6 these things get updated, but it generally looks 

7 1 ike it. 

8 Q You see there that it requires 

9 a statement regarding, I quote again, your 

10 conversion, your Christian commitment, and your 

11 acquaintance with the Present Day Renewal Movement, 

12 which emphasizes the gifts, truths, and ministries 

13 of the Holy Spirit. Why is that included in the 

14 faculty application form? 

15 A Because we have a close 

16 relationship with the Renewal Movement. We were 

17 founded by the Christian Broadcasting Network, 

18 which has a close relationship with the Renewal 

19 Movement, and that's always been there. 

20 Q And why are you concerned that 

21 the faculty also have a relationship with that 

22 ovement? 

23 A Because it's something that's 

24 present on our campus, and it's simply a 

25 charismatic experience, if you will. 
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Q And how would you describe that 

2 charismatic experience? 

3 A Well, the basic belief is that 

4 the scripture talks about the gifts of the Holy 

5 Spirit being evident in the world today. And so we 

6 want people who -- to know that we have an openness 

1 to this, and that, you know, if they're going to 

8 come there, we'd lik~ them to know that, that is 

9 something that's accepted here on our campus. 

10 We have faculty on our campus 

11 who, while they understand the Renewal Movement, 

12 this is not something that they are, that they 

13 believe in. They believe that the gifts have 

14 stopped already. But that didn't preclude them 

15 from becoming faculty members. 

16 Q But you do require that they 

17 subscribe to this Statement of Faith? 

18 A Yes, we do. 

19 Q You also ask, on that 

20 application form, for their church or denomination? 

21 A For informational purposes, 

22 yes. 

23 Q But I take it that it's on the 

24 application because it's relevant to an assessment 

~ of whether you want to hire the faculty; isn't that 

71 



0 ,.... 

~ 

0 
4( 
C) 
z w 
Q.. 

Selig - Cross 

right? 

2 A No. 

3 Q No? 

4 A It:s more that we're just 

5 interested in, for record-keeping purposes,. how 

6 many people we have from the different 

1 denominations. 

8 Q ~hy do you want to keep those 

9 records? 

10 A I think it's just -- it gives 

11 us some idea of the diversity of our faculty. 

57 

12 Q But the diversity only extends 

13 to Christians? 

14 A Yes, it does. 

15 Q And the faculty form that you 

16 have before you also says that the university seeks 

11 faculty members who subscribe to the Christian 

18 witness; is that right? 

19 A Yes. 

20 Q Also as part of the 

21 application, the faculty handbook, which is also 

22 provided to the Court as Exhibit 3 to the original 

23 brief of Barry Lynn and other Virginia members of 

24 Americans United. I can show it to you, Mr. Selig, 

25 but if you can recall, does it say that faculty 
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applicants are required to submit a written 

2 Statement of Christian Faith? 

3 A I believe so. 

4 Q Again, I can show it to you. 

58 

5 It does say that a university official then reviews 

s that Statement of Faith in order to determine 

1 whether or not the person should be interviewed. 

8 Do you know what that official is reviewing that 

9 statement for? 

10 A Yes, as a matter of fact, I do, 

11 because we have had people who have applied who 

12 said that they were of a Christian persuasion, but 

13 in reading it, we find that they're not of a 

14 Christian persuasion, not what we would call a 

15 Christian persuasion. They may be accepting of 

16 Christian principles, but they themselves might not 

17 be Christian in terms of how its been described. 

18 Q So you do require them to be 

19 Christians of a certain sort? 

20 A Christians who could subscribe 

21 to our standard of faith. For instance, looking 

22 at--

23 Q That's all, Mr. Selig. 

24 A All right. 

25 Q You've answered my question. 
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Thank you. 

2 MR. BROADDUS: Judge, I would 

3 like him to have an opportunity to 

4 explain his reasons. 

5 THE COURT: All right. Go 

6 ahead and explain, if you will, Mr. 

7 Selig. 

8 BY MS. KHAN: (Continuing) 

9 A We have some people who have 

10 applied, but on our Statement of Faith it's, 

11 essentially, one God. We have people who have 

12 applied who say they're Christians but have many 

13 gods, and that's not what we describe as Christian. 

14 Somehow they assume that that's what that meant. 

15 And it's more done to be sensitive. We'd rather 

16 not have this person arrive here and find out that 

11 they didn't fit. 

18 Q You earlier said that your 

19 Statement of Faith is similar to the Apostle's 

20 Creed; is that right? 

21 A 

22 Q 

23 A 

24 the scripture. 

Uh-huh. 

What is the Apostle's Creed? 

The Apostle's Creed is found in 

I can't repeat it for you directly, 

25 but if you wanted to look it up, you can. It's 
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something that you find in most of the traditional 

2 churches, statement like the Nicene Creed and so 

3 on. Believe in one God. 

·4 Q And is it something that is 

5 adhered to by some denominations in Christianity? 

6 A I would say in terms of the --

7 I would say most of the Christian traditions. I'm 

a not aware of any who don't. 

9 Q You also said in your affidavit 

10 that Regent does not require its faculty to at tend 

11 the university's chapel, and you repeated that 

12 testimony on direct today. Do you also see on the 

13 faculty application form, though, that it says that 

14 it is, quote, imperative that faculty engage in, 

15 again, I quote, regular church attendance? 

16 A Right. 

17 Q Is it also true that faculty 

18 are evaluated regarding their chapel attendance and 

19 their participation in Bible studies and 

20 performance reviews? 

21 A We strongly encourage it. 

22 Q Is that ~art of the evaluation 

23 process? 

24 A Not to my knowledge. I've 

25 never seen it as part of the evaluational process 
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in terms of their lack of attendance of chapel. 

2 Q How is it that you encourage 

3 them to attend chapel? 

4 A I think we simply say, this is 

5 something we believe that you should do, we 

6 strongly encourage you to do it. It would be 

1 helpful if more of you were in attendance at 

8 chapel. Obviously, we're not successful if we only 

9 have 15 to 2 0 percent. 

10 Q Are you aware that the faculty 

11 handbook says that faculty applying for tenure or 

12 promotion are to include a summary of Christian 

13 activities, which include such things as frequency 

14 of chapel attendance, participation in staff 

15 devotion, home Bible studies, church activity? 

16 A Uh-huh. 

17 Q That's yes? 

18 A Yes, that's a yes. 

19 Q Do you have any non Christian 

20 faculty members? 

21 A Not to my knowledge. 

22 Q I'm going to show you what is 

23 Exhibit 20, which is in the packet that's in your 

24 lap. 

25 A Yes. 
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Q Is that the employment 

2 application that Regent University uses? 

3 A 

4 Q 

5 A 

Not for faculty. 

But for staff? 

I believe so. I haven't seen 

6 many of these. 

7 Q Does that document state that 

8 all employees are expected to understand and adhere 

9 to certain articles of belief? 

10 A Yes. 

11 Q It also requires applicants to 

12 include a reference of a pastor, correct? 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

A Right. 

Q It also requires applicants to, 

quote, state your Christian testimony as p~rt of 

the application? 

A Right. 

Q Is it also true that the Board 

of Trustees have taken official action stipulating 

that a condition for employment is agreement with 

the university's Statement of Faith? 

A I believe so. 

Q Are you aware that the Regent 

olicy on accepting applications -- actually, if I 

can back up and direct you to Exhibit 22 in that 
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set of materials. You see there that it says that 

2 prospective employees will not be discriminated 

3 against on account of race, color, sex, age, 

4 national origin, or disability? 

5 A Yes. 

6 Q Why does it omit religion? 

1 A Because we only hire 

a Christians. 

9 Q So that's true of staff as 

10 well? 

11 A Faculty and staff, yes. 

12 Q Now, directing you to Exhibit 

13 16, which is also there before you. That is the 

14 employee handbook. And it says there, quote, all 

15 employees are expected to be in chapel unless 

16 specifically exempted by their supervisor, does it 

17 not? 

18 THE COURT: That's what it 

19 says. What's the question? 

20 BY MS. KHAN: (Continuing) 

21 Q Is that policy adhered to? 

22 A In practice? 

23 Q (Counsel nods.) 

24 A No. 

25 Q So why is it there? 
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A Because I think it's something 

2 we're strongly encouraging, but we don't force them 

3 to adhere to it. 

4 Q You talked a little bit about 

5 the requirement that faculty are required to sign 

6 the Statement of Faith and that you were a 

7 professor, before.you came to Regent, at Smith 

8 American University, University of Massachusetts. 

9 Were you required to sign anything of that sort at 

10 those universities? 

11 A No. 

12 Q The faculty handbook says that 

13 faculty are required to be proficient in 

14 effectively integrating their faith and learning. 

15 What does that mean? 

16 A Well, I think I explained it to 

17 Mr. Broaddus before. But we expect that they will 

18 have become proficient in understanding the 

19 relation between what they teach and what they 

20 believe, which is their world view. We expect them 

21 to have a Christian world view, if you will, and 

22 starting, obviously, from the Mission Statement or 

23 Statement of Faith, and to be able to teach 

24 students from that perspective. And we hope that 

25 -- we expect that they will become proficient over 
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time in doi-g that. 

2 Q If they are not adequately 

3 proficient, are they required to undergo a 

4 prescribed course of study in the School of 

5 Divinity? 

6 A There are opportunities 

7 available. One, to take some workshops from the 

8 School of Divinity, the other to have a reading 

9 program. Another one is to take some workshops 

65 

10 that we offer from time to time. It's fairly loose 

11 in terms of how they get there , r e co gn i z in g that 

12 there is no one way of integration of faith and 

13 learning. With our diverse number of 

14 denominations, people look at scripture in a 

15 variety of ways. 

16 Q But the ultimate requirement is 

17 that they ingrate that scripture 

18 A Right. 

19 Q -- into the courses? 

20 A Yes, to be informed. They're 

21 disciplined to be informed in the biblical 

22 perspective. 

23 Q Now, moving to the question of 

24 student admissions. Mr. Selig, I want to show you 

25 the application form for admissions, which is 
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Exhibit 5. 

2 A Am I done with this now? 

3 Q Yes. It's actually several 

4 pages into Exhibit 5. It's page 15. If you notice 

5 halfway down the page on page 15, it asks the 

a applicant to list all academic and nonacademic 

7 honors and distinctions. 

8 A Right. 

9 Q I take it that's included there 

10 because you believe that's relevant to whether or 

11 not the applicant gets admitted? 

12 A Yes, we'd like to know if they 

13 demonstrate leadership capabilities and so on. 

14 Q It asks on page 16 whether the 

15 person has received counseling for chemical 

16 dependency or emotional or mental condition. I 

17 take it that's included as well because that's 

18 relevant to whether or not the person gets 

19 admit ted? 

20 A Well, no. What it is, it's 

21 included, because if they have these issues, then 

22 if it's something we need to know about, we would 

23 ask them for the opportunity to investigate further 

24 and determine what that means, just so that we can 

25 determine whether they're appropriate for the 
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university. It doesn't -- we take people with 

2 health conditions and limitations. It doesn't 

3 screen them out. 

4 Q But it is relevant to your 

5 inquiry? 

6 A Yes, one of the many factors, 

7 particularly in education. 

8 Q ~f you move further that same 

9 document to page 19, that is a clergy 

10 recommendation form that asks the clergy person to 

11 answer the question of whether the applicant has 

12 made a meaningful personal commitment to Jesus 

13 Christ. 

14 A Okay. 

15 Q What is the relevance of that 

16 information? 

17 A Well, we're looking for moral 

18 and ethical standards, and we believe that if 

19 somebody is and it's, certainly, not 100 percent 

~ assured -- but if somebody has made a -- has made a 

21 Christian commitment, then we're assuming that 

~ they're attempting to live according to the tenets 

23 of scripture. So we see that as one piece of 

~ information that would be helpful. 

25 However, if not, we would ask 
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for some other religious or moral leader to comment 

2 on the person's reliability, maturity, and so on. 

3 We want people of good character, and that's some 

4 of the ways we can determine that. 

5 Q In some of your application, if 

s not all of them, ask for the applic~nt's church, 

7 correct? 

8 A 

9 Q 

10 information? 

11 A 

12 information. 

13 Q 

(Witness nods.) 

Why do you ask for that 

I think it's just statistical 

I know of no use other than that. 

Do you keep statistics on the 

14 Mosques that are attending by your students? 

15 A No. We keep statistics -- I 

16 would imagine, if somebody is not of Christian 

17 faith, then we would know if they were Jewish or 

18 Muslim. 

19 Q Do you keep statistics on any 

20 other houses of worship attended by your students 

21 other than Christian? 

22 A No. 

23 Q With respect to students. If 

24 ou look further in that document at Tab 11, which 

25 is your admission policy. 
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A Okay. 

2 Q Does that appear to be Regent's 

3 admission policy? 

4 A It appears to be. 

5 THE COURT: Where are you, Ms. 

6 Khan? 

7 MS. KHAN: Tab 11, Your Honor. 

8 THE COURT: Go ahead. 

9 BY MS. KHAN: (Continuing) 

10 Q It there says that your 

11 nondiscrimination policy forbids discrimination on 

12 the basis of race, national origin, and, again, a 

13 variety of criteria but it omits religion; is that 

14 right? 

15 A It does, but it shouldn't. 

16 That is -- some of the schools, in doing this, 

17 picked up our faculty as opposed to the student, 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

which is unfortunate, but they did it. We're 

attempting to correct it. 

Q But that is your existing 

admissions policy? 

A No, the existing --

MR. BROADDUS: Your Honor, I 

think she cut Mr. Selig off as he was 

trying to explain. I just wanted him tc 
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have the opportunity to finish. 

2 THE COURT: Had you finished 

3 your previous answer, Mr. Selig? 

4 THE WITNESS: I'm not sure 

5 anymore, but let me try to backtrack a 

6 bit. 

7 THE COURT: Then you have 

8 finished it. 

9 What's your next question, Ms. 

10 Khan? 

11 MS. KHAN: Thank you, Your 

12 Honor. 

13 BY MS . KHAN: (Continuing) 

14 Q Is there a term that would 

15 capture the point of view that is set forth in 

16 Regent's Mission Statement and Statement of Faith? 

17 Would you call it Evangelical, Fundamental, 

18 Pentecostal? Is there a term that would unify 

19 that? 

20 A The Mission Statement, no. 

21 That's much broader than Evangelical. But the 

22 Statement of Faith tends to be -- well, it doesn't, 

23 but we look at it from an Evangelical perspective. 

24 But the Mission Statement, if you take a look at 

25 it, is broader. It's more encompassing of the 
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Christian traditions. 

2 Q But the Statement of Faith to 

3 which faculty are to subscribe comes from an 

4 Evangelical perspective? 

5 A Well, I would say, no, not 

6 exactly, but we tend to interpret things from an 

7 Evangelical perspective. The Statement of Faith, 

8 probably anybody of a Christian tradition would be 

9 able to sign it, even though they might be more of 

10 a liberal persuasion as opposed to an Evangelical 

11 persuasion. 

12 Q Do you believe that Regent has 

13 a unique mission? 

14 A I think a unique mission in 

15 terms of i t s C h r i s t ian orient at ion . 

16 Q What makes it unique, simply 

17 its Christian orientation? 

18 A I hope its quality of 

19 instruction. 

20 Q Is it true that the Christian 

21 Broadcasting Network appoints all 26 members of the 

n Board of Regent University? 

23 A We can actually have 48, I 

24 think. 

25 Q You have 48? 
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A No 1 we could, I believe. But I 

2 yes 1 they appoint them all. 

3 Q And, in fact, there is an 

4 overlap so that .some of the members of the Board of 

5 Regent are also on the Board of CBN; is that right? 

6 A At present, yes. It's not a 

7 requirement. It just happens to be that way. 

8 Q Has Regent also received over 

9 $200 million from CBN? 

10 A Yes, it has. 

11 Q And is some of that money the 

12 largest ever endowment to a private university, to 

13 your knowledge? 

14 A I don't think so anymore, but 

15 it's close. A one-time gift. 

16 Q Are you familiar with CBN and 

11 its operations? 

18 A Generally. 

19 Q Is it true that it identifies 

20 itself as a ministry? 

21 A Well, it's a broadcast 

22 organization with a Christian purpose. I suspect 

23 some people would call it -- it would be a 

24 arachurch organization. 

25 MS. KHAN: Your Honor, if I may 
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confer with counsel. 

THE COURT: All right. 

MS. KHAN: Your Honor, I have 

no more questions, except that I would 

like to move the admission of the 

exhibits to which I referred to Mr. 

Selig. 

THE COURT: Let's go back and 

you tell me which ones they are. 

MS. KHAN: Actually, perhaps 

this would be an opportunity to go 

through the exhibits and move all of 

their admission. 

73 

THE COURT: Well, I don't know. 

Mr. Broaddus said he wants to reserve his 

right to object to specific exhibits for 

other reasons. I think the better thing 

to do is for you to move them as you have 

witnesses refer to them. 

I know you referred to Exhibit 

5. Any objection to·Exhibit 5, Mr. 

Broaddus? And I don't mean to ignore 

you, Ms. Glenberg. Can I correctly 

assume that your interests are the same 

as Ms. Khan's? You're not going to 

88 



2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 
c ,... 
~ 8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 
0 
< 
(.'J 

19 z 
w 
a. 

20 

~ 21 N 
< 
b. 
Ul 22 

23 

24 

25 

74 
Selig - Cross 

object to any of her exhibits? 

MS. GLENBERG: That's right, 

Your Honor. 

THE COURT: All right. 

MR. BROADDUS: No objection to 

Exhibit 5. 

THE COURT: All right. 

5 is admitted. 

Exhibit 

NOTE: The above-referred-to 

documents located in the Brief and 

Exhibits of Barry Lynn and Other Virginia 

Members of Americans for Separation of 

Church and State in Opposition to 

Issuance of Revenue Bonds to Regent 

University at Tab 5 were marked and filed 

as Defendant's Exhibit No. 5. 

THE COURT: What's the next 

one? 

MS. KHAN: Exhibit 17. 

THE COURT: Exhibit 16 was 

referred to. Any objection to Exhibit 

I don't think 16 was referred to. Any 

objection to 17? 
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MR. BROADDUS: No objection. 

NOTE: The above-referred-to 

documents located in the Brief and 

Exhibits of Barry Lynn and Other Virginia 

Members of Americans for Separation of 

Church and State in Opposition to 

Issuance of Revenue Bonds to Regent 

University at Tab 17 were marked and 

filed as Defendant's Exhibit No. 17. 

MS. KHAN: 16 was referred to. 

THE COURT: Any objection to 

16? 

MR. BROADDUS: No objection. 

NOTE: The above-referred-to 

documents located in the Brief and 

Exhibits of Barry Lynn and Other Virginia 

Members of Americans for Separation of 

Church and State in Opposition to 

Issuance of Revenue Bonds to Regent 

University at Tab 16 were marked and 

filed as Defendant's Exhibit No. 16. 
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MS. KHAN: 21 and 22. 

THE COURT: 21 and 22. Any 

objection to either of those? 

admitted. 

MR. BROADDUS: No objection. 

THE COURT: They both will be 

NOTE: The above-referred-to 

documents located in the Brief and 

76 

Exhibits of Barry Lynn and Other Virginia 

Members of Americans for Separation of 

Church and State in Opposition to 

Issuance of Revenue Bonds to Regent 

University at Tab 21 and Tab 22 were 

marked and filed as Defendant's Exhibits 

Nos. 21 and 22, respectively·. 

MS. KHAN: Exhibit 5. That one 

we've already dealt with. 

MR. BROADDUS: No objection. 

THE COURT: Exhibit 5 is 

already admitted. 

MS. KHAN: Exhibit 11. 

MR. BROADDUS: No objection. 

THE COURT: That's admitted. 
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NOTE: The above-referred-to 

documents located in the Brief and 

Exhibits of Barry Lynn and Other Virginia 

Members of Americans for Separation of 

Church and State in Opposition to 

Issuance of Revenue Bonds to Regent 

University at Tab 11 were marked and 

filed as Defendant's Exhibit No. 11. 

MS. KHAN: Your Honor, if the 

Court would like the party to have a 

witness refer to an exhibit, I would like 

to continue with Mr. Selig and have the 

balance of my exhibits admitted. 

16 BY M S . KHAN : 

THE COURT: All right. 

{Continuing) 

17 

18 please. 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Q 

Exhibit 1? 

If you would look at Exhibit 1, 

THE COURT: Any objection to 

MR. BROADDUS: No objection. 

THE COURT: The Board's 

resolution. 
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NOTE: The above-referred-to 

documents located in the Brief and 

Exhibits of Barry Lynn and Other Virginia 

Members of Americans for Separation of 

Church and State in Opposition to 

Issuance of Revenue Bonds to Regent 

University at Tab 1 were marked and filed 

as Defendant's Exhibit No. 1. 

THE COURT: All right. 

11 BY M S . KHAN : (Continuing) 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Q 

A 

If you would look at Exhibit 2. 

(Witness complies.) 

THE COURT: Newspaper article? 

MS. KHAN: Yes, Your P.onor, 

these are newspaper articles. Does Mr. 

Broaddus object to their admission? 

admission? 

objection? 

MR. BROADDUS: I'm sure, yes. 

MS. KHAN: Object to the 

MR. BROADDUS: Yes, I object. 

MS. KHAN: All right. 

THE COURT: Any response to the 

MS. KHAN: Your Honor, I 
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believe that these are -- inform the 

Court about basic information that 

THE COURT: I assume the 

objection is hearsay. What's your 

response? 

MS. KHAN: There is no 

indication that what is in these articles 

is of any controversial nature, and it 

simply demonstrates --

THE COURT: That's not one of 

the exceptions to the hearsay rule that 

I'm aware of. 

MS. KHAN: Well, the final 

exception is indicia of the reliability, 

and --

THE COURT: Newspaper articles? 

MS. KHAN: Your Honor, unless 

the defendants (sic) can indicate that 

there is something inaccurate in these, I 

think there is relatively nothing 

controversial to these newspaper 

articles. 

THE COURT: Objection 

sustained. 

MS. KHAN: Exhibit 3. 

94 



2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 
0 
~ m 
~ 8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 
0 
< 
~ 

19 z w 
~ 

20 

~ 21 N 
~ 
~ 
m 22 

23 

24 

25 

Selig - Cross 
80 

THE COURT: Do you want me to 

formally mark these Refused so they will 

be a part of the record? 

MS. KHAN: Yes, Your Honor, 

please. 

THE COURT: All right. 

MS. KHAN: I believe the 

faculty ha~dbook has not yet been 

admitted. 

THE COURT: Any objection to 

the faculty handbook? 

MR. BROADDUS: No objection. 

NOTE: The above-referred-to 

documents located in the Brief and 

Exhibits of Barry Lynn and Other Virginia 

Members of Americans for Separation of 

Church and State in Opposition to 

Issuance of Revenue Bonds to Regent 

University at Tab 3 were marked and filed 

as Defendant's Exhibit No. 3. 

MS. KHAN: The university 

Mission Statement. 

THE COURT: Why don't we do 
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this. We're going to take a -- do you 

have any cross-examination? 

MS. GLENBERG: No, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Is there any 

redirect? 

MR. BROADDUS: Judge, just one 

question. 

THE COURT: All right. I'm 

going to fix it. Go ahead and ask your 

question. You can have a seat, Ms. Khan. 

MS. KHAN: Thank you. 

THE COURT: We're going to take 

a recess, and I'm going to let you, Ms. 

Glenberg, and Mr. Broaddus get together, 

tell me which ones there are no 

objections to, and then you can argue the 

ones to which there are objections. 

MR. BROADDUS: Judge, we'll 

certainly do that, but just as a general 

proposition, we have no objection to 

those documents which are Regent 

University documents. 

THE COURT: I didn't think you 

did. 

MR. BROADDUS: We object to 
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those that are not. 

2 THE COURT: You all can talk 

3 

4 

and then make a list, and you can just 

give me a list of the ones to which there 

5 are no objection so I can mark them 

6 during the course of the trial. 

7 

8 

9 REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

10 BY MR. BROADDUS: 

11 Q Mr. Selig, reference was made 

12 to the admissions policy for the university and the 

13 number of bases upon which the university does not 

14 discriminate with respect to student admissions. 

15 And the document, I believe, that was shown to you 

16 did not make reference to religion? 

17 A Yes. 

18 Q And I believe we went over this 

19 earlier, but just so the record is clear. Does 

20 Regent University admit students who are not 

21 Christians? 

22 A Yes, they do. 

23 Q Does it discriminate in any way 

24 on the basis of religion when considering student 

25 a dm i s s ion? 
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A No, that document is in error, 

2 and I suspect in trying to put it together, the 

3 people took the faculty document as opposed to the 

4 student document. You know, you'll find other 

5 errors like that, I'm afraid, particularly since we 

s got things on the internet. 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

questions? 

MR. BROADDUS: Thank you. 

THE COURT: Any other 

MR. BROADDUS: No, sir. 

THE COURT: Mr. Selig, thank 

you very much, sir. You can step down 

but I can't excuse you yet in case Ms. 

Khan or Ms. Glenberg have any other 

questions they want to ask about the 

exhibits. 

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir. 

-----------------------------
WITNESS STOOD ASIDB 

THE COURT: We'll stand in 
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recess until quarter to 4:00. 

NOTE: At this time recess is 

had from 3:30 to 3:47p.m., whereupon 

court is reconvened; the hearing is 

resumed as follows: 

THE COURT: Have you all been 

able to agree on which exhibits can be 

admitted without argument? And I meant 

84 

to say before I left, I hope that you all 

also talked about the Building 

Authority's exhibits also, Mr. Broaddus's 

exhibits that could be admitted without 

argument. But if you didn't, we'll get 

to it. 

MS. KHAN: We didn't. 

MR. BROADDUS: Judge, we object 

to, if I could just use the word 

Defendant's Exhibits 2, 14, 18, 24, 26. 

And with respect to Exhibit 12, Judge, we 

have no objection. these are the 

articles of incorporation. We would like 

to reserve the opportunity to make 

certain that they are complete and on 
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Monday to supplement them if there's any 

article that has been amended. 

THE COURT: All right. And 

those are the only ones that are objected 

to? 

MR. BROADDUS: Yes. 

THE COURT: All right. All of 

the other ones will be admitted. 

NOTE: The above-referred-to 

documents located in the Brief and 

Exhibits of Barry Lynn and Other Virginia 

Members of Americans for Separation of 

Church and State in Opposition to 

Issuance of Revenue Bonds to Regent 

University at Tabs 4, 6, 7, 81 101 12, 

13, 15 1 191 20, 231 and 25 were marked 

and filed as Defendant's Exhibits Nos. 4
1 

6 1 7 1 8 1 10 1 12 1 13 1 15 1 19 1 2 0 1 2 3 1 and 

25, respectively. 

THE COURT: Do you want to be 

heard on these now, Ms. Khan? 

MS. KHAN: Yes, Your Honor. We 

are perfectly comfortable with them 
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supplementing Exhibit 12. 

THE COURT: All right. 

MS. KHAN: Exhibit 14 we will 

not move the admission of. Neither will 

we move the admission of Exhibit 24 or 

26. 

We would, however, seek the 

admission of Exhibit 18, and that is an 

excerpt from a brief that was filed in 

H~~~l-~_Ingy~~xi~l-~~~12~m~n~ 

AY~hQXi~~- And so that I can understand 

the basis of the objection, I don't 

believe it's been stated. 

MR. BROADDUS: Judge, I object 

because 

THE COURT: Is this something 

that was submitted by Regent? 

MS. KHAN~ Your Honor, no, it 

was something that was submitted by the 

Industrial Development Authority to 

demonstrate -- and the only point of that 

exhibit is that it says that Liberty 

University was a university that was 

accredited by the same entity that Regent 

has been accredited by. 
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I actually believe that, that 

is something the Court can take judicial 

notice of, that it can be easily 

verified, accurately and easily verified 

from a reliable source that they are 

accredited by the same entity. And that 

is a case that bear's significant 

relevance to the Court's decision. Both 

of the parties have spoken extensively in 

the briefing about that issue. 

THE COURT: All right. I'm 

going to sustain the objection. 

Now, do you need Mr. Selig any 

further? 

MS. KHAN: Your Honor, I would 

like to recall Mr. Selig for one point. 

THE COURT: All right. Mr. 

Selig. 

MS. KHAN: Your Honor, I 

apologize for my error. I withdraw the 

request. 

THE COURT: You do not need Mr. 

Selig? 

MS. KHAN: I do not. 

THE COURT: Can Mr. Selig be 
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3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 being duly 

18 follows: 

19 

excused? 

MR. BROADDUS: Yes. 

THE COURT: Mr. Braxton, you 

can tell Mr. Selig he can come in the 

courtroom or he's free to leave, if he 

would like to leave. 

Your next witness, Mr. 

Broaddus? 

MR. BROADDUS: Stephen Gulyas. 

STEPHEN MELVIN GULYAS, 

a witness called by the Plaintiff, first 

sworn, was examined and testified as 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

20 BY MR. BROADDUS: 

21 

22 sir. 

23 

24 Gulyas. 

25 

Q 

A 

Q 

Mr. Gulyas, state your name, 

My name is Stephen Melvin 

What is your position? 
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A My position is the 

2 Vice-President of Operations and Finance at Regent 

3 University. 

4 Q How long have you held that 

5 position, Mr. Gulyas? 

6 A I started employment at Regent 

7 University the 1st of March of 1998. 

8 Q And in that particular 

9 position? 

10 A At the time, it was the same 

11 function and title as George. 

12 Q What, briefly, are your 

13 functions, sir, your responsibilities? 

14 A From a budget standpoint and a 

15 financial management standpoint, I deal with that, 

16 strictly with the university, across the 

17 university, both from the academic side and the 

18 support side. So it's the chief financial officer 

19 for the University. From the operations side, the 

20 support side, it has no interface of responsibility 

21 in regards to the academic operations in the 

22 university. It's support of the academics. 

23 Q All right, sir. Were you 

24 involved in putting together the application which 

25 as submitted by Regent to the College Building 
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Authority? 

2 A Yes, sir, I was. 

3 MR. BROADDUS: Judge, if I may 

4 approach? 

5 

6 BY MR. BROADDUS: 

7 Q 

THE COURT: All right. 

{Continuing) 

I'm going to show you a 

8 document. Is this a copy of the package with the 

9 application and the supporting data that was 

10 submitted to the Authority by Regent? 

11 A Without going through every 

12 page, when I look at the principal schedules and 

13 the dependencies, it's, basically, the application 

14 -- it is the application that we provided. 

15 Q And is it actually the package 

16 that was submitted to the Authority members by the 

17 Treasurer of Virginia? 

18 A It was or is. 

19 Q Just to make clear as to what 

20 it contains, does it also contain several pages in 

21 a letter from Barry Lynn? 

22 A This package does, yes, sir. 

23 Q And that was not submitted by 

24 the university, but that was part of the package 

25 that was submitted by the Treasurer to the 
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Authority? 

2 A Yes, sir. 

3 

4 

MR. BROADDUS: Judge, we'd like 

to have this admitted. 

5 THE COURT: Is there any 

6 objection? 

7 

8 Honor. 

9 

10 BY MR. BROADDUS: 

11 Q 

MS. KHAN: No objection, Your 

THE COURT: All right. 

{Continuing) 

Now, Mr. Gulyas, one of the 

12 projects that the university desires to finance 

13 through this proposed bond issue is the refinancing 

14 of student housing at Virginia Beach? 

15 A Yes, sir, that's correct. 

16 Q Would you very briefly describe 

17 to the Court what is anticipated there. 

18 A What we would like to do is we 

19 currently have an outstanding debt of $5.5 million, 

20 which is a result of Phase I university housing and 

21 Phase II university housing. Phase I university 

22 housing was financed through tax exempt funding. We 

23 were validated back in '83 or '84 for tax exempt 

24 funding. 

25 When the need for additional 
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student housing was realized, and I think that was 

2 in the early 90's. I don't know the exact date at 

3 this time. But we got a blended rate. So we did 

4 not pursue the tax exempt because the immediate 

5 requirement for additional student housing, and 

6 that was done through a conventional. So it's 

7 blended between tax exempt and conventional 

a funding. 

9 Q You gave a little more than I 

10 had anticipated. That's understandable given the 

11 open-ended nature of the question. I apologize for 

12 that. Was the initial financing through an 

13 industrial development authority? 

14 A The initial funding of Phase I, 

15 yes, sir. 

16 Q Was that bond issue validated 

17 by a certain quote of Commonwealth of Virginia, to 

18 your knowledge? 

19 A I can't answer that, because I 

20 believe it was validated through the Virginia Beach 

21 -- I think through the -- I really can't answer 

22 that. 

23 Q What do you mean by the term 

24 al ida ted? 

25 A They approved the Authority to 

107 



c ,... 
§ 

~ 
CJ z 
w 
Q. 

Gulyas - Direct 

issue the bond through conduit funding. 

2 MR. BROADDUS: We'd ask the 

3 Court to take notice of an order which 

4 we've tendered, Exhibit 1 of our brief. 

5 THE COURT: All right. Any 

6 objection? 

7 MS. KHAN: No, Your Honor. 

8 

9 

10 BY MR. BROADDUS: 

MR. BROADDUS: Thank you. 

THE COURT: All right. 

(Continuing) 

11 Q With respect, Mr. Gulyas, to 

12 the portion of this project that involves the new 

93 

13 campus in Northern Virginia, Alexandria. I'd like 

14 to address several questions to you concerning 

15 that. If the Court holds that, under the 

16 Constitution, the College Building Authority may 

17 not issue bonds for a project which is used in any 

18 way by a Divinity school, would the university, 

19 nevertheless, request the Authority to go forward 

20 with respect to the other projects, other portions 

21 of the project? 

22 A Yes, sir. 

23 Q And with respect to the 

24 Northern Virginia campus, again, if the Court were 

25 to hold that it would be impermissible for the 
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Authority to issue bonds for a project that 

2 included a facility to be used in part by the 

3 Divinity school, even under the description that 

4 the university would put up that portion of funding 

5 equivalent to the use of time by the Divinity 

6 school, would the university wish to have the 

7 option to consider whether to use that facility 

8 only for the graduat~ schools excluding the 

9 Divinity school? 

10 

11 option. 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

A We would like to have that 

MR. BROADDUS: Judge, that's 

all the questions I have of Mr. Gulyas. 

Ms. Khan? 

Honor. 

THE COURT: Cross-examination, 

MS. KHAN: No questions, Your 

THE COURT: Ms. Glenberg? 

MS. GLENBERG: No questions. 

THE COURT: Thank you very 

much, Mr. Gulyas. You may step down, 

sir. I'm going to assume that Mr. Gulyas 

can be excused? 

MR. BROADDUS: As far as our 

witness. 
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THE COURT: You're free to 

remain in the courtroom, if you'd like, 

or you're free to leave. 

----------------------------
WITNESS STOOD ASIDE 

THE COURT: You want to offer 

this? 

MR. BROADDUS: I apologize, 

Judge. We'd like to have that admitted 

as our next exhibit. 

THE COURT: We'll make this 

Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 1. 

MR. BROADDUS: Thanks. 

NOTE: The above-referred-to 

Virginia College Building Authority 

Meeting Package was marked and filed as 

Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 1. 

THE COURT: Mr. Broaddus, does 

110 
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that complete the Authority's evidence? 

MR. BROADDUS: It does, sir. 

THE COURT: All right. The 

Authority rests. Ms. Khan. 

MS. KHAN: Your Honor, we'd 

call Robert S. Alley to the stand. 

THE COURT: Mr. Broaddus? 

MR. BROADDUS: Judge, Mr. Sonne 

is doing his best, and sometimes I don't 

get it. We do need at next break to 

discuss our exhibits. Subject to that, 

we rest. 

THE COURT: All right. Well, 

which exhibits do you want to offer? 

THE COURT: I've already 

admitted C, D, E, and F. And you have 

the application, which has now been 

admitted. Do you want to offer exhibit 

A, which is the resolution of the 

Authority? 

MR. BROADDUS: Yes, sir. 

THE COURT: . I think that's 

already in. 

MR. BROADDUS: I think that's 

in, Your Honor. 

Ill 



0 
< 
~ z w 
~ 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

1 1 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

97 

THE COURT: It might be entered 

as one of your exhibits. 

MS. KHAN: Your Honor, sorry. 

I was looking through this and getting a 

little confused about what was admitted. 

What exhibit are you referring to at the 

moment? 

THE COURT: Right now, Exhibit 

A. 

MS. KHAN: A? 

THE COURT: Yes. 

MS. KHAN: Exhibit A has been 

admitted as our Exhibit 1. 

THE COURT: Nq, this is Exhibit 

A to the Authority's memorandum of law. 

MS. KHAN: Right. It's the 

same exhibit, so we have no objection. 

THE COURT: Then I'll admit it. 

NOTE: The above-referred-to 

documents located in the Memorandum of 

Law in Support of Motion for Judgment.at 

Tab A were marked and filed as 

Plaintiff's Exhibit No. A. 
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MR. BROADDUS: Exhibit C has 

been admitted. Exhibit D. 

THE COURT: How about Exhibit 

B? 

MS. KHAN: Exhibit B we would 

object to. 

THE COURT: Mr. Broaddus, you 

want to be heard on that or do you want 

to withdraw? 

MR. BROADDUS: Judge, we will 

withdraw it. 

THE COURT: Is that okay, Mr. 

Sonne? 

MR. SONNE: Yes. 

98 

MS. KHAN: Your Honor, I throw 

myself upon the mercy of the Court in 

this regard. I didn't realize that the 

admission of other exhibits took place at 

the close of the evidence. 

THE COURT: He's reopening now 

and asking me to allow them. 

MS. KHAN: Okay. If we could 

just take each of these in turn? 

THE COURT: Yes, that's what 

I'm doing. 
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MS. KHAN: Okay. 

THE COURT: A has been 

admitted. B has been withdrawn. c has 

already been admitted. D has already 

been admitted. E and F have already been 

admitted. 

MS. KHAN: Well, E is the 

exhibit as to which I did not understand 

to have I did not realize was being 

admitted. 

THE COURT: All right. 

MS. KHAN: Neither E nor F. I 

would object to those. 

affidavit. 

THE COURT: You do object to E? 

MS. KHAN: Yes. 

THE COURT: That's Mr. Selig's 

If there's any question, you 

can cross-examination him. I'll call him 

back to the stand if you want to 

cross-examine him. Everything in the 

affidavit he recited on the witness 

stand. 

MS. KHAN: That's fine. I only 

object because they have objected to the 

introduction of Bob Alley's affidavit. 
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And if Bob Alley's affidavit isn't going 

to be admitted, then Mr. Selig's 

affidavit ought not to be admitted. 

THE COURT: I'm allowing Mr. 

Selig's affidavit. He has testified. 

Exhibit F, I asked was there 

any objection to it. I thought there was 

none. Do you object to Exhibit F? 

MS. KHAN: Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: How about the 

exhibits to Exhibit F? Do you object to 

those, because they were referred to by 

Mr. Selig. 

MS. KHAN: Those I believe I 

did not object to, but let me -- those 

were inadvertently left out, so they're 

in a separate place. No objection. 

THE COURT: No objection to the 

exhibits. Do you need the affidavit, Mr. 

Broaddus, if you have the exhibits? 

MR. BROADDUS: No, sir. 

THE COURT: All right. The 

affidavit then is not admitted, but the 

exhibits to the affidavit are admitted. 

MS. KHAN: Your Honor, sorry to 
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back up for a second. 

THE COURT: I beg your pardon? 

MS. KHAN: I would not object 

to Selig Affidavit Exhibit 2. 

THE COURT: Selig affidavit and 

all of the exhibits have been admitted. 

If you object to them, they are being 

admitted over your objection. 

MS. KHAN: Okay. 

THE COURT: We're now up to F. 

We need to get through this. We're now 

up to F. 

MS. KHAN: Your Honor, we're 

just at such a disability, because the 

documents that we had, these were not 

included in. 

THE COURT: Well, there's only 

one exhibit to --

MS. KHAN: No objection to 

THE COURT: Exhibit 1 to 

Exhibit F is admitted. 

MS. KHAN: Yes. No objection. 

THE COURT: Exhibit G. Do you 

still want that, Mr. Broaddus? 

MR. BROADDUS: No, sir. 
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THE COURT: That is being 

withdrawn. Exhibit H, an opinion from 

the Eastern District of Michigan. That 

wouldn't be an exhibit. That is 

something you can refer to in your 

argument. 

102 

MR. BROADDUS: We just did that 

for the convenience of the Court, Judge. 

THE COURT: Is there any 

objection to making that an exhibit? 

MS. KHAN: No. 

THE COURT: All right. That 

will be admitted. 

NOTE: The above-ref~rred-to 

documents located in the Memorandum of 

Law in Support of Motion for Judgment at 

Tab H were marked and filed as 

Plaintiff's Exhibit No. H. 

THE COURT: Exhibit I. 

MR. BROADDUS: Well, Judge, 

that's a document of the Commonwealth of 

Virginia. 

THE COURT: Is there any 
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objection? This is pertaining to Liberty 

University. Is there any objection to 

this? 

MS. KHAN: Yes, Your Honor. 

Objection, hearsay. 

THE COURT: Mr. Broaddus? 

MR. BROADDUS: Judge, I think 

the Court may take notice of an official 

document of the Commonwealth of Virginia. 

THE COURT: Maybe but why is 

the document about Liberty University 

relevant? 

MR. BROADDUS: This document 

authorizes TAG grants for Liberty after 

April. 

THE COURT: I'm just wondering 

why is it relevant? I haven't heard any 

evidence about Liberty University. I 

know what I read in the paper. I know 

they have a fairly good basketball and 

football team. Other than that. 

MR. BROADDUS: It's relevant, 

Judge, to show how the Commonwealth has 

approved an institution that is described 

as Liberty was described in the Supreme 
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Court's decision. 

THE COURT: All right. I'm 

going to admit it over objection. You 

all can argue that. 

NOTE: The above-referred-to 

documents located in the Memorandum of 

104 

Law in Support of Motion for Judgment at 

Tab I were marked and filed as 

Plaintiff's Exhibit No. I. 

MR. BROADDUS: Judge, J is the 

decree of the Circuit Court. I had 

previously made reference to that. 

THE COURT: Any objection to 

that, Ms. Khan? 

MR. BROADDUS: This is Catholic 

bond issue that was issued for the 

benefit of Catholic high school. 

THE COURT: All right. Any 

objection? 

MS. GLENBERG: Your Honor, I 

know that we didn't object to the other. 

THE COURT: You all have one in 

and now Mr. Broaddus has one in. This 
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will be the third court decision that 

will be an exhibit. If you object, I'm 

not going to let it in. If you don't 

object, I'm going to let it in. But it 

can still be referred to in argument. 

MS. KHAN: No objection. 

THE COURT: Let's make it an 

exhibit. 

NOTE: The above-referred-to 

documents located in the Memorandum of 

Law in Support of Motion for Judgment at 

Tab J were marked and filed as 

Plaintiff's Exhibit No. J. 

MR. BROADDUS: K is the same, 

is an exhibit to the same effect, Judge. 

THE COURT: All right. K is 

also admitted. 

NOTE: The above-referred-to 

documents located in the Memorandum of 

Law in Support of Motion for Judgment at 

Tab K were marked and filed as 

Plaintiff's Exhibit No. K. 
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THE COURT: All right. 

Anything else? 

MR. BROADDUS: No, sir. 

THE COURT: Thank you. Now, 

Ms. Khan. 

MS. KHAN: Yes, Your Honor. 

Before we turn to Mr. Alley. In light of 

the admission of Mr. Selig's affidavit, I 

would like to move the admission of our 

Exhibit 26, which is the affidavit of 

Robert Alley. Or should I wait until 

after? 

THE COURT: Well, if he 

testifies, then I'll consider that, but 

not before he testifies. 

MS. KHAN: All right. We would 

call Robert Alley to the stand. 
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ROBERT SUTHERLAND ALLEY, 

2 a witness called by the Defendants, first 

3 being duly sworn, was examined and testified as 

4 follows: 

5 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

6 BY MS. KHAN: 

7 Q Good afternoon, Mr. Alley. 

8 Could you please state your full name for the 

9 record. 

10 A Robert Sutherland Alley. 

11 Q And, what is your current 

12 employment? 

13 A I'm retired. I'm an Emeritus 

14 Professor of Humanities, University of Richmond. 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

That was the title that was given me when I 

retired. 

Q Let's talk about your 

educational background. What degrees do you have? 

A I hold a B.A. from the 

University of'Richmond in political science and 

then a B.D., Bachelor of Divinity, from Southern 

22 

23 

Baptist Theological Seminary in Louisville and an 

M.A. and a Ph.D. from Princeton University in the 

24 fields of Bible history and ethics at Princeton 

25 University. 
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Q As a result of your Divinity 

2 training, did you after that become Ordained? 

A Yes, in 1956 here in Richmond 

4 at the First Baptist Church. 

s Q So you are an Ordained Baptist 

6 minister; is that right? 

7 A That's correct. 

8 Q Moving to your employment 

9 history. Where have you served as a professor? 

10 A I served briefly at a small 

11 school in Princeton, at the Hun School, as a 

12 teacher of religion and history. And in 1961, I 

13 went to William Jewell College in Missouri. I 

14 stayed there for two years teaching Bible, 

15 primarily, and a little bit of Christian history 

16 and then came to the University of Richmond in 1963 

17 as professor of Bible and religion and have retired 

18 from the Religion Department in 1994. 

19 Q So you stayed at the University 

20 of Rich mend as a professor from 19 6 3 to 19 9 4 ? 

21 A That's correct. My title 

22 changed on two different occasions, but, yes. 

23 Q And how many publications have 

24 you issued? 

25 A Well, in terms of books, I have 
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10 that are in print and numerous articles in 

2 various scholarly journals. 

3 Q What would be the topics of 

4 specialty for you? 

5 A Well, primary focus for me in 

109 

6 my writing has been, over the past 15 years, in the 

1 area of religion and history, particularly religion 

8 and politics in this country dealing with Supreme 

9 Court cases and First Amendment issues. I've also 

10 written two or three books in the field of popular 

11 entertainment, doing an assessment from an ethical 

12 point of view of television. But that was done in 

13 the 70's. 

14 Q Have you published on the issue 

15 of. American religion? 

16 A Yes. I have written several 

17 articles dealing with the history of various 

18 aspects of religion in the culture and have done 

19 well. I've written history of several different 

20 events in American history that relate.history of 

21 religion to politics. 

22 Q What were the subject areas of 

23 the classes that you have taught over the years? 

24 A I began with teaching, 

25 primarily, New Testament and Hebrew scriptures and 
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one or two courses in history. When I came to the 

2 University of Richmond in 1963, I began to teach 

3 more in the biblical area and did that for 

4 approximately 10 years until I then shifted over in 

5 a decision the Department made to specialize. I 

6 became a specialist in history of religion and then 

7 moved on to church and state issues. 

8 Q Would that be history of 

9 American religion? 

10 A Yes, primarily. 

11 Q Have you ever served as an 

12 expert witness? 

13 A Yes, I've served two or three 

14 times. I was an expert witness for a Fundamental 

15 Baptist preacher in Maryland who got cross purposes 

16 with people who didn't understand Baptist policy, 

17 which is something I know something about. I 

18 testified for the ACLU in a case here in Richmond 

19 having to do with a chaplain in a prison. And, 

20 finally, I did do a deposition for the Rutherford 

21 

22 

Institute having to do with license plates and what 

is and what is not allowed on license plates. So 

23 that was several years ago. 

24 Q And what was the particular 

25 issue that they wanted on the license plate? 
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A Well, the issue was whether or 

2 not if -- there were some discussion of whether you 

3 could put the word atheist on the license plate. 

4 That was resolved. Then a question of whether you 

5 could put God on the license plate. And the 

6 Rutherford Institute and I both agreed that the 

7 freedom, the open.forum, public forum that you 

8 created with respect to that issue on the license 

9 plates would demand that you allow that. 

10 Q As a university professor for 

11 so many years, have you become familiar with 

12 standards of academic freedom? 

13 A Yes, ma'am, I became quite 

14 concerned about that in the late 60's and became a 

15 very active member of the American Association of 

16 University Professors. And in the early 70's, as 

17 President of the Chapter on the campus of the AAUP, 

18 I appointed a committee to study the question of 

19 tenure and academic freedom for the University of 

20 Richmond. We had no statement on that subject. I 

21 was on the committee, and with the cooperation of 

22 the administration, we came to a conclusion on that 

23 providing us with a very high level of protection 

24 on tenure and academic freedom, which was passed by 

25 the Board of Trustees in 1975. 
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Q So if I can break these down. 

2 Can you tell us then, briefly, what were the 

3 positions that you held related to academic 

4 freedom? 

5 A I was -- on the campus, I was 

6 President of the local chapter. I was also 

7 President of the Virginia Chapter of AAUP in 

8 1976-77, and was responsible for writing, along 

9 with my colleague, writing the report on tenure. 

10 Q And how many years did you 

11 serve as a professor in total? 

12 A Well, from 1961 to 1993, I 

13 think makes 33 years but I'm not a mathematician. 

14 Q I'm showing you what has been 

15 marked Exhibit 27, Defendant's Exhibit 27. 

16 A Yes, ma'am. 

112 

17 Q Can you identify that document. 

18 THE COURT: Have you given a 

19 copy of that to opposing counsel? 

20 MS. KHAN: I have supplied 

21 opposing counsel with a copy of that, 

22 Your Honor. 

23 

24 BY MS • KHAN: 

THE COURT: All right. 

(Continuing) 

25 A It's a brief resume. 
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2 

3 

4 

5 BY MS. 

6 

7 

a resume. 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 
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Q Whose resume? 

THE COURT: It's the resume, 

Mr. Broaddus, that I think she just gave 

you. It's not in the booklet. 

KHAN: (Continuing) 

Q Did you identify that document? 

A It's my resume, academic 

MS. KHAN: Your Honor, I would 

tender Mr. Alley as an expert in American 

religions and biblical studies as well as 

academic freedom at the college level. 

THE COURT: Are there any 

questions on Dr. Alley's qualifications? 

MR. BROADDUS: Repeat again the 

areas, please, Judge. 

THE COURT: Repeat the areas 

that you want him qualified as an expert. 

MS. KHAN: American religions. 

THE COURT: American religions. 

MS. KHAN: Christianity. 

THE COURT: Christianity. 

MS. KHAN: Biblical studies. 

THE COURT: Biblical studies. 

MS. KHAN: Academic freedom at 
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the college level. 

2 THE COURT: And academic 

3 freedom at the college level. 

4 MR. BROADDUS: I have several 

5 questions, if I may, Judge. 

6 THE COURT: Yes, sir. 

7 

8 

9 VOIR DIRE 

10 BY MR. BROADDUS: 

11 Q Dr. Alley, the work that you 

12 did pertaining to academic freedom, was that in 

13 your capacity as a member of the American 

14 Association of College Professors? 

15 A No, that was as President of 

ll4 

16 the local chapter, but I did it in cooperation with 

17 the Administration of the university. The 

18 committee was a university committee appointed 

19 jointly with the Administration to do this. 

20 Q And was that under the auspices 

21 of Southern Association of Colleges and 

~ Universities? 

23 A I think SACS was not very 

24 actively involved in anything having to do with 

25 this, that I can recall. We were not doing it 
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because of a self-study. We were doing it because 

2 we needed the documents. So I don't recall any 

3 involvement of Southern Association. 

4 Q Have you had any involvement 

5 with SACS? 

6 A Yes, because I served on 

1 self-study committees on two occasions when SACS 

8 came to Richmond to deal with accreditation by that 

9 organization of the University of Richmond. 

10 Q And what areas were you 

11 interested in? What were your areas of 

12 responsibility in those self-studies? 

13 A Well, one had to do with 

14 students' social life, and one had to do with the 

15 question of curriculum and how we would describe 

16 our curriculum in regards to the request by SACS to 

17 tell what we were doing. 

18 Q With respect to American 

19 religion, have you taught at any institutions other 

20 than mentioned on your resume? 

21 A Not that I can recall. 

22 University of Virginia is mentioned on there. I 

23 think I've got them all on there. 

24 MR. BROADDUS: Judge, I object 

25 to that portion of the designation that 
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pertains to American religion. That is 

such a broad amorphous type of 

designation. I have no idea what it 

means. And while I'm sure that Dr. Alley 

is well read and has taught religious 

classes for a long time, I don't see how 

that particular designation is relevant 

to this case. 

The same with respect to 

Christianity and with respect to academic 

freedom at the college level. While he 

has some experiences, he has not had 

experiences with respect to SACS, which 

is the accrediting organization. I think 

his experience is too limited to give him 

the designation of expert. 

THE COURT: Well, are you 

objecting to Dr. Alley's qualifications 

or are you objecting to the proffer of 

opinion testimony on the subjects that 

Ms. Khan says she wants to explore? 

MR. BROADDUS: It would be to 

the proffering of opinions as an expert 

on those areas. 

THE COURT: Ms. Khan, why do 
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you think the Court needs help on those 

areas that you've mentioned? 

MS. KHAN: Your Honor, we 

actually would withdraw the effort to 

have him designated as an expert on 

American religion. 

117 

THE COURT: How about the rest 

of them? 

MS. KHAN: With respect to the 

rest of it, first of all, taking 

Christianity and biblical studies. Our 

effort is to demonstrate to the Court 

that the point of view taken by Regent 

University is actually a narrow, very 

sectarian point of view that is at the 

margin of Christianity such that it 

excludes the vast majority of Protestants 

in addition to every other religion 

beyond Christianity. So that is why we'd 

like to explore that issue that's 

relevant to the Court's assessment of how 

to understand the mission of the 

university. 

THE COURT: Let's see where you 

go. I'm just not sure that -- you know, 
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the only time the Court allows expe~t 

testimony is when the fact finder needs 

118 

assistance in understanding some fact or 

effect. I mean, the statute says what it 

says and the documents that you all have 

introduced say what they say and I've 

heard testimony which says what it says. 

MS. KHAN: I don't know Your 

Honor's familiarity with Christianity, 

but I can say to the Court that I learned 

a great deal speaking with Mr. Alley, and 

I certainly did not know the broad range 

of Christianity. 

THE COURT: I'm sure I can 

learn a whole lot about stop lights from 

a traffic engineer, but I don't allow 

expert testimony to tell the jury that 

somebody ran a red light. 

MS. KHAN: Your Honor, if I can 

proceed to question Mr. Alley, I think it 

will become clear that the level of 

testimony is going to be at a much more 

sophisticated level than that. If we do 

enter into terrain that the Court already 

knows about, we can cease at that point. 
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But I do think it would be helpful to the 

Court to get an understanding of the 

overview and who is included, who would 

be admitted to Regent and who would not 

pursuant to these policies. 

THE COURT: I just don't think 

it's going to be helpful to the Court, 

and I'm going to sustain the objection .. 

MS. KHAN: And with respect to 

academic freedom, we would like to 

explore the limits that the Mission 

Statement and Statement of Faith, which 

are required to be adhered to by faculty, 

impose on the presentation of courses. 

THE COURT: Well, are you going 

to have Dr. Alley tell me what academic 

freedom is or are you going to have him 

tell me Regent has policies and mission 

statements and goals which are not 

consistent with academic freedom? 

MS. KHAN: The latter. 

THE COURT: Okay. Well, I 

don't think he can do that. I mean, I 

know the statute has changed and the 

General Assembly has kind of modified the 
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old traditional standard that you can't 

have testimony on the ultimate issue of 

fact, but that's the ultimate issue of 

fact in this case. 

MS. KHAN: Well, he will talk 

about how narrow is this Statement of 

Faith and has he ever been required as a 

university professor at other schools, 

and some of them being religiously 

affiliated, to sign a mission statement. 

Has he had his academic freedom narrowed 

in this way. 

THE COURT: I'm sorry. I don't 

think it's going to be helpful to the 

Court. I don't mean any disrespect to 

you, Dr. Alley. I just don't think 

that's going to be helpful to me. The 

objection is sustained. 

Is there any factual evidence 

that you want to get from Dr. Alley? 

MS.· GLENBERG: Your Honor, may 

I raise a couple of points and just 

highlight a few things in support of Mr. 

Alley's testimony? 

THE COURT: Sure. 
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MS. GLENBERG: I think that 

what Mr. Alley's testimony will do that 

can't be gleaned so easily from the 

121 

exhibits and from the testimony that 

we've already had is to apply his unique 

knowledge in both the areas of religion 

and academic freedom, not to testify to 

the ultimate issue of fact, which is, is 

this institution pervasively sectarian 

but to show the way that these policies 

that Regent University has bring it 

outside the mainstream of American 

universities and, indeed, even 

religiously affiliated universi~ies in 

the degree that they restrict academic 

freedom. And in that way, we'll present 

the Court with more information on which 

to make a finding as to whether the 

institution is pervasively sectarian. 

THE COURT: I appreciate that 

but I'm not going to allow it over the 

objection. 

MS. KHAN: I would have one 

factual question for Mr. Alley. 

THE COURT: All right. 
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BY MS. KHAN: (Continuing) 

2 Q Mr. Alley, do you know whether 

3 Liberty University is accredited by the Southern 

4 Association of Colleges and Schools? 

5 
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25 

A 

Q 

A 

Liberty? 

Liberty. 

Yes, it is. 

MS. KHAN: Thank you, Your 

Honor. That's my only question. 

THE COURT: Ms. Glenberg or Mr. 

Ferris, do you all have any questions for 

Dr. Alley? 

MR. FERRIS: No, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Mr. Broaddus? 

MR. BROADDUS: No 

cross-examination. 

THE COURT: Thank you very 

much, Dr. Alley. You may step down. I 

hope that didn't seem too discourteous to 

you in not allowing the questions. 

THE WITNESS: Not at all. 

WITNESS STOOD ASIDE 
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THE COURT: Any other evidence 

for the defendant? 

MS. KHAN: No, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Mr. Broaddus, are 

you all prepared to make your closing 

argument? 

MR. BROADDUS: We are, sir. 

THE COURT: All right. 

MR. BROADDUS: Is the Court 

prepared for us to go forward? 

THE COURT: Yes. 

MR. BROADDUS: Judge, first, if 

I may, I'd like to express our 

appreciation for the opportunity to be 

heard as promptly as we have, as the 

Court has afforded us. We are 

appreciative of that. 

Judge, the issue before the 

Court arises under the Constitution of 

the United States as well as the 

Constitution of Virginia. And I'd like 

to begin by reviewing the Constitution of 

the United States and the decisions of 

the Supreme Court of the United States, 

because as the Supreme Court has 
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indicated that it will give deference to 

decisions of the Supreme Court on similar 

issues and similar Constitutional 

provisions. 

Scholars generally agree, 

Judge, that the Supreme Court's doctrine, 

if you will, concerning the Establishment 

Clause began in 1947 with the EY~~~Qn 

case. I'm not going to go through all of 

these, but that was the case in which the 

court upheld the provision of aid in 

transportation including students who 

were attending sectarian schools. And 

the court's rationale, essentially, 

embraced a neutrality provision saying 

that this was a program that was 

available to all school children, was not 

one that was tailored simply to those 

attending sectarian schools but all 

schools, and it would be inappropriate to 

exclude those who were attending 

sectarian schools. 

After that decision in 1947, 

the Supreme Court adopted a more specific 

test concerning purpose, effect, and 
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entanglement. And it's handed down 

several decisions after embracing those 

criteria. Among the decisions that have 

been handed down is the Nglz decision in 

which the Court upheld tax deductions f~r 

rural property owned by churches. In 

HYn~-~~-M~Hai~, where the Supreme Court 

considered the South Carolina program, 

which was virtually identical to the 

Virginia program, in which the Court 

upheld the use of conduit funding for the 

college, the Baptist College in 

Charleston. 

More recently, Judge, the 

Court, appears to me, has gone back 

toward a neutrality analysis. In the 

RQ~~n~~LS~L decision, for example, which 

concerned funding of printing costs for a 

publication, Hid~-A~ak~, at the 

University of Virginia. As the Court 

will know from reading that decision, 

that magazine, if you will, was a very 

religious magazine that was devoted 

toward advocacy of particular religious 

points of view. The Supreme Court said 
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that it was okay for the university to 

fund the printing costs, because it was 

part of a broad program that was 

available to all qualified student 

organizations and that it should not be 

denied to this particular one on the 

basis of religion. 

126 

And just two years ago in the 

AgQ~~ini case, the Court upheld the 

funding for state funded Title I teachers 

in sectarian schools and reversed an 

earlier decision which had included that. 

These are teachers that are designed to 

assist in teaching the disabled. Again, 

the Court appeared to be procPeding on 

the basis that this was a broad neutral 

program not designed to religion and that 

to deny religious schools the opportunity 

to participate in this would be to 

discriminate against religion. 

Justice Thomas wrote a 

concurring decision in RQ~~nQ~~g~~ in 

which I think he summarized well the 

modern trend when he observed that our 

nation has a long tradition of permitting 
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religious adherence to participate on 

equal terms in neutral government 

programs. And that, essentially, is the 

situation here. 

With respect to the facts of 

this case, Judge, the aid provided here 

is much.more indirect, much less direct 

from that state funding provided for the 

teachers in AgQ~~n~ or the funding of 

the printing cost in RQ~~n~~~g~~- Here 

there are no public dollars at all. 

None. Not a single dollar. The only 

thing that is involved is a tax deduction 

for those individuals who wish to lend 

money to· Regent University. 

THE COURT: But that has a very 

direct benefit to Regent, because people 

are usually more inclined to lend money 

if they know they're going to get a tax 

deduction than if they're not going to 

get a tax deduction. 

MR. BROADDUS: It's not a 

direct benefit in the sense that the 

Supreme Court has used the 

indirect/direct analysis. A direct 
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benefit would be a state appropriation of 

public monies going to Regent for TAG 

grant purposes or for maintenance of 

buildings. Here the indirect -- here the 

direct benefit is to the lender to be 

sure Regent obtains an indirect benefit 

and that it is able to spend fewer 

dollars to finance construction. 

But the Supreme Court has, I 

think, made it very clear that simply 

because of a savings made possible by a 

government program, the consequences of 

which may enable the sectarian 

institution to free up dollars to spend 

elsewhere, that result, that consequence 

in no way violates the Constitution or 

the Establishment Clause. So, yes, 

Regent saves debt, if you will, debt 

dollars, dollars spent on debt, but that 

does not in any way implicate the 

Establishment Clause. 

Now, Judge, it's clearly 

constitutional for donors to take a tax 

deduction for gifts to churches. When 

the offering plate is passed and someone 
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puts an offering in, that can be deducted 

from income taxes. All that is involved 

here is a tax deduction by a lender. In 

other words, then assume that if it's 

permissible to take a tax deduction for a 

direct gift to the institution, then a 

person who lends a small bundle of 

sticks, if you will, certainly ought to 

be entitled to the same tax deduction. 

With respect to the Virginia 

Constitution in the Ha~~l case. As is 

apparent from that decision, the Virginia 

Supreme Court looks to the Supreme Court 

of the United States for interpretation. 

It did so in that case. Considering the 

court continues to do so, it would be a 

likely result that the Supreme Court of 

Virginia would reach a different result 

in Ha~~l-

The time of Ha~~l, 1991, the 

Supreme Court of the United States had 

not returned to the indirect neutrality 

concepts that embrace EQ~~n~~~g~x and 

AgQ~~in~. The Supreme Court of Virginia 

went under earlier tests. So we think it 
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likely that Ha~~~ would be decided 

differently today. But, Judge, we do not 

ask this Court to anticipate whether the 

Supreme Court would overturn Hab~~- We 

do not need to do so. That case is 

distinguishable on the facts in this 

case. 

So assuming but not conceding 

the validity of the law as articulated in 

Hg~~l, we submit that this case passes 

muster. It does so unless the evidence 

is demonstrated that religion is so · 

pervasive that a substantial portion of 

its functions are subsumed in the 

university's religious mission. That 

test is taken from HYn~, which we think 

is no longer applicable, but if it is 

applicable, we pass that test. 

In amplifying on that test, the 

Supreme Court of the United States said 

that the determination must be made 

whether the college's operations are 

oriented significantly towards sectarian 

rather than a secular education. In 

other words, there's got to be far more 
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than 50 percent towards sectarian rather 

than secular. That is stated by ·the 

Fourth Circuit in the ~Q~YmQi~-~n~Qn 

case. To violate the Constitution, it 

must be apparent that the sectarian 

functions thoroughly dominate the secular 

functions. 

So has there been evidence here 

that there is a significant orientation 

for sectarian or a thorough domination of 

sectarian over the secular? In HgQ~l the 

Court focussed on Liberty's requirements 

that faculty and students attend church 

and chapel six times a week, that faculty 

and students subscribe to Liberty's 

doctrines, that the notion of academic 

freedom was circumscribed by Liberty's 

doctrinal statements and Liberty's 

pervasive aim was equipping young men, 

young women for an Evangelistic ministry 

in the local church. Those faculties led 

the court to conclude that religion was 

pervasive at Liberty, such that a 

substantial portion of its functions was 

subsumed in its religious mission. 
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Comparing the facts there to 

the facts at Regent. At Regent, students 

are not required to attend church or 

chapel. They were at Liberty. At 

Regent, faculty, while expected to attend 

chapel, are not required to do so, and 

there is no disciplining of them if they 

fail to do so. The testimony was that 15 

to 20 percent of the faculty attend. 

That's all. Conversely, at Liberty, they 

were required to attend. 

With respect to academic 

freedom. According to the report of 

SACS, the accrediting agency, academic 

freedom fully exists at Regent. It did 

not do so at Liberty. With respect to 

the possibility that Regent, through its 

faculty, would proselytize students, the 

evidence is clear from Mr. Selig that, 

that is not permitted. It appears that 

at Liberty, that was the mission and that 

was the requirement. 

At Regent, there is no 

religious requirement pertaining to 

student admission. There are inquiries 
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made as an indication of maturity, but a 

student is not denied admission on the 

basis of religious beliefs. Evidence is 

that there are non Christians, there are 

Muslims, there are Jews at Regent. It 

appears from the facts set forth in 

Liberty that there was a requirement. 

And finally, there is no 

indication, whatsoever, Judge, that the 

administration or the management is 

dominated by the appointing body. To the 

contrary. It's clear from Mr. Selig's 

testimony today 

THE COURT: Let's go back to 

one thing you said and Mr. Selig said it, 

too, that there are Muslims and Jewish 

people at Regent. 

I'm looking at Defendant's 

Exhibit 5, which is page 18 of 

Defendant's Exhibit 5, which is the 

Community Life Form for the School of 

Education. And it says that it is 

expected that our students will both 

understand and be committed to the 

following articles. 
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I'm not going to read each one 

of them, but I don't see how a Jewish 

person or a Muslim can be committed to 

these things. Maybe they go there to get 

an education, but I don't know how in the 

world they can be committed. How can a 

Jewish person be committed to the Father, 

the Son, and the Holy Spirit? 

MR. BROADDUS: Judge, if I may, 

I think it's important to understand that 

what that says is committed to receiving 

an education in accordance with that. It 

doesn't require them to believe that. 

They don't have to believe it. 

THE COURT: Well, an education 

in accordance with. 

MR. BROADDUS: Right. The sole 

intent of that is to assure that students 

know of the perspective from which they 

will be taught. They don't want somebody 

to come in and say, oh, gosh, I didn't 

realize 

THE COURT: That would be fine 

to say if you understand this, but it 

says understand and committed to. What 
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MR. BROADDUS: To receiving an 

education that's offered in accordance 

with those articles, not to believe in 

it, not to committing to those 

principles. I think Mr. Selig's 

testimony was clear on that fact. They 

don't have to. They're simply asked to 

acknowledge that the perspective from 

which they are to be taught is in 

accordance with those perspectives. 

THE COURT: All right. 

MR. BROADDUS: And the essence 

of it was, as I understood his testimony, 

I think he was clear that the purpose was 

to derive principles of fairness, of 

truth, of justice, of love, and to see 

how those principles measure up against 

the requirements from which one is being 

taught. 

THE COURT: Well, look at 

Exhibit 16, which is the handbook. This 

is the employee handbook, I understand, 

but the third page of that exhibit says, 
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because the purpose of the university is 

to serve and glorify the Lord Jesus 

Christ. It is essential that all members 

of the university community, which I 

assume includes the students, approach 

Him, Jesus Christ, as a body to seek His 

guidance. Again, I find it hard that a 

Jewish person would seek Jesus Christ's 

guidance. 

MR. BROADDUS: Judge, I 

understand the questions, and I think 

that the important aspect is not to focus 

so much on the rhetoric but on the 

practical day-to-day aspects of life at 

Regent. And the unchallenged testimony 

is that, one, religious requirements are 

not a condition of student admission; 

that non Christians are admitted; that 

non Christians are in attendance; that 

they are not in any way discriminated 

against and are not obligated to adopt a 

particular belief; and the fact that they 

are prohibited from proselytizing. 

THE COURT: I hear you. 

MR. BROADDUS: And that's the 
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evidence. Now, we think it's important, 

Judge, to look at the testimony of the 

practice at the university rather than 

generalized rhetoric. 

Now, Judge, with respect to the 

Virginia Constitution. Section 16 of 

Article.! permits participation in a 

program, we submit, in which 35 other 

institutions have been permitted to 

participate. The Bill of Rights in the 

Virginia Constitution prohibits the 

General Assembly from conferring peculiar 

privilege or advantage on church. It's 

not a peculiar privilege or advantage to 

be allowed to participate in a program 

that's made available to all others on a 

nondiscriminatory basis. That's what we 

ask this Court to affirm here. 

With respect to Article XI --

I'm sorry -- Section 11 of Article VIII, 

it's certainly not a violation of that, 

because Regent is not an institution 

whose primary purpose is religious 

training and theological education. As 

Mr. Selig testified, the essence and the 
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importance is excellence in education. 

Finally, we ask the Court to 

take note of the most recent decision of 

any court, that we're aware of, and 

that's United States District Court for 

the Eastern District of Michigan, the 

Hal~~~-~2hn~Qn case that we attached and 

submitted. There the Court considered 

the conduit financing program virtually 

identical to this. It's a broader 

program but similar to it. 

The institution there, Judge, 

was a Roman Catholic elementary and 

secondary school, which described itself 

as, and I quote, a Christ-centered school 

operating in the evolving tradition of 

the Church, end of quote. Among its 

goals and criteria, which applicants for 

admission had to subscribe to, was, 

quote, to educate personal and active 

faith in God. Other documents show that 

the school, and I quote, commits itself 

to a personal and active faith in God 

rooted in the love of Jesus Christ. 

School permits personal and community 
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prayer with reflection, end of quote. 

But that court reviewed all of 

the Supreme Court cases that are on point 

and concluded that where there was 

indirect aid -- that's where the benefit 

is to a third party with the residual 

benefit.coming to the university-- and 

the program is financed through a neutral 

nonreligious-based effort, that it was 

certainly permissible to authorize 

participation. The Court found that it 

wasn't necessary, under those 

circumstances, to inquire into the actual 

practice of the institution, because 

where you had an indirect aid or benefit 

and you also had the fact that the aid is 

from a neutral perspective, those two in 

combination demonstrate that there's no 

effect to advance religion. And that's 

what the essence is, Judge, is there an 

effect to advance religion by the State. 

Permitting the participation in a neutral 

program does not end up in that 

situation. 

Now, Judge, I would ask the 
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Court to just in summary form consider 

the Supreme Court United States decisions 

which have upheld aid in some form, some 

of the direct appropriations. EX~X~Qn, 

that permitted aid in transportation; 

A~~~n, that permitted textbooks to be 

furnished; Hun~, that permitted bond 

proceeds under a program very similar to 

this; RQ~m~r, that permitted grants to be 

used for nonsectarian purposes; Mgullg~ 

~~-A~l~n, that permitted tax deductions 

for tuition that was paid to a sectarian 

institution; and ZQQ~~~~' that permitted 

the furnishing of aid to a disabled 

student who attended a sectarian 

institution. All of those were permitted 

because they were part of a neutral 

program, not part of a program designed 

solely to benefit religion. 

And, conversely, where the 

court has struck down programs such as 

the furnishing -- supplementing of 

teacher's salary or the furnishing of 

textbooks is because there was a narrow 

program designed to advance a particular 
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religious type of school. And we don't 

have that here. We have a very broad 

program, neutral, one in which a lender 

gets a tax deduction. And under our 

doctrine, we submit that, that is 

constitutional. 

And because this case is so 

141 

factually different from Liberty, we 

submit that Hab~l is not controlling and 

that the Supreme Court of Virginia would 

follow the present interpretation of the 

Establishment Clause when it interprets 

the Virginia Constitution and that the 

indirect benefits from a neutral 

perspective assure the Court and the 

people that the Constitution is not being 

violated, because there's no purpose to 

advance religion. So for these reasons, 

Judge, we would ask the Court to grant 

our Motion for Judgment. 

Judge, as the Court will 

recall, we've raised the issue of the 

Divinity School in the Northern Virginia 

campus. We believe that such a school 

can be housed in that building provided 
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contribution which is in proportion to 

the use. We hope that the Court will 

address that and grant our request in 

that regard as well. 

In the event that the Court 

declines to approve that particular 

142 

aspect, we would ask that the Court, 

nevertheless, validate the bonds upon the 

condition that proceeds not be used to 

provide a facility that would include the 

School of Divinity. That would give the 

university the option to decide how it 

would wish to proceed. 

THE COURT: All right. 

MR. BROADDUS: We thank the 

Court again and appreciate your 

attention. 

THE COURT: Thank you very 

much, Mr. Broaddus. 

Ms. Khan. 

MS. KHAN: Mr. Broaddus is, 

essentially, asking the Court to 

disregard HYn~-Y~-M~Ngi~ and HsQ~l- This 

Court cannot do that. A quote from 
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United States Supreme Court case that 

says, if a precedent of this court has 

direct application in a case yet appears 

to rest on reasons rejected in some other 

line of decisions, the Court of Appeals, 

and this co~rt also, should follow the 

case which directly controls, leaving to 

the Supreme Court the prerogative of 

overruling its own decisions. 

HYn~ and H~~~l are very clear. 

If Regent is pervasively sectarian, it 

cannot get these bonds. It doesn't 

matter whether those bonds are direct or 

indirect or how one classifies them. The 

Plaintiff has relied on a decision out of 

the Eastern District of Michigan to argue 

that. That was a demonstration of a 

district court essentially disregarding 

the directive in AgQ~~ini by reviewing 

the case law and deciding that HYn~_y. 

M~Naix didn't control in that 

circumstance. That court may have failed 

to conduct itself appropriately. 

think that's true. 
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There is a discussion, although 

it's not labeled as a pervasively 

sectarian discussion, where the court 

said that the school did not give a 

preference in admissions to Roman 

Catholics. A preference. It didn't even 

talk about whether it was absolutely 

required. It said, there is no religious 

affiliation requirement or preference 

with respect to teachers, that the school 

didn't even inquire into the religious 

affiliation of prospective faculty 

members. So that case did involve a very 

different kind of circumstance where the 

court did, in fact, get at what underlies 

the pervasively sectarian inquiry. 

The other -- there are three 

cases on which Regent relies, all of 

which have been admitted, which relate to 

the issuance of bonds to Regent itself on 

one occasion and two other religiously 

affiliated institutions. In none of 

those cases did a defendant object. So 

the court never had the argument that the 

institution was pervasively sectarian to 
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contend with. So those are not 

precedential, have no precedential value 

on the question before this Court. 

Now, moving to the pervasively 

sectarian factors. Regent asserts in its 

brief, without any citation, that the 

most important of these deals with 

students .. In their reply, they make the 

same assertion, and this time they cite 

to their opening brief. The reason there 

is no citation is that there's no support 

for this proposition. The Supreme Court 

has never said that. No court, to my 

knowledge, has ever said that. 

And if you step back from what 

is at issue in a pervasively sectarian 

analysis, it becomes clear that the most 

important factors are those that deal 

with faculty and those that deal with 

integration of religion into the 

curriculum. And the reason I say that is 

that the Court has been very clear that 

the reason we have a pervasively 

sectarian inquiry is to find out whether 

-- I quote here from &2~m~x -- whether 
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you can fund this without fear of 

religious indoctrination. 

~i~~2n and HYn~ spoke about 

whether the religious and secular 

educational functions are inseparable. 

That's why we ask if they're pervasively 

sectarian. And when you're dealing with 

an educational institution, the 

advancement is happening by the faculty 

through their message, which is their 

curriculum. And I submit that those two 

factors are of greater importance. 

Students are simply the receptacles of 

that advancement. They are not the ones 

doing the advancement themselves. 

But taking each of these 

factors in turn, in Ti~~2n, HYn~, and 

R2~m~~ -- and I cite to those three 

cases, because those are the three cases 

in which the Supreme Court has addressed 

the pervasively sectarian analysis in the 

context of universities. And in none of 

them was religious worship required of 

students or faculty. Here we have a 

circumstance --
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THE COURT: Well, Mr. Broaddus 

said it's not required here. It's 

expected but that is not required, that 

there are no sanctions imposed upon 

anyone who does not attend chapel. 

MS. KHAN: That's right, Your 

Honor. -There is, however, a policy that 

says it is imperative that students are 

to engage in regular church attendance. 

And you have students who are coming --

THE COURT: Where does it say 

that? 

MS. KHAN: The faculty handbook 

at page 6. 

THE COURT: Which one is the 

faculty handbook? 

MS. KHAN: Excuse me, Your 

Honor. I believe it'o Exhibit 3. 

THE COURT: Page 6? 

MS. KHAN: Page 6. 

THE COURT: All right. It says 

regular church attendance. Okay. 

MS. KHAN: And the employee 

handbook, which is Exhibit 16, says that 

all employees are expected to be in 
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chapel unless they get an exemption from 

their supervisor. 

Now, you have people who are 

coming to the school, students, who read 

these policies, and it is conveyed to 

them that it is imperative that they 

engage in regular church attendance. And 

when we are wondering, when we're 

engaging in a pervasively sectarian 

analysis, we look at the message that the 

college is sending to students. And the 

message, clearly, is that it's imperative 

that you attend church regularly. So you 

must attend chapel unless you have a 

specific exemption from your supervisor, 

if you're an employee. It is imperative 

that you attend chapel. 

And the evidence also 

demonstrated that if you're a faculty 

member, that you are evaluated at 

performance reviews on whether you attend 

chapel. To say that you're not required 

to do so is really playing fast and loose 

with the word require. You don't get 

fired. We would admit that there was no 
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evidence demonstrating that you would get 

fired, but there, certainly, is evidence 

that religious worship is a strong 

guiding principle of this university and 

you are strongly encouraged and expected, 

in fact, to attend. 

Moving on to the next point. 

To what extent do religious influences 

dominate the academic curriculum. This 

is an institution that was formed so that 

religious influences dominate the 

academic curriculum. Its very mission is 

to ingrate Christianity into its 

educational mission. 

there was no indication. Existing 

religious restrictions in Ti~~Qn were not 

even enforced and that schools subscribed 

to the 1940 statement of principles on 

academic freedom of the American 

Association of University Professors. 

And the court found that important. 

In Hun~, there was no 

indication of religious restrictions on 

academic freedom. And in RQ~m~•, you 
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have the same situation. You had a 

situation in which there were courses on 

religion, but it was a broad spectrum of 

a Liberal Arts program that was not 

religiously based. And, again, those 

colleges subscribed to the 1940 

statement. 

Here we have a situation much 

more like H£Q~. Faculty were obligated 

in Hg~~l to conform to the Liberty 

University's doctrinal statements. And 

that's exactly what we have here. We 

have an institution like Liberty. They 

use their accreditation by the Southern 

Association of Colleges and Schools to 

suggest that they have wide academic 

freedom. But, in fact, as Mr. Alley 

testified, Liberty University is also 

accredited by the same governing body. 

And Regent doesn't say that it 

subscribes to the 1940 statement of 

American Association of University 

Professors. That was the academic 

freedom policy that the Supreme Court has 

taken to be some indication of the 
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existence of academic freedom. 

Regent requires it is a 

formal requirement, which is present in 

the faculty handbook at pages 13 and 27 

-- that faculty integrate Christian 

principles into their classes. On page 

27, it says that they are evaluated on 

their success in integrating Christian 

principles into their classes. 
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The syllabus for each class -­

this is in the faculty handbook at page 

47. The syllabus for each class 

requires, and I quote, a description of 

how the Christian faith and the Bible 

will be incorporated into the course. 

That's for every single course, and that 

syllabus needs to be filed in the Dean's 

office. 

To the third factor. How much 

do religious preferences shape the 

college's faculty hiring and student 

admission processes. In ~i~~Qn you had a 

situation in which non Catholics were 

admitted as students and they were given 

faculty appointments. In HYn~, there 
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were no religious qualifications for 

faculty membership or student admission. 

And in E2~m~~' the evidence was that 

faculty hiring was not done on a 

religious basis. And there were students 

there, although the record was less 

developed, that also did not adhere to 

the school's religious background. 

Now, if we turn to this 

situation, we have a situation in which 

faculty are required to be Christians and 

Christians who adhere to the Statement of 

Faith and the Mission Statement of the 

university. And, notably, in their brief 

they say, Regent does not require its 

faculty or staff to adhere to the beliefs 

of a specific denomination or to belong 

to a specific church. What's missing 

from this is that they do require faculty 

and staff to adhere to the beliefs of 

their unique version of Christianity. 

The faculty application form, 

as we discussed through the witnesses, 

require a statement regarding a faculty 

applicant's conversion, his or her 
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Christian commitment. And it explicitly 

says that the university seeks faculty 

members who subscribe to the Christian 

witness. And all staff, not just 

faculty, are required to adhere to the 

Statement of Faith. That is in Exhibit 

20, the employment application. 

Now, moving to students. The 

Plaintiff focuses on there being no 

requirement that students be Christian. 

The issue isn't whether they're required 

to be Christian. The issue that was set 

forth in ~Q~YmQia_~n~n, the Fourth 

Circuit case we've both referred to, is 

whether religious preferences shape the 

admission process. 

THE COURT: I think you're 

becoming a little repetitive now, Ms. 

Khan. 

MS. KHAN: And here I think 

there was no dispute as to whether 

Christianity shapes the admission 

process. 

Finally, the fourth factor is, 

to what degree does the college enjoy 

168 



2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

154 

institutional autonomy apart from the 

church with which it is affiliated. And 

you've heard testimony that all of the 

members of the Board of Regent University 

are appointed by the Christian 

Broadcasting Network. Mr. Selig referred 

to that entity as a parachurch. There is 

an overlap in the governing boards. 

They've gotten an enormous amount of 

money from a parachurch, and decisions 

are made in conjunction, on property, for 

example, with the advice of CBN's Board. 

So if we look at all of these 

factors together, we have a college that 

makes it imperative for students and 

faculty to attend church. We have a 

situation in which religion is required 

to be integrated into every single 

course. We have 

THE COURT: You're repeating 

yourself, Ms. Khan. 

MS. KHAN: I'm summarizing and 

.I will be over in one second. 

THE COURT: I don't believe 

that but go ahead. 
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MS. KHAN: I'll try my best. 

They require faculty to be Christian. 

They have a preference that is employed 

in their student admission process, and 

they have a situation in which CBN is 
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very involved in their governing. So on 

balance, I think you have a situation 

that is unlike the situation.you had in 

HYn~, ~i~~Qn, and RQ~m~~ and much more 

like the situation you had in Ha~~~-

And, finally, I'd like to speak 

to the Divinity school's use of the 

bond-funded Alexandria campus. They 

concede that their intention is to 

contribute a portion of money to whatever 

proportion counts for the use by the 

Divinity school of that campus. 

There is a decision we have 

presented to the Court. It's Exhibit 25. 

It's called ~ndY~~~ial-~~Y~~Q~m~n~ 

AY~h2~i~~-~~-~aX-~a~~~~- And that was a 

situation in which a multi-purpose 

building was sought to be built by bonds, 

and a small portion of that building was 

to be used for a religious purpose. 
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In that case, the college said 

that they would pay for the portion that 

was related to the religious use. 

court in that case said this was 

The 

unconstitutional. They could not use a 

bond-funded building for partial 

religious use, and the reason was that 

there was far too great an opportunity 

for sectarian misapplication of the bond 

funding. 

And the court also relied on 

case in which the court struck down a 

clause that called for a bond-funded, 

government-funded building to revert back 

to the government to the extent it was 

used for religious purpose within 20 

years. The court said, no, you can never 

use a facility like this for a religious 

purpose that's been aided by government 

funds. And they .didn't say y~u could 

simply return that portion that related 

to religious worship. They said, you 

cannot use this building ever in that 

way. And that would complete my 

171 



2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

157 

comments. 

THE COURT: Ms. Khan, thank you 

very much. I appreciate your argument. 

Ms. Glenberg or Mr. Ferris, do 

you all wish to add anything to Ms. 

Kahn's argument? 

MR. FERRIS: Not me, Your 

Honor. 

THE COURT: Thank you very 

much. 

Mr. Broaddus, any response? 

MR. BROADDUS: Judge, with 

respect to the Divinity school in the 

Northern Virginia facility. Section 

23-30.41 of the Code in defining a 

project tracks the language, I believe, 

of the Constitution. It says, shall not 

use bond proceeds for a facility which is 

used or to be used primarily in 

connection with any part of the program 

of a.School or Department of Divinity for 

any religious denomination. 

We submit that, that is a clear 

recognition that our approach is 

permissible, because we do not anticipate 

172 



c 
~ z w 
~ 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

158 

that the facility in Northern Virginia 

would be used primarily in connection 

with the School of Divinity. It's one of 

seven programs. And the fact Regent is 

proposing to exclude funding for any 

portion, if you will, from that, is 

certainly permissible. Indeed, it goes 

farther than the Code requires. 

With respect to the factors 

which the Supreme Court has looked at 

prior to returning to the neutrality 

provision. We do submit that the impact 

on students is the most important, 

because the whole objective of all of the 

~upreme Court's efforts has been to 

determine whether there's a government 

program that has the effect of advancing 

religion. And the Court has held, for 

example, in HYn~, that appointment powers 

of a church over the Board of Trustees is 

certainly not determinative. 

Circuit Court of Appeals recognized that 

having 36 of 40 faculty members from the 

Seventh Day Adventist denomination was 
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not in any way determinative. What is 

important is whether that vehicle, if you 

will, the educational process instills in 

its students an inculcation of religion. 

Here what are we dealing with, 

we're dealing with 31-year-old graduate 

students. You're not dealing with 

elementary school students at the Roman 

Catholic school in Michigan who were 

involved in a program that was 

Christ-centered but, nevertheless, found 

to be acceptable. We're dealing with 

graduate students. And, Judge, I don't 

think it takes any expert testimony for 

us to all know that graduate students are 

pretty independent-minded folks, and they 

are not going to be the recipient of 

proselytizing or indoctrination when it 

is unwanted. 

If one compares, again, the 

facts of Hs~~~' we submit that even if 

that court case controls on the law, the 

facts here from, Mr. Selig's testimony, 

are distinguishing. The only thing that 

is comparable is the one area with 
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respect to faculty employment. And when 

you have all the other factors different 

-- no requirement that the students 

attend chapel, church; no requirement of 

a student with respect to religious 

criteria and admissions; academic 

freedom, which, according to SACS is 

firmly in place -- it protects the 

faculty and protects the student body. 

No evidence to controvert that. 

All of those factors 

distinguish this case from HgQ~~ and will 

make this Court, I would submit, to 

approve these bonds and, indeed, to 

approve them with the Divinity school in 

place, because that is authorized under 

the section that I made reference to. 

The focus, we submit, at Regent 

is to utilize principles of Christianity. 

In one of the many papers in the exhibits 

before the Court, this is a part of I 

think Exhibit 7, one of the catalogs, 

states, we look for students who closely 

identify with our mission of leadership, 

Christian leadership, students who 
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believe that society can be transformed 

through the principles of truth, justice, 

and love. And we submit that the 

Constitution does not prohibit the use of 

teaching that seeks to develop principles 

of love, justice and truth as part of the 

educational process. 

We submit that the independent, 

broad, neutral-based government program 

here should be available to religious 

denominations and sectarian institutions 

with the same principles that it's 

available to those that are not 

affiliated with the church and that under 

the doctrines of the Supreme Court, that 

is permissible. The aid is indirect. It 

is no more of a benefit than giving the 

tax deduction to the person who puts his 

offering in the collection plate. 

For these reasons, Judge, we 

ask the Court to, again, grant the relief 

in the Motion for Judgment. 

THE COURT: Mr. Broaddus, thank 

you very much, sir. I appreciate your 

argument. 
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MR. BROADDUS: Thank you. 

THE COURT: I appreciate all of 

the arguments that I've heard. I'm going 

to go ahead and give you my decision now. 

And you all have, obviously, put a lot of 

work into this. I have a lot of paper in 

front of me. And I hope the fact that 

I'm going to give you a decision from the 

bench instead of writing an opinion, 

which is as long or half as long as your 

brief, does not indicate that the Court 

does not appreciate your efforts and the 

fact that this is an important case and 

the issues are very important. 

But I have had an opportunity 

to review all of the exhibits, except the 

exhibits that were submitted immediately 

prior to the hearing. But I have looked 

at those to the extent that they have 

been pointed out during the testimony. 

The real question in this case 

is whether Regent is pervasively 

sectarian and whether its primary purpose 

is religious training, and I find that it 

is with regard to both of those. I find 
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that it is pervasively sectarian and that 

its primary purpose is religious 

training. 

I'm not going to cite all of 

the documentation to that, all of the 

passages in the documentation, because it 

would simply take too long. Ms. Khan has 

cited many examples in her closing 

argument, including the requirement that 

the faculty integrate their faith, which, 

according to the documents, must be the 

Christian faith, into their teaching. 

And the other examples also 

come from the words of Regent itself. 

Looking at Exhibit 17, which is the 

faculty application form. Regent 

University is a distinctive 

graduate-based educational institution 

holding the highest academic standards. 

That's fine. But then it says, with the 

ultimate purpose of glorifying God and 

His Son Jesus Christ. 

Maybe I'm missing something, 

but if the question is whether the 

primary purpose is religious training, if 
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the ultimate purpose is glorifying God 

and His Son Jesus Christ, I don't know 

how in the world that is not a primary 

purpose of religious training or how it 

is not pervasively sectarian. 

And I want to make it clear. 

I'm not.criticizing Regent for having 

that as its purposes. Many would argue 
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that is a very good purpose. And it may 

be, but that's not the question. The 

question is whether it's pervasively 

sectarian and has as its primary purpose 

and its training where the tax payer 

money can be used to further those goals. 

In Exhibit 16, I've already 

quoted this before, because the purpose 

of the university is to serve and glorify 

the Lord Jesus Christ, it is essential 

that all members of the university 

community approach Him as a body to seek 

His guidance. Again, I think that very 

clearly and unmistakably sets out the 

purpose of this university. And, again, 

I want to make it clear, I'm not saying 

that's a bad purpose, but it is a 
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religious purpose. 

Exhibit 4. Regent University 

is a graduate institution that exists to 

bring glory to God the Father and His Son 

Jesus Christ. Our mission is to provide 

an exemplary graduate education from 

biblical perspectives, to aspiring 

servant leaders, and to be a leading 

center of Christian action. 

And to the extent that these 

things must also apply to the student 

body -- and I agree with the defendant's 

argument that it's not just the 

statements that are contained in the 

documents but also a whole atmosphere and 

attitude a student applying to Regent 

reading all of these things and knowing 

that her or his faculty has to be 

committed to the Christian belief, what 

impact that has on those students. But I 

think it also does apply to the students, 

the documents themselves. 

Looking at Exhibit No. 5. It 

is expected that our students will both 

understand and be committed to receiving 
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an education in accordance with the 

following articles. And there are seven 

articles and they all talk about the 

Bible, Christian, Father, Son, Holy 

Spirit, the Lord Jesus Christ. 

And I understand your argument, 

Mr. Broaddus, that we're not talking 

about the students being committed to 

these things but being committed to an 

education which includes these things. 

Again, maybe I'm missing something, but 

to me it's the same thing. But to the 

extent that it's not, I interpret this as 

being committed to these things. 

For all of those reasons 

and, again, there are so many other 

examples. I've just highlighted the ones 

that struck me during the testimony and 

before the testimony as being clear 

indications. And, again, the reason I'm 

not taking this under advisement is 

because it's very clear to me·that Regent 

is pervasively sectarian, that its 

primary purpose is religious training. 

Therefore, the Court cannot grant the 
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relief that is sought in the Motion for 

Judgment and sustains the objections 

raised by the Defendants. 

Having done that, the Court 

will not rule on the Counterclaim, 

167 

because I haven't had a chance to look at 

it. I don't want to prolong these 

proceedings. The Court will dismiss the 

Counterclaim, because I don't think it 

prejudices anyone to dismiss it. And I 

have not had a chance to read it. I know 

you all want to take this to the next 

level as quickly as you can. 

Mr. Ferris, since you're the 

Virginia Bar member here, would you 

please prepare the Order in this and 

submit it to opposing counsel for 

endorsement. 

MR. FERRIS: Yes, I will, Your 

Honor. 

THE COURT: I thank you all 

very much. I am going to hold the record 

open -- I don't have the Order -- because 

there was one ~xhibit you wanted to check 

to see if it was complete. 
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168 

MR. BROADDUS: Yes, sir. 

2 THE COURT: If you can file by 

3 the end of next week, the record will 

4 remain open. 

5 MR. BROADDUS: Yes, sir. 

6 THE COURT: Thank you all. 

7 Court stands adjourned for the day. 
0 ,... 
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10 {Whereupon the proceedings 

11 ended. ) 
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1 VIRGINIA: 

2 IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE CITY OF RICHMOND 

3 JOHN MARSHALL COURTS BUILDING 

4 

5 
VIRGINIA COLLEGE BUILDING 

6 AUTHORITY, 

7 Plaintiff, 

8 VS 

9 FRANK FEIBELMAN, 

10 and 

11 MARY BAUER, 

12 and 

13 BERNARD H. LEVIN, 

14 and any other 
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:AT LAW: LF1527-4 
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17 CITIZENS OF THE COMMONWEALTH 
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18 RESIDENTS OWNING PROPERTY OR 
SUBJECT TO TAXATION THEREIN, 
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INTERESTED OR AFFECTED IN ANY 
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TO EXCEED $55,000,000 TO BE 

22 ISSUED IN ONE OR MORE SERIES 
FROM TIME TO TIME, TO FINANCE 

23 THE PLAN OF FINANCING OF 
REGENT UNIVERSITY, 

24 
Defendants. 
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1 (Whereupon, Court 

2 reconvenes at 9:50a.m.) 

3 

4 THE COURT: All right. The 

5 Virginia College Building Authority versus 

6 Statutory Defendants. 

7 This is a clarification. 

8 Who wants to clarify something? 

9 MS. GLENBERG: Well, Your 

10 Honor, it's my understanding that Mr. Broaddus 

11 arranged for this hearing in order to allow 

12 for arguments on which of the two proposed 

13 orders should be signed. 

14 THE COURT: You all should 

15 have gotten the order by now. 

16 MS. GLENBERG: Yes, Your 

17 Honor. It actually came over the weekend. 

18 THE COURT: And you've also 

19 received it, Mr. Broaddus? 

20 MR. BROADDUS: Not that I'm 

21 aware of, Your Honor. 

22 THE COURT: I entered the 

23 one you submitted. 

24 

25 

MR. BROADDUS: Thank 

you, Your Honor. I appreciate the Court's 
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1 time. 

2 MS. GLENBERG: Your Honor, 

3 as long as we're here--

4 THE COURT: As long as 

5 we're here--

6 MS. GLENBERG: --I was 

7 wondering if you'd hear any arguments for why 

8 the other order--

9 THE COURT: Have a seat, 

10 gentlemen. 

11 Yes, ma'am. 

12 MS. GLENBERG: It's a 

13 pretty simple argument, Your Honor, it 

14 shouldn't take very long. And the argument is 

15 that--

16 THE COURT: You still want 

17 to make an argument? I thought you won. 

18 MS. GLENBERG: Well, we won 

19 the case. 

20 THE COURT: And you still 

21 want to argue about something. 

22 MS. GLENBERG: Well, Your 

23 Honor, Ms. Conn did prepare a very thorough 

24 order, which she did submit to the Court. 

25 there is some interesting reasons why the 

CRANE-SNEAD & ASSOCIATES, INC. 
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1 Court should sign that order, rather than the 

2 order that was submitted by the plaintiff. 

3 THE COURT: Reasons that I 

4 haven't already considered? You think I 

5 considered them wrong? 

6 MS. GLENBERG: I don't know 

7 what the Court has or hasn't considered. 

8 THE COURT: Well, I mean, I 

9 have your order, which is 17 pages long. Most 

10 of my opinions aren't that long. And you want 

11 me to enter a 17 page order? Go ahead. 

12 MS. GLENBERG: The reason 

13 for the extensive findings of fact in that 

14 order--and most of the pages are, in fact, 

15 findings of fact quotations and citations for 

16 the record--is that Federal Court has held 

17 that it's a responsibility of a Trial Court--

18 THE COURT: A Federal Trial 

19 Court. I have the utmost respect for the 

20 Fourth Circuit, but I'm not bound by them. 

21 MS. GLENBERG: That's 

22 absolutely correct, Your Honor. I understand 

23 that. 

24 THE COURT: Federal judges 

25 have life tenure, in exchange for that they 
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1 have to write findings of fact and conclusions 

2 of law. It's a pretty good trade off, but I 

3 don't have to do that. Go ahead. I keep 

4 interrupting you. Go ahead. Make your 

5 argument. 

6 MS. GLENBERG: As well as 

7 the U.S. Supreme Court has also reversed and 

8 remanded decisions, because they were nob 

9 extensive enough in findings of fact. For 

10 example, Bowen versus Kendrick (Phonetic.) 

11 And--well, Bowen versus Kendrick is the main 

12 one, in which a case was remanded. And the 

13 Roaner (Phonetic.) case also emphasizes that 

14 the question of whether--

15 THE COURT: But those 

16 cases--don't those case turn on credibility of 

17 findings? Appellant Co~rts have a hard time 

18 judging credibility of witnesses, and so 

19 Appellant Courts tell Trial Courts, we need to 

20 know what you thought of the witnesses so we 

21 can decide whether you made the right 

22 decision. 

23 Does it help you-- I 

24 didn't disbelieve any witness who was on the 

25 stand. I just had a different interpretation 
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1 of the facts than those witnesses had of the 

2 facts. I mean, to the extent that it helps 

3 you at all, my decision was not based on any 

4 credibility findings with regard to witnesses. 

5 It was based solely on the record. And the 

6 Appellant Courts will have exactly the same 

7 record that have. I really don't see why I 

8 have to make findings of fact and conclusions 

9 of law. 

10 MS. GLENBERG: I understand 

11 that, Your Honor. I would respectfully disagree 

12 that the cases that I cited, as well as 

13 Columbia union were hinged on credibility 

14 findings. 

15 THE COURT: Well, if they 

16 don't, then why does the Supreme Court of 

17 Virginia or the Supreme Court of the United 

18 States need to know how I interpreted the law? 

19 What difference does it make to them how I 

20 interpreted the law? They have never been 

21 persuaded by how I interpreted the law before. 

22 MS. GLENBERG: I'm sorry to 

23 hear that, Your Honor. But I think the 

24 Supreme Court would like to know what were the 

25 specific factual elements on the record on 
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1 which you based your finding. 

2 THE COURT: Why? I'm not 

3 trying to be funny. I really want to know 

4 why. 

5 MS. GLENBERG: Well--

6 THE COURT: The Supreme 

7 Court is going to look at exactly the same 

8 facts that I looked at. The Supreme Court is 

9 then going to apply the law--whichever Supreme 

10 Court you're talking about--as that Supreme 

11 Court thinks the law should be applied. 

12 Again, I'm not trying to be 

13 funny. They're not bound by how I think the 

14 law should be applied. They're going to do 

15 exactly what they want to do. As they should, 

16 th~t's why they're Supreme. I really don't 

17 see why I need to tell t~em more than I have 

18 done. I thought I did it from the bench. But 

19 why do I need to tell them anymore? 

20 MS. GLENBERG: Well, Your 

21 Honor, you did make many findings from the 

22 bench. Although, at the time you, yourself, 

23 noted that ruling from the bench, the elements 

24 on the record that supported your ruling 

25 were far too numerous. You stated several 
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1 times, far too numerous to state from the 

2 bench. And that you were reciting those facts 

3 that most stood out to you. 

4 And we just respectfully 

5 suggest that the Supreme Court in looking to 

6 uphold this opinion, would need to know the 

7 full range of facts on which the decision was 

8 based. And that's the arguments for entering 

9 the lengthier order. 

10 THE COURT: Thank you very 

11 much, Ms. Glenberg. I appreciate your 

12 argument. 

13 Do you wish to be heard, 

14 Mr. Broaddus? 

15 MR. BROADDUS: Only if the 

16 Court wishes to go back to square one. 

17 THE COURT: I assume you 

18 want me.to stick with the order I've alr~ady 

19 signed? 

20 MR. BROADDUS: Yes, sir. 

21 THE COURT: That's a good 

22 argument. I'm going to do that. I really 

23 don't see a need for me--even if I agreed that 

24 in this particular kind of case the Appellant 

25 Court needs to know the factual basis for 
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1 the Trial Court's decision, again, it did not 

2 hinge on the credibility of any of the 

3 witnesses. 

4 I think the witnesses were 

5 telling the truth as they thought the truth 

6 existed. It's just that they looked at 

7 certain facts and said these facts do not 

8 indicate pervasive religious teachings. And I 

9 look at those same facts and say they did. 

10 It seems to me that the 

11 Supreme Court of Virginia or the Supreme Court 

12 of the United States can look at those same 

13 facts and say that either they do or they 

14 don't. But they don't need to know how I 

15 interpreted the witnesses or testimony. 

16 I'm going to deny your 

17 motion to reconsider. The one that I've 

18 already entered is the one that will be of 

19 record. Thank you all very much. 

20 

21 (Whereupon, the proceedings 

22 in this matter were adjourned for the day at 

23 9:58 a.m.) 

24 

25 

CRANE-SNEAD & ASSOCIATES, INC. 
195 

11 



12 

1 

2 CERTIFICATE OF COURT REPORTER 

3 

4 I, Stephanie B. Valentino, hereby certify 

5 that I, having been duly sworn, was the Court 

6 Reporter in the Circui~ Court of the City of 

7 Richmond, Virginia, on August 23, 1999, at the 

8 time of the hearing herein. 

9 I further certify that the foregoing 

10 transcript is a true and accurate record of the 

11 testimony and other incidents of the hearing 

12 herein as set down to the best of my ability. 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Given under my hand this 23rd day of 

August, 1999. 

.~·~--~,l 

~·; 
/ .' t 

Step~~nie/B. Valentino 
C ()";tl"-( -Reporter 
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June 22, 1999 

Meeting Package 

COMMONWEALTH 

OF 
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1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

VIRGINIA COLLEGE BUILDING AUTHORITY BOARD MEETING 

June 229 1999, 2:00p.m. 
State Council of Higher Education Conference Room, Ninth Floor 

James Monroe Building 
101 North 14th Stree~ Richmond, Virginia 

AGENDA 

Call to Order 

Approval ofMinutes of Aprill9, 1999 Meeting 

Post Sale Report- VCBA Educational Facilities 
Revenue Bonds (21 51 Century College Program), Series 1999 

Consideration ofFinancing Application of Regent University 

Other Business 
Resolution for Susan F. Dewey 

Adjournment 
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MARY G. MORRIS 
TREASURER OF V1RGINIA 

MEMORANDUM 

COMMONWEALTH of VIRGINIA 
Department of the Treasury 

June 15, 1999 

P.O. BOX 1879 
RICHMOND, V1RGINIA 23218-1879 

(804) 225-2142 

TO: 

FROM: 

Virginia College Building Authority Board Members \ _ 

Mary G. Morris, on behalf of Stephen HartwelllA.. } \9---,_-
Chainn~ Virginia College Building Authority Q ' 

SUBJECT: June 22, 1999 Meeting 

Attached is your board package for the Tuesdayt June 22, 1999 meeting of the Virginia College 
Building Authority. Unfortunately, renovations to the Treasury Board Conference Room have 
yet to be completed. The meeting will therefore be held in the State Council of Higher Education 
Conference Room on the 9'h Floor of the James Monroe Building at 2:00p.m. The primary 
purpose of the meeting is to consider a resolution approving a validation hearing on behalf of 
Regent University. Regent has applied to the Authority for financing through the Authority's 
private school financing program. 

Also attached is a copy of a letter to Stephen Hartwell from Barry W. Lynn, Executive Director 
of Americans United for Separation of Church and State. Mr. Hartwell wanted to share with you 
the concerns expressed by Americans United with respect to the Regent ~niversity application. If 
you have any questions about the meeting or find that you are un.able to attend (after previously 
indicating that you would be in attendance), please contact Evelyn Whitley at (804) 371-6006. 

MGM:erw 
Attachments 

c: VCBA Distribution List 
Arthur N. Bowen, III, Deputy State Treasurer. 
Gary Ometer, Director of Debt Management 
Evelyn R. Whitley, Debt Manager 
Michael D. Thompson, Debt Analyst 
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AMERICANS 
UNITED 
for S1paration of 
Church end State 

1816jefferson Place, ~.W. 

Washington. D.C. 20036 

(202) 466-3234 

(202) 466-2587 fax 

americansunited@au.org 

www.au.org 

May 20, 1999 

Mr. Stephen Hartwell, Chairman 
Virginia College Building Authority 
Department of the Treasury 
P.O. Box 1879 
Richmond VA 23218-1879 

Dear Mr. Hartwell: 

I'm writing today to express my grave concern about Regent University's 
application for $54.5 million in state-issued bonds to finance projects at its 
Virginia Beach and proposed Alexandria campuses. Public suppon for this 
sectarian u!'1jversity would violate the separation of church and state. and ! urge 
the Authority to reject the application. 

As I'm.sure you know, the Rev. Jerry Falwell's Libeny University 
applied for $60 million in taX -free bonds through the Lynchburg Industrial 
Development Authority in 1989. After the IDA voted to approve the bonds, 
Americans United sponsored litigation to block the funding, citing the church­
state provisions of the U.S. and Virginia constitutions. On Jan. 11, 1991, the 
Virginia Supreme Coun unanimously agreed with Americans United's position 
and ruled that Libeny is ineligible for IDA funding (Habel v. Industrial 
Development Authority). I believe this decision is controlling in the current 
Regent University siruation. 

Interestingly, Regent University had applied for IDA bonds as the 
Liberty case was unfolding. When the decision was handed down, Regent 
officials withdrew the request. 

It is clear that Regent is a "pervasively sectarian" institution. The 
preamble to the university's mission statement reads, "Regent University is a 
graduate institution that exists to bring glory to God the Father and His Son 
Jesus Cluist through tne work of the Hoty Spirit ... The Mission Statement itself 
reads, "Our mission is to provide an exemplary graduate education from biblical 
perspectives to aspiring servant leaders in pivotal professions and to be a leading 
center of Cluistian thought and action. " 

Regent's Vision Statement reads, "Our vision, through our graduates and 
other scholarly activities, is to provide Christian leadership in transfonning 
society by affirming and teaching principles of truth, justice and love as 
described in the Holy Scriptures. embodied in the person of Jesus Christ, and 
enabled through the power of the Holy Spirit." 
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Mr. Stephen Hartwell7 Chairman 
Virginia College Building Authority 
Department of the Treasury 
May 20, 1999 
Page 2 

The university's website (www.regent.edu) notes that the school admits "srudents of 
any race, color, sex, disability, and national or ethnic origin." Religion is noticeably absent 
from this list. 

The website also states, "The Regent faculty is key to the Christ-centered nature of 
our education. Courses are taught from a Judea-Christian perspective, integrating faith and 
learning where it is most critical. " 

I urge the Authority to thoroughly examine Regent's publications and its policies. I 
believe any honest evaluation of this material will prove conclusively that the university does 
not qualify for state-issued bonds or other forms of state assistance. 

Please be assured that Americans United regards this matter as a concern of the 
highest importance. If the Authority i~sues bonds for the benefit of Regent University, legal 
action is cenain. 

Thank you for your attention to this matter. 

Sincerely, 

Barry~~5-
Executive Director 

cc: 
Governor James S. Gilmore, ill 
Attorney General Mark L. Earley 
Chancellor Marion G. "Pat" Robenson 
Donald R. Ferguson 
Arthur N. Bowen 
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Preliminary Financing Summary 
Regent University 

Title: 

Issuer. 

Amount: 

Constitutional Reference: 

Legislative Reference: 

Purpose: 

202 

TO BE DETERMINED ("TBD") 

Virginia College Building Authority 

Up to $55,000,000 

NIA 

Title 23, Chapters 3.2 and 3.3 

Financing of the following Plan of Financing for 
Regent University: 

(a) (i) refunding of all or a ponion of the 54,000,000 
City of Virginia Beach Development .'\uthority 1984 
Industrial Development Revenue Bonds (CBN 
University Facility), Series A and B. of which 
$2,552,261 is currently outstanding, issued to finance 
the acquisition, construction and equipping of student 
housing known as "Regent University Village" and 
located at Jake Sears Circle •. Virginia Beach, Virginia 
23464 (the "1984 Project") and (ii) refinancing of a 
taxable loan, of which 52.957,152 is currently 
outstanding, incurred by the University in connection 
with an expansion of the 1984 Project; 

(b) financing costs incurred in connection with certain 
expansions, renovations and improvements to the 
University's facilities located in the City of Alexandri~ 
Virginia and the City of Virginia Beach, Virginia 
consisting of: (i) a new University campus located at 
1650 Diagonal Roa<L Alexandria. Virginia 22314, 
consisting of approximately 27,000 square feet to be 
used for classrooms and supporting administrative 
space; for several of the University's colleges and 
schools; (ii) a communication and arts complex located 
on the main campus of the University at 1000 Regent 
University Drive., Virginia Beach, Virginia 23464, 
consisting of approximately 125,000 square feet which 
will house the College of Communication and Arts and 
various University administrative and student support 
facilities; (iii) an events center located on the main 



Method of Sale: 

Sale Date: 

Dated Date: 

Delivery Date: 

Bond Structure: 

Principal Payment Date: 

Interest Payment Dates: 

Registration Provisions: 

Redemption Provisions: 

Denominations: 

Est. True Interest costs: 

Anticipated Bond Ratings: 

Financial Advisor: 

Underwriter: 

Bond Counsel: 

Trustee: 

campus of the University, consisting of approximately 
60,000 square feet which will be used for graduation 
exercises, assembly and lecture series and other major 
events; and 

(c) amounts required for reserves, capitalized interest 
and costs of issuance in connection with the Plan of 
Financing. 

NEGOTIATED 

TBD 

TBD 

TBD 

TBD 

TBD 

TBD 

BOOK-ENTRY 

TBD 

5,000 

TBD 

TBD 

TBD 

TBD 

McGuire, Woods, Battle & Boothe LLP 

TBD 
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PURPOSE 

PART I 

VIRGINIA COLLEGE BUILDING AUTHORITY 

APPLICATION FOR FINANCING 

FOR 

REGENT UNIVERSrrY 

INDEX 

.A. GENERAL INFORMATION 1 

B. PROJEcr INFORMATION 3 

C. PROJECI' FINANCING 6 

PARTfi 

D. SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 8 

SCHEDULE.~- SCHEDULE OF ENROLLMENT 11 

SCHEDULE B ·SCHEDULE OF APPLICATIONS 1l 

SCHEDULE C ·SCHEDULE OF TUITION AND FEES 13 

SCHEDULE D ·BUDGET PROJECl'ION 14 

SCHEDULE E- OUTSTANDING DEBT 15 

SCHEDULE F ·FINANCIAL RATIOS 16 

SCHEDULE G- PRELIMINARY FINANClNG SUMMARY- %0 

APPENDICES 

APPENDIX A· LAST 3 AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

APPENDIX B- DRAWINGS FOR ALEXANDRIA PROJECf 

APPENDIX C ·DRAWINGS FOR COMMUNICATION BUILDING PROJECI' 

APPENDIX D • DRA W1NGS FOR EVENTS CENTER PROJECf 

APPENDIX E- REGENT UNIVERSITY ACADEMIC CATALOG 

APPENDIX F- REGENT UNIVERSITY FIVE YEAR STRATEGIC PLAN 
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Part! 

VIR.GmiA COLLEGE BUILDING 

AUTHORITY 

APPLICATION FOR FINANCING 

of 

Four Capital Projects 

for 

Regent University 

March 25, 1999 
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vm.GINIA COLLEGE BUILDING AUTHORITY 

PART I 

A GENERAL INFORMATION 

1. Name of Institution: 
Regent Universitv 

2. Address- U.S. Mail: 
I 000 Regent Universitv Drive 
Virginia Beach. VA 23464 

3. Address - Federal Express Delivery: 
Same as above 

4. Contact Person at the institution: 
Name Steve Gulvas 
Title Exec. Dir. for Operations & Finance 
Phone (757) 226-4141 
Fax (757) 226-4317 

Alternate contact person at the institution: · 
Name Dean Wooten 
Title Controller 
Phone (7 57) 226-4062 
Fax (757) 226-4342 
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VIRGINIA COLLEGE BUILDING AUTHORITY 

S. Projects included in financing and amounts: 

PROJECT 

1. Refinance Regent Village 
2. Alexan~ VA Campus 
3. College of Communications and the Arts -

Virginia Beach Campus 
4. Event Center- Virginia Beach Campus 

Total 

208 

AMOUNT 

$ 5.5 million 
$ 8 million 

$ 26 million 
$ 15 million 

$ 54.5 million 



N 
0 
\0 

B) Project Information 
Regent University 

Regent Village 
Refinancing 

I) Dctcrlptloa of Pro Jed: 
Location ....... Jake Scars Circle 

Virsinla Beach, VA 

Use .............. Student housing I 
Administrative offices 

Bxpcctcd Life ....... 45 years 

AniJcipatc:d revenuc:a ....... Apaltment rent 

:l) Coalradual rclatloaablpt NONB 
wluch mD)' affect the usc 

of the project 

l) ftCIIDDI for lbe projcd Provides ltousina for students. 

I low it will be lalqrated 
into institution'• existing 

progrDJila. 
Oive cstimalca or the UIO 

of the project. 

.) Currcal statu• of N/A 
CODtlrurtloD piiDI. 

Anticipated C:ODIIrudloD 

u•cdule throush the 
date of occupancy. 

Ale1andria Comm&Arts II Events I Campus Complei Center 

1650 Diagonal Road 
Alexandria, VA · 

Sec Appendix 0 

4S ycara 
Student tuition 

NONI! 

lnslitulion's strategic plan calla for 
growth wiUa satellite campus in 
Northern Virginia. 

Sec attached Business Case for 
Alexandria Campus. 

Regent Unlvcraity Drive 
Virginia Beach, VA 

Sec Appendix C 

45 years 
Student tuition 

NONB 

Allow for expansion of campus to meet 
projected studeaat enrollment powth per 
Ute s year strateslc plan. 

Provide state of the art teaching ftu:ility 

for School or Coarummication &. Ute Alta. 

Oro\Uld breaking in Fall 1999. Currently working to lS% design phase. 
Occupancy planned for Sept. 2000. Commence construction in Spring 2000. 

Occupancy planned for Swmner 200 I. 

Resent Univcraity Drive 
ViraiDia Beach, VA 

Sec Appendix D 

45 yean 

Sale oftictdl for event• 

NONB 

Provide apace for atudenl evcnta. 
conuncnccmcnt. fine arts 
performances. etc. 

Cwrcntly in conceptual design phase. 

Conuncncc construclion in FalllOOI. 

Occupancy piAMcd fur Fall2U02. 



N ....... 
0 

ll) Project Information 
Regent University 

I· 

Regent Village 
Refinancing ~-----A-~-=-~~;-~-~-·----~~ ~~-------c_oc_m_~~:_.~ __ n_•------~~ ~~--------~-=-=-~-·: ________ ~ 

5) FlaaadDI calcadar ar 
timetable. 

s.soo,ooo immediate fmancina t.ooo.ooo -April 1999 

1,300.000 - October 1999 

......__.:..•·:.:.ooo~.ooo=.:..--.;;;;.;Sunun;;:::::~$;;:.-1..000~--
4,700.ooif- September 2000 

6) Bond Series, matwUie1, City of Virginia BeaciPDevelopment 

7) 

8) 

amouata refunded.... Authority 1984 Industrial NONE 

Development Reveaue Bonds 

Arcblted 

Name 
Address 

Phone 

Coatndar 

Name 
Address 

Phone 

Scriea A ll. B. $2,500,000 
Maturity in 2006. 

Developer: 

N/A CanAmerica Development, Inc 
IBSO K Street NW 

Washington. DC 20006 

(202) 729-3848 

N/A Developer will build to suit. 

soo.ooo -Jwte 1999 

25,500,000 - To Be Dctcnnined 

NONB 

John Zona 
306 B Centre Street 

Fernandina Beach. FL 32034 

To Be Determined 

To Be Determined 

NONB 

John Zona 
306 8 Centre Street 

Fatumdina Beach. FL "32034 

To Be Determined 



Buisness Case - Alexandria Campus 

J-;11;:..:.99.;.77•-~98..;B;..:~~~=='r1 ~=::v~••-:-.:: ~~·~11'"-=.'"··=---+----- _.,. ... 1 

:asa Clllttr NumMf' ~ I 

IRft'IIIIM 
'uitian • Claaca -
llcn&al~ 

4<&110 IGi.I\J. 
TOTAL 

u~ 

. . . 

. 

. 
0 

. 
(146-2'0) . . 

133.750 

l.jll.OOO 2.37l.76Q_ 
5.000 7.000 . . 

(lli.UO) t'IU oi.tl 

3.290.227 
9,000 . 

t.t01 S1.t1 

. 

3,421.836 
9,000 . 

. 
2.917 • .561 

.l 
I 
l 

~ .... Ul II'~& WAGES: I 

lOO ••btia-_ Wmia cl' M~t • 10 \ 1 t&.O IJ 1 19.;~~ I 

00 ., __ r,_.. 's~ • 'too Ill 11.J 1,6 

90 IOllall DCIICIIY. her • 1 1: t4 17,0 r6,041 I 
TOTAl. AAtli"" & WAGl:.o 0 ~ ~ '21 • n•~~: I. i71.1Cl I 

INotr. Bcfteflts • • • 25•1. PLUS .&.diiT-"' 

• 1: 10 l, 1: t I JCJQ_ 
• 10 JOO 
• 10 JOO 
• 10 ~ . . . . . . 

:ant Q, ---

• ~Cl ~ 

I 
_I 

I 
I. 

• 1: t: :z 2 J75 I 
• ~· ~ f,4o&8 

~--~~~=u~p~r~m~=-l------~-----·~--~~~~--~~~~4--~~~~~--~13~--~~g~~~-------' 
rinlint • 11 JOI 1 14 2 33 34,903 
:man Equip • .t • • • • • 

.t • 71 'l.J'.. J 
• ~~ 2 _I 

iupp 1cs· 1aicc t Mile. • 9,7: 1 2: 3: 3-t I 

rtll ca • I I I I 2 _I 

TOTAwl 'E ~ ~ ......... u~ 50.000 ~ ~ ~ 0 1( ·8 6.5,862 ~ 4,; ~4 I 

tc.u-tT.&.r 

IS!Irlllus/~ 

IC:11ns.Sarplus/~. 

1Pllllftin1 

. 

. 

. 

(50.000) 

(50.0C)• 

. 

. . 

(13.90J 

1133.901 

0 

U~8.90l 

. 

. 

. 

188.812 

. 

. 

. 

481.811 

0 
-67.000 
%50,000 

li61.11Ull 

. . . . 

. . 

1.050,.540 

0 
61,000 

%50,000 

616.330 

1.666.810 

67,000 
~000 

IPccplc ~~ • 2.37 1.:Z " ~ 

I 
J 

J 

I 

I 
I 

I 

~:Clerical .5.07 r.Cl 1.3 J 
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C) Project Financing 
Regent University 

1) Cost CompoaeDts: 

Design 

CCm1mctian 
Fmrislrings I Equipmmlt 
Qmsmuting debt 

TOTALS 

2) financing Costs: 

Cost ofJssnance 
Bcmd Co1msel 
rmandal Advisor 

TOTALS 

I Regent~ II Aleandria 
ReriiWlcmg Campus 

500,000 

6,500,000 

.1,000,000 

5,.509,414 -
5,509,414 8,000,000 

Comm&Arts 
Complex 

1,000,000 

18,000,000 

7,000,000 

-
26,000,000 

Events 
Center 

750,00( 

13~0,00( 

l,OOO,OOC 

1.5,000.00( 

25,000 25,000 25,000 25,00( 

To be detennined.. ............................................................................................. . 

To be dctmmined.. ............................................................................................. . 

25,000 25,000 · 25,000 25,00C ____ ..__ 

Total FiDandag validated by VCBA -S !,534,414 s 8,025,000 S 26,025,000 S lS,OlS,OOC 

3) Proposed P1m al Pbwldq: 

(b) Stracmre of debt: 

(c) Security Features: 

(d) Method of Sale: 

(e) Tax stnus of the debt: 

4) So1uu of ReYe!me..-. 

for repaymeat of debt 

5) Preliminary l'ilwlciug S1U1111121'T-

6) Bcmd COUDSel: 
F'um: 

~ 
Address: 

Phone: 
FAX= 

7,em 30years 30years 30 years 

F'md F'm:d Fm:d Fixed 

General credit and basic coveuams. ....................................................................... . 

Public Public Pohlic Public 

Tax c:xr:mpt Tax exempt Tax exempt Tax exempt 

HaasiDg meDUCS Gc:naal reve:mu:s Gc:l=al rc:vemu:s Gc:naal revenut 

of the Uniiasity afthcUrrive:tsity of the Univtlsi1 

To Be Detmrrined.. ......................................................... ~ ....................................... . 

McGuile, Woods, Battle & Boothe 

llayd Richardson 
IJames Ccau:r 901 E. Cary SL. Richmond, VA 23219-WJO 
(804) 77.5-1000 
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C) Project Financing 
Regent University 

7) llmstmmt Baaker: 

Fmn: 
Banker: 
Address: 
Phone: 
FAX: 

8) Jinanc:ial Advisor: 

Fum: 
Advisor: 
Address: 
Phone: 
FAX: 

9) Undenrriten Ccnmsel: 

Fmn: 
Attomey: 

Address: 

Plume: 
FAX: 

To Be Determined. .••••••••• -·-··························--············· .............................. . 

Creslar SecmiDes Co!poration 

SuzaDDC P. Yount 
919 E. MainS~ Richmond, VA 23219-4625 

(804) 782-7169 

(804)782-7719 

To Be Dc:tc:tJDined ........................................... - ........................................... .. 
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Oustanding Debt 
Regent University 

ISSUE 1: 
Name: Industrial Reveaue Bonds 
year issaed: 1984 
Amomat Issued: $ 4,000,000 
Purpose: Student Housing-Phase 1 
Security. Phase 1 Housing Complex 
Issuer. Dominion Bank 

I ISSUE 1 
FIScal Year Principal I Interest 

1999 202,457 252,833 
2000 223,103 232,187 
2001 245,855 209,435 
2002 270,926 184,364 
2003 298,554 156,735 
2004 329,000 126,289 
2005 362,551 92,739 
2006 399,523 55,767 
2007 352,352 7,731 

ISSUE l: 
FJI'St VIrginia Bank Mortgage 
1993 
$4,352,700 

Student Housing - Phase 2 
Phase 2 Housing Complex 
rJI'St VIrginia Bank 

I ISSUE l 
Principal 1 Interest 

287,629 218,815 
309,189 197,254 
332,366 174,078 
357,279 149,165 
384,060 122,383 
412,849 93,595 
443,795 62,649 
477,061 29,382 
144,013 1,860 

• Amounts per Amortization schedales as of June 30, 1998. 
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Schedule E 

TOTAL 
Debt Service 

961,734 
961,733 
961,734 
961,734 
961,732 
961,733 
961,734 
961,733 
505,956 



Scheduler 

Financial Ratios 
Regent University 

Historical Futare Debt 
DebtSvc DebtSvc vs. Endowment En down 

FIScal Year Liquidity Barden Barden Endowment per Student Lia" 

1995/1996 5.15 13%. 0% 23% 68.00 

1996/1997 8.01 12% 0% 21% 59.92 
Last Year 
1997/1998 8.44 190/o 19% 1'70/o 59.50 

Ulll'eStricted Unrestricted Unresn 
FIDallcial Tuition Gift FUDd Fund Annual Fund Cumwa· 

Fiscal Year Aid Dependence Income Liguiditv Ooerations Po~:. 

1995/1996 2'70/o 21% 75% 36.51 130% 51 

1996/1997 24% 12% 86% 12.51 334% 8... 
Last Year 
1997/1998 21% 29% 68% 68.25 82% s 
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Financial Ratios 
Regent University 

Supporting Information: 

ILiquidity I 
Unr Curr Fund Balance I 
Unr Curr Fund Expenses 
Ratio 

lmst Debt Svc Burden 
Debt Service I (IDe mortg priDc(mt, LOC iDt) 

Unr Curr Fund Expenses 
Percentage 

IFuture Debt Svc Burden 

I 199511996 I 1996/1997 
116,975 200,626 
22,716 25,053 

5.15 8.01 

3,030 
22,716 

13% 

2,946 
25,053 

12% 

Future Annual Debt Service I (IDe _mortgpriDdim, LOC iDt) 

Last yeats Unr Curr Fund Expenses ·· 
Percentage 

l»ebt vs. Endowment 
Long Term Debt I 
Total Endowment 
Percentage 

IEndowment per Student 
Total Endowment I 
Full·time Equivalent ·students 
Ratio 

IEndowment Liquidity 
Quasi-Endowment I 
Total Endowment 
Ratio 

IFmancial Aid 
Institution Financial Aid I 
Tuition Revenues 
Percentage 

22,440 
98,736 

23o/o 

98,736 
1,452 
68.00 

2,983 
10,939 

27% 
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20,623 
99,767 

21% 

99,767 
1,665 
59.92 

3,159 
. 13,088 

24% 

1997/1998 
222,186 
26,324 

8.44 

5,090 
26,324 

19o/o 

5,001 
26,324 

19% 

17,394 
101,212 

17o/o 

101,212 
1,701 
59.50 

2,935 
14,029 

21% 
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Scheduler 

Financial Ratios 
Regent University 

Supporting Information: 

ITuition Dependence 1 1995/1996 1 1996/1997 1997/1998 

Tuition Revenues I 10,939 13,088 14,029 
Total Educ & Gen Revenues 52,166 108,704 47,884 
Percentage 21% ll% 29% 

IGift Incomel 

Private Gifts + Endow Income I 39,195 93,783 32,616 
Total Educ & Gen Revenues 52,166 108,704 47,884 
Percentage 75% 86% 68% 

lunrestrict Fund Liquidity I 
Cash + Investments I 79,999 183,747 199,087 
Accounts Payable 2,191 2,532 2,917 
Ratio 36.51 72.57 68.25 

IUnrestrict Fund Ann OperJ 
Surplus (Deficit) I 29,450 . 83,651 21,560 
Unr Curr Fund Expenses 22,716 25,053 26,324 
Percentage 130°/o 334o/'o 82% 

lunrestrict Fund Cum Pos I 
Unrestrict Curr Fund Balance I 116,975 200,626 222,186 
Unr Curr Fund Expenses 22,716 25,053 26,324 
Percentage 515°/o 801% 844% 
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Future Debt Burden 
Regent University 

Housing Mortgage 5,500,000 

Interest : S.S% Over 7 years 

Monthly Payment= 

Annual Payment=-

Alexandria Campus 
Coram & Arts Complex 
Events Center 
Total Future Debt 

s 79,034 

s 948,410 

8,000,000 
26,000,000 
15,000,000 
49,000,000 

Interest : S.S% Over 30 years 

Monthly Payment = s 278,204 

Annual Payment = s 3,338,452 

ITotal Annual Payments S 4,286,86% I 
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Preliminary Financing Summary 
Regent University 

Trtle: TO BE DETERMINED 

Amo11Dt: 

CoDStitlltioaal Refermce: 

Legislative Reference: 

Purpose: 

Method of Sale: 

Sale Date: 

Dated Date: 

Delivery Date: 

Bond Structure: 

Principal Payment Dates: 

Interest Payment Dates: 

llegistration Provisions: 

Redemption Provisions: 

DenomiDations: 

Est. Tl"'le Interest Cost: 

Anticipated Bond Ratings: 

FJDaDcial Advisor: 

Underwriter: 

Bond Counsel: 

T1'11Stee: 
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Five Year Capital Plan 
Regent University 

During this past year, the President has focused new priorities for the Master Planning Committee. 
To date, the full capital plan consists of the projects included in this application as well as the 
evaluation of improvements to the Law Libraiy and Main Libracy: While additional projects 
are being considered, there are no approved projects beyond those addressed in this application. 
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Financial Statements and Supplementary Schedule 

June 30,1998 and 1997 
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KPMG Peat Marwick LLP 

2100 Dommaon Tower 

999 waterside Onve 
Norfolk. VA 23510 

Independent Auditors' Report 

The Board ofTrustees 
Regent University: 

We have audited the accompanying statements of financial position of Regent University (the 
University) as of June 30, 1998 and 1997, and the related statements of activities and cash flows 
for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the University's 
management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on 
our audits. 

We conducted. our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining, 
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An 
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that 
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairiy, in all material respects, 
the financiai position of Regent University at June 30, 1998 and 199i, and its changes in its net 
assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles. 

Our audits were made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements 
taken as a whole. The supplementary information included in the schedule is presented for 
purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such 
infonnation has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the basic 
financial statements and, in our opinio~ is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the 
basic financial statements taken as a whole. 

August 21, 1998 
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REGENT UNIVERSIIT 

Statements ofFinancial Position 

June 30, 1998 and 1997 

(dollars in thousands) 

Assets: 
Current assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents (note 3 and 7) 
Accounts and loans receivable, net of allowance 

for doubtful accounts of$116 and S89 
in 1998 and 1997, respectively 

Current portion of contributions receivable (note 4) 
Accrued investment income 
Inventories 
Prepaid expenses and other assets 

Total c:um:nt assets 

Contributions receivable, net (note 4) 
Investtneuts (notes 5, 9 and 11) 
Propc:ny. plant and equipment. net (notes 6, 7 and 8) 

Total assets 

Liabilities and.Net Assets: 
Current liabilities: 

Accounts payable and accmed expenses 
Current portion of mortgages payable (notes 2 and 7) 
Current portion of capital lease obligations (note 8) 

Total current liabilities 

Mortgages payable (notes 2 and 7) 
Capital lease obligations (note 8) 
Line of credit facility (note 9) 

Total liabilities 

Net assets: 
Uniesuicted 
Temporarily restricted (note 12) 
Permanently restricted (note 13) 

Total net assets 

Commitments and contingencies (notes 8 and 15) 

Total liabilities and net assets 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 

223 

1998 1997 

s 1,068 311 

244 206 
279 384 

1,040 573 
194 240 
303 223 

3,128 1,937 

167 267 
304,103 287,816 
42.362 40.632 

s 349,760 330.652 

3,024 2,628 
490 1,318 
210 504 

3,724 4,450 

5,342 8,370 
201 

12,052 12,052 

21,118 25,073 

222,186 200,626 
5,244 5,186 

101,212 99,767 

328,642. 305,579 

s 349,760 330,652 
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llEGENT UNIVEilSITY 

Statements of Activities 

Years ended June 30, 1998 and 1997 

(dollars in thousands) 

1998 1997 
Tcmrorurily l•crmancntly Tcmrornrily l'cnmmently 

Unrestricted restricted restricted Unrestricted restricted restricted 
net assets net assets net assets Totol net assets net assets net assets Total 

Revenues: 
Tuition and fees: 

Gmss tuition and fees s 14,029 14,029 ll,088 13,088 
Institutional scholershil!s (2,935) (2,935) (3,159) (3,1S9) 

• Tuition end fees, nclo 11,094 11,094 9,929 9,929 

Private 1iRs 534 661 1,292 2,417 630 390 990 2,010 
Investment income. net (noteS) 7,460 283 9 7,7S2 3,004 176 3 3,183 
Realized gains on Investments, net 17,320 S70 24 17,914 10,171 398 9 IO,S78 

N Unrealized gains (losses) on investments. net 7,302 (39) 98 7,361 79,978 1,331 28 lll,ll7 
N Auxiliary services 2,278 2,278 2,270 2,270 ~ 

Contributions from Christian Oroadcasting 
Network 80 80 I,SIS I,SIS 

Other sources 338 61 22 421 473 19 491 
Net esscts released from restrictions (note 14! 1,558 (1,558) 2,249 (2,249) 

Total revenues 47,884 58 1,445 49,317 108,704 I,S80 1,031 III,J IS 

Expenses: 
Program services: 

Instruction 13,785 13,785 12,533 12,533 
Student services 857 BS7 174 174 
Auxili!!l services 1,723 1,723 1,632 1,632 

Total proaram services 16,165 16,365 14,939 14,919 

Supportlns servlc~: 
Academic support 3,705 3,705 3,959 3,959 
fundraising 356 356 417 417 
Institutional sul!~rt 5,898 5,898 5,738 5,738 

Total sul!~rtin1 services · 9,959 9,959 1(1,114 10,114 

Total exl!nscs 26,324 26,324 2lon 25,053 

Changes In net esscts 21,560 58 1,445 23,063 81,651 1,580 1,011 86,262 

Net assets Dl belinninl or lear 200,626 5,186 99,767 305,579 116,975 3,606 98,736 219.117 

Net assets at end of yeer s 222,186 5,244 101,212 328,642 200,626 5,186 99,767 JOS,S79 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 



REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Statements of Cash Flows 

Years ended June 30, 1998 and 1997 

(dollars in thousands) 

1998 1997 
Cash flows from operating activities: 

Chang~~ in net assetS s 23,063 86.262 
Adjustments to reconcile changes in net assetS to 

net cash used in operating activities: 
Depreciation and amortization 2.610 2.459 
Allowance for doubtfUl accounts 27 29 
Contributions of invesunents (159) ( 118) 
Realized gain on sales of investments, net (17,914) (10,578) 
Unrealized gain on investments, net (7,361) (81,337) 
Permanendy restricted contributions and investment 

income (1.323) (994) 
Payments on gift annuities 13 13 
Gift for payment of mongages payable (1.262) 
Changes in assets and liabilities: 

Accounts and loans receivable (65) 12 
Contributions receivable 205 (65 1) 
Accrued investment income (467) 81 
Inventories 46 39 
Prepaid expenses and other assets (80) 55 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 396 345 

Total adjustments (24,072) (91.907) 

Net cash used in operating activities (1,009) (5,645) 

Cash flows from investing activities: 
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (4,323) (925) 
Purchases of invesunents (532,910) (143,540) 
Proceeds from sales ofinvestments 542.040 149,183 

Net cash provided by investing activities 4.807 4,718 

Cash flows from financing activities: 
Payments on mongages payable (3,856) (1.281) 
Gift for payment of mortgages payable 1.262 
Payments on capitaJ lease obligations (495) {508) 
Payments on gift annuities {13) (13) 
Pennanently restricted contributions and investment 

income 1,323 994 

Net cash erovided by {used in) financing activities (3.041) 454 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 757 (473) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 311 784 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year s 1,068 311 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information: 
Cash paid for interest s 1,264 1,694 

Contributions of investments s 159 liS 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 1998 and 1997 

(1) Nature of Operations and Significant Accounting Policies 

Regent University (the University) is a nonstock, nonprofit graduate educational 
institution established in 1977. The University is accredited by the Southern Association 
of Colleges and Schools. The University presently includes the College of 
Communication and the Arts, School of Business, School of Counseling and Hwnan 
Services, School ofDivinity, School of Education, School of Government, School of Law 
and the Center for Leadership Studies. 

The affairs of the University are governed by a Board of Trustees. The election of 
individual. trustees and the selection of the University's Chairman of the Board is made 
by a majority vote of the Directors of Christian Broadcasting Network (CBN). 

Basis of Presentation 

The financial statements of the University have been prepared on the accrual basis of 
accounting. 

These financial statements have been prepared to focus on the University as a whole and 
to present balances and transactions according to the existence or absence of donor-
imposed restrictions. · 

Net assets and revenues, gains and losses, are classified based on the existence or absence 
of donor-imposed restrictions. The University's net assets are segregated into three net 
asset groups: 

Unrestricted net assets - Net assets not subject to donor-imposed restrictions. 

Temporarily restricted net assets - Net assets subject to donor-imposed 
stipulations that may or will be met by actions·ofthe University and/or the 
passage of time. 

Permanently restricted net assets - Net assets subject to donor-imposed 
stipulations that neither expire by passage of time nor can be fulfilled or 
otherwise removed by actions of the University. 
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REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(1) Continued 

Revenues are reponed as increases in the unrestricted net assets unless use of the related 
assets is limited by donor-imposed restrictions. Expenses are reponed as decreases in 
unrestricted net assets. Expirations of temporary restrictions on net assets (i.e., the donor­
stipulated purpose has been fulfilled and/or the stipulated time period has elapsed) are 
reponed as reclassifications from temporarily restricted net assets to unrestricted net 
assets (see note 14). Temporary restrictions on gifts to acquire long-lived assets are 
considered met in the period the assets are acquired or placed in service. 

Cash Equivalents 

The University considers all highly liquid financial instruments purchased with an 
original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents which 
are utilized within a managed investment portfolio are accounted for as investments. 

Contributions Receivable 

Contributions receivable to the University are recognized as revenues in the period the 
promise is made by the donor. Contributions to be received after one year are discounted 
at an appropriate discount rate commensurate with the risks involved. Amortization of 
the discount is recorded as additional contribution revenue in accordance with donor­
imposed restrictions, if any, on the contributions. Contributions of assets other than cash 
are recorded at their estimated fair value. Conditional contributions to give are not 
recognized until the conditions on which they depend are substantially met. 

Inventories 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market.. Cost is detennined by the first-in, 
first-out method. 

Investments 

Investments in real estate, oil and gas leases and royalty interests and annuities are stated 
at cost and all other investments are stated at fair market value. The net realized and 
unrealized gains and losses on investments are reflected in the statements of activities. 
Investment income is reported net of rela~d investment expenses. 

(Continued) 
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REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(1) Continued 

Financial Instruments 

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, accounts and loans receivable and 
accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value because of the short 
maturity of these financial instruments. The carrying amount of the invesanents that are 
considered to be financial instruments is fair market value (see note 5). In addition, the 
fair value of the line of credit facility, mortgages payable and capital lease obligations 
approximate carrying· amount as the related interest ·rates approximate market rates. 

Property, Plant and Equipment 

Property, plant and equipment is stated at the cost of the asset acquired or fair value at the 
date of donation in the case of gifts. Depreciation is computed under the straight-line 
method over estimated reMaining useful lives of 45 years for buildings and 
improvements, five to 10 years for furniture and equipment, 15 years for library books 
and materials and three to seven years for computer hardware and software. 

Income Taxes 

The University has been recognized by the Internal Revenue Service as tax-exempt under 
section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue C9de. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in confonnity with generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management of the University to make estimates and judgments that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosures of contingencies at 
the date of the financial statements and revenues and expenses recognized during the 
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Fundional Expenses 

The University allocates its expenses on a functional basis among its various programs 
and supponing services. Expenses that can be identified with a spec~c program or 
supporting service arc allocated directly. Other expenses that are common to several 
functions are allocated by various statistical bases. 

Reclassifications 

Cenain reclassifications have been made to the 1997 financial statements to conform to 
the 1998 presentation. 

(Continued) 
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REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(2) Related Party Transactions 

The University was charged $1,265,000 and $1,286,000 during fiscal years 1998 and 
1997, respectively, for various services performed by CBN and paid CBN an additional 
$6,216,000 and $1,262,000 in 1998 and 1997, respectively, for mortgage, building and 
land payments. The University also received cash support of $1,262,000 from CBN 
during fiscal year 1997. 

Three members ofthe University's Board of Trustees are also members of the Board of 
Directors of CBN. 

{3) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

(4) 

Cash and cash equivalents at June 30 consist of the following (in thousands): 

m8 - 1997 

Cash s 253 lSI 
Common fund- The Short Tenn Fund 814 159 
Money market accounts 1 I 

s 1,068 311 

Contributions Receivable 

Contributions receivable at June 30, 1998 are expected to be received as follows (in 
thousands): 

By June 30, 1999 s 279 
By June 30, 2003 200 

479 
Less unamortized discount (33) 

s 446. 

(Continued) 
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REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Notes to Financial Statements 

{5) Investments 

Investments at June 30 consist of the following (m thousands): 

1998 1997 
Carrying Carrying 

Cost value Cost value 

Cash and money market accounts $ 9,784 9,784 4,927 4,927 
Corporate bonds 16,297 16,089 8..316 8,177 
U.S. government securities 30,749 32,141 17,987 17,701 
Mongage-backed securities 11,135 11,876 10,573 10,467 
Common stock - domestic 136,183 161,282 94,382 216.009 
Common stock - foreign 72,414 72,471 24,653 30,065 
Real estate 275 275 275 275 
Oil and gas leases. royalty interest. annuities and other 202 185 206 195 

s 271,639 304.103 161.319 287.816 

The University's investment strategy incorporates certain financial instruments which 
involve, to varying degrees, elements of market risk and credit risk. Management does 
not anticipate that losses resulting from its market or credit risks would materially affect 
the fmancial position of the University. 

Investment expenses netted against investment income on the statement of activities were 
$1,458,000 and $877,000 for the years ended June 30, 1998 and 199i, respectively. 

(6) Property, Plant and Equipment 

Property, plant and equipment at June 30 consist of the following (in thousands): 

1998 1997 
Land s 1,891 1,485 
Buildings and improvements 41.280 38,878 
Furniture and equipment 6,324 6,129 
Library books and materials 12,150 11,464 
Computer hardware and software 4.204 3.570 

65,849 61,526 
Less accumulated dS!reciation and amortization 23.487 20,894 

s 42..362 40,632 

(Continued) 
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REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(Continued) 
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REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(8) Leases 

The University is obligated under various capital equipment leases that expire at various 
dates during the next year. 'The assets capitalized under these agreements have a cost of 
$2,845,000 and related accumulated amortization of $1,367,000 and $1,063,000 at 
June 30, 1998 and 1997, respectively. Amortization for the years ended June 30, 1998 
and 1997 was $304,000. During the fiscal years ended June 30, 1998 and 1997, the 
interest cost related to capital leases was $37,000 and $78,000, respectively. 

Additionally, the University also leases certain office equipment under various 
noncancelable operating lease agreements that expire over the next five years. 

Future minimum lease payments under noncancelable operating leases and future 
minimum capital lease payments are as follows (m thousands): 

Capital Operating 
leases leases 

Year ending June 30,: 
1999 s 214 89 
2000 83 
2001 64 
2002 61 
2003 26 

Total mmimum lease payments 214 s 323 

Less amount representing interest 4 

s 210 

Total rental expense for fiscal years 1998 and 1997 was $51.000 and $91,000, 
respectively. 

{9) Line of Credit Facility 

The University maintains a $15,000,000 line of credit facility that expires on January 1, 
2000. A portion of the managed investment portfolio of $55,793,000 has been pledged as 
collateral. The University pays a quarterly commitment fee of 1/8 of 1% per annum on 
the unused portion of the credit facility and the Federal Funds or LIB OR rate plus 1/2% 
on the used portion. The outstanding balance under this line was $12,052,000 at June 30, 
1998 and 1997. The outstanding balance is due at expiration of the line of credit 
agreement. During the fiscal years ended June 30, 1998 and 1997, the interest cost 
related to the line of credit facility was $761,000 and $724,000, respectively. 

(Continued) 
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REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(1 0) Pension Plan 

The University provides retirement benefits through a defined contribution plan adopted 
pursuant to section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code. Regular full-time employees 
are eligible to participate in the plan after two years of employment. The plan allows 
employees and the University to make contributions. The University's total contributions 
for the years ended June 30, 1998 and 1997 were $625,000 and $508,000 at a rate of 8% 
and 7% of eligible employees' base salaries, respectively. 

(11) Financial Instruments - Concentrations of Credit Risk 

At June 30, 1998 and 1997, the University had certain concentrations of credit risk in the 
form of cash and investments which amounted to approximately $302,968,000 and 
$141,653,000, respectively. If the investment managers failed to completely perfonn 
under the terms of the financial instruments, the exposure for credit loss would be the 
amount of the financial instruments less amounts covered by regulatory and private 
insurance. 

(12) Temporarily Restricted Net Assets 

The amounts included as temporarily restricted net assets at June 30 consist of the 
following (in thousands): 

Scholuships 
Law School Chair 
Annuity funds 
Other 

(13) Permanently Restricted Net Assets 

s 

s 

1998 

4,107 
872 
47 

218 

5,244 

1997 

4J84 
649 

51 
102 

5,186 

The amounts included as pennanently restricted net .assets at June 30 are to be held in 
perpetuity and the related income is to be used as follows (in thousands): 

General operations 
Scholusbips 
Law School Chair 
Student films 
Loan funds 
Other 
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1998 1997 

s . 95.296 
3,186 
1,012 
1,280 

180 
258 

95,198 
3,120 
1,012 

180 
257 

s 101,212 99,767 
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REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(14) Net Assets Released From Restrictions 

Net assets were released from donor restrictions by incurring expenses satisfying the 
restricted purpose or by the occurrence of other events specified by donors. Total net 
assets released were Sl,558,000 and $2,249,000 for the years ended June 30, 1998 and 
1997, respectively. 

(15) Contingencies 

The University is from time-to-time subject to litigation and other matters arising from 
the normal course of operations. Management does not believe that the results of these 
matters will have a materially adverse effect on the University's financial condition. 

Final expenditure reports of student financial ai~ submitted to the U.S. Department of 
Education in current and prior years are subject to audit As a result, the reimbursed 
expenditures are subject to adjustment The effect of such adjustments, if any, is not 
determinable at this time. Management is of the opinion that the liability, if any, would 
not have a material adverse effect of the University's financial position. 
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Sc/Jedule 

REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Combining Statements of Financial Position 

June 30, 1998 and 1997 

(dollars in thousands) 

1998 
Temporarily Pemmnently 

Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total 
Assers: 

Current assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents s S62 167 39 1,068 
Accounts and loans receivable, less allowance 

for doubtful accounts of S 116 244 244 
Cunent portion of contributions receivable 20 259 279 
Accrued investment income 1,007 33 1,040 
Inventories 194 194 
Pr=:eaid expenses and other assets 303 303 

Total current assets 2,610 220 298 3,128 

Contributions receivable 167 167 
Investments 198,225 5,131 100,747 304,103 
Property, Elant and equipment, net 42.362 42.362 

Total assets s 243,197 5,351 101,212 349,760 

Liabilities and Net Assets: 
Current liabilities: 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 2,917 107 3,024 
Current portion of mongages payable 490 .490 
Current Eonion of capital lease obligations 210 210 

Total current liabilities 3,617 107 3,724 

Line of credit facility 12,052 12,052 
Mortgages payable 5.342 5.342 

. 
Tctalliabilitics 21,011 107 21.118 

Net assets: 
Ucrestricted 222,186 222,186 
Temporaril)· resuicted 5,244 5,244 
Permanently restricted 101,212 101,212 

• Total net assets n2.186 5,244 101,212 328.642 

Totalliabilines and net assets s 243,197 5.351 101,212 349,760 

(Continued) 
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Schedule, Continued 
REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Combining Statements of Financial Position, Continued 

1997 
Temporarily Permanently 

UnrestriCted Restricted Restricted Total 
Assets: 

CutrCDt assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents s 103 171 37 311 
Accounts and loans receivable, less allowance 

for doubtful accoun~ of S89 206. 206 
Cutm1t portion of contributions receivable 30 354 384 
Accrued investment income 555 18 573 
Inventories 240 240 
Prepaid ~enses and other assets 223 223 

Tocal current assets 1,327 219 391 1,937 

Contributions receivable 267 267 
Invesa:nents 183,644 5,063 99,109 287,816 
Property, plant and equipment, net 40,632 40,632 

Total assets s 225,603 5,282 99,767 330,652 

Liabilities and Net Assets: 
Current liabilities: 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 2,532 96 2,628 
Current portion of mortgages payable 1,318 1,318 
Current portion of capital lease obligations 504 504 

Total CUirCDt liabilities 4,354 96 ,4,450 

Mortgages payable 8,370 8,370 
Capicallease obligations 201 201 
Line of credit facility 12,052 12,052 

Total liabilities 24,977 96 25,073 

.Net assets: 
Unrestricted 200,626 200,626 
Temporarily restricted 5,186 5,186 
Permanently restricted 99,767 99,767 

Total net assets 200,626 5,186 99,767 305,579 

Total liabilities and net assets s 225,603 5,282 99,767 330,652 
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KPMG 
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Financial Statements and Supplementary Schedule 

June 30, 1997 and 19~6 

(With Independent Auditors' Report·Thereon) 
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KPMG Peat Marwick LLP 

2100 Oommron Tower 

999 Watersrde Onve 

Norfolk. VA 23510 

Independent Auditors' Report 

The Board of Trustees 
Regent University: 

We have audited the accompanying statements of financial position of Regent University (the 
University) as of June 30, 1997 and 1996, and the related statements of activities and cash flows 
for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the University's 
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on 
our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, 
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An 
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that 
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of Regent University at June 30, 199i and 1996, and the changes in its net 
assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles. 

Our audits were made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements 
taken as a whole. The supplementary information included in the schedule is presented for 
purposes of additional analysis and is not a required pan of the basic financial statements. Such 
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the basic 
financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the 
basic financial statements taken as a whole. 

August 21, 1997 
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PROJECT NARRATIVE 
REGENT UNIVERSITY 
EVENT CENTER 

The Event Center is conceived to provide a 3.000-pcrson 
auditoriwn seating to house major events which occur 
during the course of a typical University year. 'l11is would 
include graduation exercises. various assembly and lecture 
series, nationally or world-renowned guest lectures and 
speakers. and other major events requiring seating of up to 
3.000 guests. In addition to the large auditorium. there will 
be a number of smaller lecture rooms. practice rooms. 
breakout spaces and multi-use conference spaces. These 
functional elements will enable group discussions and 
workshops to occur following major presentations. This 
facility will be approximately 60.000 sq. ft. located on two 
levels and contain outdoor terraces to encourage sooial 
interaction on pleasant spring. summer and fall evenings 
which occur in abundance on this beautiful campus. 

The building will be sited opposite the College of 
Communication and the Ar1s building, thereby punctuating 
the newly created main Regent University entrance 
boulevard. II will also create a secondary access with the 
center line of Founders lim maio entrance lobby and fonnal 
gardens across the lake. The lake itself will be expanded by 
about SO% qf its present size and will touch the north terrace 
of the builcting. 

&RECENT 

II is conceivable that a visual and functional connection with the 
Conference Center which is part of Founders Inn will create a 
desirable and useful link between conference events generally at 
Founders bm but utilizing the larse sealins capacity Bvents Center 
for major events presently unable lo bo housed therein. 1'he 
architecture of tho building will reflect tho good taste and 
proportions by the existing campus but will also be distinctive in 
mass and shape due lo its unique functionality. 

An exterior character sketch and schematic Door plans are 
included as helpful infonnation lo define the overall intent and 
purpose of this uniquely functional, new addition to Regent 
University and the CBN campus. 



• &REGENT 
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Event Center Architectural Character 
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IU~GENT lJNIVEUSITV 

Slalemenls of Aclivilies 

Years ended June 30. 1997 and 1996 

(dollars in lhousonds) 

Temporarily Permanently Temporarily Permanenily 
Unrestricted restricted restricted Total Unrestricted restricted restricted Totul 

net assets net assets net assets 1997 net assets net assets net assets 1996 
Revenues: 

Tuition and fees: 
Gross tuition and fees s 13,088 - - 13,088 10,939 - - 10,939 
Institutional scholarshies (3,159) - - (1,159) (2,981) - - (2,983) 

Tuition and fees, net 9,929 - - 9,929 7,956 . 
7,956 : - -

Private gins 630 390 990 2,010 611 742 41 1,394 
Contributions from Christian Broadcasting 

Network (note 2) -- I,SIS - 1,515 - 1,349 - 1.149 
Investment income. net (note 5) 3.004 176 l 3.183 3,676 176 I 3,853 
ftcalized gains on investments, net 10,171 398 9 IO,S78 10,621 358 3 10,982 
Unrealized gains on investments, net 79,978 1,331 - 28 81,337 24,287 665 - 24,952 
Auxiliary services 2,270 - - . 2.270 2,1SI - - 2,151 
O&hcr sources 473 19 I 493 358 - 2 360 N Net assets released fron1 restrictions (note IS) 2,249 (2.249) - - 2,506 (~.506) ~ 

\0 
Total revenues 108,7CJ4 1,580 1,031 111,315 52,166 784 47 52,997 

Expenses: 
l1rugrom services: 

Instruction 12.533 - - 12,533 10,757 - - 10,757 
Saudcnl services 774 - - 774 728 - - 728 
Auxiliarl services 1.632 - - 1,632 1,585 - - a.s8s 

Total program services 14,939 - - 14,939 13,070 - - 11,070 

Supporting services: 
Aendcmic support 3,959 - - 3.959 3,913 - - 3,913 
Fundraisins 417 - - 417 732 - - 732 
Institutional sueeort 5,138 - - 5,738 4,981 - - 4,981 

Total sueeorting services 10,114 - - 10,114 9,646 - - 9,646 

Tolal cxeenses 25.053 - - 2S.OS3 22,716 - - 22,716 
Changes in nc:l assels 83,6SI I,S80 1.011 86,262 29,450 784 47 30.281 

Net assets at be1inning of ~ear 116,975 3,606 98.736 219,317 87,525 2,822 98,689 189,036 
Nel asscis al end of year s 200.626 5,186 99,767 305.579 116,975 3.606 98.736 219,317 

ap ,.,1 ....... 1 -·· .. I I ·~ 



REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Statements of Financial Position 

June 30, 1997 and 1996 

(dollars in thousands) 

Assets: 
Current assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents (note 3) 
Accounts and loans receivable, net of allowance 

for uncollectible accounts of S89 and S60 
in 1997 and 1996, respectively 

Pledges receivable (note 4) 
Accrued investment income 
Inventories 
Prepaid expenses and other assets 

Total current assets 

Pledges receivables, net (note 4) 
Investments (notes 5, 9 and 12) 
Property, plant and equipment. net (notes 6. 7 and 8 ) 

Total assets 

Liabilities and Net Assets: 
Current liabilities: 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 
Current portion ofmongages payable (notes 2 and 7) 
Current portion of capital lease obligations (note 8) 
Line of credit facility (note 9) 

Total current liabilities 

Mortgages payable (notes 2 and 7) 
Capital lease obligations (note 8) 

Total liabilities 

Net assets: 
Unrestricted 
Temporarily resttic:ted (note 13) 
Permanently restricted (note 14) 

Total net assets 

Commitments, contingencies and subsequent event (notes 8, 11 and 16) 

Total liabilities and net assets 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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1997 1996 

s 311 784 

206 247 
384 
573 654 
240 279 
223 278 

1,937 2~42 

267 
287,816 201,439 
40,632 42,153 

s 330,652 245,834 

2,628 2,283 
1,318 1,283 

504 511 
12,052 12,052 

16,502 16,129 

8.370 9,686 
201 702 

25,073 26,517 

200,626 116,975 
5;186 3,606 

99,767 98,736 

305,579 219,317 

s 330,652 245.834 



REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 1997 and 1996 

(1) Nature of Operations and Significant Accounting Policies 

Regent University (the University) is a nonstock, nonprofit graduate educational 
institution established in 1977. The University is accredited by the Southern Association 
of Colleges and Schools. The University presently includes the College of 
Communication and the Arts, School of Business, School of Counseling and Human 
Services, School of Divinity, School of Education, School of Government, School of Law 
and the Center for Leadership Studies. 

The University derives a portion of its support from the Christian Broadcasting Network 
(CBN). The affairs of the University are governed by a Board of Trustees. The election 
of individual trustees and the selection of the University's Chairman of the Board is made 
by a majority vote of the Directors of CBN. 

Basis of Presentation 

The financial statements of the University have been prepared on the accrual basis of 
accounting. 

These financial statements have been prepared to focus on the University as a whole and 
to present balances and transactions according to the existence or absence of donor­
imposed restrictions. This has been acccinplished by classification of fund balances and 
transactions into three classes of net assets: unrestricted, temporarily restricted or 
permanently restricted. 

Net assets and revenues, gains and losses, are classified based on the existence or absence 
of donor-imposed restrictions. Accordingly, net assets and changes therein are classified 
as follows: 

Unrestricted net assets - Net assets not subject to donor-imposed 
restrictions.-

Temporarily restricted net assets - Net assets subject to donor-imposed 
stipulations that may or will be met by actions of the University and/or the 
passage of time. 

Permanently restricted net assets - Net assets subject to donor-imposed 
stipulations that neither expire by passage of time nor can be fulfilled or 
otherwise removed by actions of the University. 
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REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Statements of Cash Flows 

Years ended June 30, 1997 and 1996 

(dollars in thousands) 

1997 1996 
cash flows tram operanng acnV1nes: 

Changes in net assets s 86.262 30.281 
Adjustments to reconcile changes in net assets to 

net cash used in opcraring activities: 
Depreciation and amortization 2,459 2,430 
Gain on disposal of property and equipment (5) 
Allowance for doubtful accounts 29 5 
Conaibutions of investments (118) (99) 
Realized gain on sales of investments, net (10,578) (10.982) 
Unrealized gain on investments, net (81,337). (24.952) 
Pennanently restricted contributions and investment 

income (994) (45) 
Payments on gift annuities 13 13 
Gift for payment of mortgages payable (1.262) (1.349) 
Changes in assetS and liabilities: 

Accounts and loans receivable 12 {64) 
Pledges receivable (651) 
Accrued investment income 81 (208) 
Inventories 39 (25) 
Prepaid expenses and other assetS 55 52 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 345 256 

Total adjustments (91.907) (34,973) 

Net cash used in operating activities (5.645) {4,692) 

Cash flows from investing activities: 
Purchases of property and equipment (925) (751) 
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment s 
Purchases of investments (143,540) (489,817) 
Proceeds from sales of investments 149,183 489.247 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 4,718 (1.316) 

Cash flows &om financing activities: 
Gift for payment of mortgages payable 1.262 1,349 
fToceeds ftom line of credit facility 5,500 
Payments on mongages payable (1.281) {1.244) 
Payments on capital lease obligations {508) (643) 
Payments on gift annuities (13) {13) 
Permanently ratticted contributions, investment 

income. net and realized gains 994 45 

Net cash provided by financing activities 454 4,994 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (473) (1,014) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginnin1 of year 784 1,798 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year s 3 t I 784 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information: 
Cash paid for interest s 1.694 1.852 

Contributions of investments s tiS 99 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(1) Continued 

Finandlll Instruments 

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, accounts and loans receivable and -
accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value because of the short 
maturity of these financial instruments. The carrying amount of the investm~ts that are 
considered to be financial instruments is fair market value (see note 5). In addition, the 
fair value of the line of credit facility, mortgages payable and capital lease obligations 
approximate carrying amount as the related interest rates approximate market rates. 

Property, Plant and Equipment 

Property, plant and equipment is stated at the cost of the asset acquired or fair value at the 
date of donation in the case of gifts. Depreciation is computed under the straight-line 
method over estimated remaining useful lives of 45 years for buildings and 
improvements, five to 10 years for furniture and equipment, 15 years for library books 
and materials and three to seven years for computer hardware and software. 

Inconre Taxes 

The University has been recognized by the Internal Revenue Service as tax-exempt under 
section 50l(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting _ 
principles requires management of the University to make estimates and judgments that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosures of contingencies at 
the date of the financial statements and revenues and expenses recognized during the 
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Functional Expenses 

The University allocates its expenses on a ftmctional basis among its various programs 
and supporting services. Expenses that can be identified with a specific program or 
supporting service are allocated directly. Other expenses that are common to several 
functions are allocated by various statistical bases. 

Reclassifications 

Certain reclassifications have been made to the 1996 financial statements to confonn to -
the 1997 presentation. 

(Continued) · 
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REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(1) Continued 

Revenues are reported as increases in the unrestricted net assets unless use of the related 
assets is limited by donor-imposed restrictions. Expenses are reported as decreases in 
unrestricted net assets. Expirations of temporary restrictions on net assets (i.e., the donor­
stipulated purpose has been fulfilled and/or the stipulated time period has elapsed) are 
reported as reclassifications from temporarily restricted net assets to un.reStticted net 
assets (see note 15). Temporary restrictions on gifts to acquire long-lived assets are 
considered met in the period the assets are acquired or placed in service. 

CllSia Equivalents 

The University considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original 
maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents which are 
utilized within a managed investment ponfolio are accounted for as investments. 

Pledges Receivable 

Pledges receivable to the University are recognized as revenues in the period the promise 
is made by the donor. Pledges to be received after one year are discounted at an 
appropriate discount rate commensurate with the risks- involved. Amortization of the 
discount is recorded as additional contribution revenue in accordance with donor-imposed 
restrictions, if any, on the contributions. Contributions of assets other than cash are 
recorded at their estimated fair value. Conditional contributions to give are not 
recognized until the conditions on which they depend are substantially met. 

Inventories 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Cost is detennined by the first-in, 
first-out method. 

Investments 

Investments in real estate, oil and gas leases and royalty interests and annuities are stated 
at cost and all other investtnents are stated at fair market value. The net realized and 
unrealized gains and losses on investments are reflected in the statements of activities. 
Investment income is reported net of related investment expenses. 

(Continued) 
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REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Notes to Financial Statements 

·(S) Investments 

Investments at June 30 consist of the following (in thousands): 

1997 1996 
Cartying Cartying 

Cost value Cost value 

Cash and money market accounts s 4,927 4,927 2,895 2,895 
Corporate bonds 8.316 8,177 7,648 7,251 
U.S. government securities 17,987 17,701 23,710 22,806 
Mortgage-backed securities 10,573 10,467 6,280 6,087 
Common stock - domestic 94,382 216,009 91,436 136,707 
Common stock - foreign 24,653 30,065 23,818 25,212 
Real estate 275 275 275 275 
Oil and gas leases and royalty interest 80 80 92 92 
Annuities 78 78 n 77 
Other 48 37 48 37 

s 161.319 287.816 156.279 201,439 

The University•s investment strategy incorporates certain financial instruments which 
involve, to varying degrees, elements of market risk and credit risk. Management does 
not anticipate that losses resulting from its market or credit risks would materially affect 
the financial position of the University. 

Investment expenses netted against investment income on the statement of activities were 
$877,000 and $646,000 for the years ended June 30, 1997 and 1996, respectively. 

(6) Property, Plant and Equipment 

Property, plant and equipment at June 30 consist of the following (in thousands): 

1997 1996 
Land s 1,485 1,485 
Buildings and improvements 38,878 38,878 
Furniture and equipment 6,129 5,991 
Library books and materials 11,464 10,958 
Computer hardware and software 3,570 3,289 

61,526 60,601 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 20.894 18.448 

s 40.632 42,153 

(Continued) 
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REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Notes to Financial Statements 

{2) Related Party Transactions 

The University was charged $1,286,000 and $1,209,000 during fiscal years 1997 and 
1996, respectively, for various services performed by CBN and paid CBN an additional 
$1,262,000 and $1,349,000 in 1997 and 1996, respectively, for mortgage payments. The 
University also received cash support of $1,262,000 and $1,349,000 from CBN during 
fiscal years 1997 and 1996, respectively. · 

Three members of the University's Board ofTrustees are also members of the Board of 
Directors of CBN. 

{3) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents at June 30 consist of the following (in thousands): 

1997 1996 

Cash s 151 88 
Common fund • The Short Tenn Fund 159 694 
Money market accounts 2 

s 311 784 

(4) Pledges Receivable 

Pledges receivable at June 30, 1997 are expected to be received as follows (in thousands): 

By June 30, 1998 s 384 
By June 30, 2002 300 

684 
Less unamortized discount (33) 

s 651 

(Continued) 
256 



REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(8) Leases 

The University is obligated under various capital equipment leases that expire at various 
dates during the next three years. The assets capitalized under these agreements have a 
cost of $2,845,000 and related accumulated amortization of $1,063,000 and $759,000 at 
June 30, 1997 and 1996, respectively. Amortization for the years ended June 30, 1997 
and 1996 was $304,000. During the fiscal years ended June 30, 1997 and 1996, the 
interest cost related to capital leases was $78,000 and $133,000, respectively. 

Additionally, the University also leases certain office equipment under various 
noncancelable operating lease agreements that expire over the next four years. 

Future minimum lease payments under noncancelable operating leases and future 
minimum capital lease payments are as follows (in thousands): 

Capital Operating 
leases leases 

Year ending June 30,: 
1998 s 532 119 
1999 212 94 
2000 19 

Total minimum lease payments 744 s 232 

Less amount representing interest 39 

s 705 

Total rental expense for fiscal years 1997 and 1996 was $91,000 and $99,000, 
respectively. 

(9) Line of Credit Facility 

The University maintains a $15,000,000 line of credit facility that expires on January 1, 
1998. The managed investment portfolio of$123,078,000 has been pledged as collateral. 
The University pays a quarterly commitment fee of 1/8 of 1 °/o per annum on the unused 
portion of the credit facility and the Federal Funds or LIBOR rate plus 112% on the used 
portion. The outstanding balance under this line was $12,052,000 at J~e 30, 1997 and 
1996. The outstanding balance is due at expiration of the line of credit agreement 
During the fiscal ye:ll'S ended June 30, 1997 and 1996, the interest cost related to the line 
of credit facility was $724,000 and $621,000, respectively. 

(Continued) 
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REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(7) Mortgages Payable· 

Mortgages payable at June 30 consist of the following table: 

1997 1996 
Payable to CBN, interest at 1 0%; principal due in quarterly 

iDstallments of$217,000 plus interest through June 30, 
2001, when the remaining balance is due. The Ubrary 
building and land with a net book value of$9,240,000 are 
pledged as collateral. s 3,410 4,278 

Industrial Revenue Bond, Housing Phase I. interest at 9-3/4%; 
payable in equal monthly installments of $38,000 
including intercs~ through September 2006. The Phase I 
complex with a net book value of $3,252,000 is pledged as 
collateral. The University· is to maintain a compensating 
bank balance with the lender of at least S% of the average 
outstanding loan balance. 2,864 3,027 

First Virginia Bank. Housing Phase II, interest at 7-l/4%; 
payable in equal monthly installments of$42,000 including 
interes~ through September 2006. The Phase II complex 
with a net book value of$3,993,000 is pledged as collateral. 
The University is to maintain a compensating bank balance 
with the lender of at least 5% of the average outstanding loan 
balance. 3,414 3,664 

s 9,688 10,969 

Principal payments due are as follows (in thousands): 

Library IRB Phase ll 

1998 s 867 184 267 
1999 867 203 288 
2000 867 224 309 
2001 809 246 332 
2002 271 357 
Thereafter 1,736 1,861 

s 3,410 2,864 3,414 

During the fiscal years ended June 30,1997 and 1996 the interest costs incurred related to 
mortgages payable were $945,000 and $1,066,000, respectively. 
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REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(14) Permanently Restricted Net Assets 

(15) 

The amount included as pennanently restricted net assets at June 30 is to be held in 
perpetuity and the related income is to be used as follows (in thousands): 

1997 1996 

General operations $ 95,198 95,170 
Scholarships 3,120 2,661 
Loan funds 180 179 
Other 1.269 726 

' • $ 99,767 98,736 

Net Assets Released 

Net assets were released from donor restrictions by incurring expenses satisfying the 
restricted purpose or by the occurrence of other events specified by donors. Total net 
assets released were $2,249,000 and $2,506,000 for the years ended June 30, 1997 and 
1996, respectively. 

(16) Subsequent Event 

On August 1, 1997, the University sold all of its 4,214,000 shares of International Family 
Entertainment, Inc. Class B Stock for S35 per share or $147,501,000 to an unrelated 
organization. As a result, the University realized $66,902,000 of the $81,337,000 
unrealized gain recorded at June 30, 1997. The remainder of the unrealized gain recorded 
at June 30, 1997 relates to other investments. 
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REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(1 0) Pension Plan 

The University provides retirement benefits through a defined contribution plan adopted 
pursuant to Section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code. Regular full-time employees 
are eligible to participate in the plan after two years of employment. The plan allows 
employees and the University to make contributions. The University's total conttibutions 
for the years ended June 30, 1997 and 1996 were $508,000 and $307,000 at a rate of 7% 
and S% of eligible employees' base salaries, respectively. 

(11) Litigation, Claims and Assessments Pending 

In July 1995, fanner employees of the University filed an action in the Circuit Court of 
Virginia Beach alleging breach of contract and defamation. The outcome of this 
litigation is not currently predictable; however, the University intends to vigorously 
defend against these allegations. 

In addition, the University is from time to time subject to litigation and other matters 
arising from the nonnal course of operations. Management does not believe that the 
results of the above litigation and other pending legal proceedings will have a materially 
adverse effect on the University's fmancial condition. 

(12) Financial Instruments- Concentrations of Credit Risk 

At June 30, 1997 and 1996, the University had certain concentrations of credit risk in the 
fonn of cash and invesnnents which amounted to approximately $141,653,000 and 
$122,461,000, respectively. In addition, the University holds an investment in common 
stock in one domestic company with a fair market value of $144,867,000 and 
$77,965,000 at June 30, 1997 and 1996, respectively. If the investment managers failed 
to completely perfonn Wlder the terms of the financial instruments, the exposure for 
credit loss would be the amount of the financial instruments less amounts covered by 
regulatory and private insurance. 

(13) Temporarily Restricted Net Assets 

The amounts included as temporarily restricted net assets at· June 30 consist of the 
following (in thousands): 

1997 1996 

Scholarships s 5,033 3~80 

Annuity funds 51 54 
Other 102 172 

s 5.186 3,606 

(Continued) 
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KPMG Peat Marwick LLP 
2100 Oomimon Tower 

999 Waterside Onve 
Norfolk. VA 23510 

Independent Auditors' Report 

The Board of Trustees 
Regent University: 

We have audited the accompanying statement of finan~ial position of Regent University (the 
University) as of June 30, 1996, and the related statements of activities and cash flows for the 
year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the University's management. 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fmancial statements based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also 
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit 
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion. the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Regent University at June 30, 1996, and the changes in net assets and its cash 
flows for the year then ended in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. 

As discussed in note 1 to the fmancial statements, as of July L 1995. the University adopted the 
provisions of Statements of Financial Accounting Standards No. 116, Accounting for 
Contributions Received and Contributions Made, No. 117, Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit 
Organizations and No. 124, Accounting for Certain Investments Held by Not1or-Profit 
Organizations. 

August 20, 1996 
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REGEl"'T UNIVERSITY 

Statement of Financial Position 

1 une 30, 1996 

(dollars in thousands) 

Assets: 
Current assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents (notes 3 and 6) 
Accounts and loans receivable, less allowance 

for uncollectible accounts of S60 
Accrued investment income 
Inventories 
Preoaid exoenses and other assets 

Total current assets 

Investments (notes 4, 8 and 11) 
Procenv. olant and eauioment. net (notes 5. 6 and 7) 

Total assets 

Liabilities and Net Assets: 
Current liabilities: 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 
Line of credit facility (note 8) 
Current ponion of mongages payable (notes 2 and 6) 
Current oonion of cacitallease obli!!ations (note 7) 

Total current liabilities 

Mongages payable (notes 2 and 6) 
Capital lease obli2ations (note 7) 

Total liabilities 

Net assets: 
Unrestricted 
Temporarily restricted (note 12) 
PennanentJv restricted (note 13) 

Total net assets 

Commitments and contin2encies (notes 7 and 1 Ol 

Total liabilities and net assets 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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REGEN!' UNIVERSITY 

Statement of Activities 

Year ended June 30, 1996 

(dollars in thousands) 

Temporarily Pennanently 
Unrestricted resaicted resaicted 

net assets net assetS net assetS Total 
Revenues: 

Tuition and fees: 
Gross tuition and fees s 10.939 10.939 
Institutional scholarships (2.983) (2.983\ 

Tuition and fees, net 7,956 7,956 

Private gifts 611 742 41 1.394 
Connibutions from Christian Broadcasting Network (note 2) 1.349 1,349 

Investment income, net (note 4) 3,676 176 1 3,853 
Realized gains on invesonentS. net 10.621 358 3 10.98:! 
Unrealized gains on invesanents, net 24.287 665 24,952 
Auxiliary services 2.151 2.151 
Other sources 358 2 360 
Net assets released from restrictions (note·14) 2.506 (2.506) 

Total revenues 52.166 784 47 52.99i 

Expenses: 
Educationa1andgener.ll: 

Instruction 8,709 8,709 
Academic support 2.131 2.131 
Student services 541 541 
Institutional support 4,670 4,670 
Operation and maintenance of plant 1.428 1.428 
Depr=:iation and amortization 2,430 2.430 
Interest on indebtedness 1.236 1.236 

Total educational and general 21.145 21,145 

Auxiliary services: 
General 987 987 
Interest on indebtedness 584 584 

Total auxiliary services 1.571 1.571 

Total expenses 22.716 22.716 

Changes in net assets 29,450 784 47 30,281 

Net assets at be2innin2 of vear. as restated (note ll 87.52S 2.822 98,689 189.036 

Net assets at end of year s 116.975 3,606 98,736 219.317 

See accompanying notes to fmancial statements. 
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REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Statement of Cash Flows 

Year ended June 30, 1996 

(dollars in thousands) 

Cash flows from operating activities: 
Changes in net assets 
Adjusunents to reconcile changes in net assets to 

net cash used in operating activities: 
Depreciation and amortization 
Contributions of invesanents 
Gain on disposal of property and equipment 
Realized gain on sales of invesanenES, net 
Unrealized gain on investments. net 
Permanently reStricted conuibutions. investment income. net and realized gains 
Payments on gift annuities 
Gift for payment of mortgages payable 
Changes in assets and liabilities: 

Accounts and loans receivable 
Accrued invesunent income 
Inventories 
Prepaid expenses and omer assets 
Accounts oavable and accrued exoenses 

Total adjustments 

Net cash used in ooeratin~ activities 

Cash flows from investing activities: 
Purchases of propeny and equipment 
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 
Purchases of investments 
Proceeds from sales of investments 

Net cash used in investin2 activities 

Cash flows from financing activities: 
Gift for payment of mortgages payable 
Proceeds from line of credit facility 
Payments on mortgages payable 
Payments on capital lease obligations 
Payments on gift annuities 
PennanentJv resuicted conaibutions. investment income. net and realized ~air.s 

Net cash provided bv financin~ activities 

Net decrease in cash 

Cash and cash eauivalents at be2innin~ of vear 

Cash and cash eQuivalents at end of year 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information: 
Cash paid for interest 
Conttibuuons of investments 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Notes to Fmancial Swements 

June 30, 1996 

( 1) Nature of Operations and Significant Accounting Policies 

Regent University (the University) is a nonstock. nonprofit graduate educational institution 
established in 1977. The University is accredited by the Southern Association of Colleges 
and Schools. The University presently includes the College of Communication and the 
Ans~ School of Business, School of Counseling and Human Services, School of Divinity. 
School of Education, School of Government and School of Law. 

The University derives a ponion of its suppon from the Christian Broadcasting Network 
(CBN). The affairs of the University are governed by a Board of Trustees. The election of 
individual trustees and the selection of the University's Chainnan of the Board is made by a 
majority vote of the Directors of CBN. 

Basis of Presentation 

The financial statements of the University have been prepared on the accrual basis of 
accounting. 

These financial statements have been prepared to focus on the University as a whole and to 
present balances and transactions according to the existence or absence of donor-imposed 
restrictions. This has been accomplished by classification of fund balances and 
transactions into three classes of net assets: unrestricted, temporarily restricted or 
permanently restricted. 

Net assets and revenues. gains and losses. are classified based on the existence or absence 
of donor-imposed restrictions. Accordingly, net assets and changes therein are classified 
as follows: 

Unrestricted net assets - Net assets not subject to donor-imposed 
restrictions. 

Temporarily resnicted net assets - Net assets subject to donor-imposed 
stipulations that may or will be met by actions of the University and/or the 
passage of time. 

Pennanently restticted net assets - Net assets subject to donor-imposed 
stipulations that neither expire by passage of time nor can be fulfilled or 
otherwise removed by actions of the University. 

Revenues are reported as increases in the unrestricted net assets unless use of the related 
assets is limited by donor-imposed restrictions. Expenses are reported as decreases in 
unrestricted net assets. Expirations of temporary restrictions on net assets (i.e., the donor­
stipulated purpose has been fulfilled and/or the stipulated time period has elapsed) are 
reponed as reclassifications from temporarily restricted net assets to unrestricted net assets 
(see note 14 ). Temporary restrictions on gifts to acquire long-lived assets are considered 
met in the period the assets are acquired or placed in service. 

(Continued) 
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REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Notes to Fmancial Statements 

( 1) Continued 

On July 1, 1995, the University adopted the provisions of Statements of Fmancial 
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 116, Accounting for Contributions Received aJui 
Contributions Made, No. 117, Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Organiztztions and 
No. 124, Accounting for Certain Investments Held by Not-for-Profit Organizations. The 
fund balances at July L 1995 have been restated to confonn to the new standards. The 
adoption resulted in the reclassification of the fund balances to net asset classes as follows 
(in thousands): 

Reclassifications in accordance wilh SFAS No. 117: 
Cumntfunds 
Loan funds 

Endowment and similar funds 
Annuity/life income funds 

Plant funds 
Adoption of SFAS No. 124 (to adjust cenain investments 

to market value) 

To&al restated net assets at Julv I. 1995 

Cash Equivalents 

Unrestriaed 

s 2.260 
159 

35.572 

29.957 

19.577 

s 87.525 

Temporarily PennanentJy 
restricted restricted 

753 270 
177 

1.382 98.:~0 

58 

629 2 

2.822 98.689 

The University considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity 
of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents which are utilized within a 
managed investment portfolio are accounted for as invesunents. 

Investments 

Invesunents in real estate, oil and gas leases and royalty interest and annuities are stated at 
cost and all other investtnents are stated at fair market value. The net realized and 
unrealized gains and losses on investments are reflected in the statement of activities. 
Invesnnent income is reponed net of related investment expenses. 

Financial Instruments 

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, accounts and loans receivable and 
accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value because of the short maturity 
of these financial instruments. The carrying amount of the investments that are considered 
to be fmancial instruments is fair market value (see note 4). In addition, the fair value of 
line of credit facility, mortgages payable and capital lease obligations approximate carrying 
amount as the related interest rates approximate market rates. 
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REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Notes to Fmancial Swements 

( 1) Continued 

Inventories 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market Cost is determined by the first-in. 
first-out method. 

Property, Plant and Equipment 

Property. plant and equipment is stated at the cost of the asset acquired or fair value at the 
date of donation in the case of gifts. Depreciation is computed under the straight-line 
method over estimated remaining useful lives of 45 years for buildings and improvements, 
five to 10 years for furniture and equipment. 15 years for library books and materials and 
three to seven years for computer hardware and software. 

Income Taxes 

The University has been recognized by the Internal Revenue Service as tax-exempt under 
section 50l(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. 

Use of Estimates 

Management of the University has made a number of estimates and assumptions relating to 
the reponing of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
and the reponed amounts of revenues and expenses to prepare these fmancial statements in 
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. Actual results could differ from 
those estimates. 

( 2) Related Party Transactions 

The University was charged S 1 ,209,000 during fiscal year 1996 for various services 
performed by CBN and paid CBN an additional S 1,349,000 for mortgage payments. The 
University also received cash suppon of$1,349,000 from CBN during fiscal year 1996. 

Three members of the University's Board of Trustees are also members of the Board of 
Directors of CBN. 

( 3) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents at June 30. 1996 consist of the following (in thousands): 

Cash 
Common fund ·The Short Term Fund 
Monev market accounts 
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REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Notes to Fmancial Statements 

(4) Investments 

Investments at June 30, 1996 consist of the following (in thousands): 

Cmying 
Cost value 

Cash and money market accounts s 2.895 2.895 
Corporate bonds 7.648 7.:!51 
U.S. government securities 23.710 22.806 
Mortgage-backed securities 6.280 6.087 
Common stoc:lc - domestic 91.436 136.707 
Common stock - foreign 23.818 25.212 
Real estate 275 275 
Oil and gas leases and royalty interest 92 92 
Annuities n 77 
Other 48 37 

s 156.279 201.439 

The University's investment strategy incorporates cenain financial instruments which 
involve, to varying degrees. elements of market risk and credit risk. Management does not 
anticipate that losses resulting from its market or credit risks would materially affect the 
financial position of the University. 

Invesunent expenses netted against investment income on the statement of activities were 
$646.000 for the year ended June 30, 1996. 

(5) Property, Plant and Equipment 

Property, plant and equipment at 1 une 30, 1996 consist of the following (in thousands): 

L1nd s 1.485 
Buildings and improvements 38.878 
Furniture and equipment 5.991 
Libmy books and nwerials 10.958 
Comouter hard~ and soft~ 3.289 

60.601 
Less accumulated dem'eciation and amoniz:uion 18.J48 

s 42.153 
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REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Notes to Fmancial Statements 

(6) Mortgages Payable 

Mortgages payable at June 30, 1996 consist of the following (in thousands): 

Payable to CBN. inECre:St at lOCK,; principal due in quanerly 
insWlmenu of $217.000 plus incerest through June 30. 
200 I, when tbe remaining balance is due. The libmy 
building and land with a net book value of S9 .532.000 are 
pledged as collaleral. 

Industrial Revenue Bond. Housing Phase I. interest at 9-3/4%: 
payable in equal monthly insWJmcnts of SJS.OOO 
including interest. through Scp~embcr 2006. The Phase I 
complex with a net book value of SJ.JSJ.OOO is pledged as 
collateral. The University is to maintain a compensating 
bank balance with the lender of at least S% of the average 
outstanding loan balance. The loan is guaranteed by CBN. 

First Virginia Bank, Housing Phase II. interest at 7-114~; 
payable in equal monthly installments of $42.000 including 
intereSt. through September 2006. The Phase II complex 
with a net book value of ~.092.000 is pledged as collalerill. 
The University is to mainwn a compensating bank balance 
with the lender of at least S% of the average outstanding loan 
balance. The loan is gu:sranu:ed bv CBN. 

Principal payments due are as follows (in thousands): 

1997 
1998 
1999 
2000 
2001 
~ 

s 

s 

RcaJ estate 
l.!br.srv IRB 

867 167 
867 ISS 
867 203 
867 224 
810 247 

2.001 

4.278 3.027 

s 4.~78 

3.027 

J 664 

s 10.969 

Phase II 
249 
268 
288 
309 
332 

2.218 

3.664 

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 1996 the interest cost incurred re1aied to mortgages 
payable was $1,066.000. 

(Continued) 
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REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Notes to Fmancial Statements 

(7) Leases 

The University is obligated under various capital equipment leases that expire at various 
dates during the next three years. The assets capitalized under these agreements have a cost 
of $2,845,000 and related accumulated amortization of $759,000 at June 30, 1996. 
Amortization for the year ended June 30, 1996 was $304,000. During the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 1996, the interest cost related to capital leases was $133,000. 

Additionally, the University also leases certain office equipment under various 
noncancelable operating lease ~crreements that expire over the next four years. 

Future minimum lease payments under noncancelable operating leases and future minimum 
capital lease payments are as follows (in thousands): 

Capital Operating 
le3..~es IC~Ses 

Y=r ending June 30.: 
1997 s 586 82 
1998 532 46 
1999 212 17 
2000 7 

Total minimum lease payments 1.330 s 152 -
Less amount reprcscntine: interest 117 

s 1.213 

Total rental expense for fiscal year 1996 was $99,000. 

(8) Line of Credit Facility 

(9) 

The University secured a $15,000,000 line of credit facility on April1. 1994 that expires 
on January 1, 1997. The managed investment portfolio of $122,461,000 has been 
pledged as collateral. The University pays a quarterly commiunent fee of 1/8 of 1% per 
annum on the unused ponion of the credit facility and the Federal Funds or LIBOR rate 
plus 1/2% on the used ponion. The outstanding balance under this line was $12,052,000 
as of June 30, 1996. The outstanding balance at June 30, 1996 is due at expiration of the 
line of credit agreement During the fiScal year ended June 30, 1996, the interest cost 
related to the line of credit facility was $621,000. 

Pension Plan 

The University provides retirement benefits through a defined contribution plan adopted 
pursuant to Section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code. Regular full-time employees are 
eligible to panicipate in the plan after two years of employment. The plan allows 
employees and the University to make contributions. The University's total contributions, 
at a rate of 5% of eligible employees' base salaries. were $307,000 for the year ended 
June 30, 1996. 

(Continued) 
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REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Notes to Fmancial Statements 

( 1 0) Litigation, Claims and Assessments Pending 

In July 1994, a fomler employee of the University filed an action in the Circuit Coun of 
Virginia Beach alleging breach of contract, defamation, civil conspiracy and tenuous 
interference with contract. The outcome of this litigation is not currently predictable; 
however, the University intends to vigorously defend against these allegations. 

In addition. the University is from time to time subject to litigation and other matters arising 
from the normal course of operations. Management does not believe that the results of the 
above litigation and other pending legal proceedings will have a materially adverse effect on 
the University's financial condition. 

( 11) Financial Instruments • Concentrations of Credit Risk 

At June 30, 1996, the University had certain concentrations of credit risk in the form of 
cash and investments which amounted to approximately Sl22A6I.OOO. In addition. the 
University holds an investment in common stock in one domestic company with a fair 
market value of $77,965,000 at June 30, 1996. If the investment managers failed to 
completely perform under the tenns of the financial instruments. the exposure for credit 
loss would be the amount of the fmancial instruments less amounts covered by regulatory 
and private insurance. 

( 12) Temporarily Restricted Net Assets 

The amounts included as temporarily restricted net assets at June 30, 1996 consist of the 
following (in thousands): 

Scholarships 
Annuity funds 
Ocher 

( 13) Permanently Restricted Net Assets 

s 3.380 
54 

172 

s 3.606 

The amount included as permanently restricted net assets at June 30, 1996 is to be held in 
perpetuity and the related income is to be used as follows (in thousands): 

Gcncr.U operations 
Scholarships 
Loan funds 
Other 
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S 9S.170 
2.661 

179 
726 

s 98.736 
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REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Nares to Fmancial Statements 

(14) Net Assets Released 

Net assets were released from donor restrictions by inctnring expenses satisfying the 
restricted purpose or by the occurrence of other events specified by donors. Total net 
assets released were $2.506.000 for the year ended June 30. 1996. 
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Schedule 
REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Combining Statements of Financial Position 

June 30, 1997 and 1996 

(dollars in thousands) 

1997 
Temporarily Permanently 

Unrestricted Resaicted Restricted Total 
Assets: 

Current assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents s 103 171 37 311 
Accounts and loans receivable, less allowance 

for uncollecnole accounts of $89 206 206 
Pledges receivable 30 354 384 
Accrued invesuncnt income 555 18 573 
Inventories 240 240 
Prepaid expenses and other assets 223 223 

Totalc:mrentassets 1,327 219 391 1,937 

Pledges receivable 267 267 
Investments 183,644 5,063 99,109 287,816 
Property, plant and eguipment. net 40.632 40.632 

Total 3Ssets s 225.603 5.282 99,767 330,652 

Liabilities and Net Assets: 
Current liabilities: 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses ~532 96 2,628 
Current portion of mortgages payable 1,318 1,318 
Current portion of capital lease obligations 504. 504 
Line of credit facility 12.052 12,052 

Total current liabilities 16,406 96 16,502 

Mortgages payable 8,370 8,370 
Capital lease obligations 201 201 

Total liabilities 24,977 96 25,073 

Net assets: 
Unrestricted 200,626 200,626 
Temporarily restricted 5,186 5,186 
Pennanently restricted 99,767 99,767 

Total net assets 200,626 5,186 99,767 305,579 

Commianents. contingencies and subsequent event 

Total liabilities and net assets s 225,603 5.282 99,767 330,652 

(Continued) 

275 



Schedule, Continueu 
REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Combining Statements of Financial Position, Continued 

(dollars in thousands) 

1996 
Temporarily Permanently 

Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total 
Assets: 

Cwrent assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents s 584 165 35 78· 
Accounts and loans receivable, less allowance 

for uncollecnble accounts of S60 247 24 ... 
Acaued investment income 633 21 65· 
Inventories 279 27'7 
Prepaid expenses and other assets 278 278 

Total current assets 2,021 186 35 ~4: 

Investments 99.226 3,512 98,701 201,43~ 

Property, plant and equipment. net 42,153 42,15: 

Total assets s 143,400 3,698 98,736 245,834 

Liabilities and Net Assets: 
Current liabilities: 

Accounts payable and acaued expenses 2,191 92 2,283 
Cunent ponion of mongages payable 1,283 1,28: 
Cunent portion of capital lease obligations 511 SL 
Line of credit facility 12,052 12,052 

Total current liabilities 16,037 92 16,12~ 

Mongages payable 9,686 9,686 
Capital lease obligations 702 70~ 

Total liabilities 26,425 92 26,517 

Net assets: 
Unrestricted 116,975 116,975 
Temporarily restticted 3,606 3,606 
Permanently restricted 98,736 98,73( 

Total net assets 116,975 3,606 98,736 219,317 

Commitments, contingencies and subs~uent event 

Total liabilities and net assets s 143,400 3,698 98,736 245,834 
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REGENT UNIVERSITY (98132.00) 
OUTLINE SPECIFICATION 

March 12, 1999 
Bansal & Associates. Inc. 

Dmitad to, fire alarm control panel, fire graphic annundatcr panel, and 
interconnections to aD devices or equipment. induding but not Dmited to, such items 
as elevator recall, sprinkler flow and tamper switches, emergency generator, fire 
pump. and monitcring devices. 
lndude required smoke detectcrs, duct detectors, heat detectors, pull stations, 
strobe lights, audible devices, and ather devices. Fire alarm system shaJI comply 
with Americans with OisabiDties Ad.. 

9. Telecommunications: 
· Two (2) 4• conduits from service entrance to main telephone dcset. Closet shall be 

large enough to accommodate fiber optics backbone system. 
• Backbcatds as required. 

10. Emergency Generator: For fire pump, rife safety, and ~evator. 
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PROJECT NARRATIVE: 
REGENT UNIVERSITY 
COLLEGE OF COMMUNICATION 
AND TilE ARTS BUILDING 

nac College of Communlcallon and the Arts Is a facUlty for 
ltcgcnl University that will house all functional areas required 
of the College as well as the atudenl union. computer sea·vlces. 

· a bookstore, • and muiU-usc offices. The facility is 
llllJU·oxim~tlcly 12S,OUU sea. fl. and its key clements arc an 800-
scau theater; I SO-seal cxpcrlmentaltheoler; cinema-television 
aunduclion studio; film sound stage; misccllameous technica1 
1tutlios; teaching labs, as well as the theater suaJJUU1 sa1accs 
which are auemlant to an 800-scat legitimate theater. 

nac building will assume a prominent place along a new 
entrance boulevard thai will reurientltcgenl University from lis 
11resent, smuewhul confusing, shared entrance with CIIN's 
Cur1•nru1c llcBd'luarters and will be a clomimml clement in the 
new ltegenl Unlvcrsily. mall which will center visually and 
functionally on Its very signlfi~antlibrary. 

~"" D n - ·- ",,,. 

·:· 
t· 

·.t 

n.c architecture will bo conslstenl wllh lbc Oeoralan alylc 
which dominates the entire campua bul will bo distinctive In 
expressing itself as a stale-of-the-art comalloa. I1Aiklng for 
opproximutcly 600 vehicles will be orscmlzcd bclalnd the 
building and will provide covered access to aecondary 
enlrunccs leading to the major assembly of llac building. 

11ac film and television studio, sound stage, dance and practice 
studios ond the sci design and •1•ack atage" areas wlll be l,h,cecl 
In a "back lot" area connected lo tile alalcly bulldlns boualng 
the theater leaching areas and faculty arcaa and will be used as 
stage sets lo indoor and outdoor Riming of various kinds which 
l!i un lmamrtanl 11art of the educational experience al this slale­
of·llae-url instituliun. Character sketches of lho theater amlthe 
exterior uf the building as well as schematic lloor a•lans have 
been included to ex1ness the 111ajor features of this line 
graduate leaclaing cuma•lex. 



REGENT UNIVERSITY {98132.00) 
OUTLINE SPECIFICA TJON 

3. Ductwork: 
In accordance with SMACNA, latest edition. 
No greater than five-to-one aspect ratio for any duct. 

March .12, 1999 
Bansal & Associat~s, Inc. 

Minimum 4" static construction for ductwcrk from air handfing equipment to VAV 
tenninaJs. Size ducts in acccrdance with SMACNA requirements when within 50 feet 
of an air handfing equipment. 
r static construction fer dudwcrk beyond VAV terminals. 
Return and exhaust ductwork r construction. Size ducts in accordance with 
SMACNA requirements when within 50 feet of aD fans. Vibration isolation curbs or 
dunnage far all roof mounted equipment. 
Dampers, plenum boxes, retum air transfer ducts, outside air grilles, fire dampers, 
and smoke dud detectors as required. 
Sound attenuated Z offset return air transfer ducts at core/lobby/demised premises 
walls. 

4. Insulation: 
Une aU supply dud with 1" acoustical finer except first 25 feet shall be fined with 2" 
Uner. 

· All return dud shaD be fined with 1" acaustical Uner. 

5. Rooftop Unit: 
Packaged rooftop unit with gas heat, economizer cooling, and variable frequency 
drive for air modulation. 
Spring isolators on the roof curb. 

6. VAVTerminals: 
Fan powered parallel type with electric heating ccU. 
NC 40 criteria. 
Minimum one fan powered VAV per column bay for perimeter zones (considered to 
be within 12 feet of perimeterwafO. See plan layouts for interior zones. Total quantity 
of VAV tenninals shall be no less than 1 per 900 rentable square feet. 

7. Diffusers/Return Air Grilles: 
lndudect in typical floor lobbies and core areas only. 
Quantity and type (multi-directional airflow) as required for proper air distribution. 

· · .. Flex dud shall not be greater than 8 feet in length and no stovepipe extensions from 
branch dud are allowed. 

8. DOC Automatic Temperature Control/Building Energy Management System: . 
· Thermostat with control wiring at each VAV terminal. 

Provide color monitor and printer. 
DOC control and status of VAV tenninals. 
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REGENT UNIVERSITY (98132.00) 
OUTLJNE SPECIFICATION 

DCC control and status of all equipment 

March 12, 1999 
Bansal & Associates, Inc. 

• Distributed intelfigence for "plug-in" readout of any system point. 
Central man-machine interface. 
Certified air and water balance. 

ELECTRICAL 

1. Design Criteria: 
· Service capacity: As required by HVAC and electrical loads as detailed in this outline 

specification with 25% spare capacity. 
In accordance with NEC and locaJ codes. 

2. Utility service into building from exterior pad mounted service transformer via concrete 
encased ductbank as required by Virginia Power. 

3. Switchboard: 
• 480/277V, 4 wire, 3 phase, circuit breaker type main switchboard with distribution 

sections. 
Switchboard to have aluminum bus. 

4. Wiring and Raceways: 
· All copper wiring. 

EMT raceways. Raceways in slabs may be Schedule 40 PVC. 
· Armored cable with ground wire allowed for normal branch circuits as allowed by 

NEC. 

5. Distribution: 
Conduit and wire risers. 

· Typical floor electrical dosets: 
Twelve (10) watts per square foot available in doset for fighting, normal 
power, and office technolcgy use. 
One (1) per 15,000 square feet, or portion thereof. 
480/277V fighting panel(s). 
1201208V receptade panel(s). 
K-1 rated isolation transformer for receptade loads in doset. 

Mechanical system loads, including VAVs, separated from office technology loads. 

6. Ughting for general illumination shall be generally fluorescent 'Z x 4' parabolic troffers in 
finished areas and 2'x4' in non-finished areas. Wall-pack HIOs shall be provided on exterior 
wall to Hluminate immediate areas around the building. 

1. Emergency lighting circuits for emergency and exit fights as required in corridors and large 
common areas and entrances. 

8. Fire Alarm System: 
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REGENT UNIVERSITY {98132.00) 
OUTLINE SPECIFICATION 

PLUMBING 

1. Piping: 

March 12. 1999 
Bansal & Associates, Inc. 

Below grade sanitary and storm: Hub type cast iron with neoprene gasket joints. 
Above grade sanitary and storm: PVC with no-hub coupfings. 
Domestic water: Type L copper tube. 
Insulation: Fiberglass insulation with vapor jacket or elastomeric insulation on all 
domestic water piping; fiberglass insulation with vapor barrier jacket on aJI storm 
drainage piping and roof drain sumps. 
Natural gas: Steel pipe and fittings with threaded or welded joints. 

2. FIXtures: 
Comply with Americans with Disabirrties Act 
Floor outlet water dosets and wall hung urinals with chrome flush valves. 
Self-rimming oval lavatories with two lever chrome faucets and fixed drain strainers. 
Dual-level (Hille) electric water coolers. 

3. Equipment 
Electric water heaters, 50 gallons storage capacity on every other floor. 140 degrees 
F domestic hot water to catering kitchen, 110 degrees F domestic hot water to toilet 
rooms through "high/low" water temperature-mixing valve. 
In-line circulating pumps for 140 degrees F and 110 degrees F domestic hot water 
circulation, 1/4 horsepower each. 
Duplex domestic water booster pumps with pressure maintenance tank. 

4. Drains: 
Cast iron floor drains with trap primers in toilet and fire pump rooms. 
Cast iron roof drains with large diameter domes on main roof. 
Cast iron roof drains with flat strainers below raised paving system on roof terrace. 

5. Wet stack for future improvements with valves and connections to domestic water supply, 
waste, and vent lines on each floor. 

FIRE PROTECTION 

1. Design: 
Complete standpipe and sprinkler protection in accordance with NFPA and local 
authority for light hazard and ordinary hazard occupancies, including fire service, fire 
pump, pressure maintenance pump, automatic sprinklers, fire standpipe supply and 
drain risers, and sprinkler flow and tamper devices interconnected to the building fire 
alarm system. 
Shop draWings and hydraulic calculations by sprinkler contrador. 
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OUTLINE SPECIFICATION 

2. Pipe and Frttings: 

March 12, 1999 
Bansal & Associates, Inc. 

Underground: Ductile iron pipe and fittings conforming to A 'N'NA standards. 
Interior. Steel pipe and fittings conforming to NFPA 13 and NFPA 14. 

3. Sprinkler Heads: 
Main lobby, elevator lobbies, auditorium, and solarium: ConceaJed with white 
coverplates located in nominal center of tile. 
Office and service areas: Recessed, chrome-plated sprinklers located in nominal 
center of tile. 

4. Provide fire hose valves within each exit stair. 

5. Provide extemal fire department inlet and fire pump test connections. 

1. System Performance: 
Outdoor conditions: Per ASHRAE guidelines 90 and 62 (2-1/2% outdoor criteria). 
Indoor conditions: 

Winter: 72 degrees DB 
Summer. 75 degrees DB 
Provide humidification per floor 

lntemal heat gain based: 
1 person per 150 square feet 
Lighting load at 2 watts per square foot 
Equipment load of 8 watts per square foot. Cooling load based on 25o/o 
diversity fader. 

NC 40 in all office spaces. Provide suund attenuatcrs, sound lining, and reduced air 
velocity as required. 
Ventilation minimum: 20 cfm per person for office areas. 50 cfm per person for 
conference areas. 
Separate, duded exhaust systems for conference rooms (offset and sound 
attenuated), toilet rooms, kitchens, and telephone and electrical rooms. 
Air or water side economizer. 
Variable speed drives on all VAV fan motors. 
Filtering: Minimum 35°A» efficiency, based on ASHRAE Standard 52 fer all supply air 
systems. 
HV AC systems shall in dude all energy conservation or energy cost redudion 
features. 

2. Piping and Valves: 
Hydronic piping: Schedule 40 black steel or Type K copper. 
Frttings, welded, screwed, or mechanical coupling (steel) or soldered (copper). 
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March 12. 1999 
Rust Orting and Neale, Architects 

• Structural reinforcement and framing required for building systems such as 
HVAC equipment induding but not limited to roaf top units and screening. 
Provide steel angle framing fer mechanical openings and floor penetrations. 

• Steel angle supports fer ceiling mounted projectors in all classrooms. 

ROOFING AND WATERPROOFING 

1. Roof: 
• Fully ballasted ECPM with 60-mil thick membrane on rigid Styrofoam board. 

Positive slope to drain. 
• Maximum U fador: 0.05 BTU/hrlsf/F. 
• Minimum 10 year manufacturer's warranty. 
• Strudural reinforcement to support HVAC gear/components and Tenant 

specialty items, induding but not Dmited to, satellite dish(es) and antennae(s). 
• Pitch pockets and other weathertight flashing for all roof penetrations. 
• Weathertight access hatch and ladder. 
• Rain leaders as required with debris guards. 

2. Waterproofing: 
• Bituminous damproofing and waterproofing on below grade foundation walls 

around elevator and sump pits, as recommended by the geotechnical 
engineering reports. 

EXTERIOR WALL 

1. Performance: 
• · Maximum thermal transmission U-value shall not exceed 0.33. 
• Maximum buDding 01iV: Per BOCA Energy Code requirements. 
• All exterior walls shall be provided with vapor protection. 

2. Wall assembly: 
• Brick on Brick wall construction at freestanding applications (terrace waiQ. 

Typical wall construction to be brick veneer with metal stud back-up 
composite wall assembly. Support brick on shelf angles en upper floors as 
required by design. Punched windows configured in the Georgian 
architectural style compatible with Old Town Alexandria with precast lintels 
and sOls. EFIS or brick surrounds at first floor windows (see detail drawing) 
with precast keystone and special shape brick. Provide fiberglass ccmices at 
second, fifth and roof elevations. Steel angle or beam Untels as required. 
Plastic flashing above aq openings. Masonry anchors and joint reinforcement 
as required. 

• Batt, rigid and safing insulation's with R-values as required by ASHRAE 90.1-
1989. 
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OUTLINE SPECIFICATION 

PARKING 

• Parking spaces provided on adjacent structure. 

FOUNDAnONS/STRUCTURE 

1. Foundation System: 

Marcn 12. 1999 
Rust Orting and Neate, Architects 

• Per Geotechnical report by ECS, Ud., dated Odober 19, 1988 and 
subsequent review on Odober 1997. 

• Existing site if covered by fill materials. All fill and debris shall be excavated 
to minimum five feet (5') below Ground Level. Depth excavated shall follow 
the elevation contour of the Ground Level. 

• Perimeter foundation and underground drainage system shaJI follow 
Geotechnical recommendations. 

• Cantilevered grade beams shall be used to support building columns located 
along existing building to the east or lower footing to level of existing building. 

2. Strudure: 
• Minimum 4" reinforced slab on grade over vapor barrier with a· gravel 

subbase. 
• Polyethylene vapor barrier below slab and rigid insulation at below grade 

perimeter to achieve minimum R-value of 9.0. 
• Strudural steel columns, beams and bar joist with metal decks for roof and 

floor framing consisting of 4" nominal thickness, poured-in-place composite 
concrete slabs. 

• Slab-to-slab height adequate to allow at a minimum nine foot (9') dear ceiling 
height A.F.F. on all floors unless otherwise noted. The first and second floors 
have a higher ceiling design based on the final building design. Slab-to-slab 
heights shall be15'-0" @ 1• & ~floors to accommodate Auditorium and 
Ledure Hall; 13'-0.@ 3"' & 4" floors and 15'-o·@ 5"' floor to accommodate 
Solarium. Structural system shall accommodate a ceiling plenum sufficient to 
for all ducting. plumbing. lighting, and fire controls. cabling and electrical 
wiring with minimal beam penetrations. The desired minimum ceRing height 
for first floor office areas and special purpose areas to be 11'..0" dear. 

• Structural bay typically 30'x30' except in designated areas. These areas are 
defined as the Auditorium on the first floor and the lecture Hall on the second 
floor. where dear spans with no vertical obstruction are required. 

• 4000 psi concrete (28 day strength). Floor slabs (on grade and elevated) to 
be trowel finished to a smooth and dense top surface finish, except in areas 
where non-slip finish is required. Ftoor flatness and levelness shall meet or 
exceed the highest ACI specifications for the appropriate dassification of 
concrete slabs {i.e .. office). 

• Office Area loading capacity: SO psf live load + 20 psf dead = 1 00 psf total. 
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REGENT UNIVERSITY (99-002) 
OUTLINE SPECIFICATION 

March 12. 1999 
Rust Orting and Neale, Architects 

• Provide·double 3'-0. x a· -a· flush design 1%· inches thick, properly anchored 
and reinforced for the finished hardware, exterior doors seamless steel 
construction. 

• Exterior doors SDI-100, Grade Ill, extra heavy-duty, model2, minimum 16 
gauge faces. 

• All doors will be primed with rust-inhibitive baked on enamel, suitable as a 
base fer specified finished paint. 

• U.L. Labels: Provide U.L. label doors where required fer fire rating. 

6. Wood Doors: 
• Six-foot eight-inch (6'-8·) Solid core stain grade birch veneer wood doors with 

hollow metal frames (KD frames typical, welded frames fer 2 hour B label 
door assembfies) for all core doors. Mortise hardware and locksets as 
required by code and Tenant 

• Six-foot eight-inch (6'-8•) Solid core stain grade birch veneer wood doors with 
hollow metal frames at first floor loCations. 

7. Hardware for all doors as required: 
• All hardware to be_ style and compliant with ADA. 
• Locking devises and closers to be furnished and installed for all exits, 

stairwell, electric/telephone rooms, restroom doors. (Locksets will be a 
Schlage •L • series or approved equal). 

• Provide magnetic hold opens where required by code. 
• Heavy duty mortise hardware and locksets will be required on all entrance 

doors to tenant spaces and as by code. (Locksets will be a Schlage ·L· series 
or approved equal). 

INTERIOR FINISHES 

1. Main Lobby (All finishes shall be a higher grade than the upper floor lobbies and the 
final finishes shall be to the extent the budget for the main lobby will allow). 

• 1• floor office area finished ceiling height to be a minimum eleven feet (11') 
A.F.F. 

• Upgraded flooring, Marble border and base around perimeter of lobby. 
Marble tile inset for reminder of lobby areas. Carpet with pad may be 
installed as insets for soft seating areas. Assume S27 per square yard. 

• Specialty finish ( drywail, reveals, wall covering) walls and base. 
• Specialty lighting (wall washing, pendants, sconces, indirect, cove, etc.). 
• Vaulted Gypsum board ceiling dropped soffit with 2x4 ACT acoustical tile infill 

panels and cove lighting. 
• Six-foot eight-inch (6' -a·) Solid core stain grade birch veneer wood doors with 

hollow metal frames (KC frames typical, welded frames for 2 hour 8 label 
door assemblies) for all core doors. Mortise hardware and locksets as 
required by code and Tenant. 
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OUTLINE SPECIFICA TJON 

March 12. 1999 
Rust Or1ing and Neale, Architects 

• Interior side of exterior wan assembly (sills, column endosures) shan be 
drywalled, taped spackJed and readied for painting to a· above ceiling line. 

3. Glass and Glazing: 
• Window types consist of the following: (EFCO commercial series) 

• Heavy Commercial Projected Foced windows 
3'-4• X 8'-0• with palladium transom at first floor. 

• Heavy Commercial Single Hung tilt sash windows 
3'-4. x r-a· at second floor. 
3'-4. x e·-a· at third and fourth floors. 

• Heavy Commercial Projected Casement windows 
3' -a· x 4' -a· at fifth floor Dinning/Conference room and Solarium 
areas. Forty-two (4T) sill height 

• Storefront system 
4'-0• x a· -a· extruded Aluminum and glass system with thermal 
break on a· curb at fifth floor Solarium. Provide 3' -o· x 7' -a· 
aluminum and glass ently door. Insulated tempered glass panels 
as required by code. 

• Typical thirty inch (30.) sill height. 
• Horizontal and vertical muntins (see elevations for pattern). 
• 1• thick insulated glass with %. air gap and thennally broken mullion system. 
• r custom aluminum trim package with special shapes (Trim-AU replacement 

window series). 
• Kynar 500 or equal fadory finish on exposed aluminum mullions. sills, etc. 
• Performance: 

• Maximum glass thermal transmission U-value: 0.30 BTU/hr/sf/F. 
• Maximum Shading Coefficient: 0.44 
• Visible light transmittance: 60% minimum. 
• Glass and glass assembly must meet Tenants requirements with 

respect to radio frequency interference (EMf) reception, transmission 
and deflection. 

4. Double aluminum and glass storefront entry door 3'-0. x 8'-4. with transom and 
threshold at main entrance. Kynar 500 factory finishes matching mullion system. 
Insulated tempered glass panels. 

5. Steel doors: 
• Provide and install 3~-a· X a·-e· and s·-o· X a·-e· hollow metal door.frames 
• (16 gauge for exterior doors and 18 gauge for interior doors), properly 

anchored and reinforced for the finished hardware. The glass main entry 
door will be commiserate with the window system installed. 

• Provide 3'-o· x 7'-a· flush design 1%• inches thick, prcper1y anchored and 
reinforced for the finished hardware, exterior doors with one foot ( 1') transom 
seamless steel construction. 
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REGENT UNIVERSITY (99-002) 
OUTLINE SPECIFICA TJON 

March 12. 1999 
Rust Orting and Neale, Architects 

• Floor drains with backflow check valves and overflow curbs in mechanical 
room. 

6. Janitor Closet: 
• Ceramic tile flooring. 
• ~IVe-foot (5') high ceramic tile on all -war walls. 
• Utility sink/basin - precast terrazzo with a minimum e- curb height located on 

first floor. 
• Exposed to structure. 

7. Stairwells: 
• CMU walls to be finished painted with 4• vinyl base. 
• Sealed concrete floor. 
• Safety tread floor covering on landing and stair treads (Rappe or equao. 
• Painted handrail. 
• Fluorescent emergency lighting. 

8. Typical tenant Areas (unless otherwise noted): 
• Noise Criteria: NC 40 in all office areas. 
• All core, demising, exterior walls and columns shall be drywalled and finished 

with one (1) coat of white primer. 
• Carpet floor covering shall be commercial broadloom, direct glue down. 

Assume $18 per square yard. Vinyl cave base. 
• 2x4 Donn Fine line grid with % inch tegular ACT lay-in acoustical tile ceilings 

for all tiled areas. Ughting- fluorescent and/or incandescent downlights with 
refledors and trim. 

• Six-foot eight-inch (6' -a·) Solid core stain grade birch veneer wood doors with 
hollow metal frames (KO frames typical, welded frames fer 2 hour B label 
door assemblies) fer all core doors. Mortise hardware and lccksets as 
required by code and Tenant 

• Vinyl base. 
• All ceiling and wall assemblies to be U.L. fisted. 

9. Classroom Areas: 
• Movable partitions - Hufcor Series 5660R Omni diredional panels, STC 50, 

type #26, operable top and bottom seals. No pass doors, on pocket doors or 
worksurfaces induded. 

10.lcungen<nchcen: 
• Vinyl Ceramic Tile flooring. 
• Semi-gloss paint with Vinyl base. 
• Provide built-in plastic laminate counter tops 
• Provide standard base and waJI cabinets in kitchen area. 
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Man:t112. 1999 
Rust Orting and NeaJe, Architects 

2. Typical Floor Lobbies I Core Corridors: 
• Carpet floor covering shall be commercial broadloom, direct glue down. 

Assume $18 per square yard. Vinyl cove base. 
• 2x4 Donn Fine line grid with % inch tegular ACT lay-in acoustical tile ceilings 

fer all tiled areas. Fluorescent lighting. 
• Six-foot eight-inch (6.-Sj Solid core birch veneer wood doors with hollow 

metaJ frames (KO frames typical, welded frames for 2 hour B label door 
assemblies} for all core doors. Mortise hardware and locksets as required by 
code and Tenant. 

• Paint with vinyl or carpet base. 
• GWB partition from slab-to-slab in elevator lobby. Partitions shall meet a 

minimum STC 45 rating. 

3. Toilet Rooms: 
• Rest rooms shall be complete and compliant with ADA requirements. 
• Ceramic tile flooring. 
• Five-foot (5') high ceramic tile on all-wet• walls. 
• Semi-gloss paint on walls above ceramic tile and on •dry- walls. 
• 2'x4' lay-in ceiling grid and acoustical tile system. 
• Wall hung toilet fixtures. Self-rimming lavatories with plastic laminate counter 

tops with skirts and self-seaJing bowls. Toilet partitions to be ceiling hung 
plastic laminate. Urinal partitions to be wall mounted with similar finish. All 
hardware to be brushed aluminum or similar finish. 

• Separate HVAC zone. Under negative air pressure. 
• Floor drain with backtlow check valve in each toilet room. 

4. Toilet Room Accessories shall consist of the following; 

Men's 
Unframed mirror over the vanity tops 
Soap dispensers 
Roll toilet tissue dispensers 
Recessed paper towel and waste 
receptades 
Grab bars (42.and 36. long as req'd) 

5. Mechanical I Telephone I Electrical Rooms: 

Women•s 
Unframed mirror over the vanity tops 
Soap dispensers 
Roll toilet tissue dispensers 
Recessed paper towel and waste 
receptades 
Grab bars (4Z'and 3s•1ong as req'd) 
Recessed sanitary napkin dispenser 
and disposal units. 

• Sealed concrete floor, with VCT in telephone room 
• Exposed to strudure. 
• Painted drywall (properly rated). 
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OUTLINE SPECIFICATION 

Mard112. 1999 
Rust Orting and Neale, Arcttitects 

5. Recessed fire extinguisher cabinets must be furnished (complete with extinguishers), 
sufficient to meet code requirements. 

6. Window treatments: 
• Adjustable 1· miniblinds on all exterior vision glass. 

7. All utility connectors and fees charged by governmental, quasi-governmental and 
pubfic utility companies. 

8. Roof access hatch: 
• Provide galvanized or aluminum sheet metal roof hatch. Mounted of 12• curb 

with metal counter flashing. Leakage proof Dds with fuseable link, locate in 
stair#2. 

• Provide steel ladder secured to deck and wall of stairwell. 

VERTICAL TRANSPORTATION 

1. Elevator: 
• Quality and design for forty-five (45) second maximum interval and 15% 

population handling capacity. Elevator to have center opening doors. One 
(1) elevator. Centrad for independent study and evaluation of the proposed 
elevator system from a reputable elevator design engineer/consult. All 
aspeds to be ADA code compliant. 

• Pre-engineered hydraulic 3,500 lb. Capacity, 200 FPM. 
• Elevator cab shall have nine (9') ceiling to accommodate service functions. 

Provide padding for heavy uses. 
• Interior finish cab allowances: 

• Pre-engineered cab with plastic laminate wall panels, carpet floors, 
fadory ceiling and standard electrical package with provisions for 
security phone. (See MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS & ALLOWANCES.) 

• Doors center opening, height 8' -a• at first ·floor and 7' -a· at typical locations. 
Doors and jambs to be electrostatically painted. 

• Solid state control system. Elevator call·push buttons and lanterns. 
• Individual floor lock-off/controlled access capability. 
• Conditioned elevator machine room. 
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OUTLINE SPECJFICA TlON 

11. Auditorium: 

March 12. 1999 
Rust Orting and NeaJe, Architects 

• Provide sound proofing insulation and acaustic enhancement panels. 
• Marble border with carpet inlay. 
• T&G wood flooring at stage platform area. 

12. Solarium: 
• Marble border with carpet inlay 
• Vinyl wall covering. 
• One piece wood chair rail at 4T A.F .F. 
• Wood base. 

13. Dining I Conference Room: 
• Marble border with carpet inlay 
• Vinyl wall covering. 
• One piece wood chair rail at 42• A.F .F. 
• Wood base. 
• Movable partitions- Hufcor Series 5660R Omni directional panels, STC 50, 

type #26, operable top and bottom seals. No pass doors, on pocket doors or 
worksurfaces induded. 

14. Terrace: 
• 12x1 T concrete pavers on pedestals 

15. Building Service & Main Electrical Rooms: 
• Painted CMU and/or drywall partitions. 
• Floors: concrete with a seal coat finish 
• Ceilings shall be exposed to structure. 

SPECIAL nES AND EQUIPMENT 

1. Loading Dock Equipment 
• Provide etedrical provisions for trash compactor system. 

2. Kitchen Equipment 
• N.l.C. 

3. Toilet accessories as required. 
• Provide two (2) wall mounted drinking fountains/coolers perfloor.with one (1) 

handicapped accessibility. 

4. Security System: 
• All points of entry controlled. The building security system to be coordinated 

and be compatible with Regent's security systems (See MISCELLANEOUS 
ITEMS & ALLOWANCES). 
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OUTLJNE SPECIFICATION 

March 12. 1999 
Rust Orting and Neale, Architects 

Base Building Shell Definition and Building Perfonnance Specifications 

The following specification: 

1. Defines the •buDding sheJI condition• of the proposed buDding, beyond which the 
Tenant Improvement Allowance as defined in the RFP will be u5ed fer tenant build 
out purposes. 

2. Delineates the minimum building performance and design criteria and construction 
standards required for the proposed building. 

3. All construction shall at a minimum be perfonned and construded in accordance with 
the latest building cedes and applicable laws induding, but not limited to, the 
Americans with Disabilities Ad. and in accordance with the following specifications. 
In the event that a specification exceeds the minimum requirement by cede, the 
higher and best use specification shall be construded. 

GENERAL 

1. Codes and Standards: All work must meet or exceed all applicable cedes and 
regulations of building, zoning, fire department and other governmental agencies 
having jurisdidion indusive of but not limited to the following. Where there are 
conflicts between codes and regulations, the most stringent shall be 
applicable. 

a) Current edition of the National Fire Protection Association Ufe Safety Code 
(NFPA) 101, NFPA 13, NFPA 70, NFPA 72. 

b) 1996 BOCA BuDding code and supplements. 

c) 1993 Virginia Uniform Statewide Building Code, City of Alexandria supplements. 

d) The building and fire safety codes and appropriate supplements that apply in the 
state of Virginia. 

e) For HVAC, current edition of NFPA 90A or 908, ASHRE 62-89 (or current), 
ASHRE 55-81 {or current). 

f) NEC {National Electric Code). 

g) Applicable local, state, federal, public utility, transportation and/or environmental 
(e. g., Environmental Protection Agency) regulations. 
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March 12. 1999 
Rust Or1ing and Neale, AJ chitects 

h) Latest applicable industry standards of practice such as: American Society of 
Heating, Refrigeration and Air Conditioning Engineers (ASHRE), SMACNA, 
Precast Concrete Institute, Architectural Woodwork Institute, ANSI. 

Q ·Americans with Disabilities Ad of 1990• (ADA), 42 U.S. C. 12101-12213 and· 
Accessible and Useable Buildings and Faalmes•, ANSI/CABO A117.1-1998. 

2. All building systems, induding mechanical, electrical, elevator, etc. shall be complete 
and fully operationaL 

3. If there are any additional items induded in your proposal, please provide a written 
description and a proposed cost. 

SITE WORK 

1. Clearing lot. Lot shall be deared of all debris and otherwise prepared for 
construction. This indudes removal of existing asphalt paving which currently covers 
95% of lot surface. 

2. Fill to subgrade for building pad and landscaped areas. Consult soils report for 
specific conditions regarding removal and replacement of fill. 

3. Provide storm water management and retention systems. 
4. Water. sewer and gas services to building. 
5. Fire Hydrants. 
6. Install site protection system necessary to fadlitate public safety during construction. 
7. Conduit for tenant phone (see Communications section) and power service to 

building. 
8. Concrete walks and paving complying with ADA handicapped requirements. 

• All unpaved areas shall be fully landscaped and irrigated to the minimum 
local/state requirements (see MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS & ALLOWANCES). 

MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS AND ALLOWANCES 

1. The following miscellaneous items shall be induded in the base building 
specifications and costs and any allowances stated below represent the minimum 
values to be spent in that category. 

• Elevator Cab Finishes 
• Main Entrance Lobby Directory 
• Landscaping 
• Site Lighting (non-par1dng) 
• Security System 
• Signage (Exterior) 
• Signage (Interior) 

ss.ooo per cab 
$3,000 
$10,000 
Provide assumed value 
$50,000 
$3,000 
$7,000 
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Build-to-Suit Project Schedule CarrAmerlca Development. Ina. 
Regent University f Alexandria, VIrginia 

~ 114, til II t, til tr2, til 1r a, til tr4, tH II t,IOO lri,IOO tr a,IIO 11'4,101 10 TaakNama Ourallon Start Flnlah Pradecaaaora Octo e a e • PI • u Jul u • Pet 0 • • • ·~ J~ pd • u u • a • :u Pemlll Sal 6w 4130/99 6110199 24 ·II .. I ~· 32 Structural Sleet Bid Set 8w 4/30/99 6124/99 24 
.... .... ····· .... ····· ····· ..... ... ..... .... ..... . ... ... .... ... . ... •• ... ...... 

33 Base BuDding CDa 18w 4130199 8118189 24 
. • 1 ... ... .... ~· . ""f • • .... .... .. ... . ... . .... ... .... .... ... ... ... ... .... 

·II··· 
... .... 

34 Regent approve CDa 1w 8120/89 8128199 33 
... .... .. ... ... .... 

J 
. ... .... ..... .... ... .... . .... . ... ····· .... •·· ····· .... ····· .... ..... 

35 Alchllecllmpltment Regent c:hangea 1w 8127/89 912199 34 
.... .. .... ····· .... ~· .... .... ..... ... ····· ..... .... .... ... .. . ..... 

I 
... ... ..... 

38 Bid Base Building 2w 913199 8118199 35 r1:: 
... ... .. ..... . ... t; ..... .... ... .... ... .... .... ..... ... .... .... ... .... .... ... 

37 PI Conalluctlon Documenta 20w 4130111 lltelll 
... ..... . .. .. .... ..... ..... .... ..... ..... . ... ... ..... ... .... ... ····· .... ..... 
.... .... .. . ~ 

31 Pennll Set 6w 4/30189 8110199 28 . f .... ) .... •• . ..... ..... .... . .. ... .... ... .... ..... ... .... .... .. .. ... .... ..... 

31 PICDI 18w 4130199 8119199 28 
... .... ,. ... . .. ... ... ... .. .... .... .... .... .. .. .... . ... . ... 

I ·i··· 40 Regent approve PI COs 1w 8120199 8128199 39 
.. .. ... ..... ... .. 'i" .. . .. .... .... .... ····· .... ... .... . . .. .. ... .... ..•.. 

41 Alchlled Implement Regent changes 1w 8127199 912199 40 I' .. ... .... .. . ····· .. . ... .. . . ... .... .... .. .... ... ..... .... ... ... .. 

::·U. 
... .... 

4Z Bid Purchaser Improvements 2w 013109 9118109 41 I" I'"" 
.. ... ..... . ... .... ... ... . ... .... ... .. ... ..... ... .... .. .. .... . ... 

---1--

1.1. .. 
.. .... .. . . .... ... .... .... .... ... ... ... 43 8111 Building Final Eatlmata & GMAX Contract 2w 1117111 1130/11 

" ' 
.. ..... .... 

44 CADI Prepare Final Eallmate/Basa-BuUdlng GMA 1w 9111109 9123/99 38 
... ..... .. ..... 

i 
.. .. ... ... ... . . ... ... . l .. . . .... 

-- L.l ... ... .... .. ..... .. 
45 Regent approve Base-Building GMAX 1w 9124/99 8130199 44 ' 

.... 
~· .. ... ... .... . ... .. .. . .. . .. ... 

PI Final Eallmate & OMAX Contract 2w 1117181 8/30118 
.. .. .. . ... . ... .. 

-~ 
... .. .... ... .... ... .. 48 ... .. 

71 0111/90 9123199 42 
.... ... . .. .. . .. .... •·· ... .. ... ... .. .... .. .. .. Prepare Final EaUmaleiPI GMAX 1w I 

... . . .... 

I 
. . ... . . .... .. . .. 

48 Regent approve PI GMAX 1w 9124199 8130199 47 . .. . ... .. ···- ... ····· ··-· .... .. ... .... ... .. ·••· 

11w 1/tt/98 1130181 t·" ... ... . .... . ... .. . ... .. .... ..... ... .... .... .. .. .. 49 Building penni& .. ... .... 
I .... 

6111199 9130199 31 I" .. ··'• ..... "'! .... ..... .... . ....... ····· .... .... .... .... .... ...... .... .. 50 Base Building Pennll 18w , .. i· 
... ... 

- 9130/99 31 
.. . .. . .. ...... "'! ""i'" .. ........ .... ..... ····· .... ... ..... .. .... ..... ..... 

51 lnlerlora Building Permit 18w 6111/99 .... .... .... 
! I 

1125189 7131100 i I ... ... .. ..... ... ............... . . .... .... ..... ····· ... ... .... ... .... ..... .... 
5Z Construction 57.3w .. .... 

l 9130199 9130199 45 
.I. ... 

I 
.. ..... ... ... ..... ... , . ... ... ... . ... ... ... ... .... .. .. . ... 

53 Regent Issues NoUce to Commence Ow 

I 
I 

.. 

.I .. !. .. ..... lr'" ..... . ... ..... ... .... ... ... .. .. ... 
54 Bid S&ruclutal Steal 2w 8125199 718189 32 [ I I ~ ..... 

... ..•.. .... .. 
... : .... 

55 Award structural steel suboonllacl 0.2w 719/99 719109 54 i 

·I I 
.... .. ... ... . ... .. ... .. .... . ... .. . .. ... 

7112109 10129199 55 I 
... ·l· . ,'il. . ... .. ... .... . .. ... ..... .. ... ... ... 

58 Structural steel ahop drawings. rab & delivery 16w 
I .. "l .... , .. I . ~ ~t··· .. ... .. ····· 57 Award Subs ow 8130199 0/30/89 53 I I ... .. 

i I 

! ! I .. I . I . ~ l,l . ! I -- Base Building conswcUon 43.3w 1011199 7131/00 8,12,50,57 

I· i ... 1 .. 
58 

i ·j· . ! .:t I r .. I· I . .. . : ···! 58 Purchaser lmprovemanll conawciJon 12.3w 515100 7131/00 58SSt31w I I _i_ I 

f I !-1. i 
.. : .. '··· .. I I 80 Subatanllal Completion, Cloalng & Move-In Ow 713UOO 7/ltiOO II I i I i I : I f1 

Task MileStone • Rolled Up Task Rolled Up P1ogru1 

Prugre11 summary ... Rolled Up Mllaalona 0 
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Build-to-Suit Project Schedule 
Regent University 
Alexandria, VIrginia 

ID ITatkNam• 
It I Punchllal and Project Cloa1-out 

' 

Task 
Progress 

l:{ 
'l~ 

CarrAmarlca Davelopmant.lnc. 

II 4, 111 It 1, 111 lr 2. til lr I, tH lr 4, tH 1r t, 201 lr 2,100 1r J, 200 1r 4, 101 
Duration I Slut I Flnlth I PrldiCIIIOJI t:hlilil a I~~ ~ l_pl al ~-~!~1 _!II• t:k4 o I •I• 1•1 •&1~1 ~!'MJ u I• )lC4 o l • 

4wl llJtlool 11211oo1&o 1 I 1J I I I I I I -~-1-[J-1 I_ _I I I 1-1 I -~iLO 

Miles ton• 
Summary 

• RaiSed Up Taek 

Rolled Up Mllealone 0 
Rallld Up Progreu ------

·--- ' . ' i I 1 1 



CIPPAIIirlcL · ., .. 
Regenl UnlversJ11 
Kq Slleet &chang~ 
Aleundlla, VIrginia 
ScheduloA 

lsUntll 1.0% OlhorCosll RuiEIIaiiTua 

HlrdCosts • 2,781,100 Govemmenl permits • 40,000 Mllflllll • t.U per • 100 
Soft Costs • 654,358 Ullly fees • 25,000 

Tananllqxovomenll • 875,788 Condon*'lum 4ue• • 18,171 Profoded conalndon coli • 4,1500,000 
Commissions • 312,550 Padllng lncomo • (18,100) Months prHGn~Wc~Jon 4 
Conllngondol • 290,000 Ulscelanoous • 20,000 Uonlhl c:onalnlc:Uon 12 
lnlorost • 1112,871 

Total Olher Coats i 14,371 Tax on land CU187 edwll plus 10"-) 

tmwesiBue • 4,124,454 Monlha us 
Rae• PI' monh I 483 

t.tonhs consltUdlon 12.00 Tolallax on land 7,185 

P•woutlae 50% 
El'lecllvttmodhl eoo Tu on canAuc:llon 
R.a per monlh • 32,163 McN1&ha 12.00 

AIHsiiNnlc.g 150% 
Tolallnlorell i 182,871 Ellecllve manlha e.oo 

w Rate per manh I .. 103 

0 TGIII&u on conaiNdlon 24:815 
VI 

Tollll Real EIIMI T ... a I 52.170 

L!i,!! To~ Sorvlcoa 

Zoning WlkeaMia • 12,500 Concfote & &tnJctural • 0.35 • 8,788 

Patting Eaaemonl Holland & Knight • 7,1500 All and water balancing • 0.23 • 8,437 

Parting stud~ GorovoiSiado s 8,500 Geotedlnlcal • 15,000 
Monitor adjacenl buldlng • 15,000 

TcQ!Logal i 21,500 Total Toiling Sorvlcoa i 48,233 

Cfl 2 Ill XLS Schodulo A V25109 8 02 AM 



Build-to-Suit ProJect Sch~dula 
Regent University 
Alexandria, VIrginia 

CarrAmartc• Development, Ina. 

lr4,111 lr 1, 111 lr 2, 111 lr I, 111 lr 4, 111 1r t, 200 1r 2. 200 tr 1,200 tr 4, 200 l 
ID Taak Nama Duration Start flnlah Pradac11aora Pc4 o e a e a p • u Jul u • Pel o • • • ·~ • u Jut u • Pd o • 
1 Purchaaa Contract 12.4w 10115181 111181 ! f-------·------1 .. I ! .. 
2 Special Uaa Parmi& 14w ttltllll 2123111 .... - -------------------1-----·---- ----·-----···. 
l Submit SUP Package OW 11117198 11117188 +- t:l.. ...;. 

4 Plaoolng Convnlsalon hearing 7w 12117198 212189 3 I 'I ~ 
·-------·--------· 5 cuv Coundl heaJing 2.8w 213199 2122189 4 I 

8 Receive SUP Ow 212_318_9_t-_212_31_99_
1
._s ______ 

1
··· .... ..... ...1 

7 Partdng Raaolutlon & Eaaamanl 12w 12/ttlll 313111 ...... i•"' .............. •rl 
e Submll COII·Iharlng proposallo condo board Ow 12118198 t2Jt8188 .• .. 
I Draft easamenl 4w 12111198 1"/89 •• 

1
1 _~_1o~ ___ P_,_~_~~_n_a_~_F_e_e_db_a_dc_q_O_&_M_Sh_a_~_u ____ 1~--0w- 12123198-1212~31-9-8~-----~ .. ~~-~~1 ~· ........... . 

w :: a ... ~:.:::::::::::;:.~ =-·--~~-:-~~-~-~-~Y~~~~:-:-,_:-_;-1_o ____ ~~~-=--=--•, ~ r:· ~ •~• .. :•l~~·-~--:+.-::-+:-.:-+-::-1::i-::·-i··t-:._-~: .: ... : ::: :: .. :: .:·: .: : ·· .. :. :.:. :• 

~ ~: ~~::~u:~~:n ;: . :~: :~:: ~~:: :4ss ., ... 1. :~ ~~ ...... · ......... ... ... .... ......... ... .... .... . ...... 

18 SchemaUc pddng 1w 1 __ 21_261_99_1-__ - __ -31:4=199=~:=15=====-=--=--=-~: .. L. ... :] ~ .... ·: ... ::.. :·:. :.:: ... :·: ·::: .·:: .:: .. ·:::. ::·. .:. .::: . . ·:: 
t7 Regent approve sd\ematJcs & Prelim. Est. 1w 315199 3111/99 16 j il · · ... ·· .. 

~ PIS:::.:=~~!::: ~= -~~-:~-~::~~---~~·-~:m-~-~~:-~-1-5~9~9~~:~~~~: ·: f ~ ~~ J ... : .·::. :.·: .:::. ·:::: ::: ·::~: ::· ... :::· ..... :~:· .:· .. ::: .... :: .... ::. .. 
1--20-t---P-I pri;.___:d;:....ng---=;__---------lf----1w 2128199 314/99 19 f ... I.. :.f ................. · ·· .... · .. 
~ ~~R·~~~~~d\-~U~~-U~E~d~.~-~-~-,-t-~31~~~~9 3111199 20 t· I .. 1 ~ ........... - ........... . 

agent approve a ema cs & Pre m a ma e w 
1 

. 
1 

. .. 1 ... .... .. . 
22 Baaa Building DO & Interim Eallmat• lw 315111 111181 I I 
•~~---==---=--..;;,_-~-------~--t-------•---::-=-:-::-1-·--•--------l I i .. 

2:1 Design development 8w 315199 4/15199 8,12,16 1 i 
24 DO prlclng 2w 4/16199 4129199 23 ... i . I' . 
1--·--t----~-~~~~--~--~--~~----t-------r--=-~=i~~~~~~--~~-1 · i i· 

... ~ ~ . f"' ... . 

.... J~-~i'"" .. .. 
I ... , .... 

-=2~5-I-:::-:-::-:::-R~e~ge_n~l _:ap~p_ro_v_e_o_o_&_l_n_le_rfm __ E..:..'_lJma __ l•_~~-t---~1_w-1 __ 4
7
/3:::0::/9

7
9 t---=.5/:-:-8/=99-:-1-2-4 __ ~~---l .. 1 1 .. . 

28 PI DO & Initial Eatlmate tw 315/llt-_11_181_1_9-+-----• 1.. 1 .. . 

·I ... 'r .. . 
.... ~ .. : .. .. ., .. ! 

·-~ ...... ·i . ... ... .. 
27 PI Design Development 6w 3/5199 4115199 8,12,18 I I 

·•. I··· 
21 PI DO prldng 2w 4118199 4/29199 27 i ! 

. i .... , .... 
21 Regent approve PI DO & lnterlm EeUmale 1w 4130/99 516199 28 I ! 

'3Q Bale Building Conatructlon Oocum•ntl 20W 4130181 1-~11~1111-1-t------l . j"··1··· 

~~·ji . I 
l ~-~· .,. 1 .... 1 . . . f ··!·.. . t .. ! .. 

I '! i i s• 

Task 

Progreu 

Mlloatone 

Sunvna~ 

• RoUod Up Task 

-----..... Rolled Up Milestone 0 

I 
I· 
I r 
Rolled Up PrograM 

-- ·--- --:----..,...·--,---..... ,----1-
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w 
0 
00 

CURRENT FORECASTED INVESTMENT 

P1oforma SIOroaaSFO SINeiSF@ Fotecastad 
Category/line llem AsaumpUons 27,888 23,3t7 Budget 

CONSTRUCTION (tiAADI COSTSU.?;·l! •. ;~ ~.::'\'; .' ·~ ·i ··:! -.1r~u ir;•:•. ··i"~ :•·;·, :'"; ··:::~··:If ..• :. m t t~:•:r·'A~·;r>· z! ·.•JrtilVUd!lt.lEiJ'~·;,\ltJ~ .. :1.:~r :"i1J&rj00.00~ l!'ffirt~120.03 ,. t .1'~iiiSll·2.!l_8t_~ 
BuUding Cosl Core & SheU ~ S 100.00/GSF 100.00 12003 2,798,800 
Park ina P•!ecl does not reg!:!!1o consttucllon of addiUonat I!BIIt!!!g 000 000 -
Development & Impact Fees None (olleadr pafd ou!l 000 000 

SOFT COSTS·~ (I" ·. t; :~n .~ •:'If' )' :: 
.. 

.. •; .. rJ' :·' , ·:·:.·· .. ! ". ~! ! • ~ .: :.· :·r.·~n:w~:! !..,··;\'·!!l!f·:l~.m_,{'f'lt:'.;·$!'' o;·:~r=·~u,~:t :, .!I ~/•.1t.a1:· ~:PJ.'• 23.77 .. • ) . ·: •. 1·1 554~369 ·-·· . . . 
AlchitecturaiiConsullanls $285,000 fee estlmalel!lus $15,000 relmburaables ~us $251000 AN & Telcom 11.61 1394 325,000 
Civil Engineer VWI!am H. Go~elon estimate November 2, 1998 091 1.09 25.350 
legal See schedule A 1.02 122 28,500 
Tille Insurance Upgrade None assumed 0.00 0.00 -
ReaJ Estate Taxes Sea schedule A 1.17 1.41 32,870 
T esli_ng Services Seesc:heduJo A 1.65 1.88 46,233 
BuUding EqulpmenUFun1lshlngs NIC 0.00 000 . 
Blueprinls S0.35JGSF 0.35 042 9,798 
MessengeriDeHvery $0.08/GSF ooa 010 2,239 
Olher Costs See achedule A 3.01 382 84,371 

INTEREST··r . ~'" ·~· •. ~.~~···:. t~,· ;·~··\,..; ~, ... ..... 
.:'~~:t·:n ~··t··" ;~!: 1' 

. ,_ .. : .. 
s:·~r:,( · . .t;f~f ~: t·.}~:J-tJr.!J~ .• ··•l!~W i f~~,~n;it1Jtr:.t·rt:-'ri~'!'1'e.eo·r)'' t·~:,~,,~. a.2BL1'•,:1·:,,.:~· Jea.e?a• 

lnleresl I See schedute A I 6901 8 281 182.978 

TENANT IMPROVEMENts·· •·:~. ···.::s! • .: \· .. '! .. ' M; .:.'.:;; 1 ':t·: ·•:·:lr.'!'·t .... ;·:. n: 1'}_ 7~ ~! IJ )'' ·iWP'M' ~· ... ,.i~~} \l'l~\J)'t~~~f.lll~Jl!J F· 1:7t•l'l•;,M~ II'· .• -,:,,:•U4i141'Jj !.!·.~ 'J 28.88 I. 110 ·'fit'! 875,788! 
Standard Tenanl ADowance I Tenant de~n Included In core and shell 24.14 28 98 675,768 

I I 

COMMISSIONS·:-. '•;'i'':'';J;H:.;· .~\'~~ ~·1· nY~!/"r= .. t 1Pr -' ·;· ,, ·'~-'·'! :·· ·'· ,. · ·. ,! 1:1,;:.:.!', '?: T ~= ': ~u'Nf JJ.' JH:.H·r :~~·.t:>·t {t·.;m~~~.;:,.11 .• f. ·1,~.1M1·1: i•. ·: ~~· 13 ... 0 I· · .. ~ .. ~, !,l~ !3t2,660.' 
Transweslern Cary Wnston 13% on S8 5 mllJion 897 I 836 195,000 
Commardal Real Estalo 12% on S210.001GSF 4.201 504 111.550 

CONTINGI; .. Qie~:.~ :t,~f~; ~ ·,p (~ .• : : ~~.r ... ! ' • .". 1::{:~:1 Fbced ·.~ :r:~·n· j· • ... ' \ :~.;rlt H.[·.: .11 .:rt• t.t'i~ 11:- ·•. :\i;l ~ h•ll'i.~]'ic~.~:·r ~ 1\· ·:~ ~·",'?10.38 I~····~;;;· 12 ... 4 I' :('' r; ~·:~90.000i 

SUBTOT~llCPSTS A<tC.ftUIN~;:IJ(TERES'fii fitli~ ~'1!JHi~· ,··~:.·. :ii!P::: il i•'·:: ·,:. · ': ~ :;"t!f;l~l~}.: ·.~.i1W• :t~u·~.~iJi.!:,!lHU it ~··tt-i';•'!;r:fth·li'Ji;; ·~trnj72.S81!1 I '* :: 20&.911 ~~~t~~~.r~.824.4551 

Addtuonal Post-Completion Coals 

land lland_jl $944.300 ~s 30_!arlting spaces@ $18,000 I 53.03 6368J 1.484,300 
Overhead Capllabal&on IS% of building cost. tenant aDowance, and AlE 8 83 8 20 I 191,245 
FFE 1.525,000 
TOTAl: PRO .. ~CT~03TSI.t·:~c1i~l-lf·'~ '117.'P·~r·J~W.'!U1~11::!'·i'!ft;,]•1f:"~~~,::r;nr··~ ~ .:~~ l~l~~JI"'f·t;!~;'.~\'q.fJIJnf~JrlUI!l"1 ~ ~~ 'rt:r.'"!'l~t; r r:·· '~H2Bf~731t:I!H!"'~M! 111' '1.~~1'.· ;!rJ;Q2S,QQOI 



.Jun OS 99 04:50p 
757-225-4329 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF 
REGENT UNIVERSITY 

DECLARING ITS INTENTION TO 
PROCEED WITH VALIDATION OF CERT AU'i BONDS A. 'lD THE 

PLAN' OF FINAL'ICING 

Regent University (the ·umve:sicy•) has tiled with the Virginia College Building 
Authority (the "Authority" an application requesting the Authority. pursuant to the 
Educ::uioaal Facilities Authority Act (Title 23, Chapter 3.3. Code of Virginia of 19.50, 
as amended) (the "Act"), to issue its revenue bonds in one or more series and from 
time to time in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed SS5,000,000 (the 
"Bonds"), and to lend the proce:ds from. the sale ther:of to the University co assist the 
University in the acquisition. construction, fmancing and refinancing of the following 
(collectively, the .. Pl.a:n of Financing"): (a) (i) refunding of all or a portion of the 
$4,000,000 City of Virginia Beach Development Authority 1984 Industrial 
Development Reve:1ue Bonds (CBN University Facility), Series A and B. of which 
$2,552~261 is currently outstanding, issued to finance the acquisition, constrUction and 
equipping of student housing known as "Regent University Village" and located at lake 
Sears Circle. Virginia Beach. Virginia 23464 (the •t984 Project") and (ii) refinancing 
of a taxable loan, of which S2,957, 152 is currently outStanding, incurred by the 
University in connection with an expansion of the 1984 Project; (b) fmancing costS 
incurred in connection with certain expansions, reuovations and improvements to the 
University's facilities located in the City of Alexandri~ Virginia and the Cir; of 
Virginia Beach, Virginia consisting of: (i) a new University campus located at 1650 
Diagonal Road. Alexandria, Virginia 22314, consisting of appro=timately 27,000 square 
feet to be used for classrooms and supporting administrative space for several of the 
University's colleges and schools; (ii) a communic:uion and ans complex located on the 
main campus of the University at 1000 Regent University Drive. Virginia Beach. 
Virginia 23464, consisting of approximately 125,000 square feet which will house the 
College of Communiction and ArtS and various t!niversity administr:ltive and student 
support facilities; (ill) an events center loc:1ted on the main campus of the University, 
consisting of approximately 60,000 square feet which will be used for graduation 
exercises, assembly and le:::ure series and other major eve:1ts ~ and (c) amounts required 
for reserves, capitalized interest and costs of issuance in connection with the Pian of 
Financing. 

The U aiversicy has selec:cd ~tcGuire, Woods. Battle & Boothe LLP as bond 
counsel c·Bond Counsel"). 

A public hearing will be held in conformity with the requirements of Section 
147(f) of the Internal Reve:1ue Code of 1986, as 3mended (the ··code"). 
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The Alllhority has been advised by Bond Counsel tbat to render its customary, 
unqualified opinion under current law that the Bonds are tbe valid obligations of the 
Authority, Bond Counsel will require that the Bonds be validated pursuant to the Public 
Finance Act of 1991, Section 15.2-2600 ~!!9.· of the Code of Virginia of 1950. as 
amended (the •validation"). In connection with the Validation it is anticipated that 
(i) various docwnems and insaumems (the "DocumentS" will be prepared and flled 
pursuant to certain proceeeungs before the Circuit Court of the City of Richmond, 
Virginia and will be prepared in connection with issuance of the Bonds and (ii) various 
public notices (the •Notices") will have to be given with respect to the Validation and 
the issuance of the Bonds. 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS RESOLVED BY THE BOARD AS FOLLO\VS: 

1. The Board approves the issuance of the Bonds pursuant to the Plan of 
Fmancing and the Valid:ltion in connection therewith. 

2 The Board ratifies and confums the decision of the University to issue 
the Bonds through the Authority, or such othe: issuer as the Preside:1t of the University 
may approve, and the conduct of the Validation by ~uch issuer. 

3. The Board authorizes the President, the Vice President for Operations 
and Finance and such members of the University's admhrisuation as either of them may 
appoint to execute and deliver any and all certificates, insaumems and documents and 
to take any and all such further actions as they may consider necessary or desirable in 
connection with the Plan of Fmancing and the issuance of the Bonds. 

4. The Board ratifies and confirms :IS the act of the Uaiversity any and all 
other actions of the offic...-rs of the University or members of the University's 
administration that are in conformity with the purpose or intent of this resolution. 
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tC•aCZI4?7Sa0es 1/1 

.:S33 E. Grace Street • Richmond • Virginia • 23293-001 
(804) 649-688.$ • Fax for Outside Classified (804) 775-80 

FAX TIIANSMlSSION COVER SHEET 

~ATE ~~Elf tj? liME:---

11::-+ca== 
~n. __ ~-~~.-~~~~~,~~~·=~~~~·~~~==·=·~~~~-----
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MOTION TO CONVENE IN EXECUTIVE SESSION 

In accordance with the provisions of Section 21-344 (A) (7) of the Codll ojfruginia, I move that 
the Vuginia College Building Authority convene in executive session for consultation with legal 
counsel pertaining to probable litigation. 

MOTION TO RECONVENE IN OPEN SESSION 

In accordance with the provisions of Section 21-344.1 (D) of the Code of fruginia, I move that the 
Executive Committee of the Vtrginia College Building Authority immediately reconvene in open 
session. 
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MOTION TO CERTIFY THE PROCEEDINGS OF THE EXECUTIVE :MEETING 

CERTIFICATION OF EXECUTIVE MEETING 

WHEREAS, the Vtrginia College Building Authority has convened an executive meeting 
on this date pursuant to an affirmative recorded vote and in accordance with the provisions of the 
Vuginia Freedom oflnformation Act; and 

WHEREASt: Section 2.1-344.1(D) of the Code of Yirginia requires certification by the 
Committee that such executive meeting was conducted in confonnity with Vtrginia Law~ 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Commissioners of the 
Vu-ginia College Building Authority hereby certifies that, to the best of each member's belief and 
lmowledge, (i) only public business matters lawfully exempted ti'om open meeting requirements by 
V uginia Law were discussed in executive meeting to which this certification resolution applies, and 
(ii) only such public business matters as identified in the motion convening the executive meeting 
were heard, discussed or considered by the Board. 

Mr. Diggs 
Mr.Hanwell 
Mr. Landsidle 
Ms. Morris 
Mr. Nottingham 
Mr. Pattison 
Mr. Rider 

AYES: 

ABSENT Dl.:"RING VOTE: 

ABSENT DURING MEETING: 
Ms. Powell 
Mr. Allen 
Mr. Robertson 

Assistant Secretary 
Virginia College Building Authority 

NAYS: 
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RESOLliTION OF 
VIRGINIA COLLEGE BUILDING AUTHORITY 
RELATING TO APPROVAL OF VALIDATION 

FOR REGENT UNIVERSITY' 

Regent University (the "Universityfl) has filed with the Virginia College Building 
Authority (the "Authority") an application requesting the Authority, pursuant to the Educational 
Facilities Authority Act (Title 23, Chapter 3.3, Code ofVirginia of 1950, as amended) (the 
"Act") to issue its revenue bonds in one or more series and from time to time in an aggregate 
principal amount not to exceed $55,000,000 (the "Bonds"}, and to lend the proceeds from the 
sale thereof to the University to assist the University in the acquisition, construction, financing .. 
and refinancing of the following (collectively, the "Plan ofFinancing"): (a) (i) refunding of all or 
a portion of the $4,000,000 City of Virginia Beach Development Authority 19841ndustrial 
Development Revenue Bonds (CBN University Facility), Series A and B, of which $2,552,261 is 
currently outstanding, issued to finance the acquisition, construction and equipping of student 
housing Imown as "Regent University Village" and located at Jake Sears Circle, Virginia Beach, 
Virginia (the "1984 Project") and (ii) refinancing of a taxable loan, of which $2,957,152 is 
currently outstanding, incurred by the University in connection with an expansion of the 1984 
Project; {b) costs incurred in connection with certain expansions, renovations and improvements 
to the University's facilities located in-the City of Alexandri~ Virginia and the City of Virginia 
Beach, Virginia consisting of: (i) a new University campus located at 1650 Diagonal Road, 
Alexandri~ Virginia, consisting of approximately 27,000 square feet to be used for classrooms 
and supporting administrative space for several of the University's colleges and schools; (ii) a 
communication and arts complex located on the main campus of the University at 1000 Regent 
University Drive, Virginia Beach, Virginia, consisting of approximately 125,000 square feet 
which will house the College of Communication and Arts and various University administrative 
and student support facilities; (iii) an events center located on the main campus of the University, 
consisting of approximately 60,000 square feet which will be used for graduation exercises,. 
assembly and lecture series and other major events; and (c) amounts required for reserves, 
capitalized interest and costs of issuance in connection with the Plan of Financing. The 
University has represented to the Authority that the University is a nonprofit educational 
institution whose primary purpose is to provide collegiate or graduate education and not to 
provide religious training or theological education, except with respect to the University's 
Divinity School, whose facilities will not be financed ~th proceeds of the Bonds. 

The University has selected McGuire., Woods, Battle & Boothe LLP as bond counsel 
("Bond Counsel")~ 

A public hearing has been held on the date hereof in confonnity with the requirements of 
Section 147(f) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"). 

Regent University is a religiously affiliated private institution for higher education within 
the Commonwealth. Provisions in the United States Constitution and in the Virginia · 
Constitution (the "establishment clauses") prohibit cenain types of state aid to educational 
institutions under several circumstances, including where such institutions are deemed to be 
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"pervasively sectarian." When applicable~ this test requires close examination of the facts .. ~ ~:·~.t:.~~ 
relating to the role of religion at the institution. Accordingly, the Authority has been advised that ~·~··:~·: ~-;;;. 
Bond Counsel under current law cannot render its customary, unqualified opinion that the Bonds ~;:.;~. i{~· 
are the valid obligations of the Authority, unless the Bonds are first validated pursuant to the -:: : .. ~~:£-tt 
Public Finance Act of 199.1, Section 15.2-2600 et lm· of the Code ofVirginia of 1950. as ;_.: .. ;..-~~ 
amended (the "Virginia Code"}. Bonds that are issued in violation of constitutional provisions _;·:···:-~~ii 
such as the establishment clauses could be declared voi~ with the result that purchasers of such 
bonds would suffer damages. Validation eliminates the prospect of challenges to bonds after 
their issuance, thereby affording an important protection to investors. 

In connection with the validation of the Bonds (the "Validation"), it is anticipated that (i} 
various documents and instruments (the "Documents") will be prepared and filed pursuant to 
certain proceedings before the Circuit Court of the City of Richmond, Virginia and (ii) various 
public notices (the "Notices") will have to be given ~th respect to the Validation and the 
issuance of the Bonds. 

NOW, TiiEREFORE, IT IS RESOLVED BY THE VIRGINIA COLLEGE BUILDING 
AUTHORITY: 

1. Based upon the representations of and the infonnation provided by the University, the 
Authority fmds and determines that tiie issuance of the Bonds, and the loan to the University of 
the proceeds from the sale thereof to be used, together with other available fUnds, to assist in the 
Plan of Financing, will be consistent with the purpo,es of the Act The Authority (a) approves 
the application of the University and (b) subject to the Validation, the conditions described 
herein and the approval of the final financing structure and legal documents by the Authority, 
authorizes the issuance of the Bonds and the loan of the proceeds from the sale thereof to the 
University to assist in the Plan of Financing. 

2. The legal documents pursuant to which the Bonds would be issued, as required by 
§23-30.41 of the Virginia Code, would require that no proceeds of the Bonds will be used by the 
University to provide (a) any facility used or to be used for sectarian instruction or as a place of 
religious worship, including any chapel and the like or (b) any facility used or to be used 
primarily in connection with any part of the program of a school or department of divinity for 
any religious denomination; and in particular the proceeds of the Bonds will not be used to 
provide facilities for the University's Divinity School. 

3. At the request of the University, the Authority accepts the selection of Bond Counsel 
and consents to the conduct of the Validation. Bond Counsel is authorized on the Authority's 
behalf to supervise all proceedings and undertake all acts (including without limitafiorrtne 
preparation and filing of the Documents and the giving of the Notices) as it may deem necessary 
and proper in connection with the Validation. It is understood that the. Validation shall be 
concluded to Bond Counsel's satisfaction (or Bond Counsel shall have otheiWise concluded that 
it can render its customary, unqualified opinion that the Bon9s will be the valid obligations of the· 
Authority) before the Bonds are issued. 
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4. The Authority authorizes and directs the ~ Vice-Chairman or the Treasurer 
of the Authority, any of whom may ac~ to execute and deliver such Documents and to take such 
other actions as are necessary or proper in connection with the V alidatioiL The Secretary or 
Assistant Secretary of the Authority is authorized and direc~ as necessaey,. to affix the seal of 
the Authority to the Documents and attest the same by his or her signature. 

S. The Authority approves, ratifies and confinns all actions of the officers and staff of 
the Authority, Bond Counsel and Authority Counsel that are in conformity with the purposes or 
intent of this resolution and the. Validation. 

6. It having been represented to the Authority that it is necessary to proceed 
immediately with the Plan of Financing, the Authority agrees that the University may proceed 
with the Plan of Financing, enter into contracts for the Plan of Financing and take such other 
steps as it may deem appropriate in connection therewith; provided, however, that nothing in this 
resolution shall be deemed to authorize the University to obligate the Authority without its 
consent in each instance to the payment of any moneys or the perfonnance of any acts _in 
connection with the Plan of Financing. The Authority agrees that the University may be 
reimbursed from the proceeds of the Bonds, if and when issu~ for all expenditures and costs so 
incurred by it, provided such expenditures and costs are properly reimbursable under the Act and 
applicable federal laws. 

7. All costs and expenses in connection with the Plan ofFinancing and the Validation, 
including without limitation the fees and expenses of Bond Counsel and Authority Counsel, shall 
be paid by the University or, to the extent pennitted by applicable law, from the proceeds of the 
Bonds, if and when issued. If for any reason the Bonds are not issued, it is understood that all 
such expenses shall be paid by the University and that the Authority shall have no responsibility 
for them. 

8. This resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption. 
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CERTIFICATE 

The undersigned Secretary of the Virginia College Building Authority (thew Authority"), 
hereby certifies that the fOregoing is a tru~ correct and complete copy of a resolution adopted by 
a majority of the Directors of the Authority present and voting at a meeting duly called and held 
on June~ 1999, in accordance with law, and that such resolution has not been repealed, 
revoked, rescinded or amended, and is in full force and effect on the date hereof. 

WITNESS the follo~g signature this_ day of June, 1999. 

(SEAL) 

Secretary, Virginia College Building Authority 

\\R1C7\BONOS\Regcntlcmail resolution ofVCBA.doc • 
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RESOLUTION OF 
VIRGINIA COLLEGE BUILDING AUTHORITY 
RELATING TO APPROVAL OF VALIDATION 

FOR REGENT UNIVERSITY 

Regent University (the "University") has filed with the Virginia College Building 
Authority (the" Authority .. ) an application requesting the Authority, pursuant to the Educational 
Facilities Authority Act (Title 23, Chapter 3.3, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended) (the 
.. Act") to issue its revenue bonds in one or more series and from time to time in an aggregate 
principal amount not to exceed $55,000,000 (the "Bonds"), and to lend the proceeds from the 
sale thereof to the University to assist the University in the acquisition, construction, financing 
and refinancing of the following (collectively, the "Plan of Financing"): (a) (i) refunding of all or 
a portion of the $4,000,000 City of Virginia Beach Development Authority 1984lndustrial 
Development Revenue Bonds (CBN University Facility), Series A and B, of which $2,552,261 is 
currently outstanding, issued to finance the acquisition, construction and equipping of student 
housing known as "Regent University Village" and located at Jake Sears Circle, Virginia Beach, 
Virginia (the "1984 Project") and (ii) refinancing of a taxable loan, of which $2,957,152 is 
currently outstanding, incurred by the University in connection with an expansion of the 1984 
Project; (b) costs incurred in connection with certain expansions, renovations and improvements 
to the University's facilities located in the City of Alexandri~ Virginia and the City of Virginia 
Beach, Virginia consisting of: (i) a new University campus located at 1650 Diagonal Road, 
Alexandria, Virginia, consisting of approximately 27,000 square feet to be used for classrooms 
and supporting administrative space for several of the University's colleges and schools; (ii) a 
communication and arts complex located on the main campus of the University at 1000 Regent 
University Drive, Virginia Beach, Virgini~ consisting of approximately 125,000 square feet 
which will house the College of Communication and Arts and various University administrative 
and student support facilities; (iii) an events center located on the main campus of the University, 
consisting of approximately 60,000 square feet which will be used for graduation exercises, 
assembly and lecture series and other major events; and (c) .amounts required for reserves, 
capitalized interest and costs of issuance in connection with the Plan of Financing. The 
University has represented to the Authority that the University is a nonprofit educational 
institution whose primary purpose is to provide collegiate or graduate education and not to 
provide religious training or theological education, except with respect to the University's 
Divinity School, whose facilities will not be financed with proceeds of the Bonds. 

The University has selected McGuire, Woods, Battle & Boothe LLP as bond counsel 
( .. Bond Counsel"). 

A public hearing has been held on the date hereof in confonnity with the requirements of 
Section 147(f) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"). 

Regent University is a religiously affiliated private institution for higher education within 
the Commonwealth. Provisions in the United States Constitution and in the Virginia 
Constitution (the "establishment clauses") prohibit certain types of state aid to educational 
institutions under several circumstances, including where such institutions are deemed to be 
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"pervasively sectarian." When applicable, this test requires close examination of the facts 
relating to the role of religion at the institution. Accordingly, the Authority has been advised that 
Bond Counsel under current law cannot render its customary, unqualified opinion that the Bonds 
are the valid obligations of the Authority, unless the Bonds are first validated pursuant to the 
Public Finance Act of 1991, Section 15.2-2600 et ~·of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as 
amended (the "Virginia Code"). Bonds that are issued in violation of constitutional provisions 
such as the establishment clauses could be declared void, with the result that purchasers of such 
bonds would suffer damages. Validation eliminates the prospect of challenges to bonds after 
their issuance, thereby affording an important protection to investors. 

In connection with the validation of the Bonds (the "Validation"), it is anticipated that (i) 
various documents and instruments (the "Documents") will be prepared and filed pursuant to 
certain proceedings before the Circuit Court of the City of Richmond, Virginia and (ii) various 
public notices (the "Notices") will have to be given with respect to the Validation and the 
issuance of the Bonds. 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS RESOLVED BY THE VIRGINIA COLLEGE BUILDING 
AUTHORITY: 

1. Based upon the representations of and the information provided by the University, the 
Authority finds and detennines that the issuance of the Bonds, and the loan to the University of 
the proceeds from the sale thereof to be used, together with other available funds, to assist in the 
Plan of Financing, will be consistent with the purposes of the Act. The Authority (a) approves 
the application of the University and (b) subject to the Validation, the conditions described 
herein and the approval of the final financing structure and legal documents by the Authority, 
authorizes the issuance of the Bonds and the loan of the proceeds from the sale thereof to the 
University to assist in the Plan of Financing. 

2. The legal documents pursuant to which the Bonds would be issued, as required by 
§23-30.41 of the Virginia Code, would require that no proceeds of the Bonds will be used by the 
University to provide (a) any facility used or to be used for sectarian instruction or as a place of 
religious worship, including any chapel and the like or (o) any facility used or to be used 
primarily in connection with any part of the program of a school or department of divinity for 
any religious denomination; and in particular the proceeds of the Bonds will not be used to 
provide facilities for the University's Divinity School. 

3. At the request of the University, the Authority accepts the selection of Bond Counsel 
and consents to the conduct of the Validation. Bond Counsel is authorized on the Authority's 
behalf to supervise all proceedings and undertake all acts (including without limitation the 
preparation and filing of the Documents and the giving of the Notices) as it may deem necessary 
and proper in connection with the Validation. It is understood that the Validation shall be 
concluded to Bond Counsel's satisfaction (or Bond Counsel shall have otherwise concluded that 
it can render its customary, unqualified opinion that the Bonds will be the valid obligations of the 
Authority) before the Bonds are issued. 
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4. The Authority authorizes and directs the Chairman~ Vice-Chairman or the Treasurer 
of the Authority, any of whom may act, to execute and deliver such Documents and to take such 
other actions as are necessary or proper in connection with the Validation. The Secretary or 
Assistant Secretary of the Authority is authorized and directed, as necessary, to affix the seal of 
the Authority to the Documents and attest the same by his or her signature. 

5. The Authority approves, ratifies and confinns all actions of the officers and staff of 
the Authority, Bond Counsel and Authority Counsel that are in confonnity with the purposes or 
intent of this resolution and the Validation. 

6. It having been represented to the Authority that it is necessary to proceed 
immediately with the Plan of Financing, the Authority agrees that the University may proceed 
with the Plan of Financing, enter into contracts for the Plan of Financing and take such other 
steps as it may deem appropriate in connection therewith; provided, however, that nothing in this 
resolution shall be deemed to authorize the University to obligate the Authority without its 
consent in each instance to the payment of any moneys or the perfonnance of any acts in 
connection with the Plan of Financing. The Authority agrees that the University may be 
reimbursed from the proceeds of the Bonds, if and when issued, for all expenditures and costs so 
incurred by it, provided such expenditures and costs are properly reimbursable under the Act and 
applicable federal laws. 

7. All costs and expenses in connection with the Plan of Financing and the Validation, 
including without limitation the fees and expenses of Bond Counsel and Authority Counsel, shall 
be paid by the University or, to the extent pennitted by applicable law, from the proceeds of the 
Bonds, if and when issued. If for any reason the Bonds are not issued, it is understood that all 
such expenses shall be paid by the University and that the Authority shall have no responsibility 
for them. 

8. This resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption. 
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CERTIFICATE 

The undersigned Secretary of the Virginia College Building Authority (the "Authority"), 
hereby certifies that the foregoing is a true, correct and complete copy of a resolution adopted by 
a majority of the Directors of the Authority present and voting at a meeting duly called and held 
on June 22, 1999, in accordance with law, and that such resolution has not been repealed, 
revoked, rescinded or amend~ and is in full force and effect on the date hereof. 

WITNESS the following signature this lf:J_ day of Jun 

(SEAL) 

\\RlC7\BONDS\Rcgcru\cmail resolution ofVCBA.doc 
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VIRGINIA COLLEGE BUILDING AUTHORITY 
Statement of Polley and Procedures 

LOANS TO PRIVATE NON-PROm' INSTITUTIONS OF HIGHER EDUCATION 
(Revis~ October 19, 1993) 

PURPOSE: The purpose of this document is to articulate the Virginia College 
Building Authortty•s (the • Authority•) poUcy and proc:edures in connection with 
tbe isauaJ:a: of bonds for tbe benefit of certain private non-profit institutions. 
This document's scope is limited to the Authority's Private College Financing 
Progtam and does not apply to other state or local entities wilh similar programs. 

Sllllulll'1 ·AIIIhDrimtion. The Authority was created by, and derives its powers from, 
Chapters 3.2 and 3.3, Title 23, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended (Attachment A). The 
Authority has eleven members including: the State Treasurer. State Comptroller, Director of the 

· nepaitment of Planning and Budget, Director of State CouncU of Higher Education, and seven 
members appointed by the Governor and confirmed by the General Assembly. Concerning loans 
to private institutions, it operaleS to assist nonprofit educational institutions within the 
Commonwealth whose primary purpose is to provide collegiate or graduate education and not 
to provide rdigious training or theological education. 

The Authority is authorized to finance a broad range of buildings, additions and 
improvements of a capital nature, including dormitories, other stUdent and faculty housing, 
dining halls, student activities. academic, athletic and health care fa.cilities, utilities and 
maintenance facilities. Also eligible in such financings are costs of land, site development and 
equipment, professional fees, interest during construction, financing expenses and other costs 
normally a~atr.d with the development. wn~ction and placin~ of capical projects into 
opc:r.uiun. Tin: AuU1u1iLy is ~l*lfically prohilsitlcd from financing any f':lcility to be u&ed for 
sectarian instruction or as a place of religious worship or to be used primarily in connection with 
theological education. 

The Ptivtae ColUge Financing Program. The Authority assists institutions of higher 
education in the financing and refinancing of a broad range of facilities. As a political 
subdivision of the Commonwealth of Vi.rghtia. the Authority is able to issue its obligations and 
lend the bonowed proceeds to private institutions. Since interest on the Authority's obligations 
is exempt from state and federal income taxation, the interest rate paid by the private institutions 
will be lower than that which could be obtained by the private institution without the assistance 
of a governmental issuer of tax-exempt bonds (e.g. local industrial development authorities). 

The Authority expects to fmance new buildings and additions and major renovations of 
aisting buildings for which funding through capital gifts and other sources is not presently 
available. The Authority does not expect to rmance facilities for which construction has been 
completed prior to submission of an application. However, the Authority may refinance debt 
fnr facilities that have been prmo~ly financed. 
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T•nu of tJu Borrowing. The Authority car. issue long-term bonds with annual 
. amortization or what might be commonly referred to as construction loan notes of several years' 

duration witb no annual amortization. The institution should inform the Authority of its 
repayment plan for conStruction loan notes at the time of application. If the institution desires 
to convert such notes at maturity to long-term bonds, the institution should make this known at 
the time of application. 

The Authority will lend the proceeds of its bonds or notes to the institution, taking back 
the iastitution's promissory note as evidence of its debt to the Authority. The Authority will 
assign this note to the Trustee as security for the Authority's bonds or nores. 

Guidelines for Sec;gritv of Bonds and Notes 

If, from the infonnation in the application from the .institution for a loan, and other 
sources, it appears tha1 the institution may have the financial capability and outlook for the 
future to enable it to repay the loan and pay the interest thereon, the Authority will detennine 
if acceptable security for the loan can be developed from the following guidelines. 

The institution's note shall be secured by its general credit together with certain covenants 
as to among other things: 

(1) maintaining its corporate existence; 
(2) maintaining its status as a tax-exempt organization; 
(3) continuing to operate as an accredited institution of higher education; and 
(4) not dissolving or otherwise disposing of all, or substantially all, of its 

assets. 

The Authority may request that the institution make certain additional covenants or 
agreements as may be deemed necessary. These may include, but are not limited to, any 
combination of the following: 

(1) IHbt Coverage RDtio: The institution shall maintain an agreed 
upon ratio of available assets to debt obligations to be determined 
for the transactions by the Authority. 

The institution via its independent auditor shall report semi-
annually to the Trustee as to the status of this ratio. · 

(2) lVegative l'Wlge: The institution may make a Negative Pledge Covenant agreeing 
not to dispose of or encumber all, or a portion of, its Endowment and 
Endowment Type funds or that it will not mortgage its other (or certain other) 
properties. 
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(3) S1gregt1Utl EndoWJMnl: The instiwtion may set aside and 
eannark an amount of Endowment or other assets designating them 
for use for purposes such as payment of debt obligations and 
financing of capital expenditures. 

(4) MottpgvS•CIII'itJ InUrm: The insti~on may mortgage in favor 
of the Authority the land and buildings comprising the project and 
may include therein other land and buildings and may grant a 
security interest in equipment and other tangible personal p1openy. 

(S) Ullu of Ordil: 'Ibe inslitution may enhance the credit rating of 
the p1oposed bond issue by providing a letter af credit form a bank 
acceptable to the AWbority. 

(6) llondl~~S~Ua~~Cr. The institution may enhance the credit rating of 
the proposed bond issue by providing bond instmmce acceptable to 
the Authority~ · 

(7) Debt S1rvit:a R1serv1 Fund: Authority may require establishment 
of a Debt Service Reserve Fund using bond funds and containing 
up to one year's bond principal and interest. 

(8) Colltztual: The institution may coUateraliz.e the loan by depositing 
with the Trustee securities in an amount equal to a cettain 
percentage of the principal amount of the loan (and maintaining 
such level over the Ufe of the loan}. 

SecuritY Analysis 

Security analysis shall be prepued by the institution, with the assistance from its 
underwriter, financial advisor or other appropriate consultants. This analysis shall outline one 
or more proposals for security provisions or security enhancement and show the financial impact 
on the institution of these proposals. The analysis also shall express the Underwriter's opinion 
as to the marketability of the proposed issue. 

The Authority may consult with its finaJ'Icial advisor or an investment banker of its 
choosing for an opinion concerning the proposal of the institution. 

The accep1ance and approval of any particular proposal by the Authority will be made 
with due consideration to the financial arrangements that are judged to be in the best interests 
of the Authority and the institution. 
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PJag of Financing 

'The institution will recommend to the Authority a desired plan of financing. This should 
include the proposed-duration and amortization schedule for the bonds or notes and whether they 
will be privately placed with a single or . small group of instiwtional buyers or sold to 
underwrilel's for offering to the public. While all of the Authority's obligations to dare have 
borne interest at fixed rates, the Authority will consider variable rate securities as well as other 
innovative financing techniques such as the usc of •puu• in appropriate circumsmnces. 

In tbo case of a public offering, tbe institution will provide an official statement meeting 
accepta:l iDdustry S1andards for the public offering of securities. It has been the Authority's 
practice in connection with a public offering of securities, with the exception of short term notes, 
to require the illsdtution to obtain a satisfactory rating from at least one of the national rating 
agencies. At a minimum such ratings must qualify as "investment gtade. • While ratings of "A • 
or better are prefetred, the Authority will consider ratings of "Baa • or •BBB • in appropriate 
c:in:umstances. 

Institutions may also apply for financing through the Authority's program with the 
Student Loan Marketing Association \Sallie Mae•). This private placement pro~ provides 
an altemative to public offerings and is available to institutions with prior approval of Sallie 
Mae. Institutions may contact Sallie Mae using the following address and phone number: 

Student Loan Marketing Association 
A TIN: Public Finance Department 
1050 Thomas Jefferson Street, N. W. 
Washington, D.C. 20007-3871 
(202) 298-3901 

The Authority requires adherence to sound construction practice, in particular, the 
Vuginia Unifonn Building Code, and may require one or more of the following: 

(I) Specific covenants that the plans are, or will be, 
designed to the prevailing Code, including Code 
requirements for removal of architectural barriers to 
the handicapped; 

(2) After completion, a certificate of the institution's 
architect that the project, as completed, is in 
conformity with the Code requirements; 
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(3) Perfonnance and payment bonds from the general 
contractor and a· structured system of construction 
inspection by the architect or some other 
prof=onally qualified inspector representing the 
institution; or 

( 4) Such other agreements or covenants to ensure 
compliance with federal and state laws. 

77ae Applil:tztion/ Approwzl Process. The Authority has instated a fonnal applicaJ:ion 
procedure, a oopy of which can be obtained ~m: 

Office of the State Treasurer 
P. 0. Box 1879 
Richmond, Vuginia ·23215-1879 
(804) 225-21"42 . 

Upon receipt. the Authority will refer each financing application to the State Council of 
Higher Education for its evaluation of institutional characteristics to be identified by the 
Authority. The Authority will consider the comments of the State Council, but will not require 
a formal statement of approval as a prerequisite to issuing bonds or notes. It is expected that 
the Authority will have reviewed the State Council's comments before it meets with 
representatives of the institution and its fmancial advisors. 

Following the Authority's determination to finance a project, it will be the responsibility 
of the institution to plan the financing, have financing documents prepared, apply for bond 
ratings, and bring a specific financing proposal to the Authority 
for its approval. Obligations issued by the Authority for the benefit of an institution will be 
payable solely from the specific source3 provided by the institution, and the Authority will have 
no direct responsibility thetefore. 

Costs of the Financing Progl'fDII. All costs incurred in connection with the issuance of 
the Authonty•s obligations may be paid out of the proceeds of the obligations or, if no 
obligations are issued, by the institution. The Authority may charge its continuing expenses to 
the several participating institUtions on such basis as the Authority determines to be equitable. 

Procunmcnt of Services. As part of the approval process, the Authority will consider 
the institutions' selection of Bond Counsel and other advisors to the Authority, but the consent 
of the Authority to this selection will be required prior to the issuance of debt. Historically, the 
Authority has consented to institutions' selections of Bond Counsel and Trustee banks, and those 
pc:rsons will continue to perfonn such functions, at the pleasure of the Authority, even though 
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their fees and charges will be paid by the institutions mponsible for the repayment of the 
various series bonds and notes outstanding. The institution may select, in any manner it deems 
appropriate, the providers of such other services needed for the public or private sale of notes 
or bonds, including bond rating agencies, investment bankers, accountants and financial printers. 

llbu ofDwa.aiiY Sttiff. The Department of the Treasury acts as staff to the Authority 
for the sole pmpose of processing applications, issuing meeting notices to members of the 
Authority, providing a place to hold such meetings, reporting the issuance of debt to any state 
or federal agency desirous of monitoring the issuance of such obligations, and to provide general 
diJ:=tion to institutions seeking financing from the Authority. The Department is not responsible 
for the procurement of any services needed in the sale of bonds, for the maintenance of any lists 
of bondholders, for the payment of any expenses associated with servicing outstanding bonds, 
or for providing credit infonnation to the investment community or the rating agencies 
concerning the institutions that have participated in the· Authority's private college financing 
program. 

Not Debt ofths CommonwetZllh. The obligations issued by the Authority are not in any 
way to be construed as obligations of the Commonwealth, legal, moml or otherwise, and the 
Authority has been created by an Act of the General Assembly of Virginia for the sole purpose 
of providing a mechanism for higher educational institutions located in the Commonwealth, to 
obtain tu-exempt financing as permitted by federal law. 
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VIRGINIA: 
IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE CITY OF RICHMOND 

VIRGINIA COLLEGE BUILDING ) 
AUTHORITY, ) 

) 
Plaintiff: ) 

) 
~ ) LAW# ______ _ 

) 
STATIJTORY DEFENDANTS PURSUANT ) 
TO VIRGINIA CODE § 15.2-2600 ET SEQ., ) 
TOWIT, TAXPAYERS, PROPERTY OWNERS ) 
AND CITIZENS OF THE ) 
CO!\tfMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ) 
ThlCLUDING NONRESIDENTS OWNING ) 
PROPERTY OR SUBJECT TO ) 
TAXATION THEREIN, AND ALL ) 
OTHER PERSONS INTERESTED IN OR ) 
AFFECTED IN ANY WAY BY THE ) 
ISSUANCE BY THE VIRGINIA ) 
COLLEGE BllaDING AUTHORITY OF ) 
REVENUEBONDSNOTTOEXCEED ) 
$55,000,000, TO BE ISSUED IN ONE ) 
OR MORE SERIES FROM TIME TO ) 
TIME, TO FINANCE THE PLAN OF ) 
FINANCING OF REGENT UNIVERSITY, ) 

) 
Defendants. 

AFFIDAVIT OF W. GEORGE SELIG 

W. George Selig, having personally appeared to me and having been duly sworn states as 

follows: 

1. My name is W. George Selig and I currently reside at 1440 North Woodhouse, 

Virginia Beach, VA 23454. 

2. I am currently employed as the Provost of Regent University ("Regent" or ''the 

University") in Virginia Beach, Virginia. In this position, I am in charge of academic policies 
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and standards for faculty and students at Regent. 

3. Regent is a non-profit institution for higher education offering graduate level 

degrees only. The University is organized into seven schools, plus a center for leadership 

studies. Regent offers more than 20 graduate degrees through eight major graduate programs, all 

of which are full accredited. These programs include business, law, communication and arts, 

counseling and human services, divinity, education, government, and leadership studies. 

4. Regent is accredited by the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools. 

Regent's Academic Freedom and Professional Security Policies were reviewed on November 1-

4, 1998 by the Reaffinnation Committee of the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools as 

provided for in their report attached as Exhibit 1. In addition, Regent's law school is accredited 

by the American Bar Association. 

5. Regent currently maintains a faculty of approximately 100 persons, with a 

graduate student body of 1850-1900. Of these students, only 289 are currently emolled in the 

divinity school. 

6. Regent does not require its faculty to adhere to the beliefs of a specific 

denomination or belong to a specific church, and expects, but does not require its faculty to 

attend the University's non-denominational chapel. 

7. Consistent with Regent's Policy on Academic Freedom (attached as Exhibit 2), 

professors at Regent are permitted to teach their classes according to their own viewpoints. Both 

the structure and content of the courses taught at Regent are consistent with principles of 

academic freedom and are not subject to the dictates of any particular viewpoint, religious or 

otherwise. 
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8. Faculty members sign the Regent Statement of Faith and Mission Statement 

(attached as Exhibits 3 and 4, respectively), but the statements neither demand nor expect 

membership in a church or adherence to a particular denominational theology. Regent's 

·····-Statement of Faith and Mission Statement are not intended to compromise the standards of 

academic freedom that operate at the University. Faculty members agree to teach in a spirit 

consistent with Regent's Statement ofFaith and Mission Statement, but in a manner consistent 

with their professional discretion. 

9. Since its inception, specific denominational affiliation bas never been a factor in 

employment at Regent 

The above is true and correct to the best of my knowledge, information and belief. 

STATE OF VIRGINIA 

CITY OF VINGINIA BEACH 

I hereby certify that the foregoing Affidavit was subscribed and sworn to before me, a 
Notary Public, by W. George Selig, this d.lt~.+ day of June, 1999. 

~PuBC ~"~ 
My Commission Expires;&~k' io ~ 

; 
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06-18-1999 11: 49A1 FRCJWI TO 918046982242272ES P. 02 

REPORT OF TBE REA.PFIRMATION COMMI'ITEE 
REPORT OF THE SUBSTANTIVE CHANGE COMMI'ITEE 

REPORT OFTBE CONSULTJNG COMMITrEE 
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TO 91804698224227205 P. 03 
19 

.· 

4.8.6 Aadeaaic Freedom ad Prolelliolld ScearitJ 

Based on tbc ckv:nmeatvrion provided, me CoiDmittee fmds llO basis for makiag a 

mc:ommtmdat1011 m tbis section. 

Regent Uaiverslty demoDStraleS a well-documeutecl concem for promotm, IIDd 

assuring academic freeclom ad for providing for professional security of faculty 

members. The faculty WilDt to iurealate faith iato leamiq, but no one auempts to dictate 

to them how tbis is m be done. Faculty mmaben be1lew dJat the Ullivmb:y mel its 
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20 

leadership aze w:ry supportive of their •cademic tiecdom: ·there is fall aeccptmcc of a 

lnoad 1'IDp of Clttistian faiths, 8Dd them 1r;0 DO repawssiC?J2S for di~ vi~ As 

ono f'acu1ty member said, the "opezmess ofthe atmosphere is great!" 

Faculty aacl studez.rts are free 1D c:xaznme all~ data, qnNticm assumpticms. 
. . 

be guided by the evidence of scholarly research, aDd teach and~ the substaDcc of a 

liven discip~e. All the UDits seem wry open 1D ad supportive of acadmdc freedom, 

viewlug it, as one Unit explains, u "a sacred trust... Students must read, but ae not 

Rcaeat University adopted BDd dislrl"buted to all faculty membca a 8la'teDieDt of 

the principles of academic freedom u established by the govemhtg board, eDSUrins 

fleedom iD tnrhina, research aud publicadoD. 

Regent UDivers'ity's mstitutional policies set forth the requbmem for fiscu1ty 

members to cmy out their duties in a professicmal, ethical and colleaial m.azmer that 

enhances the purpose of 1he iDstltution. 

Although tenure policy is not mandated by the Criteria, Regent University cloes 

provide conuacu, letters of appointment, or similar documents to faculty members ·1 

clearly desc:nOiq the terms and coaditious of theJr employment. Faculty (includiq 

uaten~ tenure-track faculty members) state tbat documents and guidelines am clear, 

specific about expcctatioDS. and clearly laid o~ A new, detailed temn policy was 

iastituted four years ago. The fhst aroup of faculty members, therefore, have oqly 

teeently bceD subject to the pocess. Faculty membm are iDtemted iD how the process 

is applied. but, ·accotdiD& to the president of the ~ seaate. so far no &culty membms 

have expressecl any formal ccm=ms or complaims about tei11R deciaicms. 
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21 

All policies repnting cmp!oyment, u established by the govemiq board, arc 

published and ~,med to the ~~ The poHcies aad procedmes for promoucm, for 

awardiq tenure, for providiq adequate notice em DOD-renewal of a pobaticmary 

appoiDtmeDt, amd for termimtticm of appoinn•acatsJ iDC:Iudiq those for cause, are c1eariy 

let forth in the faculty baodbook aad o1her o1lcJa1 pablicatious. 

Termination aacl DOD-raewal procedures comain adequate safeguards for 
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.r; SELIG AFFIDAVIT EXHIBIT 2 

Policy on Academic Freedom 

We regard academic freedom as a sacred trust and God-given responsibility that 
encourages the scholarly pursuit of truth in each academic discipline to which God has 
called us. The foundation of academic freedom is the belief that God is the author of all 
truth. All faculty are encouraged to seek wisdom and understanding, acquire knowledge, 
and teach others. Therefore, faculty need not fear where their pursuit of knowledge and 
wisdom may lead, but rather are to be guided by the fear of the Lord. 

Academic freedom is entrusted to every full-time and part-time faculty member, teacher 
and researcher at Regent University. Academic freedom is always found within a context 
of standards or nonns. Therefore, Regent University defines academic freedom within 
the following context of standards or norms for its faculty members: 

1. God is the source of all truth. The Scripttll'es are the written 
expression of truth and the revealed will of God. There is also 
natural revelation. Both types of revelation cont;ribute to our 
understanding of truth. 

2. Academic freedom functions within Regent University's mission 
statement and its statement of faith. Specifically, within the 
mission statement, the faculty member takes the role of being a 
Christian leader in order to model Christian leadership to students. 
Academic freedom serves to make the University a "leading center 
of Christian thought and action." Regent's vision, ". . . to 
transform society by affirming and teaching principles of truth, 
justice and love, as described in the Holy Scriptures, embodied in 
the person of Jesus Christ, and enabled through the power of the 
Holy Spirit," can be achieved only if faculty demonstrate these 
principles in the classroom. 

3. "The teacher is a citizen, a member of a learned profession,. and an 
officer of an educational institution" ("Academic Freedom and 
tenure, 1940 Statement of Principles and Interpretive Comments," 
American Association of University Professors). What faculty say 
or do as private citizens outside their own area of professional 
competence cannot be justified on the grounds of academic 
freedom. The public will judge the University by the faculty's 
utterances. Consequently, accuracy, proper restraint, and respect 
for the rights of others to express their opinions shall be exercised 
by faculty speaking in public as private citizens. These 
considerations are not meant to restrict the faculty's ability to make 
public utterances on topics outside of their discipline, but to 

338 



encourage faculty to speak the truth in love in accordance with 
scriptural principles. 

4. The University shall not restrict faculty from speaking out 
politically, or from addressing the wrongs in society, as private 
citizens. Faculty are free to hold public office so long as holding 
that office does not interfere .with fulfillment of contractual duties. 

5. Exercising academic freedom requires responsibility and propriety 
in the pmsuit of truth, as well as complete honesty and loyalty to 
the mission statement and statement of faith of the University. 

6. Academic freedom at Regent University is framed by the context 
of the University's mission statement and statement of faith and is 
consistent with the standards and norms stated in the academic 
freedom policy. The faculty member is free to pursue truth within 
his or her discipline by research, discussion, and other forms of 
inquiry. This freedom carries a responsibility to truth, to scholarly 
integrity, and to one's students. 

Faculty members may not use their position or classroom as a platform to demand 
adherence by students to a personal theological viewpoint, political preference or social 
agenda. 

If an individual believes that a faculty member has violated the University's mission 
statement and/or statement of faith, he or she could confront that individual with the 
charges. If the issue is not resolved, these two individuals should meet with the faculty 
member's dean. At this point documentary evidence must be presented~ 

If the dean is unable to resolve the issue satisfactorily to all parties involved, any party 
may then take the issue to the Provost. The Provost may dismiss the matter or refer it to 
the standing Hearing Committee if he or she determines that there may be a violation of 
academic freedom. The Committee shall conduct their hearing consistent with policies 
outlined in the Contract Termination policy and shall make a recommendation regarding 
the disposition of the matter to the President The President shall make a final decision. 
(Academic Council, Approved April 1994) 

339 



--

SELIG AFFIDAVIT EXHIBIT 3 

Statement of Faith 

Regent University is a Christ-centered institution. The Board of Trustees, along with the 
faculty and staff of the University, are committed to an evangelical interpretation and 
application of the Christian faith. The campus community is closely identified with the 
present-day renewal movement, which emphasizes the gifts, fruit and ministries of the 
Holy Spirit It is expected that all trustees, officers, administrators and faculty will 
subscribe to this statement in writing: 

1. That the Holy Bible is the inspired, infallible and au~oritative 
source of Christian doctrine and precept 

2. That there is one God, eternally existent in three persons: Father, 
Son and Holy Ghost. 

3. That man was created in the image of God but, as a result of sin, is 
lost· and powerless to save himself. 

4. That the only hope for man is to believe on the Lord Jesus Christ, 
the virgin-hom son of God, who died to take upon Himself the 
punishment for the sin of mankind, and who rose from the dead, so 
that by receiving Him as Savor and Lord, man is redeemed by His 
blood. 

5. That Jesus Christ will personally return to Earth in power and 
glory. 

6. That the Holy Spirit indwells those who receive Christ, for the 
purpose of enabling them to live righteous and holy lives. 

7. That the Church is the body of Christ and is comprised of all those 
who through belief in Christ have been spiritually regenerated by 
the indwelling Holy Spirit. The mission of *e Church is 
worldwide evangelization and the nurture and discipling of 
Christians. 
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SELIG AFFIDAVIT EXHIBIT 4 

Mission Statement 

Preamble: Regent University is a graduate institution that exists to bring glory to God the 
Father and His Son Jesus Christ through the work of the Holy Spirit. 

Mission: Our mission is to provide an exemplary graduate education from biblical 
perspectives to aspiring servant leaders in pivotal professions and to be a leading center 
of Christian thought and action. 

Vision: Our vision, through our graduates and other scholarly activities, is to provide 
Christian leadership in transforming society by affirming and teaching principles of truth, 
justice and love as described in the Holy Scriptures, embodied in the person of Jesus 
Christ, and enabled through the power of the Holy Spirit. 
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Student Admission and Re£istration -
Admission Criteria and Procedures for On-Campus Programs (2:02:01) 

Master's or Prot§sjogal Qeme Prggram 

Generally, admission tO a master's or professional degree program at Regent University 
requires a completed four-year bachelor's degree from a state and regionally accredited post­
secondary instimtion. ApplicantS possessing an earned bachelor's degree from a tour-year 
program at a 110oaccredited i.nstimtion will be considered on an individual basis by the 
admissions committee of the school in which ~nrollment is desired. ApplicantS without a fully 
completed degree may be considered through che Accelerated Scholars and Professionals 

. program. 

The following criteria must be met for .acceptanCe ro degree-seeking 3tatuS. [ndividuaJ. schools 
may have additional requirements. 

1. High intellecru.al achievement and scholarship as evidenced by college grades. 
graduate entrance e:tam.S and academic recommendations. Specifically. those include: 

a. A cumulative undergraduate grade point average of 2. 75. based on a ~.00 
scale. A minimum 3. 00 grade point average in the major des ired. 

b. Submission of test scores. normally taken within the last five years. as 
required by each school. If the applicant has earned a previous graduate degree. 
this requirement may be waived by the school. 

2. MatUrity in spiritual and/or character qualities. 

3. Personal goals ~:onsistent with Lhe mission and goals of Regent University. 

Applica.tion Process 

The following items are necessary to be considered for admission to degree-seelcing 
status at Regent University: 
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l. Regent University application form. 

2. Nonrefundable application fee. 

3. Signed Community Life Form. which includes the Nondiscriminatory Policy and 
Standard of Personal Conduct. 

4. Personal goals statement. 

5. Personal recommendations as required by each school. 

6. Transcripts. Official tranScripts are required from all previous colleges or 
universities attended at either the undergraduate or graduate level. regardless of the 
number of courses or the nature of the work taken. They should be mailed directly 
from the sending instirution to the school's Admissions Office. Once a :::ranscript is 
submitted. it cannot be returned to the applicant nor forwarded to a t:b.ird party. 
Photocopies of craoscripts are. not acceptable ror permanent records. 

7. Photograph. A wallet-sized ~hocograph attached to the application :or identification 
purposes (optional). 

8. Tests. Each applicant must register for and rake the test required by me schooi to 
which he or she is applying. An official copy of the score results should be sene to the 
Admissions Office by including Regent University's code number on the test 
registration form. 

9. Required interviews: Each school determines the number of interviews required and 
designates the staff members who conduct the interviews. [n-person interviews are 
preferred. but telephone interviews may be arranged. 

10. Writing samples. Some Regent schools mav require a writing sample. These 
samples. at ~e disc:edcn .Jt :he sc!lcols. m:ty 'e :m !ssay tJr Jt!ic!e written for college 
credit. a newspaper article or letter co the editor. or an article published in a church 
newspaper. magazine. professional journal. or !Jusiness or political publication. [f 
ne'"...essary. applicantS may submit ins~ a cyped. 500-word ~ssay on some copic of 
public imporcance. 

Professional Development Enrollment Approval 

At the discretion of the individual schools. applicants desiring to enroll in one or two 
Regent courses for one term only may complete che Professional Development 
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Enrollment Application/Registration form. listing the course(s) in which they desire to 
enroll. Professional Development applicants must have completed an undergraduate 
degree to be eligible for enrollment for graduate credit. Applicants who do not have an 
undergraduate degree may register for classes on an audit basis only. 

The following items must be submitted to be eligible for acceptance as a Professional 
Development smdent at Regent University: 

l. Professional Development Enrollment ApplicationiRegistration Form including 
signed Philosophy of Education. 

2. Nonrefundable application fee. 

3. A tranScript confmning the attainment oi a bachelor's degree if enrollment for credit 
is. desired. An official transcript is preferred but an unofficial copy will be accepted. 

Professional Development applicantS will not be admitted ~o any of Regent's schools or 
colleges. They will be classified in the Profess1onal Development program. 
Professtonai Development students are ~ot eligible ~o receive rinanciai aid and may 
enroll in courses on a space 4 availabie ~as is only. 

Professional Development students are eligible to :-egister for one term only. whether 
for credit or audit. A registration hold will be piaced on subsequent terms. To be 
eligible for continued enrollment after dlat term. the Professional Development student 
must submit a regular application or a nondegree application for a specific school by 
the application deadline for the term desired. All additional admissions requirements 
must be met. The school will notify the student or ics decision. Since all courses 
completed as a Professional Development student are posted on a nondegree transcript. 
the student accepted to a specific school must ;»eticion in writing to have those credirs 
count toward his academic program completion. 

Admission FactOrs for Degree Srarus 

The school or college admissions committees consider several factors when they 
evaluate an applicant for degree scarus: 

1. Academic preparation and potential 

2. Proiessional achievement and potential 

3. Leadership achievement and potential 
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4. Character- commitment ro excellence, innovation and integrity 

5. Personal maturity - commianent to personal growth and community service 

6. Compatibility of applicant's gifts with b.is goals 

7. Applicant's commitment ro his profession. 

Each part of the application package covers one or more of these factOrs. Taken as a 
whole, they provide an indication of the applicant's potential for success in our 
graduate programs and career success following graduation. 

The following information is a description as co how each pan of the application 
package applies co the admission factOrs listed. 

l. Past academic achievement is a predictor of furure academic achievement. Past 
achievement is measured by college attended. degree earned. courses completed. grades 
received. and faculty ~valuation. 

2. Performance on a test that measures ability co do rhe types of analyses required in a 
graduate program. 

3. Previous professional or other work achievements indicate initiative. drive. 
knowledge and skills that willlle!p the student complete the program and ac!:tieve career 
success. They are measured by self-reponed achievements in the application. goals 
statement. and by recommendations. We look for achievements commensurate with age 
and experience. 

4. A history of commitment m excellence. innovation. and integrity and a stated desire 
to pursue those values in me future indicateS potential for a lire that will glorify God. 
This is measured by the applicant's experience. gc1ls statement. recommendations. and 
incerv i~ws. 

5. Leadership achievementS indicate pocential for furure leadership. These are me3.Sured 
by self-reported achievements in the application and goals statement. and by 
recommendations. 

6. Personal maturity and commitment to service ue measured by the self-reported 
record of service in the goals statement and interviews. and ;,y recommendations. 

Introduction to Student Services 

[n this section. information on a variety of copies related co student life is presented. 
These derails ~e up an important part of day-ro-day life at Regent University and 
~h(l•!lti '"'~ ~:trP.=.Jfl~' !"e..,;ewerl. The:' will 1SSi~r ~:rude!1tS in raking rna~imum advanta~e 
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of university resources. While each· student is an individual in terms of goals and 
progress toward God's ideal, there are some significant commonalties to our 
commianent. 

lmellectually, Regent University studentS agree ro receive an education in accordance 
with our Philosophy of Education. Affirming the principle that all knowledge and 
wisdom come from God. each student's inteilecmal pursuit is characterized by a unique 
combination of disciplined academic preparation and compassionate. service-motivated 
application. Regent U niversicy students recognize that the discovery of cruth may take 
them in a variety of directions. There is a commitment that all truth is "God's Truth" 
no matter where it is found. Students are challenged m filter through various avenues 
of learning to discover the essence of God's Truth. 

Socially and culturally. Regent University studentS come to grip with dle meaning of 
Christ's command that His followers are "to be in the world but not oi it." Each student 
submirs to rhe Standard oi Personal Conduct and The Honor Code of Regent University 
throughout the time of his or her enrollment. The maruring Regent University student is 
committed to the highest standards of personal and professional integrity. a growing 
sensitivity to me needs oi mankind. deepening personal humility wh.ich recognizes the 
hand of God in all chat is accomplished and a sincere desire to cultivate and ~aintain 
meaningful life-long personal relationships .. \5 a community of committed scholars. 
students recognize that it is necessary to maintain a posture of both contributing to and 
receiving from that community. 

Physically. Regent U nivers icy students acknowledge the important relationship between 
physical health and personal well being. While me instirution does not prescribe 
programs of physical development. it does encourage a disciplined combination of diet 
and exercise so chat srudents may develop and maintain a level of sramjoa necessary tor 
the fulfillment of intellectual. social and spirirual responsihilities. 

Although spiritual growth is ultimately an individual responsibility. the School oi 
Divinity ~ncourages .lC.d :·acui~tes 5pirirual je·:e!oprnem ~ong Rege::t ;ommunir:: 
members. 

[n summary. Regent U niversicy srudenrs are t'reparing to live a life of honor to God. of 
service to mankind and of fullness to oneself. The goal is to help each student actualize 
his or her inherent potential and make a meaningful contribution co the activities oi the 
university and society. 

346 



O&t:9t99 TtE l~:3J ~\I 3ll 23~ 3J36 FRIEDJ!&'i 

UNITED STATES DISTRicr COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN 

SO~~DMSION 

WALTER JOHNSON: 

Plaintift 

vs. 

Civil Action ~o. 
98-CV-71672-DT 

HON. BER..~ARD A. FRJEDM~'\1 
TEE ECONQ~,1!C DEVELOP~(9.'T 
CORPOR.-\TION OF TilE COUNTY 
OF OAKL.~"'D, 

Defendant. 

OPU~noN A~D ORDER GR.-\.'fTING DEFE(il>A,'ff'S 
~lOTION J'OR S~OURY Jl'"DGi\IEJVI' .~'fl) DE:QJNG 
PLwmFrS )lOTION FOR SL~L\IARY JliDG?tiE!'tJ" 

T..lis matter is presently before ·the court on cross motions for summary judgment. 

The issues have been fully briefed and the cou..~ bas h=cl or.:ll argument. For the re:l.SOCS stated 

below, the court shall grant defendant's motion and deny plaintiffs motion. 

Tms is a First Amendment case that challenges the constitutionality of the procedure 

by which 3. construction project was financed at a schoolaffiliared with the C.:ttholic Church. The 

issue is whether .. .he financing vio.laled the Establishment Clause. 

The parties have stipulated to aJI of the relevant facts, and they agree thai the matter 

may appropriately be ~ided on surnmmy judgment. The Academy of the Sacred Heart "is an 

independent Roman Catholic school (pre-school through grade 12) located in Bloomfield Hills, 

.Michigan." Joint Stipulation of Facts, 162. "The Academy is a nonprofit organization ... and is 
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exempt from federal income taXation .... '" ~, 63. wrhe Aademy ... does not give a preference 

in admissions to Roman Catholics." IsL , 68. "'There is no religious-affiliation requii=lent or 

preference for the: Academy's teachers, and the school does not inquiie as to the religious affiliation 

of prospective faculty members." ML , 72. "The Academy o1fers a well-designed college­

preparatory curriculum. Every student receives intensive training in the basic academic slcills of 

English, mathematics, hisroey, foreign 1~ and scie:1c:e. Art, music. drama. forensi~ 

theology, computer science, and public service ate essential pans of the program." ~ ~ 7 4. 

In its Recruiting Brochure, the academy describes itself as ~a Cbrist-:e~ sc!lccl 

Ot3erating in the evolving tradition of the [Cltholic:] Churth .... " Stipulation llf::'JC::;. E:Ui~i• :o. 

Applicants for admission must ~pport its :.Goals and Criteria.. .. the first of which is ·~o ~duc:~te t.o 

... a personai anci active rann m lloa.. ·· la.. Ihe schooi' s religion department indicates that :he 

:u::uie:ny C&com:nits itself ~o a personal and J.C:i•;c !aith in God. Rooted in the iove of iesus CMi:it, 

the academy promotes personal 311d community pr:l}'er with reflection. . . . The ~my teaches a 

res~t for the various religious traditions of the world while presenting itself to the wider 

community as a Christ-centered institution within the tradition of the Reman Catholic C!lmQ." 

Stipulation of Facts, Exhibit 22 (Department Overviews and Course Description SheetS). 

The dispute at issue in this case can trace its beginnings to March 199 S, when the 

academy sought a means of financing a construction project. This project "consisted of ( 1) the 

construction of an approximately 6,i00 square foot addition to the Academy's lower school, (2) 

renovation of and improvementS to a science wing, and (3) other renovation of existing facilities 

(including new telephone equipment, classroom monitors, fiber-optic cable, intercom system). The 

Proj~ did not include any construction, renovation or improvement of the Academy's chapel.'' 
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Joint Stipulation ofFa.cts., 1 24. 

The as:ademy approachcddd=ndant, the Economic Developmcm Corporation (ED C) 

of Oakland Couuty. The Oakland EDC was created in 1980 pursuant to Michigan •s EDC Act, 

M.C.L. §§ 125.1601-1636 . .Id: ,10. Thatsratutewasenacred '"toalleviateandpn:vemconditions 

of unemployment• and 'to assist and main local industrial :md commercial cmterprises .•. [ andJ to 

strengthen and revitalize the economy of the state and its municipalities.'" .Is;L Cf ~.quoting i\-LC.L. 

§ 125.1602. The statute authori:zes EDCs, among other things, !o "issue revenue bonds to finance 

building and improvement projects.,. I d. , S. Under the statute, "the municip:ility shall :wt be liable 

on notes or bonds of the EDC, and ... the notes :md bonds shall not be a debt of :he :nunicipality." 

ida~ 9. 

fhe Ualdanci EDC is rlnanc:d ... n-om donations~ gins, grants~ and devises .. either 

solicit:::! or unsolicited, obtlined from puaiic iWihoritic:s, individuals, corporations and other 

organizations, by e:unings from its ilC:ivities, borrowings and issuance of revenue bonds and notes.''' 

kL ~ 13, quoting AnicJe IX of the Oakiand EDC's Articles ofincorpor:1tion. The Oakland EDC 

shares office space and telePhone systems with the Oa!cl~d CounrJ Planning and Developm~nt 

Division. and reimburses the county for itS share of building rent and other expecses. IsL , 18. 

In March 1995, the Oakland EDC "'decided to issue economic devel~ent limited 

obligation revenue bonds" to finance the academy's construction project. IS: Cf 27. Under its 

R~lution of Inducement, the Oaklmui EDC "'specified that under no circumstances woul~ the 

Oakland EDC, the County of Oakland, the State ofMichigan or any of its ta."q)ayers or citizens ever 

be required to pay principal of, interest on, or any other costs relating to the bonds." I d. In 

approving the academy's application, the Oakland EDC found 
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that there e.~ a need ro •6encourage the ... expansion of 
[commercial} c:ntc:rprises in otder to ~ and revitalizl: the 
County's economy and to provide needed services and fncilities to the 
County{] and its residents." The Resolution also stated that the 
Academy Project was a 'project' within the meaning of the EDC Act 
capable of providing needed services and facilities to the residents of 
the CoUDty, and that the conmw:tion oftbe ptaject would "create job 
opponwdties for the residents of the County and will aid in the 
general economic welfare of the County and the State of}lfichigm." 
T= ~lution further stated tbat issuance of the bonds would assist 
the Academy to "establish. modernize, improve, reconstruct and/or 
~..nd i!s ~i~ within ±e c~unty of Oakland.., Based on 
projections provided by Academy tepreSematives and the EDC staff's 
review of those projections. the EDC estimated that the Academy 
project would create 7 new permanent jobs, five teachers and two 
maintenance, at the Academy. 

L'l ~b.y ! 995 !he Cak!and County Board llf Commissioners approved the academy's 

;'rcjec: ~l:m, r.ci in June 1995 ~~e Oakland EDC unanimously aciopted a Bond Authorizing 

Resolution J.Uthorizing the issuance of limited obligation revenue bonds for the Project. n lsL 'TI 34, 

35. Further, "[l]n approving the financillg of the Project, the Oaldand EDC acted without regard 

tO the religious affiliation of the Academy:• I9.t, 3i. ln June 1995, the Oakland EDC ~•issued 

variable rate demand limited obligation rev:nue bondsl9 to finance t.'le academy's project. hb , 38. 

The bonds "were delivered to NBD Bank. which acted as placement agent in marketing the bonds. 

and sold to privale investors." hi: ~ 40. "The proceeds from the sale of the Bonds were loaned by 

the Oakland EDC to the Academy ... pursuant to a Loan Agreement .... Under the Loan 

Agreement, the Academy is responsible for paying all com and expenses includ[mg] any attorneys', 

trustee's, placement agent's or remarketing agent's fees. or any letter-of-i..'"redit, real ~te, title-

related or other costs inc~d in connection with the Project." ~ 1 41. The loan was in the amount 
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of S3 .5 million and is being repaid over a ten-year period. ld. , 46. The academy makes its loan 

payments directly to NBD Bank. ld., 42. 

Interest on the bonds is exempt from Michigan and federal income taXa!ion. Td. r.f 

44, 45. The Oakland EDC does not "monitor the Academy's payments of principal and interest to 

the bank." kL, 47. ·"The in=est payments made by the Academy to the bank wexe less than such 

payments would have been for an otherwise comparable non-tax-e:tempt commercial loan." IsL , 

49. The parties also stipula!e that the Oakland EDC spe:n approximately Sl ~ 795.76 in supe:-lisor' s 

and clerk's services in connection with processing the academy's application; and that 1le ~e:ny 

paid to the EDC ~5,875 in fees. ld. ~54, 55. 

Finally, :he parties also .:;tipulate that .iince 1980 the Oakland EDC has financed 

":1ume:cus projec."ts using the same procedures :md criteria that were used to approve the Academy 

Project .... Applicmts have included:1umerous private businesses seeidng ta.."<..,Xetnpt financing for, 

inter :ilia, construction of factories and office buildings and purchase of machinery and equipment. 

Project applicants have also included a number ofnot-tbr-proiit entities seeking to constl'Uct or make 

improvementS to schools. medical facilities and nursing homes."' Id.1': Si, 58. A complete list of 

all completed projects is attached to the parties' stipulation of facts as Exhibit l9. This list shows 

that from 1980 through 1998, a total of 56 projects were financed by the sale of bonds authorized 

by the Oakland EDC. The bond amounts ranged from $500,000 to S42,900,000. The types of 

projects financed included renovation of, improvements to, and new constrUCtion of shopping 

centers, office acd light industrial buildin~ manufacturing and medical facilities, restaurants, 

nursing homes, scllools, and a golf course. The estimated number of jobs created by each project 

(except bond refinancing) ranged from 5 to 460. The Oakland EDC has financed several projectS 
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at schools and other educational &cilities, som~ of which are religiously affiliated. ~ Stipulation 

ofFacts, , 39. 

Plaintiff' is a resident and taxpayer of OakJand County. 1Sa , 1. He alleges that the 

Oakland EDC has violated the Establishment Clause because "[t]he isswmce of revenue bonds ..• 

provid[ es] a significant fiDancia1 benefit to Sacred Ht:art Academy and to other religious and 

pervasively sectarian institutions .... " Second Amended Complaint,~ 15. Plaintiff also alleges that 

the issuance of revenue bonds to such institutions violates the EDC Act and the ~cb.ig:m 

Constitution. Plaintiff seeks various relief: incl~ a declaration that the issuance of :evenue 

bonds rbr the oenerlt of Sacred Heart Academy violateS the Establishment Clause; an :njU&'"lction 

prohibiting the issuance of ~-uch bonds ""for the be:leiit ~i religious and pervasiveiy sec=ri~ 

institutions, including parochial.i<:hool.s~·; .m order '"directing the defendant ... to recall and cuiliiy 

the revenue bonds !t has ~.;ed for the l:Jen:iit of Sac.-ed Heart Academy"'; and an order ;'that 

iefendmt . . . take appropriat= legal action against any institution that acted in concert or 

participation with the defendant ... to obtain repayment to the public :re:!S'Urj of .ruch financi:ll 

benefits received through the unconstitutional issu:mc~ of public r:venue bon~ :0 a. 3ec:ari:m 

institution.!" kL pp. 5-6. 

In a countercJaim, defendant asserts that it supports any building project which is in 

the community's best interest and that the applic:mt' s religious affiliation is not considered. 

Defendant also asserts thai "the pendency of this lawsuit. and the threat of other lawsuits, may impair 

the Oakland EDC's ability to finance other projects that meet the religiously neutral criteria of the 

EDC Act"; and that "[a] declaratory judgment that the issuance of the Bonds in this case does not 

violate the E~lishment Clause will eliminate any uncertainty raised by the filing of this lawsuit 
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and will enable the OaJdand EDC to fuJ.till its statutory mandate of promoting economic 

development through qualiJied projects in Oaldand County in the future •... " Counterclaim, T.f 17. 

20. Defendant seeks a declaration to the effect that "its issuaDCe oflimited obUgasion revenue bonds 

in connection with the Academy of the Sacred Hean Project and its policy of issuing limited 

obligation IeVenue bonds on a religiously neutral basis in accordance with the criteria of the EDC 

Act do not violate the Establishment Clause." Counterclaim. p. 10. 

Plaintiffs Standing 

As an lniruu liUliier, tile ~urt is persuaded that plaintiff bas standing to sue. 

Defendant 3rgues that i'laimiff!acks itanrling becus~ he ~ act suffered~ specific injur:', either 

actUal or !hremened. Def-=dant wnt~ds til.a :r cid not lncur :my expenses in issuing the bonds, as 

the 3C3demy paid S5 ,875 in f~, wbic!l exceeded :he ~ve costS in processing the project 

application. However, plaintiff conectly ~Jes that JS a ttcpayer he bas standing due to the 

potential loss of tax revenue caused by the issuance oftJX«e:npt bonds. s~e Hawley v. CiN of 

Cleveland, 773 F.2d 736, 741-42 (~Cit. 1985). The issuance ofta."t-exempt bonds has an impact 

on che srate' s general fund, as the bondholders do not pay income ta."t on the interest. Plaintiff 

estimates that the ~lichigan treaswy will lose $68,400 in tax revenue due to the bonds issued in this 

C3Se. Regardless oftl:e :mount of :he !io.mlcial impact, it would appear to suffice to give plaintiff 

standing under Haw\ev. Thus, for present purposes the court will assume that plaintiffhas standing. 

Defendant also argues thatplaintiffis gailty oflaches because he did not file suit until 

three years after the bonds were issued. Plaintiff counters by arguing that he did not le:un of the 

issuance of the bonds until January 1998, and that he filed suit promptly thereafter in April 1998. 
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The coun is not persuaded that plaintiff deJaycd unduly in bringing suit; nor has defendant shown 

that the alleged delay bas caused it any substantial prejudice. ~ Bvlinsk;i v. The Citv of Allen Park, 

169 F.3d 1001, 1003 (6* Cir. 1999) (noting that defendant must show unreasonable delay and 

prejudice to succeed with a defense of laches). Under these circumstances, the court shall not 

dismiss the complaint on these grounds. 

C:oss ~lotions for SlliDIDm Judgment 

Tae parties agree that the case can be resolved on su.mmaey judgment, as the only 

question is one "Jf taw: whether defendant has violated ~ First Ame::dment by issuing revenue 

t-ends :o S:mnc~ :he .:onst:ruction project at :he 5ac'ed :ie:ut Academy. 

The stu":ing point is the First .-\mendme:t itsdf. which states: "Congress shall make 

no law respecting ~ establishment of :eligion, or ~ohibiting the fre: e:ccn:ise thereof . . . . .. In 

dozens of t:ases, the Supreme Court has attempted to detine the point at which state support of 

religious institutions. be it direct or indirec~ financial or otherwise, violates the Establishment 

Clause. A review of the leading cases is instructive in determining wbeth~ defendant's actions in 

this particular case have crossed tbat point. 

In Everson v. Board ofE4uc. ofEwiM Township. 330 U.S. 1 (1947), a township 

resolution, adopted pursuant to a state statute~ ll!owed the township to reimburse parents for mon~y 

spent transporting their children to school on public buses. A taxpayer brought suit on the grounds 

that the resolution and statute violated the Establishmc:nt Clause insofar as they authorized 

reimbursement ofbus fares for childre:lattending parochial schools. In rejecting this argument. the 

Supreme Court stated: 
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New Jersey cannot consistently with the 'establishment of religion' 
clause of the First Amendmcm contribute tax-mised funds to the 
suppon of an institution which teaches the taets and faith of any 
church. On the other baud. other language of the amendment 
commands tbat New Jersey caunot hamper its ciUzeDs in the free 
exercise of their own religion. .•. [W]e must be carefUl, in protecting 
the citizens of New lersl:'f apinst state-establi3hcd churches, to be 
sure that we do not inadvertently prohibit New Jersey from extending 
its gnm.l State law benefits to all its citizells wilhout regard to their 
religious belief. 

Measured by these stmdatds, we =mot say that !he Fl!st 
Amendment prohibits New JersecJ from ~ending :a:c:-r.lised funds to 
pay the bus tares of paroc:hia1 school pupils as a '08rt of a geneml 
program under which it pays the fares of pupils attending public and 
other schools •.•. [The First.~] remlizes the state to be a 
neutral in its relations with groups of religious belieyers and non­
bt:iieyers; it does not require the state to be their adveiSarJ. State 
power is no more to be used so as to handicap religio~ than it is to 
favor them. 

kL lt 16-18 (emphasis added). 

In Zomch ''· Clauson. 343 U.S. 306 (1952), plaintiffs challenged a program in 'Sew 

York City whereby students were released during the school day to attend religious services for one 

hour per week. T.Je Court concluded that the reiease time program did not violate the Establishment 

Clause because it ·'involves neither religious insauction in public school classrooms nor the 

c:xpenditure oi public funds." hi,. at 308-309. The Court also stated: 

We would bave to press the concept of separation of church and 
Stue to these extremes to condemn the present law on constitwional 
grounds •... [W]e find no constitutional requirmleut which makes it 
nea:ssary for government to be hostile to religion and ro throw its 
weight against efforts to widen the effective scope of religious 
iniluence. The government must be neutral when it comes to 
competition between sects. 

IsL at 313-14 (emphasis added). In McCollwn v. Board ofEduc., 333 U.S. 203 ( 1948), the Supreme 

Court had earlier invalidated a program whereby religious instructors were pen:nitted to teach 
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religious courses in classrooms during regular school bours. This practice ran afoul of the 

Establishment Clause because "the state's taxsupportcd public school buildings [were] used for the 

dissemination of religious docttines" and because the state assisted sectarian groups by ~vid[mg] 

pupils for their religious classes through use of the stare's compulsory public school machinery." 

ld,. at 212. 

In School Pist, of Abington Towpship v. Schempp, 374 U.S. 203 {1963), !he Court 

found Establishment Clause violations in school dislric:ts where the school day was opened each day 

with~ from the Bible over the school intereom. The following test was miculated: 

The ~ may be stated as foilows: what ate the purpose and the 
p~.m~' ~ff~ of tlle =mctme:t'.' I! :ither :S the: ad,·anc~ or 
inhibition of religion then the -:nactmem exceeds the scope of 
l~lative power 3S circtun.scribed by the Coustit'.ltioiL 'Po ....a: is :o ~­
tlla.t :o ·Nitb.,""tmd ~ striCUll'eS of the: Establi..shment Clause there mUSt 
~ '- ~~·..:!~ !~:f-~!lti·.~ ;..::;~~= = ~ ;~· ~:f~;t ~~ w;!~c.;· 
ad,mnces nor inhibits religioiL 

Id. at 222. The Cuurt also noted: "In the relationship between man and religion, the State is firmly 

committed to a position of neumility. ~ ~ at 226. 

In Board of Educ. v. Allen, 392 U.S. 236 (1968), the issue was ''¥!tether the 

Establishment Clause was violated by a state staiUie that requiRd local public school authorities to 

lend teXtbooks without charge to all students, including those attending parochial schools. The trial 

court declared the statute unconstitutional. The New York Coun of Appeals reversed, finding the 

stature "' COID.l)letely neutral with respect to religion. merely making available secular textbooks at 

the request of the individual student and asking no question about what school he ~ds. "' ld. at 

241. The Su:pmne Court noted that ~e line between state neutrality to religion and state support 

of religion is not easy to locate. 'The constitutional standard is the separation of Church and State. 
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The problem. like many problems in constitutional law. is one of degree.'" 19: at 242. The Court 

reaffirmed the test from ScbemPl). requiring that the challenged governmem action must have both 

"a secular legislative purpose and a primary effect that neither advances nor inhibits religion." The 

Court concluded that this test was satisfied in the case of textbooks loaned to all students= 

The express purpose of§ 701 was stated by the New York Legislature 
to be furtherance of the educaricmal oppommi1ies available to the 
young. Appellams have shown us nothing about the necesscuy effects 
of the statute that is controry to :.ts ~ed ;:w :-ose. The !aw merely 
makes available to all children the benefits of a general mpgram to 
lend school books free of charge. 

ki:. at 243 (emphasis added). The Court also found it significant that only "secular books" were 

involved in this program. ,Ss~ at :!ll-45, :~s. 

In WaJz v. Ta..'C Com.m:71 of•he City ~f~e.., V~rk, 397 t!.S. 664 (19'7'0)~ :he Court 

uphe!d a decisioz:. of the ~~w York T .l.'< C on::nissicn ~o l="'-Ilt :.1 :ro~~~ t:LX exemption to religious 

organizations for properties used for religious -,;orship. Plaintiff argued that the exemption 

amounted to state suppon of :eligicn ~ ·tiolation Jf the ~Wlblishmem Clause. In reje\."ting this 

argument, the Court stated= 

[Flor the men who wrote the Religion Clauses of the First 
Amendment the "establishment" of a religion connoted sponsorship. 
financial ~upport, and active involvement oithe sovereign in religious 
activity .... 

(l']hc basic purpose of these provisions . . . is ro insure that no 
religion be sponsored or ~voted, none commanded. and none 
inhibited. ... 

Adherence to the policy of neutrality that derives from an 
ao:ommodation of the Establishment and Ftee E."tercise Clauses bas 
.prevented the kind of involvement that would tip the balance toward 
government control of churches or governmental restraint on religious 
practice. 
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his at 668-70. 

In upholding the tax exemption, the Court fitst found that the legislative purpose was 

"'"neither the advanc:ment nor the inhibition of religion; it is neither sponsorship nor hostility." .I!L 

at 672. The tax exemption was granted to a broad class of non-profit entities, including hospitals, 

libraries. and scientific and professional groups, as well as religious organizations. Regarding 

~'entanglem•" the Coun stated: 

Tae test is inescapably one of degree. Either course, taxation of 
churches or exemption, occasions some degree of involvement with 
religion. Elimination of exemption would tend to expand the 
involvemc:rt of govermnent by giving rise to tax valuation of church 
property, tax liens, ta.~ foreclosures. 3Dd the direct confronwions and 
conflic+.s th:tt follow :n. the tr:Un of :ho54: !egal processes. 

Granting Q.'"( exemptions to churches necessarily operates to morel 
31! indirect economic benefit and 3lso gives rise :o some. but yet :1 

lesser, involveme:lt than ta-.Qng them. In analyzing ~ther aitc:mative 
the questions are whethe- the involvement is ::<cessive, .md whether 
it is a continuing one calling for official and continuing surveillance 
le:lding to 311 impermissible degree of entangiement. 

19.:. at 6i4-75. Aj:plying this stan~ the Court found no danger of excessive entanglement, as the 

granting of a tax exemption "creates only a minimal and remote involvement betWeen church and 

stue and far less than taxation of churches." UL at 6i6. 

In Lemon v. Kurtzman. 403 U.S. 602 (1971), the Court invalidated two statutes 

;vhich provided s;:ate aid to parochial schools. One of the statutes paid a supplement to teachers of 

non-religious subjec~ in order to raise their salaries to the level paid to public school teachers. 

t: nder the other statute, the state reimbursed parochial schools for~oks and teacher salaries, but 

only for non-religious subjectS. The Court stated: 

Eveey analysis in this area must bqin with consideration of the 
cumulative criteria developed by the Coun over many years. Three 
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such tests may be gleaned from our cases. Fim. the statute must have 
a secular legislative purpose; second. its principal or primary efFect 
must be one that neither advances nor iahibits religion; finally, the 
saatute must not foster "an excessive govemmem entanglement with 
religion." 

kL at 612-13. Regarding the third prong of the test, the Court indicated that "we must examine the 

character and purposes of the institutions that are benefitted, the nature of the aid that the State 

provides, and the resulting relationship between the government and 1he religious authority.·· Is!: lt 

615. The Court determined that the statutes had a secular purpose, and found it unnecessary to 

decide whether their primary effect was to advance or inhibit religion.. However, the C~wt 

invalidated the statutes on the grounds thai they caused e.~ccssive entanglement between go,·emment 

and religion because the religious schools ·.-.,·ere required ~ provide a considemble amowu of 

bookkeeping infoanation to show tJ:;u the sute Jid did .not suppon my religious instruction. ·•A 

comptehensiv~ discriminating, 3Jld conrlnui:lg state sur1eillance ·~ill ine•,iubly be required to 

ensure that these restrictions are obeyed and the First :llllendmen.t othe:-~ise respected.~ I d. at 619. 

In Hunt v. \fc~air. 413 t:.S. 7J4~ i36 (1973), the: Coun considered a state statute 

which created an Educational Facilities Authority ~o assist institutions for higher education in the 

construction, financing and refinancing of projects ... primarily through the issuance of revenue 

bonds." The EF A issued bonds for a Baptist colleg~ which needed the money to refinance debt and 

to build a dining hall. A taxpayer sued, claiming that the issuance of the bonds violated the 

Establishment Clause. Applying the l&!mul test, the Court found that the statute bad a secular 

purpose because ''[t]he benefits of the Act are available to ail institutions of higher education in 

South Carolina., whether or not having a religious affiliation." ~at 7 41. Regarding primary effect, 

the Cowt noted it bad consistently rejected "'the proposition that the Establishment Clause prohibits 
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:my program which in some manner aids an institution with a religious affiliation .... ., ld.: at 742 

The Coun acknowledged that the Baptist coUege benefitted fiom the lower interest payments on tax­

exempt bo~ but noted that the college was not "pervasively sectarian," tbattbere were no teligious 

qualifications for faculty or stUdents, and that the bond revenue would not be spent on "any buildings 

or facilities used for religious purposes." .Id: at 743-44. In finding little danger of "excessive 

entanglement," one of the factors noted by the Court was that there was no re:ilistic likelihood that 

the state bonding entity would make use of its power to inspect the college, to ensure that the funds 

were not being used for religious purposes. since no such inspection would occur unless the coJl~e 

defaulted ~n the ioan. ~ at 74i -49. 

i!lvol•;ed a c~Ie::::ge to ~e J.tnendments to ~c:w York's EdUQtion and Tax Laws. The drst 

provided gr.mts to nonpublic, :1onprofit ~chools for main~ :md r:pair offbcilities. Tue second 

provided tuition reimbursements for parents of. children attending nonpublic schools. T'ue third 

allowed parents of children attending nonpublic schools to take a ta."t deduction for :non~; spent on 

tuition. \Vbil~ all three Jmendments were found to have a secular purpose, the:' fuiled ~o pass 

muster under th~ second and third prongs of the l&.mml teSt. 

The Court detennined that the maintenance and repair amendment had a primary 

effect of advancing religion because the fimds under this program went almost entirely to Catholic 

schools and .. [n]o attempt [was] made to restrict payments to those -apenditures related to the 

upkeep of facilities used exclusively for secular purposes." ~at n4. The tuition reimbursement 

amendment was invalidated on essentially the same grounds. Since such gnmts could not be given 

to the schools directly, they also could not be given indirectly, via the parents who were paying the 
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tuition. See id. at 780-83. The tax deduction amendment failed because the Court :ou!d fuld :10 

practical difference between a diiect reimbursement for tuition and a tax deduction for such 

expenses. The Court also noted that the benefus of this tax deduction "flow primarily to the parents 

of children atteDding sectarian, nonpublic schools." Ida at 794. This &ctor distinguished ~ 

which involved a property tax e:cemption that "covered all property devoted to religious, educational, 

or charitable purposes." IS: 

InRoemerv. Boatd ofP'_tb. Worlcsof).-(81"\and, 426 U.S. 736,739 (1976), plaintiffs 

challenged a state statute that provided "annual noncmegorical grants to private colleges, :nnong 

them religiously affiliated institutions, subject only to the :estrictions that the funds not be used for 

e:~c:pc ~os~ which award :~ociy ~em.ii:ari3n or theoiogici degrees.!' Id. at 740. [n finding no 

Establishme::t Clause ·,iolaticn. th~ Cvurt .iQtc:x 

[R.]eligious mstitutions :1eed not be quar:mtmed from public benefits 
that :ue neutmllv available to an .... Everson and Allen put to rest 
any argument that 1\e State may never :let in such a ,wy that has the 
incidental eff:cc:t of tacilitating religious activity. The Court has not 
be= blind to the fact that in aiding a religious institution to perform 
a secular task, the Sbte f:e:s the i:lsiit.nion's resoutei:S to be put to 
sectarian ends. If this were impermissible.. however. a church could 
not be protected by the police and fire deparanem.:,, or have its public 
sidewalk kept in repair. The Court never bas held that religious 
activities must be discrimiDaied against in this way. 

Neutrality is what is required. The State must confine itself to 
secular objectives, and neither advance nor impede religious activity. 

hL at 7 4 7 (emphasis added). 

In Mueller v. A1len. 463 U.S. 388 (1983), the Court upheld a state statute that 

permitted taxpayers to deduct amounts paid for tuition. textbooks and transportation, incurred in 
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sending their children to my elementary or secondary school. The Court found the statute to have 

a clearly secular purpose- namely, ".CZJSUring that the State's citizemy is well educated" and 

"assuring the continued fiDan~aal health of private schools, both sectarian and nonsectarian." ML at 

395. The primary effect of the statute was not to ~religion because the tax deduction was 

only one of many available under the state ta.'t code and, "iwpoa twtly, the deduction is available for 

educational expenses incuued by all parents, including those whose children attend public schools 

and those whose children attend nonsectarian private schools or sectarian private schools." J5L 3t 

397. "As Widmar and our other decisions indicate, a program ... tba.t neutrally provides state 

assistance to a broad spectrum of citi2ens is not reOO.ily subject to challenge under ~e Establishment 

C!au~e:' !d ~~ :~'J-~. 

~for: ~:ntly, in Zobrest -.,. Caralina Foothills Sch. DiS!., 509 U.S. 10 (1993}, the 

Court held that the Establishment C!ause :s not violated ,_,_.hen the state provides a sign language 

interpreter for a deaf srudent attending a sectarian school. The Court noted: "f\\'1e have consistently 

held that government programs that neutrally provide benefits to a broad class of citizens defined 

without reference co religion are not readily subject to m Establishment Clause challenge just 

beccluse sectarian institutions may also receive an attenuated Jinancial benefit." ld: at 8. 

Against the backdrop of this long line of Supreme Court precedent the coun 

concludes that no Establishment Clause violation has occurred in this case. The issuance of revenue 

bonds by the Oakland EDC, to finance Sacred Heart's construction project, easily passes all three 

prongs of the Lml2n test The statute creating EDC, as well3S the Oakland EDC' s bylaws, have a 

clearly secular purpose; the primary effect of the bond-issuing activity .is to neither advance nor 

inhibit religion; and the issuance of the bonds docs not give rise to a risk of excessive entanglement 
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between govemment and religion. 

In applying the .L.mmo factors to this case, first it is clear that the EDC Act has a 

secular purpose. The purposes of the statute are set forth at length at M.C.L. § i25.1602. These 

include alleviating unemployment by encouraging and assisting industrial and commercial 

enterprises. The parties stipulate that the statute was enacted for these purposes, and that "{t]he 

Oakland EDC was created pursuant to the tenns of the EDC Act for the purposes set forth in the 

Act." Joint Stipulation of Facts, , 4, 10. The Supreme Court has repeatedly indicated that a 

legislature's Slated purpose is to be taken arface value in the absence of a showing ofbad faith. Se: 

Hunt 413 U.S. at 741; Nvquist, 413 U.S. at 773; Lemo!J, 403 tJ.S. at 6!3. P!:ti:ltiff~ ::or shown 

Nor c:.m ~t be said jmt clle primary elle\.'1 of me a:c Act or of the bond issuance at 

issue in this particular case is to promote or inhibit religicc. Fh'st, it is important to note that ~ 

commercial or industrial enterprise may apply to !he Oakland EDC for 3Ssistmlc~; the religious 

affiliation. if any. of the applic:mt. is completely irrelevant and not considered. Indeed. the panics 

have stipulated that "the Oakland EDC acted without regard to the religious affiliation of ilie 

Academy.~ Joint Stipulation ofF acts, 1 J i. In the cases summarized above, the Supreme Court has 

repemedly indicated that a general program which makes assistance available to a broad spectrum 

on a religiously neutral basis ordinarily is not subject to an Establishment Clause challenge. 

Reimbursement ofbus ~ the loaning of teXtbooks, the granting of property tax exemptions, the 

provision of grams and bond revenue, and the allowance oftu deductions for school expenses, all 

have survived such a cballenge bec:1use these forms of ass~l.3llce were not directed specifically 

toward sectarian institutions. Rather, in each case the assistance was directed toward a broader 
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group, and sectarian institutions benefitted only incidenr:illy or on a neutral basis along with other 

beneficiaries of the state action. 

This is precisely the kind of program ~ issue in this case. Neither the EDC Act nor 

the Oakland EDC articles ofincorpotationmcntionreligion or religiously affiliated institutions. The 

Oakland EDC approved the academy's renovation project without any consideration ~f the 

academy's af6liat:ion with the Catholic Church. As the parties bave stipulated, the Oaktmd EDC 

has approved 56 applications from 1980 to 1998. for projects running the gamut from new 

construction of shopping centers and medical offices to renovations of schools md reuil s~e. As 

the Court stated c Roemer. ~ligious institutions need not be quarantined !Tom public benefits that 

It :s J.!.s" 3ignifi~t ~ 01one llf the funds~ issue in tilis cnse supported .sectarian 

aspects of the acdemy. The parties have stipulated that the funcb were used :o constrUCt an addition 

to the academy's iower school, to renovate md improve the science wing, and to renovate other 

existing facilities~ ~uch as teiephone equipment and the inte:com system; •[t]he Project did not 

include any construction. renovation or improvement of the Aademy's chapel." Joint Stipulation 

of Facts. cr 24. The funds wm: not used to pay for religious books, teacher's salaries, or stUdent 

tuition. In HYm the Supreme Court noted that the bond revenue in that case would not be spent on 

"any buildings or facilities used for religious purp_oses." 413 U.S. at 744. 

The Court also finds it signifiC3Jlt that the funds at issue in this case did not take the 

fonn of a grant or loan of tax .. raised money. Instc3d. one hundred percent of the funds came from 

private investors. Joint Stipulation ofF acts,, 40. The Oakland EDC served merely 3S a conduit­

that is, defendant simply provided a me311S by which private investors could finance the project. Not 
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a single penny of the funds came from any state, \!Ounty, or municipal source, and no public entity 

has any obligation whatsoever in connection with the sale or purchase of these limited obli!lation 

bonds. kL, 35, 38, 43. The application fees paid by the academy more than reimbUl'Sed the Oakland 

EDC tbr the administrative expenses incurred in processing the application. Id. rJ SS, 56. And the 

academy is responsible for repaying all of the principal and interest. .14: '! 42. These ficts distinguish 

the ;ncw".::ftt _.,..,._~m ..s...e ~~,~•"'t,..,nT',.. "',.."'_..,,..., .. --..a-- ~.--l - "-:e~onao" le :"' 'r.vauist ..... ,d ~ ...... •UA~t--l LllJ w . -~·'--··:.-... -----~~ ~ .................... 4U\6&1.'-'VUJ ..,u ""', ..... 

more closely resemble those in HYm, which upheld similar funding for the construction of a dining 

ball at a sectarian institution. 'P!aintiff argtJes !hat :he :ll':':mge:nent amounts to a direct subsidy of 

the :u::l.Cemy be~ ±e s~ ul:viichlgan anci tt1e iederal government cancot collect income ta."tes 

on the interest ~aid on bones J.Uthcrized ~Y :m EDC. rn both Walz and HunL however. the same 

argum.:nt was :aised .mu ;ejected. in botn QSCS, !he Supreme Court indicated that such "indirect 

costs" - whether ocC3Sioned by ~..ng 1 prOJ:~! ::r< exemption or by funding a proj~t through 

the sale of ta.~-exempt bonds- does not suffice to show a primaxy effect of advnncing religion when 

the loss of revenue occurs ru; a result of providing a general benefit !o :1 broad class of recipients 

under a religiously neutral government progr:un. The 5ame reasoning applies here. 

Plaintiff does not argr.Ie that either the EDC Act or the issuance of the revenue bonds 

in this case poses any risk of ~excessive cmtanglement" between government and religion. Nor does 

the court believe that any such argument could be made. The religious affiliation of the academy 

played no role in defendant's review of the academy's application., ,m Joint Stipulation of Facts,~ 

3 7; and plaintiff does not contend, or present any evidence to suggest, that any applicant's religious 

affiliation has ever been considered by Oakland EDC or by any other economic development 

corporation in Michigan. Defendant's only contact with the academy was to process its application. 
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SeeJointStipulationofFacts,Exhibitl. Defendantdoesnotmonitortheacademy'spaymc:ntsunder 

the loan agreement. ld. ~ ~7. Under these c~ there is no danger of "official and 

continuing surveillance leading to an impennissible degree of entanglement" ~ 397 U.S. at 

675.: 

For these re3SODS, the court concludes that defendant bas not violated the 

Establishment Clause by approving the limited obligation n:venue bonds in this case. The statute 

and the bond issuance have no religious purpose. They do not have a primaiy effect of promoting 

religion. And there is no danger of <Ae.~cessive entanglc:mc:nr' between the staie and religion. 

Accordingly, the court shall grant defendant's motion for~, judgment :md deny ~lcintifz 

motion for summar:' judgment :nsof:lr lS the second .:unendcd :ompiaint JSserts .1 .,ioiatioa olf tile 

First Amendment to !he enited St3tes Cocsritution. Ho~~ver, the ;:oun shall declare only that 

defendant did not violate the Establishment Clause on the specific facts of this parti~J.I.:lr C3Se. Th~ 

coun expresses c.o opinion as to the constitutionality of my other projectS which may have been 

funded, or which may be. funded in the future~ by defendant Oakland EDC or by any other EDC 

acting wtder the authority of the EDC Act. 

Plaintiff also claims that the issuance of the bauds in this case violated the EDC Act 

because the statute only authorizes financing of projects for industrial or commercial enterprises, and 

1 To the contrary, it seems clear that government md religion would become much more 
entangled if EDCs were required to deny funding to any religiously affiliated institution. If this 
were the case, EDCs would have to examine each application in an effort to identify those with 
any religious affiliation. This would also enhance the risk of disc:riminating against sectarian 
institutions in violation of the Free Exercise Clause. "l"he Supreme Court bas repeatedly called 
for government to be~ in its treaanent of religion. This goa! is best served by permitting 
EDCs to evaluate applications without regard to the religious affiliation, if my, of the applic:mt, 
and to allow the EDCs to focus instead on the purely secular aspects of the proposed project in 
each case. 
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not schools. In addition, plaintiff alleges that the issuance of these bonds violates Article 8, Section 

2, of the Michigan Constitution, which prohibits tlu: appropriation of public monies, or the use of 

public credit, to "aid or maintain any private, denominaJiODal or other nonpublic pre-elementary, 

elementary or secondary school.,. 

The court must dismiss these claims for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. Under 

28 U.S.C. § 1367(c), the court "may decline to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over :1 claim if 

. . . (3) the district court has dismissed all claims over which it bas original jurisdiction." In this 

case, the court has original subject maaer jurisdiction only over plaintiff's First Amendment claim. 

T'.:e other two c!aims 31'e pure state law issues. Tae Supreme Court and the Si.~ C~4.it have 

repe:uedly indicated that a district cour: should dismiss !he .Hate ~laims one~ the federal claim is 

resolved. For ~x.:unpie, in 'Nilli;m;s ·.'. C!r,- of~ver Ruuge, 909 F.:d. ~51, i5i (6-': Cir. 1990), the 

court stated: 

\Vhere an action in federal court includes both federal and pendent 
state claims and the court dismisses the federal cWm.s before aial on 
a motion for summary judgment, the pendent state claims are 
ordinarily dismissed as weU. Pendent jurisdiction is a doctrine of 
discretion. In this case, the federal constitutional claims, which 
fanned the basis for federal jurisdiction over the case, were properly 
dismissed by summary judgment before trial. Consequently. the 
contraCt ciaims will be dismissed. Moreover. the contract claims 
require interpretations of the City Charter of River Rouge and of 
Michigan eonttact law, questions more properly addressed by the 
lVlichigan courts. Therefore, the ctismissal will be without prejudice. 

~~Ci1JDegie-MellonGniv.v.Cohill,-'S4U.S.343,350(1988)("[WJhcnthefederal ... lawclaims 

have dropped out of the lawsuit in its early stages and only stale-law claims remain7 the federal court 

should decline the exercise of jurisdiction by dismissing the case without prejudice. j; United ~fine 

Workers of Am. v. Gibbs, 383 U.S. 715,726 (1966) ('~eedless decisions of state law should be 
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avoided both as a matter of comity and to promote justice between the parties. by procuring for them 

a surer-footed reading of applicable law. Certainly, if the federal claims are dismissed before trial. 

even though not iDsubstaDtia1 in a jurisdictioual sense, 1he state claims should be dismissed as 

well.'}. For these IeaSODS, the pendent claims should be dismissed. As a matter of comity and 

federalism, it is more appropriate for Michigan couns to imerpXet the Michigan statute and the 

Michigan constitutional provision at issue. 

Accordingly, 

IT !S O~Ek~ that Jefendant'.) motion for summa.r:t Jurigme!lt is zr:mred md 

plaintiff'3 motion for summar:' ju<i:,"!llent !s decied as to i)laintiff' 3 ~lm A,nc:~cimc:nt ~:aim. The 

coun hereby DECL .. -\..ttES that defend:u:t' s issuance of Iimited voligation =:vtnue ooncis in 

connection with the Academy of me Sacred He31t project lt issue in :h:s ~:lSe .!id net ·;iol~d Lhe 

Establishment Clause of the First Amendment to the United States Constitution. 

IT IS FT..TRTHER ORDERED tb:J.t plaintiff'smnainingclaims are dismissed, without 

prejudice, for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT ruDGE 
Dated: .1 fJ N 2 9 1999 

Dettoit, Michigan 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COL"RT 
EASTEit~ DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN 

SOU1BERN DMSION 

WALTER JOHNSON, 

Plaintiff. 

vs. 

mE ECONO~UC DEVE!.OP~~iT 
CORPOR."-TION OF THE COUNTY 
OF OAICLA!'ID, 

Dcfelldant. 

Civil Action No. 
98-CV -716i2-DT 

HON. :SER.~ARD A. FR!ED~.-L.1' 

The court has ~-nted 1efe:!d:mt' .3 :netic:: for mmmar; judgmc:m and deni~ plain tift~ s 
motion fer summ:n:1 judgment as to plaint:iir s First Amendment claim. Accotdingiy, 

IT IS ORDERED A.~"D AD~"DGED that judgment be and is hereby granted for def~t 
and against plaintiff on plaintiff's First Ame:dment claim. Costs to be ;:ennit".ed in accordance with 
law. 

Approv~ 
BERNARD~" 
U.S. DISTRICf JUDGE 

JOHN?. ~lAYE.~ 
CLERK OF CuL.'"R! 

JUN 2 9 1999 
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COMMONWEALTH of VIRGINI.J\ 
Gotcon I( Oav..s 
D•rector 

COC.\'C/L OF HIGHER EDCC.-lTIOS 
janrf'.\ .\.ltJrrrat' Bu1ldm~. itJJ .\'ortil Fourtunth Strl'tt. R1(hmond. Va. ~;~JO 

Dr. A. Pierre Guillermin 
President 
Liberty University 
Box 20000 
Lynchburg, Virginia 24506-8001 

Dear Pierre: 

December 10, 1992 

IIIG&1 225-2137 
~AX IIIG&I 225·260& 
TOO 180'1 361-aQ17 

As you know, the Council of Higher Education at its meeting December 8, 
1992, unanimously adopted a statement affirming the eligibility of students at 
Liberty University to receive T~tion Assistance Grants. A copy of that 
statement is enclosed. 

The council's conclusion that Virginia students attending Liberty 
University (other than students in the School of Religion) should continue to 
receive grants (paragraph 4 of the statement) was based on representations by 
Liberty University that certain university requirements are no longer enforced 
(paragraph 3). The Council called for the university to act promptly to 
revise its publications to reflect these representations and promptly inform 
its faculty and students about current policies and procedures consistent with 
these representations (paragraph 5). 

Council Chairman Hugh ~- Patterson asked that you submit to the Council, 
by no later than January 31, 1993, written confirmation that the university's 
requirements cited in paragraph 3 of the statement are indeed no longer in 
force and that the university will act promptly to revise its publications to 
reflect those changed policies. I shall call you early in the new year to 
learn whether Libe~y University will comply with Chairman's request. 

Enclosure 

cc: Hugh L. Pat~erson 
Paul Ferch 

~ cordon K. Davies 
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IN RE: Libem Universitv 

Early in 1992, questions were raised about the eligibility of students at Liberty University 
to receive Tuition Assistance Grants in light of the Virginia Supreme Court's findings in 
Habel v. Industrial Development Authority. The Council staff began collecting information 
and on July 14, 1992, the Council of Higher Education conducted a hearing concerning the 
eligibility of uberty U Diversity students to receive Tuition Assistance Grants. Liberty 
University and Americans United for Separation of Church and State appeared before the 
Council. Both groups were represented by counsel and both submitted written position 
papers and voluntarily provided additional information to the Council. All filings have been 
reviewed by the Council staff and reponed to the Council. The staff has visited the 
university; interviewed administrators, faculty, and students; examined student and faculty 
personnel flles; and obsetved activities of students and faculty. During interviews, the 
chancellor and the president of the university made representations to the staff and to a 
subcommittee of the Council that certain statements and requirements reflected in 
University publications are not being and will not be enforced. 

Tpe Council has reached the following conclusions: 

1. The Tuition Assistance Grant program is intended by the Virginia General Assembly 
to assist individual Virginia students to obtain higher education at an independent 
Virginia institution of their choice. The students at Liberty University are offered 
an undergraduate education that is similar to that offered by other independent 
institutions in Virginia. It is in the best interests of the State for these students to 
continue to receive Tuition Assistance Grants unless the Council is prohibited from 
making these grants by Virginia statute or by the provisions of the constitutions of 
Virginia and the United States. 

2. Section 23-38.12 of the Virginia Code, which the Council administers, authorizes 
tuition assistance "to or on behalf of bona fide residents of Virginia who attend 
private, accredited and nonprofit institutions of collegiate education in the 
Commonwealth whose primary purpose is to provide collegiate, graduate or 
professional education and not to provide religious training or theological education." 
Article vm, Section 11 of Virginia's constitution authorizes the aforesaid. On 
January 11, 1991, the Supreme Coun of Virginia in Habel v. Industrial Development 
Authority. 241 Va. 96 {1991), decided that Liberty University was not eligible for tax 
exempt financing after identifying practices in conflict with certain provisions of the 
Virginia and United States Constitutions. Article VIIL Section 11 of Virginia's 
constitution was not at issue. The Council also recognizes that tax-exempt financing 
directly benefits the institution and is separate and distinct from a general, statewide 
program whose direct beneficiaries are individual students. 

3. Liberty University officials have represented that certain Liberty University 
requirements are no longer enforced. These requirements included compulsory 
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attendance by faculty and students at religious services and convocations; a signed 
statement by faculty and students that they agree to respect. support and abide by 
Uberty University's doctrinal position and statement of purpose; and restrictions on 
the freedom of faculty to teach and publish materials that conflict with Liberty 
University's doctrinal position. The Council staff confirmed these representations 
during its visits to the university. 

4. In view of the representations by Liberty U Diversity officials and the review of those 
representations by the Council and its staff, the Council concludes that Liberty 
University is a qualified private institution as described in Title 23-38.12 of the 
Virginia Code whose primary purpose is to provide collegiate, graduate, or 
professional education and not to provide religious training or theological education. 
Virginia students attending Liberty University (other than students in the School of 
Religion) should contir.ue to receive grants. 

5. Section 1.3.E of the Council's approval regulations (VR 380-02-01) requires that 
Virginia institutions of higher education represent accurately their requirements, 
policies, and procedures in all of their publications. Uberty University is advised that 
it must promptly reconcile its publications with its recent representations to the 
Council and the confirming observations of actual behavior by the Counc~1 and its 
staff. The university must also promptly inform its faculty and students about its 
current policies and procedures consistent with these representations. Failure to do 
so will require reconsideration of this issue by the Council. 

Adopted unanimously by the Council of Higher Education 
December 8, 1992 
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